Insights into the effectiveness of exercise/lifestyle recommendations in primary care

Edited by

Tatsunori Ikemoto, Carol Ewing Garber and Patricia C. Heyn

Published in Frontiers in Medicine Frontiers in Public Health





FRONTIERS EBOOK COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this ebook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this ebook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this ebook, and the ebook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this ebook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or ebook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial

copy which includes the elements

in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-8325-3320-8 DOI 10.3389/978-2-8325-3320-8

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers journal series

The Frontiers journal series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of openaccess, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the *Frontiers journal series* operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews. Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the *Frontiers journals series*: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area.

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers editorial office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

Insights into the effectiveness of exercise/lifestyle recommendations in primary care

Topic editors

Tatsunori Ikemoto — Aichi Medical University, Japan Carol Ewing Garber — Columbia University, United States Patricia C. Heyn — Marymount University, United States

Citation

Ikemoto, T., Garber, C. E., Heyn, P. C., eds. (2023). *Insights into the effectiveness of exercise/lifestyle recommendations in primary care*. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-8325-3320-8



Table of contents

05 Editorial: Insights into the effectiveness of exercise/lifestyle recommendations in primary care

Patricia C. Heyn

- 09 What Elements of Sport and Exercise Science Should Primary Care Physicians Learn? An Interdisciplinary Discussion Apichai Wattanapisit, Marisa Poomiphak Na Nongkhai, Poramet Hemarachatanon, Soontaraporn Huntula, Areekul Amornsriwatanakul, Chirawat Paratthakonkun and Chirk Jenn Ng
- 13 Is There Limited Utility for Lifestyle Recommendations for Diabetes Prevention Among Overweight or Obese Depressed Patients?

Arch G. Mainous, Benjamin J. Rooks and Frank A. Orlando

18 Exercise for Neuropathic Pain: A Systematic Review and Expert Consensus

Yong-Hui Zhang, Hao-Yu Hu, Yuan-Chang Xiong, Changgeng Peng, Li Hu, Ya-Zhuo Kong, Yu-Ling Wang, Jia-Bao Guo, Sheng Bi, Tie-Shan Li, Li-Juan Ao, Chu-Huai Wang, Yu-Long Bai, Lei Fang, Chao Ma, Lin-Rong Liao, Hao Liu, Yi Zhu, Zhi-Jie Zhang, Chun-Long Liu, Guo-En Fang and Xue-Qiang Wang

- 34 Physical Activity and the Risk of Hemorrhagic Stroke: A Population-Based Longitudinal Follow-Up Study in Taiwan Shih-Hao Feng, Li-Sheng Chen, Kuo-Cheng Yeh and Shin-Liang Pan
- 41 Effectiveness and response differences of a multidisciplinary workplace health promotion program for healthcare workers Kai-Hung Cheng, Ning-Kuang Wu, Chao-Tung Chen, Chih-Yu Hsu, Yen-An Lin, John Jiin-Chyuan Luo, Li-Ang Lee and Hai-Hua Chuang
- 54 Effect of healthy lifestyle index and lifestyle patterns on the risk of mortality: A community-based cohort study Peng Hu, Murui Zheng, Jun Huang, Huan-Ying Fan, Chun-Jiang Fan, Hui-Hong Ruan, Yue-Shuang Yuan, Wenjing Zhao, Harry H. X. Wang, Hai Deng and Xudong Liu
- 65 SOOTHER TRIAL: Observational study of an over-the-counter ointment to heal anal itch

Isaac Felemovicius, Robert A. Ganz, Mohammad Saremi and William Christopfel

- 72 Efficacy of electro-acupuncture in postpartum with diastasis recti abdominis: A randomized controlled clinical trial Yan Liu, Ying Zhu, Liyuan Jiang, Chao Lu, Lijuan Xiao, Ting Wang, Jiayu Chen, Li Sun, Lujun Deng, Meiyu Gu, Tingting Zheng, Min Feng and Yingying Shi
- 102 Baduanjin improves neck pain and functional movement in middle-aged and elderly people: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials

Zicai Liu, Hao Hu, Xin Wen, Xuejin Liu, Xiaqing Xu, Zhenjiang Wang, Li Li and Huiyu Liu 113 The positive effect of mother-performed infant massage on infantile eczema and maternal mental state: A randomized controlled trial

Lin Lin, Lin Yu, Shuying Zhang, Jing Liu and Ying Xiong

126 The association between isometric strength and cognitive function in adults with cerebral palsy

Patricia C. Heyn, Alex Tagawa, Zhaoxing Pan, Timothy Reistetter, Ted Kheng Siang Ng, Meredith Lewis and James J. Carollo Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED AND REVIEWED BY Arch Mainous, University of Florida, United States

*CORRESPONDENCE Patricia C. Heyn 🖾 Patricia.Heyn@Marymount.edu

RECEIVED 31 August 2023 ACCEPTED 20 September 2023 PUBLISHED 04 October 2023

CITATION

Heyn PC (2023) Editorial: Insights into the effectiveness of exercise/lifestyle recommendations in primary care. *Front. Med.* 10:1286796. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2023.1286796

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Heyn. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Editorial: Insights into the effectiveness of exercise/lifestyle recommendations in primary care

Patricia C. Heyn*

Center for Optimal Aging, Marymount University, Arlington, VA, United States

KEYWORDS

exercise prescription, primary care, lifestyle medicine, physical activity recommendations, clinical exercise, health promotion, diverse patients

Editorial on the Research Topic

Insights into the effectiveness of exercise/lifestyle recommendations in primary care

Exercise and lifestyle modifications have established themselves as the pillars of primary care, proving to be potent weapons in the war against non-communicable diseases. With the World Health Organization (WHO) naming physical inactivity as a leading risk factor for global mortality (1), it is clear and critical that we need to move to efficacious, sustainable, and feasible incorporation of exercise prescriptions into primary care practice (2).

There is extensive research highlighting the wide-ranging benefits of physical activity, spanning from mitigating the risks of cardiovascular diseases, diabetes, and stroke, as well as mental health conditions (3) including Alzheimer's disease (4). Furthermore, it has been shown to enhance the quality of life during cancer treatments (5). Despite this wealth of evidence supporting the significant health benefits associated with exercise, it remains concerning that approximately 27.5 % of adults globally (6) and 81% of adolescents (7) do not meet the recommendations for aerobic exercise, as outlined in the 2010 Global Recommendations on Physical Activity for Health report (8). This issue could possibly be attributed to the absence of consensus and consistent scientific interpretations concerning the factors and mechanisms that give rise to variations in individual responses to exercise training (9), specifically when we consider the variations in clinical conditions, symptoms, and diseases (9-11) and aging (12). This lack of clarity extends to the factors moderating exercise response (9), all of which are pivotal in striving to optimize the clinical impact of exercise prescription (11). Acquiring a deeper understanding of these factors is vital as it would facilitate the clinical adoption of precise and individualized exercise prescriptions (13).

Considering this, primary care professionals across the world are progressively incorporating exercise-based lifestyle modifications, (14) particularly physical activity, into their daily routines (15). The trend involves prescribing gym memberships, using technology and apps, and initiatives centered around promoting exercise's positive influence on population health (16). Nevertheless, the successful implementation, adoption, and completion of tailored exercise prescription plans face several impediments (9, 14). Thus, the primary focus of the investigation should center on evaluating the effectiveness of exercise and lifestyle prescriptions in enhancing patient outcomes within the realm of primary care (2, 10). While synthesis methodology reviews (4, 5, 15) have pointed to a positive impact on patient health outcomes, there is a distinct need for more comprehensive and intricate

studies to elucidate the specifics of this impact (16). Further research efforts should be directed toward pinpointing the elements that characterize successful interventions (10) and discerning which factors contribute most significantly to fostering positive outcomes (5, 16).

Addressing the evaluation of physical activity within the context of primary care practice presents a noteworthy challenge (2). The implementation of standardized, culturally sensitive, and objective tools for assessing levels of physical activity is essential (1, 17). Such tools ensure a precise representation of patients' lifestyle habits, thus paving the way for the development of more personalized and efficacious exercise prescriptions (17). The complexities within this realm of scientific exploration are further heightened when considering the management of neurological diseases through exercise prescriptions (4, 10, 14). Existing research demonstrates promising outcomes, particularly in conditions such as Alzheimer's (4), Parkinson's disease, and multiple sclerosis (18). However, there is a clear need for an in-depth exploration of various prescription modalities to both maximize benefits and mitigate potential risks associated with managing neurological diseases through exercise interventions (14).

In addition, adherence rates continue to fall below satisfactory levels, underscoring the imperative need for the development of strategies aimed at bolstering acceptance and participation (15). Central to this endeavor is the need to effectively understand the hurdles faced by patients, especially from underrepresented backgrounds (19), in adhering to exercise plans, coupled with the creation of systems that cultivate motivation, sustained engagement, and perseverance (20). Establishing effective communication between patients and physicians stands as a pivotal factor in the implementation of an exercise plan (17). The refinement of this interaction requires concentrated efforts, encompassing clear, consistent messaging and an approach that places the patient at the center, as this approach has demonstrated the most notable success (2). Moreover, it is crucial to acknowledge the presence of confounding factors that can influence patients' adherence to exercise plans (9). Crafting inclusive and adaptable strategies is imperative to accommodate these variables effectively (19).

Furthermore, illustrating instances of successful integration of exercise recommendations within real-world settings can serve as practical models for future endeavors (16). Collaborations between clinical and community settings, involving allied health professionals such as exercise physiologists, yield valuable insights and facilitate the multidisciplinary approach necessary for the advancement of patient outcomes (17, 21). While the integration of exercise and lifestyle recommendations into primary care presents its share of challenges (13, 15), it possesses the potential to revolutionize the landscape of primary health care (11). The journey to optimize this facet of healthcare delivery is already underway (2, 8, 10), and with sustained research efforts, collaborative initiatives, and unwavering dedication, there exists a profound opportunity to enact a substantial positive impact on global health (1). The advantages of exercise and lifestyle recommendations within primary care are extensive, spanning a range of diseases and conditions (2, 16, 17). This editorial highlights 11 recent research papers that contribute to the expanding landscape of this crucial subject (Zhang et al.; Hu et al.; Liu Y. et al.; Cheng et al.; Mainous et al.; Lin et al.; Wattanapisit et al.; Liu Z. et al.; Feng et al.; Felemovicius et al.; Heyn et al.).

Zhang et al. in their paper "Exercise for Neuropathic Pain: A Systematic Review and Expert Consensus" emphasize that a proper exercise program can serve as an effective alternative treatment or complementary therapy for most patients with neuropathic pain (NP). This consensus provides actionable recommendations for clinicians and policymakers alike in formulating exercise prescriptions to treat NP.

A population-based study by Hu et al. evaluated all-cause mortality and cardiovascular mortality in the Guangzhou Heart Study (GZHS), an ongoing prospective population-based cohort study in South China. Specifically, they investigated the effect of the Healthy Lifestyle Index and lifestyle patterns on the risk of mortality in a large Chinese population. Their study results suggest that accumulative dimensions of a healthy lifestyle can lower the risk of death, and adherence to the healthy lifestyle pattern was associated with non-smoking and low-level alcohol consumption which reduces the risk of all-cause mortality. These findings highlight the need to consider multi-dimensional lifestyle approaches when developing health promotion strategies.

The clinical trial "Efficacy of electro-acupuncture in postpartum women with diastasis recti abdominis: A randomized controlled clinical trial" by Liu Y. et al. evaluated the long-term efficacy and safety of electro-acupuncture (EA) in treating diastasis rectus abdominis (DRA) during postpartum. The study results showed that AE treatment improved multiple health parameters and symptoms related to Diastasis Recti Abdominis (DRA), displaying lasting effects up to 26 weeks postpartum.

Furthermore, Cheng et al. investigated the effectiveness and response of a multidisciplinary Workplace health promotion (WHP). They used a retrospective cohort sample of healthcare workers participating in a multidisciplinary WHP program in five healthcare facilities. The 20-week intervention included exercise classes, nutrition consultation, and behavioral education followed by anthropometrics, body composition, and physical fitness (PF) measures. Their study results demonstrated that a multidisciplinary WHP could enhance anthropometric and physical fitness profiles among healthcare workers.

Mainous et al. evaluated the relationship between depressionhigh depressive symptomatology and adherence to lifestyle interventions among patients with prediabetes. They analyzed the 2017-20 20 National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES), a nationally representative population of U.S. adults. Their findings showed that depression-high depressive symptomatology decreases the likelihood of adherence to exercisebased lifestyle recommendations among patients with a confirmed diagnosis of prediabetes underscoring the interplay between mental health and lifestyle changes.

A randomized trial by Lin et al. conducted a randomized controlled trial with 66 full-term infants with eczema randomly assigned to an eczema control (EC) group and an eczema with MPIM (EM) group as compared to a healthy control (HC) group. The mothers in the EC group received the instruction of routine care, while the mothers in the EM group applied massage on the infants plus receiving the same instruction of the routine care. HC group received no specific intervention. Compared with the EC group, the EM group showed significantly lower scores on eczema outcomes supporting the reduction of infantile eczema, along with relieving maternal anxiety and depression.

An intriguing opinion paper by Wattanapisit et al. highlights the importance of training, integrating, and applying knowledge and skills pertaining to PA promotion in clinical settings with the goal of covering several aspects of sport and exercise science. They remind us that PCPs are usually not specialists in these subject areas, and it is essential to supplement and provide knowledge for proper clinical practices. They include the collective perspective of experts in the field.

Liu Z. et al. conducted a systematic review and meta-analysis to evaluate the effects of a traditional Chinese Qigong therapy called Baduanjin which is characterized by symmetrical body posture and actions, breathing control, meditative state, and concentration. They reviewed randomized controlled trials evaluating Baduanjin therapy's effects on neck pain and functional movement in older individuals. Although the results of the synthesis methods support Baduanjin therapy as a safe and positive treatment for neck pain in older individuals, they called for caution as more studies are needed to validate and support its benefit.

Feng et al. through a population-based study in Taiwan, investigated whether physical activity (PA) is associated with a reduced risk of hemorrhagic stroke (HS). Their study supports the beneficial effect of PA on reducing HS risk. However, high-PA did not appear to have a greater protective effect than low-PA in diabetes and hypertension outcomes. Thus, their conclusions support that even <90 min of PA per week might be beneficial in reducing HS risk. They also note that recommendations based on low PA levels are more likely achievable and sustainable across the general population. Additionally, personalized recommendations, based on pre-existing comorbidities, may help optimize the beneficial effects of PA on HS prevention.

The SOOTHER Trail by Felemovicius et al. evaluated a novel composite topical Lidocaine agent treatment for Pruritus ani, or rectal or anal itch, which is a common perianal disorder that affects approximately five percent of the population of the developed world. The SOOTHER Trial showed efficacy in providing rapid and effective relief of pruritus ani in an ambulatory population.

Finally, a study by a research team (Heyn et al.) from the University of Colorado School of Medicine and Colorado Children's Hospital underscores the importance of lifelong monitoring of children with disabilities to identify and modify disease-induced risk factors through lifestyle interventions. Their study, "*The association between isometric strength and cognitive function in adults with cerebral palsy*," supports using simple tests like hand grip strength to evaluate early signs of frailty and neurocognitive decline in adults with Cerebral Palsy. In summary, when considering the results of the studies from this Research Topic collectively (Zhang et al.; Hu et al.; Liu Y. et al.; Cheng et al.; Mainous et al.; Lin et al.; Wattanapisit et al.; Liu Z. et al.; Feng et al.; Felemovicius et al.; Heyn et al.), it becomes evident that they underscore the pivotal significance of exercise and lifestyle modifications within primary care. Through their findings, they shed light on the multifaceted roles of these interventions across various health contexts. As we continue to navigate the intricacies involved in implementing efficacious exercise prescriptions and clinical physical activity recommendations in primary care settings, these studies serve as valuable resources that enrich our comprehension and improve our ability to promote healthier lifestyles effectively for diverse patients within the realm of primary care.

Author contributions

PH: Writing-original draft, Writing-review and editing.

Acknowledgments

We extend our sincere appreciation to the authors whose valuable contributions have enriched this editorial. Their dedication to advancing the field within primary care has not only expanded our understanding of exercise and lifestyle recommendations but also inspired future work. The insights presented in their research papers have significantly contributed to illuminating the critical importance of exercise and lifestyle modifications in promoting healthier lives within primary care settings.

Conflict of interest

The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The author(s) declared that they were an editorial board member of Frontiers, at the time of submission. This had no impact on the peer review process and the final decision.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. WHO. Global Action Plan On Physical Activity 2018–2030: More Active People for a Healthier World. Geneva: World Health Organization. (2018).

2. Kyei-Frimpong J, Blood-Siegfried J, Wijetilaka R, Gendler A. Exercise as medicine: Providing practitioner guidance on exercise prescription. *Prev Med Rep.* (2021) 22:101323. doi: 10.1016/j.pmedr.2021.101323

3. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. *Physical Activity and Health: A Report of the Surgeon General.* Atlanta, GA: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion. (1996).

4. Heyn P, Abreu BC, Ottenbacher KJ. The effects of exercise training on elderly persons with cognitive impairment and dementia: a meta-analysis. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* (2004) 85:1694–704. doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2004.03.019

5. Misiag W, Piszczyk A, Szymańska-Chabowska A, Chabowski M. Physical activity and cancer care-a review. *Cancers (Basel).* (2022) 14:4154. doi: 10.3390/cancers14174154

6. Guthold R, Stevens GA, Riley LM, et al. Worldwide trends in insufficient physical activity from 2001 to 2016: a pooled analysis of 358 populationbased surveys with 1.9 million participants. *Lancet Glob Health.* (2018) 6:e1077-86. doi: 10.1016/S2214-109X(18)30357-7

7. Guthold R, Stevens GA, Riley LM, et al. Global trends in insufficient physical activity among adolescents: a pooled analysis of 298 population-based surveys with 1-6 million participants. *Lancet Child Adolesc Health.* (2020) 4:23–35. doi: 10.1016/S2352-4642(19)30323-2

8. World Health Organization. *Global Recommendations on Physical Activity for Health*. Geneva: World Health Organization. (2010).

9. Bouchard C, Rankinen T. Individual differences in response to regular physical activity. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* (2001) 33:S446-51. doi: 10.1097/00005768-200106001-00013

10. Luan X, Tian X, Zhang H, Huang R, Li N, Chen P, et al. Exercise as a prescription for patients with various diseases. *J Sport Health Sci.* (2019) 8:422–41. doi: 10.1016/j.jshs.2019.04.002

11. Lucini D, Pagani M. Exercise prescription to foster health and wellbeing: a behavioral approach to transform barriers into opportunities. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2021) 18:968. doi: 10.3390/ijerph180 30968

12. Hawkins S, Wiswell R. Rate and mechanism of maximal oxygen consumption decline with aging: implications for exercise training. *Sports Med.* (2003) 33:877-88. doi: 10.2165/00007256-200333120-00002

13. Ramírez-Vélez R, Izquierdo M. Editorial: precision physical activity and exercise prescriptions for disease prevention: the effect of interindividual variability under different training approaches. *Front Physiol.* (2019) 10:646. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2019.00646

14. Izquierdo M, Merchant RA, Morley JE, et al. International exercise recommendations in older adults (ICFSR): expert consensus guidelines. *J Nutr Health Aging.* (2021) 25:824–53. doi: 10.1007/s12603-021-1665-8

 Collado-Mateo D, Lavín-Pérez AM, Peñacoba C, Del Coso J, Leyton-Román M, Luque-Casado A, et al. Key factors associated with adherence to physical exercise in patients with chronic diseases and older adults: an umbrella review. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2021) 18:2023. doi: 10.3390/ijerph18042023

16. Jones M, Bright P, Hansen L, Ihnatsenka O, Carek PJ. Promoting physical activity in a primary care practice: overcoming the barriers. *Am J Lifestyle Med.* (2019) 15:158–64. doi: 10.1177/1559827619867693

17. Thompson WR, Sallis R, Joy E, Jaworski CA, Stuhr RM, Trilk JL. Exercise is medicine. *Am J Lifestyle Med.* (2020) 14:511–23. doi: 10.1177/1559827620912192

18. Leutholtz BC. *Exercise Prescription for Special Populations*. Burlington, MA: Jones and Bartlett Publishers. (2020).

19. Conn VS, Chan K, Banks J, Ruppar TM, Scharff J. Cultural relevance of physical activity intervention research with underrepresented populations. *Int Q Community Health Educ.* (2013) 34:391–414. doi: 10.2190/IQ.34.4.g

20. Geneen LJ, Moore RA, Clarke C, Martin D, Colvin LA, Smith BH. Physical activity and exercise for chronic pain in adults: an overview of Cochrane Reviews. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* (2017) 1:CD011279. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD011279.pub2

21. Schmitz KH, Campbell AM, Stuiver MM, Pinto BM, Schwartz AL, Morris GS, et al. Exercise is medicine in oncology: engaging clinicians to help patients move through cancer. *CA Cancer J Clin.* (2019) 69:468–84. doi: 10.3322/caac.21579





What Elements of Sport and Exercise Science Should Primary Care Physicians Learn? An Interdisciplinary Discussion

Apichai Wattanapisit^{1,2*}, Marisa Poomiphak Na Nongkhai³, Poramet Hemarachatanon³, Soontaraporn Huntula³, Areekul Amornsriwatanakul^{4,5}, Chirawat Paratthakonkun⁴ and Chirk Jenn Ng⁶

¹ Department of Clinical Medicine, School of Medicine, Walailak University, Nakhon Si Thammarat, Thailand, ² Family Medicine Clinic, Walailak University Hospital, Nakhon Si Thammarat, Thailand, ³ Department of Sport and Exercise Science, School of Medicine, Walailak University, Nakhon Si Thammarat, Thailand, ⁴ College of Sports Science and Technology, Mahidol University, Nakhon Pathom, Thailand, ⁵ School of Human Sciences (Sport Science, Exercise, and Health), University of Western Australia, Perth, WA, Australia, ⁶ Department of Primary Care Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, University of Malaya, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia

Keywords: exercise, physical activity, physician, primary care, sedentary behavior

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

INTRODUCTION

Peter Carek, Medical University of South Carolina, United States

Reviewed by:

Prof. Rajesh Kumar, Osmania University, India

> ***Correspondence:** Apichai Wattanapisit apichai.wa@wu.ac.th

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Family Medicine and Primary Care, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

> Received: 02 May 2021 Accepted: 12 July 2021 Published: 04 August 2021

Citation:

Wattanapisit A, Poomiphak Na Nongkhai M, Hemarachatanon P, Huntula S, Amornsriwatanakul A, Paratthakonkun C and Ng CJ (2021) What Elements of Sport and Exercise Science Should Primary Care Physicians Learn? An Interdisciplinary Discussion. Front. Med. 8:704403. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2021.704403 Primary care physicians (PCPs) contribute to a wide range of healthcare services from health promotion and prevention to treatment and supportive care. A higher PCP-to-population ratio is associated with positive outcomes including longer life expectancy of the population and reduction in cardiovascular, cancer, and respiratory mortality (1). Promoting an active lifestyle is one of the

roles of PCPs. Specifically, promoting physical activity (PA) in healthcare settings is an important strategy to reduce the prevalence of insufficient PA and counter excessive sedentary behavior (SB) according to the World Health Organization (WHO) Global Action Plan on Physical Activity 2018–2030 (2). The expected endpoints of promoting PA include a reduction in the risk of premature mortality and several chronic medical conditions such as diabetes mellitus, hypertension, ischemic heart disease, stroke, breast cancer, and colon cancer (3).

The promotion of PA in primary care is an effective intervention for motivating sedentary people to become physically active (4). Several PA and exercise promotion campaigns have been implemented in clinical settings such as Exercise is Medicine (EIM), which emphasizes the assessment of PA of a patient as the fifth vital sign and recommends PA counseling/prescription during clinical consultations (5).

PA promotion is a standard practice in primary care settings. However, the implementation of PA counseling is hindered by several factors such as limited resources (e.g., heavy clinical workload and time constraints); patients' limitations (e.g., physical condition and communication difficulties); and physicians' lack of knowledge and skills and attitude toward PA promotion (6, 7). The last of these is considered as a modifiable factor that can be improved. However, there is little training in PA promotion during undergraduate medical education (8–10) and postgraduate primary care training (11). The continuing professional development training, consisting of face-to-face training, online materials, or workshops, has the potential to fulfill a lack of formal training (12).

The knowledge and skills pertaining to PA promotion in clinical settings cover several aspects of sport and exercise science (13). As PCPs are not specialists in these subject areas, it is important to identify the essential elements for the practices

9

of PCPs. In this article, we present the collective opinion of experts in the field of primary care medicine (AW and CJN), sport and exercise science (MPNN, PH, SH, and CP), and PA (AA) regarding this point.

DISCUSSIONS ON SPORT AND EXERCISE SCIENCE

Defining Physical Activity, Exercise, and Sport

PA is a relatively new concept in many countries and is recognized by the general public as specific activity domains i.e., sports or exercise. Thus, the term "physical activity" needs to be clarified and distinguished from "exercise" and "sport" to facilitate the promotion of this concept by PCPs.

PA is defined as "any bodily movement produced by skeletal muscles that results in energy expenditure" (14). PA incorporates movement activities in daily life. Exercise is planned, structured, repetitive, and is undertaken with the purpose of improving and maintaining physical fitness (14). Exercise is a subset of but not synonymous with PA. However, the two terms are often used interchangeably. Sport is a subset of exercise that consists of a set of rules and defined goal (e.g., competition) (15). Thus, exercise and sport are important domains of PA (Figure 1). For example, running is a PA and can be considered as an exercise. If the running session is a competition, it is defined as sport. Current perceptions and characteristics of sports are variable and dynamic. Some types of sport are not considered as PA or exercise. For example, most eSports require players to control their characters in the virtual world while sitting in front of a monitor during competitions (16). PA is categorized according to its objectives as occupational, transport, domestic, and recreational (including exercise and sport) activities (15), which are collectively known as "PA domains".

Clarifying the exact meaning of PA is critical for promoting active lifestyles. Given the broad definition of PA, it can be (wrongly) argued that sitting in front of a computer monitor and clicking a mouse with a few fingers—which requires skeletal muscle contraction and uses energy—is PA. However, PA is defined based on the level of energy expenditure. A person engages in both movement and non-movement activities within a 24-h day–night cycle including sleep, SB, and PA. The amount of energy consumed during sleep is approximately 1 metabolic equivalent (1 MET = oxygen uptake of 3.5 ml/kg/min) (17). SB is any waking behavior in a sitting, reclining, or lying posture that expends <1.5 MET of energy (17). PA is characterized by an energy expenditure of \geq 1.5 METs while in any posture (17).

Current evidence supports that the benefits of PA are a doseresponse basis (18-20). In other words, a higher dose of PA is more beneficial than a lower dose, however, an optimal dose is needed to identify. A very low dose of PA may minimally affect the health benefits while an extremely high dose of PA may cause harm and injuries. The dose of PA depends on two factors-namely, intensity and duration. The intensity of PA can be classified into three levels: light (1.5-2.9 METs), moderate (3–5.9 METs), and vigorous (≥ 6 METs). Although moderateto vigorous-intensity PA is considered an effective intensity to improve health, light-intensity PA is also advantageous for health benefits. According to the dose-response basis, it cannot be concluded whether PA, exercise, or sport is the most effective activity. For example, brisk walking at 4 METs (moderateintensity aerobic PA) for 150 min/week is equal to 600 METmin/week (about the weekly recommended PA). This dose of running (8 METs for 75 min/week = 600 MET-min/week) may have similar health benefits whether the running session is PA, exercise, or sport. Thus, in this instance, the name given to the activity has no bearing on the benefit that it provides. The challenge for PCPs is designing an appropriate program or intervention for an individual to achieve the recommended levels of PA.

Integrating Sport and Exercise Science Into Primary Care Medicine

The 2020 WHO guidelines on PA and SB provide recommendations for children and adolescents (aged 5–17 years), adults (aged 18–64 years), older adults (aged \geq 65 years), pregnant and postpartum women, and people living with chronic conditions and disabilities (21). The recommendations



are simple and can be adopted by both healthy individuals and those with health issues. However, translating public health PA guidelines into clinical practice is challenging. Understanding the concepts of sport and exercise can potentially fill the gaps in the knowledge and skill of PCPs.

Identifying the essential elements of sport and exercise sciences is one of the main objectives of this interdisciplinary discussion. The term "sport" may be omitted from the practices of PCPs because PA or exercise promotion is more relevant to most of the population in primary care. The key competence required in this context is PA counseling or prescription.

Pre-exercise screening and the Frequency, Intensity, Time, and Type (FITT) principle (22) are required knowledge for PCPs to perform PA counseling or prescription. Pre-exercise screening is used to assess an individual's readiness and safety for PA or exercise, while the FITT principle can be adopted as a framework to translate scientific and medical concepts to practice and design a tailored PA program.

Promoting Safe Physical Activities

PA is generally safe for most people; however, the risks and harms increase with the intensity and dose. PA may increase risks of injuries from minor musculoskeletal injuries to sudden cardiac arrest. One study shows that a PA-related injury over 30 days during walking, gardening, weightlifting, outdoor bicycling, and performing aerobics is 0.9 to 2.4% (23). The incidence of sudden cardiac arrest related to exercise is still low (0.6 to 2.1 per 100,000 person-years) compared with out-of-hospital cardiac arrest (65.4 to 108.9 per 100,000 person-years) (22). There are several challenges faced by PCPs when providing care and PA/exercise prescriptions to patients; the two main ones are discussed in detail below.

Firstly, readiness and safety are critical issues for patients engaging in PA. Health screening may be required to ensure readiness and thereby reduce the risks of adverse events. A variety of approaches for this purpose can be adopted in clinical practice (22). For example, self-screening tools such as Physical Activity Readiness for Everyone (PAR-Q+) and the electronic Physical Activity Readiness Medical Examination (ePARmed-X+) are freely available online for public access (https://eparmedx.com/). For patients who require medical advice, PCPs can perform an evaluation based on patients' current PA levels, history of illness as well as signs and symptoms prior to their engagement in PA according to the American College of Sports Medicine's health screening process (24). High-risk patients should be given careful consideration and may need to be referred to medical specialists prior to initiation of PA.

Secondly, the depth of disease-specific knowledge required by PCPs to promote PA is a major concern. Sport and exercise scientists are content experts with detailed knowledge of exercise physiology, biomechanics, and anatomy and possess tools to evaluate patients with chronic conditions. It can be an exhausting task for PCPs to study all of these sub-disciplines of sport and exercise science along with disease-specific exercise guidelines (e.g., for cancer survivors or patients with heart disease or musculoskeletal disorders). Therefore, PCPs only need to understand the basic concepts of PA or exercise and the contraindications and precautions for PA for specific medical conditions. A scheme for referrals to sport and exercise specialists is strongly suggested for patients who require special care.

The FITT Principle as a Framework to Promote Physical Activity

PA recommendations include specific details for each group within the population. For example, the recommendation for healthy adults (18–64 years) is 150–300 min/week of moderate-intensity or 75–150 min/week of vigorous-intensity aerobic PA (21). Additionally, adults should undertake muscle-strengthening activities at moderate or greater intensity ≥ 2 days/week (21). The time spent engaging in SB should be limited and replaced with PA at any intensity, including light activities (21).

Notably, PA recommendations for adults include details on the frequency, intensity (i.e., light to vigorous), time (i.e., 150–300 min/week), and type (aerobic). PCPs can rely on the FITT principle based on WHO PA recommendations when providing PA counseling. The recommended 150– 300 min/week of moderate-intensity PA can be designed in different ways. The 150 min/week target can be achieved with five 30-min sessions per week of brisk walking. Alternatively, the target can be achieved by combining 120 min of recreational swimming and 30 min of gardening with heavy tools.

Vague advice such as "move more and sit less", "go exercise", or "increase your PA", are superficial and may be ineffective in changing people's behaviors. The FITT principle can provide a supportive framework that can aid PCPs in PA counseling or in writing a PA/exercise prescription. Otherwise, general advice regarding SB—e.g., "limit sitting time" or "reduce time spent on SB"—may be suitable. The informative content of PA counseling provided by PCPs can help individuals to achieve the recommended PA goals.

CONCLUSION

This interdisciplinary discussion highlights the important role of PCPs in promoting PA and reducing SB in the primary care setting. The basic concepts of sport and exercise sciences, as well as WHO PA recommendations, constitute essential knowledge for PCPs that should be integrated into their professional practices. Pre-PA/exercise screening may be required, particularly for high-risk patients. Safety issues must also be taken into account when providing PA/exercise counseling or prescriptions. The FITT principle is suggested as a framework to perform the PA/exercise counseling and prescription. Integration of sport and exercise science into the primary care practice requires an understanding and incorporation of underlying concepts, as well as coordination between PCPs and sport/exercise scientists.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AW and MPNN conceived the manuscript. PH, MPNN, SH, AA, CP, and CJN contributed comments. AW wrote the first draft of the manuscript. AW and AA edited the manuscript. All authors participated in the discussions, read and approved the final version of the

REFERENCES

- Basu S, Berkowitz SA, Phillips RL, Bitton A, Landon BE, Phillips RS. Association of primary care physician supply with population mortality in the United States, 2005-2015. *JAMA Intern Med.* (2019) 179:506– 14. doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2018.7624
- 2. World Health Organization. *Global Action Plan on Physical Activity 2018–2030: More Active People for a Healthier World*. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization (2018).
- Warburton DER, Bredin SSD. Health benefits of physical activity: a systematic review of current systematic reviews. *Curr Opin Cardiol.* (2017) 32:541– 56. doi: 10.1097/HCO.00000000000437
- Orrow G, Kinmonth A-L, Sanderson S, Sutton S. Effectiveness of physical activity promotion based in primary care: systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. *BMJ.* (2012) 344:e1389. doi: 10.1136/bmj.e1389
- Bowen PG, Mankowski RT, Harper SA, Buford TW. Exercise is medicine as a vital sign: challenges and opportunities. *Transl J Am Coll Sports Med.* (2019) 4:1–7.
- Hébert ET, Caughy MO, Shuval K. Primary care providers' perceptions of physical activity counselling in a clinical setting: a systematic review. Br J Sports Med. (2012) 46:625–31. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2011-090734
- Wattanapisit A, Thanamee S, Wongsiri S. Physical activity counselling among GPs: a qualitative study from Thailand. *BMC Fam Pract.* (2019) 20:72. doi: 10.1186/s12875-019-0968-x
- Wattanapisit A, Vijitpongjinda S, Saengow U, Amaek W, Thanamee S, Petchuay P. Results from the Medical School Physical Activity Report Card (MSPARC) for a Thai medical school: a mixed methods study. *BMC Med Educ.* (2018) 18:288. doi: 10.1186/s12909-018-1408-7
- Stoutenberg M, Stasi S, Stamatakis E, Danek D, Dufour T, Trilk JL, et al. Physical activity training in US medical schools: preparing future physicians to engage in primary prevention. *Phys Sportsmed*. (2015) 43:388– 94. doi: 10.1080/00913847.2015.1084868
- Strong A, Stoutenberg M, Hobson-Powell A, Hargreaves M, Beeler H, Stamatakis E. An evaluation of physical activity training in Australian medical school curricula. J Sci Med Sport. (2017) 20:534–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jsams.2016.10.011
- Wattanapisit A, Tuangratananon T, Thanamee S. Physical activity counseling in primary care and family medicine residency training: a systematic review. *BMC Med Educ.* (2018) 18:159. doi: 10.1186/s12909-018-1268-1
- Brannan M, Bernardotto M, Clarke N, Varney J. Moving healthcare professionals - a whole system approach to embed physical activity in clinical practice. *BMC Med Educ.* (2019) 19:84. doi: 10.1186/s12909-019-1517-y
- Wattanapisit A, Petchuay P, Wattanapisit S, et al. Developing a training programme in physical activity counselling for undergraduate medical curricula: a nationwide Delphi study. *BMJ Open.* (2019) 9:e030425. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2019-030425
- Caspersen CJ, Powell KE, Christenson GM. Physical activity, exercise, and physical fitness: definitions and distinctions for health-related research. *Public Health Rep.* (1985) 100:126–31.
- Khan KM, Thompson AM, Blair SN, Sallis JF, Powell KE, Bull FC, et al. Sport and exercise as contributors to the health of nations. *Lancet.* (2012) 380:59–64. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60865-4

manuscript, and agreed with the order of presentation of the authors.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Aekthawat Watthanachon for arranging the interinstitutional meetings.

- Wattanapisit A, Wattanapisit S, Wongsiri S. Public health perspectives on eSports. *Public Health Rep.* (2020) 135:295– 98. doi: 10.1177/0033354920912718
- Tremblay MS, Aubert S, Barnes JD, et al. Sedentary behavior research network (SBRN) - terminology consensus project process and outcome. *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act.* (2017) 14:75. doi: 10.1186/s12966-017-0525-8
- Geidl W, Schlesinger S, Mino E, Miranda L, Pfeifer K. Dose-response relationship between physical activity and mortality in adults with noncommunicable diseases: a systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective observational studies. *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act.* (2020) 17:109. doi: 10.1186/s12966-020-01007-5
- Ekelund U, Tarp J, Steene-Johannessen J, Hansen BH, Jefferis B, Fagerland MW, et al. Dose-response associations between accelerometry measured physical activity and sedentary time and all cause mortality: systematic review and harmonised meta-analysis. *BMJ*. (2019) 366:l4570. doi: 10.1136/bmj.l4570
- 20. Kyu HH, Bachman VF, Alexander LT, Mumford JE, Afshin A, Estep K, et al. Physical activity and risk of breast cancer, colon cancer, diabetes, ischemic heart disease, and ischemic stroke events: systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013. *BMJ*. (2016) 354:i3857. doi: 10.1136/bmj.i3857
- Bull FC, Al-Ansari SS, Biddle S, Borodulin K, Buman MP, Cardon G, et al. World Health Organization 2020 guidelines on physical activity and sedentary behaviour. Br J Sports Med. (2020) 54:1451–62. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2020-102955
- Wattanapisit A, Wattanapisit S, Wongsiri S. Overview of physical activity counseling in primary care. *Korean J Fam Med.* (2020). doi: 10.4082/kjfm.19.0113
- Powell KE, Heath GW, Kresnow M-J, Sacks JJ, Branche CM. Injury rates from walking, gardening, weightlifting, outdoor bicycling, and aerobics. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* (1998) 30:1246–9. doi: 10.1097/00005768-199808000-00010
- Riebe D, Franklin BA, Thompson PD, Garber CE, Whitfield GP, Magal M, et al. Updating ACSM's recommendations for exercise preparticipation health screening. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* (2015) 47:2473–9. doi: 10.1249/MSS.00000000000664

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Wattanapisit, Poomiphak Na Nongkhai, Hemarachatanon, Huntula, Amornsriwatanakul, Paratthakonkun and Ng. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Is There Limited Utility for Lifestyle Recommendations for Diabetes Prevention Among Overweight or Obese Depressed Patients?

Arch G. Mainous III^{1,2*}, Benjamin J. Rooks² and Frank A. Orlando²

¹ Department of Health Services Research, Management and Policy, University of Florida, Gainesville, FL, United States, ² Department of Community Health and Family Medicine, University of Florida, Gainesville, FL, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Christos Lionis, University of Crete, Greece

Reviewed by:

Eron Grant Manusov, The University of Texas Rio Grande Valley, United States Isabella Neri, University of Modena, Italy

> *Correspondence: Arch G. MainousIII arch.mainous@ufl.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Family Medicine and Primary Care, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 11 August 2021 Accepted: 29 October 2021 Published: 19 November 2021

Citation:

Mainous AG III, Rooks BJ and Orlando FA (2021) Is There Limited Utility for Lifestyle Recommendations for Diabetes Prevention Among Overweight or Obese Depressed Patients? Front. Med. 8:757250. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2021.757250 **Background:** Lifestyle interventions like diet and exercise are commonly recommended for diabetes prevention, but it is unclear if depression modifies the likelihood of adherence. We evaluated the relationship between high depressive symptomatology and adherence to lifestyle interventions among patients with pre-diabetes.

Methods: We conducted an analysis of the nationally representative National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) 2017–2018. Adults, aged \geq 18 years old who were overweight or obese (BMI \geq 25) and had diagnosed or undiagnosed prediabetes (HbA1c 5.7–6.4) were included. Depressive symptomatology was classified by the Patient Health Questionniare-9 (PHQ-9). We used self-reported adherence to physician suggested lifestyle changes of diet and exercise.

Results: In this nationally representative survey of overweight or obese adults with prediabetes, 14.8% also have high depressive symptomatology. In unadjusted analyses, an interaction was observed with high depressive symptomatology acting as an effect modifier for adherence to exercise oriented interventions among patients with diagnosed pre-diabetes (p = 0.027). In logistic regressions, adjusting for age, sex, race, outpatient medical care in the past 12 months, and obesity, among patients with diagnosed prediabetes, depressed patients were less likely to attempt to exercise more (OR = 0.31; 95% CI: 0.10, 0.94) and no association between high depressive symptomatology and attempting to lose weight was observed (OR = 0.45; 95% CI: 0.14, 1.42).

Conclusions: The findings of this nationally representative study of US adults, high depressive symptomatology decreases the likelihood of adherence to exercise based lifestyle recommendations among patients with diagnosed pre-diabetes.

Keywords: diabetes risk, depression, NHANES, prevention, exercise

13

INTRODUCTION

Diabetes is a chronic, progressive disease that has reached epidemic proportions in the USA (1). The American Diabetes Association and United States Preventive Services Task Force recommend screening, early detection, and treatment for prediabetes as a necessary strategy to prevent diabetes and its severe complications (2–5). Diabetes prevention focuses on the use of lifestyle interventions and/or prescription metformin among the general population.

Individuals with depression are a vulnerable and important population in relation to diabetes and diabetes prevention. Diabetes and depression are common comorbid conditions and having both diabetes and depression is related to worse health outcomes than just having one of the conditions (6-8). Individuals with depression and pre-diabetes are at a greater risk of developing diabetes than those with only one of these risk factors (9-12).

Although lifestyle interventions are recommended and evidence-based for diabetes prevention, adherence to an intense lifestyle program may be difficult for depressed patients. Little research has focused on the adherence of lifestyle interventions for diabetes prevention among patients with pre-diabetes and depression (13). One of the few studies to investigate this question examined utilization of weight loss as strategy by patients but included people at normal weight, a population unlikely to try and increase exercise and try and lose weight. This is an important gap in our knowledge base because depressed patients are a particularly vulnerable group, and the standard approach for diabetes prevention, advice for lifestyle change, may not be an optimal strategy for depressed patients.

The purpose of this study was to investigate the adherence to physician reported diabetes prevention lifestyle interventions, increased exercise and weight loss, among overweight or obese adult patients with pre-diabetes and depression.

RESEARCH DESIGN AND METHODS

We analyzed the 2017-2018 National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES). The NHANES is a large, nationally representative survey that samples the noninstitutionalized population of the United States using a stratified multistage probability sample design. To account for nationally representative population estimates, the National Center for Health Statistics applies a multilevel weighting system. The survey included a standardized medical examination including blood analysis for examining biomarkers and a number of health-related interviews. The application of weights and variables accounting for the complex survey design allows the study to provide nationally representative population estimates for the United States. Our study focused on adults \geq 18 years of age who were overweight or obese as defined by body mass index (BMI) of \geq 25. BMI was obtained from body weight divided by height squared (kg/m²). Weight and height were measured by a trained examiner in the mobile examination center, and these were used to calculate BMI.

Exclusions

We excluded patients who reported that they had undergone bariatric surgery since that would confound our assessment of lifestyle recommendations for weight loss. This was assessed by the individual's response to the question "Have you ever had weight loss surgery?" Individuals who indicated they received medication for ADHD were also excluded because this may affect their motivation for exercise.

Identification of Previously Diagnosed Diabetes

Individuals were considered to have diabetes if they reported ever being told by a health care provider that they had diabetes, excluding gestational diabetes. We also removed individuals with an A1C \geq 6.5% to account for undiagnosed diabetes.

Identification of Pre-diabetes

Individuals participating in the NHANES undergo a physical examination that includes laboratory analysis of blood. We defined diagnosed pre-diabetes as any respondents who reported being told that they had pre-diabetes or borderline diabetes. The specific wording was, "Have you ever been told by a doctor or other health professional ever been told by a doctor or other health professional that you have any of the following: pre-diabetes, impaired fasting glucose, impaired glucose tolerance, borderline diabetes or that your blood sugar is higher than normal but not high enough to be called diabetes or sugar diabetes?" We defined undiagnosed pre-diabetes among individuals without previously diagnosed or undiagnosed diabetes or diagnosed pre-diabetes using the A1C range of 5.7–6.4% (39–46 mmol/mol), as specified by the ADA (2).

We excluded individuals with previously diagnosed diabetes or pre-diabetes from the computation of undiagnosed prediabetes because the glycemic status of those individuals may simply have represented diabetes control. This recoded variable was binary.

Depressive Symptomatology

Depressive symptomatology was assessed using the Patient Health Questionniare-9 (PHQ-9) (14). The reliability and validity of the PHQ-9 has been assessed both in the general population and in clinical samples (15). For the purposes of this analysis, individuals with a PHQ-9 score of 10 or greater were classified as having high depressive symptomatology.

The focus for this variable was on the self-report of symptoms for depression. There were some individuals who reported taking medication for depression. It was felt that with diagnosed depression whose depression was under control should not be classed as depression in relation to the likelihood of adherence with lifestyle change recommendations.

Physician Recommended Lifestyle Modifications and Adherence

Patients who responded "Yes" to the interview question, "During the past 12 months have you ever been told by a doctor or health professional to control your weight or lose weight?" were classified as having received a recommendation from their physician to lose weight. Patients who further indicated that they were currently attempting to lose or control their weight were categorized as attempting to complete a recommended weight-loss lifestyle modification. The same criteria were used to establish attempting to complete a recommendation to exercise more based on their responses to the interview question, "During the past 12 months have you ever been told by a doctor or health professional to increase your physical activity or exercise?" and further indicated that they were currently trying to increase their physical activity or exercise habits.

Demographics and Covariates

Age, sex and race/ethnicity was derived from the NHANES interview. Race/ethnicity was categorized into four groups: (1) Non-Hispanic White, (2) Non-Hispanic Black, (3) Hispanics and (4) Other. We also included whether individuals had seen a physician or other healthcare provider at least once in the past 12 months. We also assessed among who had been seen in an outpatient setting whether individuals had seen a mental health provider in the past 12 months.

Statistical Analysis

All analyses were conducted using the survey package in R. v4.0.3. Weighting and design variables applied to all analyses to account for the stratified multistage probability sample design. Incorporation of the weighting and design variables allows us to calculate population estimates for the non-institutionalized US population. Unadjusted odds ratio from logistic regression models were used to determine the associations between pre-diabetes and follow-through on lifestyle modifications. Interaction terms between high depressive symptomatology and lifestyle modifications were used to test for the presence of effect modification from depressive symptoms. For analyses on weightloss, individuals who had never received a recommendation to lose weight were excluded. Similarly for exercise, individuals who had never received a recommendation to exercise more were excluded from analyses. Additional logistic regression analyses exploring the adjusted relationship between attempting lifestyle modifications and high depressive symptomatology among patients with diagnosed pre-diabetes were also performed, adjusting for age, obesity, sex, outpatient health care in the past 12 months, and race/ethnicity.

RESULTS

The characteristics of the sample are shown in **Table 1**. The prevalence of individuals with pre-diabetes who also have high depressive symptomatology is not uncommon at 14.8%. This accounts for 6,736,053 adults in the US.

Table 2 shows the unadjusted odds ratios between lifestyle modifications and pre-diabetes stratified by depression. Individuals diagnosed with pre-diabetes had lower odds of attempting physician-recommended weight-loss and exerciseoriented lifestyle modifications than individuals without diagnosed pre-diabetes among patients with depression. However, no statistically significant associations between attempting lifestyle modifications and diagnosed prediabetes were observed among patients with low depressive symptomatology. A statistically significant interaction term between depressive symptomatology and exercise suggests that depressive symptomatology on may be an effect modifier for attempting recommended changes in physical activity among patients with diagnosed pre-diabetes, though the same effect was not seen for weight loss recommendations. There were no statistically significant interactions between depressive symptomatology and lifestyle modifications for patients with undiagnosed pre-diabetes.

Additional adjusted analyses were used to confirm the associations between diagnosed pre-diabetes and attempting to complete a lifestyle intervention. Among patients with diagnosed pre-diabetes, depressed patients were less likely to attempt to exercise more (OR = 0.31; 95% CI: 0.10, 0.94) and no association between high depressive symptomatology and attempting to lose weight was observed (OR = 0.45; 95% CI: 0.14, 1.42).

DISCUSSION

The findings of this study indicate that many patients with prediabetes also have high depressive symptomatology. Depressed, overweight patients with diagnosed pre-diabetes are less likely to follow physician recommendations for exercise in a lifestyle modification. However, the same is not true of overweight patients with low depressive symptomatology, whose attempts to follow physician-recommended lifestyle modification to treat diagnosed pre-diabetes is not hindered by depressive symptoms. Lack of motivation and cognitive impairments are the main symptoms preventing depressed patients from attempting lifestyle modification. A core symptom of depression is anhedonia, defined as a "markedly diminished interest or pleasure in all, or almost all, activities most of the day, nearly every day" (16). Anhedonia leads to reductions in physical and cognitive effort, both components in goal-directed, motivated behavior (17). Motivation is interdependent with cognitive control, which is also deficient in depressed patients and leads to impairments in attention, interpretation, and memory. Taken together, deficits in motivation and cognition make it challenging for patients with depression to accomplish tasks and goals.

Depression affects a patient's ability to attempt exercise compared to the ability to lose weight, which is not surprising. The daily fatigue, psychomotor retardation (being slowed down), and feelings of worthlessness often experienced by depressed patients make it difficult to exercise, while the loss of appetite and unintentional weight loss typical of depression may have made it appear that intentional weight loss was easier (16).

The results of this study are consistent with some past research which showed that adherence to an intense lifestyle intervention is lower for patients with depression (18). Previous research has shown the effectiveness of pharmacotherapy (i.e., metformin) for diabetes prevention (19). Although the National Diabetes Prevention Program (National DPP) showed that both an intense lifestyle intervention and metformin were effective strategies for diabetes prevention, the lifestyle intervention had greater TABLE 1 | Descriptive statistics of overweight or obese adults who have never been diagnosed with diabetes.

	Overall	Undiagnosed pre-diabetes	Diagnosed pre-diabetes	No pre-diabetes
Unweighted sample size	3,453	761	448	2,244
Weighted sample size	141,851,135	28,790,161	18,992,903	94,068,071
Age				
18–39	38.8%	23.5%	23.8%	47.0%
40–70	50.6%	60.4%	60.9%	45.4%
71+	10.6%	16.1%	15.3%	7.5%
Gender (female)	48.0%	46.5%	50.7%	47.6%
Race/ethnicity				
Non-hispanic white	59.7%	55.6%	58.9%	61.3%
Non-hispanic black	12.1%	17.5%	9.7%	10.7%
Hispanic	18.7%	16.2%	22.7%	18.7%
BMI ≥30–34.9	30.1%	30.4%	29.2%	30.1%
BMI ≥35–39.9	14.3%	16.3%	18.5%	12.5%
BMI ≥40	10.9%	12.8%	13.5%	8.9%
High depressive symptomatology	7.2%	5.2%	6.7%	7.9%
Outpatient visit (past 12 mos.)	81.4%	83.0%	91.6%	79.6%
Mental health (past 12 mos.)	10.1%	6.8%	13.7%	10.7%
Told to lose weight	30.4%	29.5%	54.9%	24.3%
Trying to lose weight	24.6%	23.0%	43.6%	20.0%
Told to exercise more	40.5%	40.2%	67.4%	33.9%
Trying to exercise more	29.0%	25.9%	48.4%	25.3%

TABLE 2 | Unadjusted odds ratios and 95% confidence intervals for the associations between pre-diabetes and trying to complete lifestyle changes after a doctor's recommendation stratified by depressive symptomatology.

	High depressive symptomatology	Low depressive symptomatology	P^{\ddagger}	High depressive symptomatology	Low depressive symptomatology	P^{\ddagger}
	• •	pre-diabetes vs. pre-diabetes		• •	e-diabetes vs. no pre-diabetes	
Trying to lose weight Trying to exercise more	1.24 (0.42, 3.65) 2.00 (0.55, 7.30)	0.75 (0.40, 1.39) 0.60 (0.38, 0.95)	0.462 0.162	0.28 (0.10, 0.76) 0.24 (0.08, 0.75)	0.97 (0.46, 2.05) 1.16 (0.68, 1.98)	0.102 0.027

[‡]P-values represent the significance of an interaction between major depression and trying to complete a lifestyle recommendation.

benefits. However, the DPP did not consider depression or depressive symptomatology, and it may be that the effectiveness of an intense lifestyle intervention in actual practice may have significantly lower adherence than metformin among patients who are depressed. This research suggests that an alternative to a lifestyle intervention may be warranted. Future research should focus on this considering the millions of patients with pre-diabetes and depression.

There are several limitations to this study which need to be noted. First, the information collected in the NHANES on physician recommendation for lifestyle change and reports of attempts for lifestyle change are based on self-reports. Thus, the lifestyle interventions may vary and may not be as intense as the National DPP. However, the current results suggest that individuals with high depressive symptomatology are still less likely to do exercise programs regardless of the range of intensity suggested by the physicians. Moreover, the NHANES is a survey and is not a chart audit and so aspects of the respondent's medical history, if not collected in the survey with specific questions, will not be available for analysis. Second, the patients reported their depressive symptomatology. This is not a diagnosis via a clinical interview. It should be noted that as was expected, the effect was found based on whether individuals exhibit the depressive symptomatology that may impact on adherence to lifestyle changes. Third, although the results are nationally representative based on population weighting and the adjusted analyses control for race/ethnicity, a subpopulation only analysis could yield different results.

In conclusion, this study indicates that millions of people with pre-diabetes have significant depressive symptomatology, and this may affect the effectiveness of prescribing an intense lifestyle intervention for diabetes prevention. The next step is to determine in a more controlled fashion whether lifestyle interventions or pharmacotherapy are equally effective for diabetes prevention among patients with depression.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries the can be directed to corresponding author/s.

REFERENCES

- 1. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. *National Diabetes Statistics Report, 2020.* Atlanta, GA: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, U.S. Dept of Health and Human Services (2020).
- American Diabetes Association (ADA). Classification and diagnosis of diabetes: standards of medical care in diabetes--2020. *Diabetes Care*. (2020) 43(Suppl. 1): S14-31. doi: 10.2337/dc20-S002
- 3. US Preventive Services Task Force. Abnormal Blood Glucose and Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus: Screening. Available online at: https://www. uspreventiveservicestaskforce.org/uspstf/recommendation/screening-forabnormal-blood-glucose-and-type-2-diabetes (accessed July 6, 2021).
- Diabetes Prevention Program Research Group. Reduction in the incidence of type 2 diabetes with lifestyle intervention or metformin. *N Engl J Med.* (2002) 346:393–403. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa012512
- Diabetes Prevention Program Research Group. Long-term effects of lifestyle intervention or metformin on diabetes development and microvascular complications over 15-year follow-up: the Diabetes Prevention Program Outcomes Study. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol.* (2015) 3:866–75. doi: 10.1016/S2213-8587(15)00291-0
- Scherrer JF, Garfield LD, Chrusciel T, Hauptman PJ, Carney RM, Freedland KE, et al. Increased risk of myocardial infarction in depressed patients with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care*. (2011) 34:1729–34. doi: 10.2337/dc11-0031
- Lin EH, Rutter CM, Katon W, Heckbert SR, Ciechanowski P, Oliver MM, et al. Depression and advanced complications of diabetes: a prospective cohort study. *Diabetes Care*. (2010) 33:264–9. doi: 10.2337/dc09-1068
- Inoue K, Beekley J, Goto A, Jeon CY, Ritz BR. Depression and cardiovascular disease events among patients with type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis with bias analysis. J Diabetes Complic. (2020) 34:107710. doi: 10.1016/j.jdiacomp.2020.107710
- Pan A, Sun Q, Okereke OI, Rexrode KM, Rubin RR, Lucas M, et al. Use of antidepressant medication and risk of type 2 diabetes: results from three cohorts of US adults. *Diabetologia*. (2012) 55:63– 72. doi: 10.1007/s00125-011-2268-4
- Graham E, Au B, Schmitz N. Depressive symptoms, prediabetes, and incident diabetes in older English adults. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry*. (2017) 32:1450– 8. doi: 10.1002/gps.4634
- Deschênes SS, Burns RJ, Graham E, Schmitz N. Prediabetes, depressive and anxiety symptoms, and risk of type 2 diabetes: a community-based cohort study. J Psychosom Res. (2016) 89:85–90. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychores.2016.08.011
- Li L, Shelton RC, Chassan RA, Hammond JC, Gower BA, Garvey TW. Impact of major depressive disorder on prediabetes by impairing insulin sensitivity. J Diabetes Metab. (2016) 7:664. doi: 10.4172/2155-6156.1000664

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AM led the analysis plan, wrote the first draft, and is the guarantor of the paper. BR conducted the analysis. All authors contributed to the initial idea, final writing, and editing of the manuscript.

- Mezuk B, Johnson-Lawrence V, Lee H, Rafferty JA, Abdou CM, Uzogara EE, et al. Is ignorance bliss? Depression, antidepressants, and the diagnosis of prediabetes and type 2 diabetes. *Health Psychol.* (2013) 32:254–63. doi: 10.1037/a0029014
- Kroenke K, Spitzer RL, Williams JB. The PHQ-9: validity of a brief depression severity measure. J Gen Intern Med. (2001) 16:606–13. doi: 10.1046/j.1525-1497.2001.016009606.x
- Kroenke K, Spitzer RL, Williams JB, Löwe B. the patient health questionnaire somatic, anxiety, and depressive symptom scales: a systematic review. *Gen Hosp Psychiatry*. (2010) 32:345–59. doi: 10.1016/j.genhosppsych.2010.03.006
- American Psychiatric Association. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders. 5th ed. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Publishing (2013). doi: 10.1176/appi.books.9780890425596
- Grahek I, Shenhav A, Musslick S, Krebs RM, Koster EHW. Motivation and cognitive control in depression. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2019) 102:371– 81. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2019.04.011
- Cezaretto A, Risso de Barros C, Almeida-Pititto B, Siqueira-Catania A, Monfort-Pires M, Folchetti LG, et al. Lifestyle intervention using the psychoeducational approach is associated with greater cardiometabolic benefits and retention of individuals with worse health status. *Arch Endocrinol Metab.* (2017) 61:36–44. doi: 10.1590/2359-3997000000185
- Moin T, Schmittdiel JA, Flory JH, Yeh J, Karter AJ, Kruge LE, et al. Review of metformin use for type 2 diabetes prevention. *Am J Prev Med.* (2018) 55:565–74. doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2018.04.038

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Mainous, Rooks and Orlando. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

17





Exercise for Neuropathic Pain: A Systematic Review and Expert Consensus

Yong-Hui Zhang¹, Hao-Yu Hu^{1,2}, Yuan-Chang Xiong³, Changgeng Peng⁴, Li Hu⁵, Ya-Zhuo Kong⁵, Yu-Ling Wang⁶, Jia-Bao Guo⁷, Sheng Bi⁸, Tie-Shan Li⁹, Li-Juan Ao¹⁰, Chu-Huai Wang¹¹, Yu-Long Bai¹², Lei Fang¹³, Chao Ma¹⁴, Lin-Rong Liao¹⁵, Hao Liu¹⁵, Yi Zhu¹⁶, Zhi-Jie Zhang¹⁷, Chun-Long Liu¹⁸, Guo-En Fang^{19*} and Xue-Qiang Wang^{1,2*}

¹ Department of Sport Rehabilitation, Shanghai University of Sport, Shanghai, China, ² Department of Rehabilitation Medicine, Shanghai Shangti Orthopedic Hospital, Shanghai, China, ³ Department of Pain Therapy, First Affiliated Hospital of Naval Medical University, Shanghai, China, ⁴ The First Rehabilitation Hospital of Shanghai, Brain and Spinal Cord Innovation Research Center, School of Medicine, Advanced Institute of Translational Medicine, Tongji University, Shanghai, China, ⁶ Institute of Psychology, Chinese Academy of Sciences, Beijing, China, ⁶ Department of Rehabilitation Medicine, The Sixth Affiliated Hospital of Sun Yat-sen University, Guangzhou, China, ⁷ The Second School of Clinical Medicine, Xuzhou Medical University, Xuzhou, China, 8 Rehabilitation Medicine Centre, Chinese PLA General Hospital, Beijing, China, 9 Department of Rehabilitation Medicine, The Affiliated Hospital of Qingdao University, Qingdao, China, ¹⁰ School of Rehabilitation, Kunming Medical University, Kunming, China, ¹¹ Department of Rehabilitation Medicine, The First Affiliated Hospital, Sun Yat-sen University, Guangzhou, China, ¹² Department of Rehabilitation Medicine, Huashan Hospital, Fudan University, Shanghai, China, ¹³ School of Rehabilitation Science, Shanghai University of T.C.M., Shanghai, China, ¹⁴ Department of Rehabilitation, Sun Yat-sen Memorial Hospital, Sun Yat-sen University, Guangzhou, China, ¹⁵ Department of Rehabilitation, Yixing JORU Rehabilitation Hospital, Wuxi, China, ¹⁶ Department of Pain and Musculoskeletal Rehabilitation, The Fifth Affiliated Hospital of Zhengzhou University, Zhengzhou, China, ¹⁷ Rehabilitation Therapy Center, Luoyang Orthopedic Hospital of Henan Province, Orthopedic Hospital of Henan Province, Luoyang, China, ¹⁸ Clinical Medical College of Acupuncture, Moxibustion and Rehabilitation, Guangzhou University of Chinese Medicine, Guangzhou, China, ¹⁹ Department of Gastrointestinal Surgery, First Affiliated Hospital of Naval Medical University, Shanghai, China

Background: Neuropathic pain (NP), a severe and disruptive symptom following many diseases, normally restricts patients' physical functions and leads to anxiety and depression. As an economical and effective therapy, exercise may be helpful in NP management. However, few guidelines and reviews focused on exercise therapy for NP associated with specific diseases. The study aimed to summarize the effectiveness and efficacy of exercise for various diseases with NP supported by evidence, describe expert recommendations for NP from different causes, and inform policymakers of the guidelines.

Design: A systematic review and expert consensus.

Methods: A systematic search was conducted in PubMed. We included systematic review and meta-analysis, randomized controlled trials (RCTs), which assessed patients with NP. Studies involved exercise intervention and outcome included pain intensity at least. Physiotherapy Evidence Database and the Assessment of Multiple Systematic reviews tool were used to grade the quality assessment of the included RCTs and systematic reviews, respectively. The final grades of recommendation were based on strength of evidence and a consensus discussion of results of Delphi rounds by the Delphi consensus panel including 21 experts from the Chinese Association of Rehabilitation Medicine.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Katsuya Kami, Takarazuka University, Japan

Reviewed by:

Tatsunori Ikemoto, Aichi Medical University, Japan Kazuhiro Shimo, Kobe Gakuin University, Japan

*Correspondence:

Guo-En Fang fangguoen@aliyun.com Xue-Qiang Wang wangxueqiang@sus.edu.cn

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Family Medicine and Primary Care, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 11 August 2021 Accepted: 25 October 2021 Published: 24 November 2021

Citation:

Zhang Y-H, Hu H-Y, Xiong Y-C, Peng C, Hu L, Kong Y-Z, Wang Y-L, Guo J-B, Bi S, Li T-S, Ao L-J, Wang C-H, Bai Y-L, Fang L, Ma C, Liao L-R, Liu H, Zhu Y, Zhang Z-J, Liu C-L, Fang G-E and Wang X-Q (2021) Exercise for Neuropathic Pain: A Systematic Review and Expert Consensus. Front. Med. 8:756940. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2021.756940 **Results:** Eight systematic reviews and 21 RCTs fulfilled all of the inclusion criteria and were included, which were used to create the 10 evidence-based consensus statements. The 10 expert recommendations regarding exercise for NP symptoms were relevant to the following 10 different diseases: spinal cord injury, stroke, multiple sclerosis, Parkinson's disease, cervical radiculopathy, sciatica, diabetic neuropathy, chemotherapy-induced peripheral neuropathy, HIV/AIDS, and surgery, respectively. The exercise recommended in the expert consensus involved but was not limited to muscle stretching, strengthening/resistance exercise, aerobic exercise, motor control/stabilization training and mind-body exercise (Tai Chi and yoga).

Conclusions: Based on the available evidence, exercise is helpful to alleviate NP intensity. Therefore, these expert consensuses recommend that proper exercise programs can be considered as an effective alternative treatment or complementary therapy for most patients with NP. The expert consensus provided medical staff and policymakers with applicable recommendations for the formulation of exercise prescription for NP. This consensus statement will require regular updates after five-ten years.

Keywords: exercise, training, neuropathic pain, chronic pain, expert consensus

INTRODUCTION

Neuropathic pain (NP) is defined as pain driven by a lesion or disease of the somatosensory nervous system (1, 2). Meanwhile, central or peripheral nerve lesions can lead to sensory loss in the corresponding body regions to the damaged central nervous part or in the innervation territory of injured peripheral nerve. Indeed, one of the most important features of NP is a complex combination of sensory loss and pain. It is well-known that NP is not only an exclusive symptom for patients with direct nervous injuries but also indirect nervous peripheral neuropathy. For instance, the incidence of NP is around 50% in patients with spinal cord injury and $\sim 21\%$ in patients suffering from diabetic neuropathy (3). Compared with males (5.7%), the female population is more likely to suffer from chronic NP (8%) (1). Additionally, the related more affected body regions are low back, neck, and extremities (4). The symptoms of NP, such as spontaneous pain, evoked pain, aftersensation, hyperalgesia, and referred pain, could seriously disturb patients' motor function and emotions and result in a low quality of life, anxiety, and depression. The current management of NP aim to control or ameliorate symptoms due to the difficulty of treating damaged nerve directly. However, traditional pharmacological treatment is not effective enough and may lead to cardiac conduction block, sedation, anticholinergic effects or opioid-related adverse effects (5, 6). Thus, non-pharmacological approaches, such as exercise, have gained the attention of physicians.

Exercise, a feasible and economical way, has been widely accepted as an effective treatment for musculoskeletal disorders. As a treatment, exercise refers to the physical activities aiming to correct impairment and improve physical and cognitive function, which can positively contribute to health (7). Normally, therapeutic exercise could be divided into various types, such as muscle stretching, strengthening/resistance exercise, aerobic exercise, motor control/stabilization training and mind-body exercise (8). Considering the benefits of exercise, such as blood glucose and blood lipid reduction, exercise-induced hypoalgesia and emotional improvement, it might be an effective way to prevent and treat NP (9, 10). The effectiveness of exercise training as a complementary therapy or interventional treatment for patients with NP has been previously reported and exercise program seems to be beneficial to the recovery of damaged peripheral nerve, the alleviation of pain symptoms, and the improvement of physical status (11). However, the distinct content of exercise, different intensities of training, and various frequencies of physical activities can produce different effects and influence on patients with NP. Similarly, NP from different causes have diverse characteristics and are likely to respond to exercise treatment differently. A proper exercise plan for the management of NP in patients has been a challenge for physicians and physiotherapists.

Several clinical guidelines, systematic reviews, and metaanalyses regarding to clinical therapies for some specific diseases with NP symptoms have been published (12–17). However, these guidelines and reviews more focus on pharmacological treatment; non-invasive treatments, such electrical and magnetic stimulation; and other non-pharmacological approaches, but not exercise. Although exercise has been reported as a safe and useful method to improve functions and relieve pain in patients with NP, few guidelines or expert consensus review exercise program as a treatment for different types of NP in detail. Therefore, the Chinese Association of Rehabilitation Medicine needs to establish an exercise program consensus for diseases with NP that could be applicable to physiotherapists.

The Chinese Association of Rehabilitation Medicine invited experts in physiotherapy, sports science, orthopedics, and sports

medicine to develop evidence-based recommendations and expert consensus. This expert consensus aimed to: (1) summarize the effectiveness and efficacy of exercise for various diseases with NP supported by evidence; (2) describe evidence-based exercise recommendations for NP from different causes, including central and peripheral nerve damage; and (3) inform policy makers of the guidelines.

METHODS

Data Sources

A systematic search was conducted in PubMed. We searched all sources from their inception up to January 25, 2021. The search used the following keywords: neuropathic pain, neuralgia, neurodynia, and exercise. The details of the search strategy for the PubMed database are provided in the **Supplementary Material**.

Inclusion Criteria

Types of Studies

Systematic reviews, meta-analyses, and randomized controlled trials (RCTs) in peer-reviewed journals were included. We excluded retrospective studies, case-control studies, meeting abstracts, conference presentations, book reviews, news items, and corrections. Studies, including Systematic reviews, metaanalyses, and RCTs, with higher levels of evidence were prioritized but lower-quality studies were also evaluated. The language was limited to English.

Types of Participants

We included studies that assessed patients suffering from NP caused by spinal cord injury, stroke, multiple sclerosis, Parkinson's disease, cervical radiculopathy, sciatica, diabetic neuropathy, chemotherapy-induced peripheral neuropathy, HIV/AIDS, and surgery (2).

Types of Interventions

We only considered studies that involved exercise, such as muscle stretching, strengthening/resistance exercise, aerobic exercise, motor control/stabilization training and mind-body exercise (Tai Chi, yoga, and Pilates). Furthermore, the intervention groups should be able to show the effect of exercise through at least one group. For example, at least one intervention group received exercise only; or one intervention group received exercise combined with usual therapy while another intervention group received usual therapy.

Types of Outcome Measures

Outcome measures must include but are not limited to pain intensity. Other outcomes, such as muscle strength, motor functions, and balance, were also considered.

Study Selection

Two reviewers independently screened the titles, abstracts, and full contents of the proper studies according to the same inclusion criteria. We excluded studies that did not fulfill the inclusion criteria. Any disagreements were resolved by a discussion and a third reviewer was consulted if a disagreement persisted. TABLE 1 | Oxford center for evidence based medicine, level of evidence.

Level	Intervention
I	Evidence obtained from systematic reviews, high-quality diagnostic studies, prospective studies, or randomized controlled trials
II	Evidence obtained from systematic reviews, lesser-quality diagnostic studies, prospective studies, or randomized controlled trials, such as weaker diagnostic criteria and reference standards, improper randomization, no blinding, <80% follow-up
	Retrospective studies or case-control studies
IV	Case series
V	Expert opinion

Levels of Evidence

Individual clinical research studies were evaluated in accordance with the criteria adapted from the Oxford Center for Evidence-Based Medicine 2011 Levels of Evidence (CEBM) (available at http://www.cebm.net/index.aspx?o=5653). Two reviewers independently assessed the levels of evidence for each clinical study using an appraisal tool. The abbreviated version of the levels of evidence id shown in **Table 1** (18). Additionally, the level of evidence for the recommendation for each disease was determined by the lowest level of evidence from related researched studies.

Grades of Recommendation

According to the established clinical guidelines by the American Physical Therapy Association (18–20), the recommendation was graded based on strength of evidence. The authors considered the benefits, side effects of physical therapies, and the strengths and limitations of the evidence body to develop the recommendations. The grades of recommendation are shown in **Table 2**.

Quality of Evidence

According to Collins et al. (21) and Shea et al. (22), Physiotherapy Evidence Database (PEDro) score (total score/10) and the Assessment of Multiple Systematic Reviews (AMSTAR) score (total score/11) were used to grade the quality of the included RCTs and the methodological quality of the included systematic reviews and meta-analyses, respectively. Two reviewers independently assessed the quality of the included studies through PEDro and AMSTAR. The included studies were graded as low, moderate, or high quality based on the consensus statements (21, 23). Studies with PEDro and AMSTAR scores of \leq 3, 4–6, and \geq 7 were considered to have low, moderate, and high quality, respectively.

Consensus Process

X-Q.W. and G-E.F. formulated the population, intervention, comparator, and outcome (PICO) research topics and drafted the recommendation statements. During the first round, the 21 experts from the Chinese Association of Rehabilitation Medicine reviewed and commented on the text online using a 5-point scale: 1. strongly agree; 2. agree; 3. no opinion; 4. disagree; 5. strongly disagree (24). A score of 1–2 was determined as "Agreement." In the second round, the recommendation

TABLE 2 | Grades of recommendation.

Gra	des of recommendation	Strength of evidence
 A	Strong evidence	A preponderance of level I and/or level II studies support the recommendation. This must include at least 1 level I study
В	Moderate evidence	A single high-quality randomized controlled trial or a preponderance of level II studies support the recommendation
С	Weak evidence	A single level II study or a preponderance of level III and IV studies, including statements of consensus by content experts, support the recommendation
D	Conflicting evidence	Higher-quality studies conducted on this topic disagree with respect to their conclusions. The recommendation is based on these conflicting studies
Е	Theoretical/foundational evidence	A preponderance of evidence from animal or cadaver studies, from conceptual models/principles, or from basic science/bench research support this conclusion
F	Expert opinion	Best practice based on the clinical experience of the guideline's development team



statements that were regarded as "Disagreement" were discussed further. If 75% agreement could be not gained after discussion, the recommendation statements were further rated in a third round (25). Finally, the grades of recommendation were assigned based on the strength of evidence and a consensus discussion of the results of the Delphi rounds.

RESULTS

Eight systematic reviews and 21 RCTs met the inclusion criteria after the evaluation of the titles, abstracts, and full contents of the relevant studies (**Figure 1**). The characteristics and quality of evidence of the included studies are shown in **Table 3** (characteristics of RCTs), **Table 4** (characteristics of systematic

reviews), **Table 5** (quality of evidence of RCTs), and **Table 6** (quality of evidence of systematic reviews), respectively. Based on PEDro scores, 10 RCTs (47.62%) have high quality, and 11 RCTs (52.38%) have moderate quality. According to AMSTAR scores, six systematic reviews (75%) have high quality, and two systematic reviews (25%) have moderate quality. The summary of the consensus recommendations for exercise as NP treatment is presented in **Table 7**.

Consensus Recommendations for Pain Associated With Spinal Cord Injury

Chronic pain is a common and serious symptom in patients with spinal cord injury with a high prevalence at around 73% in Denmark (26). About 30% of patients considered the pain as a

TABLE 3 | Characteristics of included RCT studies.

References	Par	ticipants	Intervention pro	otocol	Outcome assessment	Outcome measures	Results of pain	Safety
	Population Sample size Study design	Age (years)	Intervention group 1	Intervention group 2 or control group				
Labruyère and van Hedel (29)	Patients with incomplete spinal cord injury n = 9 2 groups	 59 ± 11 Group 1 (n = 5) Group 2 (n = 4) 	 Robot-assisted gait training (45 min per session; 16 sessions within 4 weeks) Strength training (45 min per session; 16 sessions within the following 4 weeks) 	The same interventions in reversed order	 After the interventions At follow-up 6 months	Pain (VAS)10-m Walk TestBalance	Robot-assisted gait training and strength training reduced pain intensity.	No adverse events
Costantino et al. (31)	Patients with chronic post-stroke n = 32 2 groups	 Group 1 (n = 17): 62.59 ± 15.39 Group 2 (n = 15): 60.47 ± 16.06 	 Local muscle vibration during voluntary isometric contraction 12 sessions; 3 times per week over 4 weeks 	Voluntary isometric contraction (12 sessions; 3 times per week over 4 weeks)	After the 4-week interventions	Pain (VNRS)Grip strength	Voluntary isometric contraction reduced pain intensity.	NA
Jeon et al. (32)	Patients with post-stroke hemiparesis n = 12 2 groups	 Group 1 (n = 6): 58.0 ± 13.6 Group 2 (n = 6): 50.5 ± 8.9 	 Monkey Chair and Band exercise (joint motion, strengthening training, and relaxation) 30 mins per session; 3 times per week;12 weeks 	No intervention	At 4 weeksAt 8 weeksAt 12 weeks	Pain (VAS)ROMMMAS	Joint motion and strengthening training reduced pain intensity.	NA
Wei et al. (33)	Patients with hemiplegic shoulder pain n = 40 2 groups	 Group 1 (n = 20): 63.85 ± 11.07 Group 2 (n = 20): 65.55 ± 13.30 	 Acupuncture combined with neuromuscular joint facilitation (NJF) Once a day; 6 times a week for 3 weeks 	 Acupuncture alone Once a day; 6 times a week for 3 weeks 	After 3-week intervention	 Pain (VAS) Fugl-Meyer assessment Passive ROM 	NJF training reduced pain intensity.	NA
Horsley et al. (34)	Patients after stroke n = 50 2 groups	 Group 1 (n = 25): 65.9 ± 12.7 Group 2 (n = 25): 68.5 ± 13.0 	 Active, intensive, repetitive upper limb training using the SMART Arm device (1 h a day; 5 days a week for 5 weeks) Upper limb therapy (5 days a week for the same 5 weeks) 	Usual upper limb therapy (5 days a week for 5 weeks)	 After 5-week interventions At 7-week follow-up 	• Pain (VAS)	No significant effects of upper limb training by SMART Arm device on pain intensity.	NA
Pilutti et al. (38)	Patients with Multiple Sclerosis <i>n</i> = 8/11 2 groups	 Group 1 (n = 4): 57.3 ± 6.0 Group 2 (n = 4): 48.5 ± 7.7 	 Functional electrical stimulation (FES) cycling exercise Same cadence (50 rpm); 3 weekly sessions for 24 weeks 	 Passive leg cycling 3 weekly sessions for 24 weeks 	After 24-week intervention	 Pain (McGill Pain Questionnaire) Cognitive processing speed Symptoms of fatigue 	The FES cycling exercise reduced pain intensity.	Six mild adverse events

(Continued)

Exercise for Neuropathic Pain

TABLE 3 | Continued

References	Par	ticipants	Intervention pr	otocol	Outcome assessment	Outcome measures	Results of pain	Safety
	Population Sample size Study design	Age (years)	Intervention group 1	Intervention group 2 or control group				
Grubić Kezele et al. (39)	Patients with Multiple Sclerosis <i>n</i> = 19 2 groups	 Group 1 (n = 10): 53.9 ± 10.7 Group 2 (n = 9): 48.2 ± 9.3 	 Combined upper limb and breathing exercise (60 mins per session; 2 sessions a week for 4 weeks) Independent home exercise (20 mins per session; 3 sessions per week for the same 4 weeks) On-going physical therapy 	On-going physical therapy without exercise	After 4-week intervention	 Pain (Short-form 36) Fatigue Quality of life 	The combined upper limb, breathing and home exercise reduced pain intensity.	NA
Hasanpour-Dehkordi et al. (40)	Patients with Multiple Sclerosis n = 60 2 groups	 30.0 Group 1 (n = 30) Group 2 (n = 30) 	 Yoga exercises 60–70 mins 3 sessions a week for 12 weeks 	No exercise	After 12-week intervention	Pain (Bayer numerical scale)Fatigue severity	Yoga exercise reduced pain symptoms.	NA
Young et al. (41)	Patients with Multiple Sclerosis <i>n</i> = 81 3 groups	 Group 1 (n = 27): 49.67 ± 9.40 Group 2 (n = 26): 48.35 ± 9.95 Group 3 (n = 28): 47.29 ± 10.33 	 Group 1: movement-to-music Strength, cardiorespiratory endurance, and balance 60 mins per session; 3 sessions per week for 12 weeks Group 2: adapted yoga 60 mins per session; 3 sessions per week for 12 weeks 	Waitlist control (biweekly newsletters <i>via</i> mail)	After 12-week intervention	 Pain (PROMIS) Timed Up and Go 6-min walk test 	No significant effect of movement-to-music or adapted yoga on pain intensity.	One muscle strain in movement-to- music group
Pérez de la Cruz (43)	Patients with Parkinson's disease n = 30 2 groups	 Group 1 (n = 15): 66.80 ± 5.867 Group 2 (n = 15): 67.53 ± 9.89 	 Aquatic Tai Chi 45 mins per time; 2 times per 10 weeks 	 Therapy on dry land (strength training and aerobic exercises) 45 mins per time; 2 times per 10 weeks 	 After 10-week intervention At 1-month follow-up 	 Pain (VAS) Balance Test get up and go Five times test 	Both aquatic Tai Chi and strength training and aerobic exercises reduced pain intensity.	NA
Diab and Moustafa (44)	Patients with unilateral lower cervical spondylotic radiculopathy n = 96 2 groups	 Group 1 (n = 48): 46.3 ± 2.05 Group 2 (n = 48): 45.9 ± 2.1 	 Posture corrective exercise program (strengthening and stretching exercise; 4 times per week for 10 weeks) Ultrasound and infrared radiation (20 mins per time; 3 times per week for 10 weeks) 	 Ultrasound and infrared radiation 20 mins per time; 3 times per week for 10 weeks 	After 10-week interventionAt 6-month follow-up	 Pain (VAS) Somatosensory evoked potentials Craniovertebral angle 	Strengthening and stretching exercise significantly reduced pain intensity.	NA

Zhang et al.

Exercise for Neuropathic Pain

(Continued)

TABLE 3 | Continued

References	Par	ticipants	Intervention pro	otocol	Outcome assessment	Outcome measures	Results of pain	Safety
	Population Sample size Study design	Age (years)	Intervention group 1	Intervention group 2 or control group				
Halvorsen et al. (45)	Patients with cervical radiculopathy n = 50/75 2 groups	 Group 1 (n = 27): 47 ± 10.9 Group 2 (n = 23): 49 ± 9.4 	 Neck-specific training with a cognitive behavioral approach Prescribed physical activity 3 times a week for 14 weeks 	 Prescribed self-mediated physical activity 	After 14-week interventionAt 12-month follow-up	 Pain (VAS) Neck endurance test 	Neck-specific training and physical activity reduced neck pain intensity.	No adverse events
Fritz et al. (46)	Patients with neck pain and signs of radiculopathy n = 86 3 groups	 Group 1 (n = 31): 48.1 ± 10.0 Group 2 (n = 27): 47.6 ± 10.9 Group 3 (n = 28): 44.9 ± 11.3 	 Group 1: exercise with mechanical traction Exercise (scapula and cervical strengthening) Mechanical cervical traction during treatment 30–45 mins per session; 10 sessions over a 4-week treatment Group 2: exercise with over-door traction Exercise (scapula and cervical strengthening) Traction using a Chattanooga Overdoor Traction Device during treatment 30–45 mins per session; 10 sessions over a 4-week treatment 	 Group 3: exercise Scapular and cervical strengthening 30–45 mins per session; 10 sessions over a 4-week treatment 	 After 4-week intervention At 6-month follow-up At 12-month follow-up 	 Pain (pain catastrophizing scale) Neck disability 	Scapula and cervical strengthening with or without traction reduced pain intensity.	5.6% severe adverse events
Albert and Manniche (48)	Patients with radicular pain below the knee n = 181 2 groups	 Group 1 (n = 95): 46 (38–52) Group 2 (n = 96): 44 (37–51) 	 Symptom-guided exercises (stabilizing and dynamic exercises) Information Advice to stay active 4–8 times for 8 weeks 	 Sham exercises (not back related) Information Advice to stay active 4–8 times for 8 weeks 	At 8-week interventionAt 1-year follow-up	 Pain (VAS) Global improvement Functional status 	Symptom-guided exercise reduced leg pain.	NA
Cox et al. (50)	Patients with type 2 diabetes <i>n</i> = 32 3 groups	 Group 1 (n = 10): 57.8 ± 6.9 Group 2 (n = 10): 58.7 ± 9.2 Group 3 (n = 12): 59.5 ± 11.1 	 Group 1: supervised combined aerobic and resistance moderate-intensity continuous training (C-MICT) 52.5 mins per time; 4 times per week for 8 weeks Group 2: supervised combined high-intensity interval training (C-HIIT) 26 mins per time; 3 times per week for 8 weeks 	Group 3: usual care8 weeks	After 8-week intervention	 Pain (VAS) Neuropathy symptom 	C-HIIT and C-MICT exercise groups showed reduction in pain intensity but not neuropathic symptoms.	Nineteen mild adverse events in C-HIIT group; 17 in C-MICT group.

(Continued)

Exercise for Neuropathic Pain

Zhang et al.

TABLE 3 | Continued

References	Part	ticipants	Intervention pro	otocol	Outcome assessment	Outcome measures	Results of pain	Safety
	Population Sample size Study design	Age (years)	Intervention group 1	Intervention group 2 or control group				
Win et al. (51)	Patients with diabetic peripheral neuropathy n = 75/104 2 groups	 Group 1 (n = 32): 55.38 ± 9.54 Group 2 (n = 43): 55.72 ± 10.55 	 Simple hand, finger, and foot exercises Three times a week for 8 weeks 	 Usual care Diabetic foot care education 	After 8-week interventionAt 16-week follow-up	 Pain (VAS) Activities of daily living 	Simple hand, finger, and foot exercises reduced pain intensity.	No adverse event
Hwang et al. (54)	Female patients before radiotherapy after various operations n = 37/40 2 groups	 Group 1 (n = 17): 46.3 ± 7.5 Group 2 (n = 20): 46.3 ± 9.5 	 Supervised moderate-intensity exercise (stretching, aerobic and strengthening exercise) 50 mins per time; 3 times per week for 5 weeks 	Self-shoulder stretching education and advice to normal activities	After 5-week intervention	Pain (VAS)QOLShoulder range of motion	Supervised moderate-intensity exercise reduced pain intensity.	No significant adverse events
Dhawan et al. (55)	Patients with neck pain and signs of radiculopathy n = 45 2 groups	 Group 1 (n = 22): 50.5 ± 7.9 Group 2 (n = 23): 52.5 ± 6.6 	Home-based muscle strengtheningBalancing exercise30 mins daily for 10 weeks	Usual care	After 10-week intervention	 Pain (Leeds Assessment of Neuropathic Symptoms and Signs) QOL 	Muscle strengthening and balancing exercise significantly reduced neuropathic pain.	No adverse effects
Maharaj and Yakasai (57)	Patients with HIV-induced distal symmetrical polyneuropathy n = 136 3 groups	 Group 1 (n = 45): 38.29 ± 8.06 Group 2 (n = 44): 35.98 ± 8.53 Group 3 (n = 47): 36.13 ± 8.10 	 Group 1: Aerobic exercise 30 mins per time; 3 times per week for 12 weeks Group 2: progressive resisted exercise 30 mins per time; 3 times per week for 12 weeks 	Group 3: control group • Attended HIV talks, video presentations, and counseling	 After 6-week intervention After 12-week intervention 	Pain (VNRS)	Aerobic exercise and progressive resisted exercise significantly reduced pain intensity.	No adverse effects
Tumusiime et al. (58)	Patients with HIV-associated peripheral neuropathy n = 120 2 groups	 Group 1 (n = 60): 41.2 ± 7.8 Group 2 (n = 60): 40.4 ± 7.7 	 Physiotherapy-led aerobic exercises (stretching, strengthening and balance exercises) Routine Health Care 60 mins per each session; 3 times a week for 12 weeks 	Routine Health Care	 After 12-week intervention At 12-week follow-up 	• Pain (VNRS)	Physiotherapist-led aerobic exercises reduced neuropathic pain.	NA
Ammitzbøll et al. (62)	Female patients after breast cancer surgery <i>n</i> = 158 2 groups	 Group 1 (n = 82): 53 ± 10 Group 2 (n = 76): 53 ± 10 	 Supervised and self-administered, progressive resistance training intervention initiated 3 weeks after surgery The first 20-week physiotherapist-led exercise (weekly once) The following 30-week self-administered exercise 	Usual care (information concerning post-operative care and mobility exercises)	 After 20-week intervention After 12-month intervention 	• Pain (VNRS)	Supervised and self-administered, progressive resistance training reduced pain intensity.	NA

Age were showed as mean ± SD or median (25–75% Interquartile Range). Simple size was shown as "the number of finial analysis"/"the number of included patients."

VAS, visual analog scale; VNRS, verbal numerical rating scale; ROM, range of motion; MMAS, modified motor assessment scale; PROMIS, patient-reported outcomes measurement information system; NA, not available.

Exercise for Neuropathic Pain

TABLE 4	Characteristics	of included	systematic reviews.
---------	-----------------	-------------	---------------------

References	Participants	Study and sample size	Intervention	Control	Results of pain
Boldt et al. (27) and Harvey et al. (15)	Patients with spinal cord injury	3 RCT, <i>n</i> = 149	Exercise (stretching and strengthening exercises)	Control (no treatment or 1-h educational video control)	Exercise decreased pain intensity.
Gómara-Toldrà (28)	Patients with spinal cord injury	5 trials, <i>n</i> = 81	Exercise (treadmill training, strengthening, and stretching exercises)	NA	Exercise decreased pain intensity.
Demaneuf et al. (36)	Patients with multiple sclerosis	10 RCT, <i>n</i> = 389	Exercise (aerobic, resistance, and the combination exercises)	Passive control groups (waiting list or normal treatment)	Exercise decreased pain intensity.
Fernandez et al. (47)	Patients With Sciatica	5 RCT, <i>n</i> = 604	Exercise (Stabilization exercises, hydrotherapy and isometric exercises.)	Advice to stay active	Exercise decreased pain intensity.
Tough et al. (53)	Patients with cancer	1 trial, <i>n</i> = 81	Exergaming (Breakout 3D, Card Island and other exergaming)	NA	Exercise decreased pain intensity.
McNeely et al. (60) and De Groef et al. (61)	Female patients following breast cancer surgery	1 trial, <i>n</i> = 30	Exercise (exercise for arm/shoulder, posture correction, coordination, and strengthening exercises)	Leaflet with advice and exercises for arm and shoulder	Exercise decreased pain intensity.

RCT, randomized controlled trial; NA, not available.

severe health problem that influences their physical and mental functions and daily lives. Three systematic reviews reported that exercise is effective in relieving pain in patients with spinal cord injury (15, 27, 28). Two systematic reviews (15, 27), which involved the same three RCTs (n = 149 patients with spinal cord injury) illustrated that both short-term and long-term stretching and strengthening exercises can decrease chronic shoulder pain through the 36-Item Short Form Survey for pain experience [weight mean difference (WMD) = -1.9, 95% CI = -3.4 to -0.4, P = 0.01] and pain visual analog scale (WMD = -2.8, 95% CI = -3.77 to -1.83, P < 0.00001) compared with no treatment or 1-h educational video control (Level of evidence I). Furthermore, a randomized cross-over study by Labruyère and van Hedel (29) (n = 9) found that strength training (-6.8%) \pm 2.5%) and robot-assisted gait training (-4.5% \pm 2.2%) can relieve pain experience during single training intervention and after 16 sessions in patients with incomplete spinal cord injury. Meanwhile, the immediate pain relief was slight whereas integral effect was substantial, and the difference in pain is in favor of strength training compared with robot-assisted gait training (P <0.01). Additionally, strength training could improve the 10-meter walk test and balance function (Level of evidence II).

Expert Recommendation

We recommend using exercise programs, such as stretching and strengthening exercises, as treatment for NP in patients with spinal cord injury (Level of evidence II, A).

Consensus Recommendations for Post-stroke Pain

Up to 50% of patients with stroke report pain after stroke (30). Post-stroke chronic pain makes motor function, cognition, quality of life, and depression worse. However, post-stroke pain is commonly underestimated by patients and physicians who more

focus on hemiplegia and deficient motor functions. One RCT by Costantino et al. (31) including 32 patients with stroke found that the subjects who underwent voluntary isometric muscle contraction in upper extremities with and without vibrations for 4 weeks reported decreased pain (Level of evidence II). According to another RCT (32) on 12 post-stroke patients, the participants who did joint motion and strengthening training via a specific exercise tool experienced less pain than the participants without intervention at 4, 8, and 12 weeks (Level of evidence II). Similarly, a RCT (n = 40) pointed out that 3-week neuromuscular joint facilitation combined with acupuncture can reduce post-stroke pain more than 3-week pure acupuncture therapy (33) (Level of evidence II). By contrast, another RCT involving 50 patients with stroke observed that a 1-h active, high-intensity, and repetitive training of the upper extremities had no clinically important effects on pain intensity compared with usual upper limb therapy (34) (Level of evidence II). The different findings might be caused by the specific training device, called SMART Arm, or severe physical condition of participants, which is no more than 90° of the affected shoulder flexion.

Expert Recommendation

We recommend using strengthening exercise and neuromuscular joint facilitation as a treatment for patients with post-stroke pain (Level of evidence II, C).

Consensus Recommendations for Pain Associated With Multiple Sclerosis

Multiple sclerosis is characterized by demyelination and axonal loss in the central nervous system accompanied by NP. According to previous studies, 29–86% of patients with multiple sclerosis suffer from NP, leading to depression and low-quality of life (35). One systematic review and two RCTs reported the effectiveness of exercise training in relieving pain in patients

TABLE 5 | Physiotherapy evidence database scores of included RCT studies.

References	Random allocation	Concealed allocation	Baseline comparability	Blind subjects	Blind therapists	Blind assessors	Adequate follow-up	Intention- to-treat analysis	Between- group comparisons	Point estimates and variability	Total (0–10 Scale)	Quality
Labruyère and van Hedel (29)	Yes	No	No	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	6	Moderate
Costantino et al. (31)	Yes	No	Yes	No	No	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	6	Moderate
Jeon et al. (32)	Yes	No	Yes	No	No	No	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	5	Moderate
Wei et al. (33)	Yes	No	Yes	No	No	No	No	No	Yes	Yes	4	Moderate
Horsley et al. (34)	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	8	High
Pilutti et al. (38)	Yes	No	Yes	No	No	Yes	No	No	Yes	Yes	5	Moderate
Grubić Kezele et al. (39)	Yes	No	Yes	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	7	High
Hasanpour-Dehkordi et al. (40)	Yes	No	Yes	No	No	No	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	5	Moderate
Young et al. (41)	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	No	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	7	High
Pérez de la Cruz (43)	Yes	No	Yes	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	7	High
Diab and Moustafa (44)	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	7	High
Halvorsen et al. (45)	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	No	No	No	No	Yes	Yes	5	Moderate
Fritz et al. (46)	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	8	High
Albert and Manniche (48)	Yes	No	Yes	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	7	High
Cox et al. (50)	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	No	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	6	Moderate
Win et al. (51)	Yes	No	Yes	No	No	No	No	No	Yes	Yes	4	Moderate
Hwang et al. (54)	Yes	No	Yes	No	No	No	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	5	Moderate
Dhawan et al. (55)	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	7	High
Maharaj and Yakasai (57)	Yes	No	Yes	No	No	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	6	Moderate
Tumusiime et al. (58)	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	8	High
Ammitzbøll et al. (62)	Yes	No	Yes	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	7	High

High quality: total score \geq 7; moderate quality: total score 4–6; low quality: total score \leq 3.

Zhang et al.

References	Priori design	Duplicate study selection and data extraction	Comprehensive Search for literature gray search literature	Search for gray literature	List of Charac' studies of inclu included and studies excluded provide provided	Characteristics of included studies provided	Scientific quality assessed	Scientific quality used to formulate conclusions	Methods to combine study findings appropriate	Publication Conflict of Total (0–11 Quality bias interest Scale) assessed	Conflict of interest	Total (0–11 Scale)	Quality
Harvey et al. (15)	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	CA	Yes	œ	High
Boldt et al. (27)	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	11	High
Gómara-Toldrà et al. Yes (28)	Yes	Yes	Yes	CA	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	No	No	9	Moderate
Demaneuf et al. (36) Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	CA	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	œ	High
Fernandez et al. (47) Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	NA	No	7	High
Tough (53)	Yes	Yes	Yes	CA	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	00	High
McNeely (60)	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	CA	Yes	10	High
De Groef et al. (61)	Yes	Yes	Yes	CA	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	No	No	9	Moderate

with multiple sclerosis. The systematic review and metaanalysis of 10 RCTs involving 389 patients by Demaneuf et al. (36) demonstrated that exercise interventions, including single aerobic exercise, aquatic aerobic exercise, resistance training, and the combination of these interventions, have more positive effects on the pain intensity by patients with multiple sclerosis than passive control groups [standardized mean difference (SMD) = -0.46, 95% CI = -0.92 to 0.00, between-study heterogeneity $(I^2) = 77.0\%$; Level of evidence I]. A RCT (37, 38) showed that 24-week cycling exercise with functional electrical stimulation could help alleviate pain in comparison with passive leg cycling exercise (SMD = -0.67; Level of evidence II). Similarly, another RCT illustrated that 4-week upper extremity, breathing and independent home exercises has a trend toward less pain than physical therapy without exercise (39) (Level of evidence II).

Furthermore, a RCT (n = 60) reported that the exercise group with 12-week yoga intervention showed an improvement in pain intensity and physiological indices compared with the group without exercise (40) (Level of evidence II). However, one three-arm RCT (n = 81) reported by Young et al. (41) argued that the pain conditions among 12-week movement to music, adapted yoga with a series of stationary poses, and waitlist control have no substantial differences (Level of evidence II). The conflicting results could be explained by different study design, such as participants, control groups and movement positions during yoga.

Expert Recommendation

We recommend using aerobic, aquatic aerobic, and resistance training as pain treatment for patients with multiple sclerosis (Level of evidence II, B).

Consensus Recommendations for Pain Associated With Parkinson's Disease

In addition to dystonia, pain is another serious symptom that impacts the motor function, depression condition, and daily lives of patients with Parkinson's disease (42). A single-blinded RCT (n = 30) found that 10-week aquatic Tai Chi training and usual exercise that focuses on gait, balance, and muscle strength can decrease pain intensity in people with Parkinson's disease (43) (Level of evidence II). Moreover, aquatic Tai Chi is more superior than usual exercise in pain reduction and gait and balance condition improvement.

Expert Recommendation

We recommend using aquatic Tai Chi, muscle strengthening training, and balance exercise as treatment for pain in patients with Parkinson's disease (Level of evidence II, C).

Consensus Recommendations for Painful Radiculopathy **Cervical Radiculopathy**

Cervical radiculopathy is a subgroup of neck pain characterized by pain radiating along the affected arms. The sort and intensity of symptoms, such as NP and muscle weakness, depend on the extent of cervical spinal nerve root compression. Three RCTs suggestion the use of an exercise program as a treatment for

TABLE 7 | Recommendation summary of exercise for neuropathic pain management.

Neuropathic pain	Recommendations	Level of evidence	Grades of recommendation	Consensus
Spinal cord injury	Yes		А	100% Yes (21 voters)
Post-stroke pain	Yes	П	С	95% Yes (21 voters)
Multiple sclerosis	Yes	II	В	95% Yes (21 voters)
Parkinson's disease	Yes	II	С	100% Yes (21 voters)
Cervical radiculopathy	Yes	II	В	100% Yes (21 voters)
Sciatica	Yes	I	А	100% Yes (21 voters)
Diabetic neuropathy	Yes	П	В	95% Yes (21 voters)
Chemotherapy-induced peripheral neuropathy	Yes	II	В	95% Yes (21 voters)
Neuropathy due to HIV/AIDS	Yes	II	В	100% Yes (21 voters)
After surgery for breast cancer	Yes	I	А	86% Yes (21 voters)

subjects with cervical radiculopathy. According to Diab and Moustafa (44), one RCT (n = 96) reported that a 10-week physical exercise comprised of neck muscle strengthening and stretching combined with ultrasound and infrared radiation are more effective on pain relief than the combination of ultrasound and infrared radiation in the short term and 6-month follow-up (Level of evidence II). Another RCT, which involved 75 patients with cervical radiculopathy, suggested that 14 weeks of neckspecific training targeting sensory and motor function and 14week physical activities can reduce NP intensity and increase the endurance of neck flexors in the long term (45) (Level of evidence II). Furthermore, a RCT (n = 86) reported by Fritz et al. (46) suggested that although exercise that aimed to strengthen the scapula and cervical muscles are helpful to alleviate neck and arm pain, the combination of exercise and mechanical traction has a greater advantage in pain relief and function improvement than single exercise at 4-week, 6-month, and 12-month time points (Level of evidence II).

Expert Recommendation

We recommend using exercise training that targets neck muscle strength and stretch as treatment or complementary therapy for NP associated with cervical radiculopathy (Level of evidence II, B).

Sciatica

Sciatica is a defined as a subgroup of low back pain with a specific symptom, that is, radicular leg pain radiating along the distribution of the sciatic nerve (14). Although the prevalence of sciatica is much lower than low back pain, the affected region and prognosis are normally more severe; therefore, sciatica contributes a high degree of hopelessness and depression. A systematic review and meta-analysis (5 RCTs, n = 604) pointed out that an exercise program comprised of static and dynamic stabilizing exercises, hydrotherapy, and isometric exercises that target the trunk and lower extremity muscles is beneficial to leg pain reduction (WMD = 11.43, 95% CI = 0.71-22.16) but not disability (WMD = 1.45, 95% CI = -2.86-5.76) in the short term compared with advice to stay active among patients suffering from sciatica (47) (Level of evidence I). According to a singleblinded RCT that involved 181 patients with severe sciatica by Albert and Manniche (48), symptom-guided exercises, such as postural instructions, stabilizing exercises for deep muscles, and dynamic exercises for surface muscles in the trunk region, had a trend to a larger reduction of leg pain than the sham exercise group that performed low-intensity and no back-related training (Level of evidence I).

Expert Recommendation

We recommend using motor control, aquatic stabilizing movements, and isometric exercises that target the trunk and lower extremity muscles as an adjunct treatment for pain in patients with sciatica (Level of evidence I, A).

Consensus Recommendations for Painful Polyneuropathy

Diabetic Neuropathy Diabetic peripheral neuropathy marked by pain and sensory and

mobility loss, is a common and often disabling complication of diabetes mellitus (49). Diabetic neuropathy has been considered a serious problem because its treatments are likely ineffective. Two clinical trials investigated the effectiveness of exercise training on pain in diabetic neuropathy. One three-arm RCT divided 32 inactive patients with type 2 diabetes into three treatment groups: usual care, the combination of aerobic exercise and continuous moderate-intensity resistance training, and the combination of aerobic exercise and high-intensity interval training (50). The findings suggested that 8-week moderate-intensity and highintensity exercise interventions are more beneficial in decreasing pain intensity but not neuropathic symptoms compared with single usual care lasting for 8 weeks (Level of evidence II). Particularly, the combination of aerobic exercise and highintensity interval training significantly alleviated pain intensity. Based on another RCT (n = 104) comparing an 8-week simple hand, finger, and foot exercise with health education and control group with health education by Win et al. (51), both groups appeared decreased pain and the exercise intervention could relieve more pain than the control group in the short term and at 16-month follow-up (Level of evidence II).

Expert Recommendation

We recommend using general exercise focusing on distal extremities, or the combination of aerobic and

moderate-intensity or high-intensity exercises, as a treatment for pain in patients with diabetes (Level of evidence II, B).

Chemotherapy-Induced Peripheral Neuropathy

Chemotherapy-induced peripheral neuropathy, a common side effect of cancer treatment with a prevalence of 30-80%, is a small-fiber sensory neuropathy in the hands or feet (17). The typical symptoms are shooting pain, stabbing pain, or burning pain, which progressively becomes worse with chemotherapy (52). A systematic review by Tough et al. (53) mentioned that one pre-post clinical trial found a slight reduction in pain intensity and improvement of balance, motor functions, and depression status with higher adherence rates and enjoyment after 8 weeks of progressive exergaming program, which is a combination of exercise and games (Level of evidence II). Similarly, in a RCT study (n = 40), Hwang et al. (54) found that a 30-min exercise program that includes stretching and aerobic training could reduce pain and improve motor functions in patients after radiotherapy more than self-stretching training after 5 weeks of intervention (Level of evidence II). According to one RCT involving 45 patients with cancer reported by Dhawan et al. (55), a 10-week muscle strength and balance training has more positive effects on decreasing the NP intensity (P < 0.0001) and increasing quality of life (P = 0.0002) in patients with cancer who suffer from chemotherapy-induced peripheral neuropathy compared with usual care (Level of evidence II).

Expert Recommendation

We recommend muscle strengthening and balance training as treatment and exergaming as adjunct therapy for chemotherapy-induced NP (Level of evidence II, B).

Neuropathy Due to HIV/AIDS

Up to 90% of patients with HIV/AIDS complain about pain due to various reasons, including viral infection of the peripheral or central nervous system and side effects of anti-retroviral therapy (56). A three-arm RCT compared 12-week aerobic exercise (cycling), progressive resistance exercise focused on muscles in the lower extremities, and no exercise control among 136 patients with HIV (57). The findings suggested that aerobic and progressive resistance exercise are helpful and safe in the treatment of NP compared with no exercise at 6- and 12week points (Level of evidence II). Moreover, one high-quality RCT, which involved 120 patients with HIV who underwent anti-retroviral treatment, supported that supervised aerobic exercise, including isometric, balance, and breath training, could alleviate NP more than non-exercise control after 12 weeks of intervention and at the 12 weeks of follow-up (58) (Level of evidence II).

Expert Recommendation

We recommend aerobic and progressive resistance training as an adjunct treatment for NP in people with HIV/AIDS (Level of evidence II, B).

Consensus Recommendations for NP Following Surgery

Chronic postsurgical pain is multifactorial and affects up to 50% of patients who underwent operation. Surgeries operated in the thorax, breast, and hernia regions and those that easily produce nerve injury have a high risk of postsurgical NP (59). According to a systematic review by McNeely et al. (60), exercise intervention is more effective in improving pain intensity than usual care despite no significant difference and has no adverse effects for post-operation patients with breast cancer after 3 weeks of intervention or in the 6-month follow-up (Level of evidence I). Additionally, one systematic review reported that posture correction and strengthening exercises are more beneficial to alleviate the post-operation pain and improve the motor functions in patients undergoing breast cancer surgery compared with education only or no intervention (61) (Level of evidence I). One RCT that consists of 158 female patients with breast cancer who underwent axillary lymph node dissection showed that a 12-month self-administered progressive resistance exercise program focusing on the whole body could alleviate NP more than usual care (62) (Level of evidence I).

Expert Recommendation

We recommend using muscle strengthening and posture correction as treatment for NP after operation for breast cancer (Level of evidence I, A).

DISCUSSION

The study aimed to review the effectiveness and efficacy of exercise on diseases with neuropathic pain through evidence, thereby producing evidence-based exercise recommendations for NP and informing medical staff and policymaker about the formulation of exercise prescription. A total of eight systematic reviews and 21 RCTs were included, which involved various exercise, such as strengthening, stretching, aquatic aerobic, balance trainings. Finally, 10 recommendations for NP caused by different disorders, including spinal cord injury, stroke, multiple sclerosis, Parkinson's disease, cervical radiculopathy, sciatica, diabetic neuropathy, chemotherapy-induced peripheral neuropathy, HIV/AIDS, and surgery, were described. Various exercise programs may have some benefits in improving pain and functions and proper exercise can be used as an effective alternative treatment or complementary therapy for different disorders with NP.

This paper was the first expert consensus to report exercise recommendations for different diseases with NP, including spinal cord injury, stroke, multiple sclerosis, Parkinson's disease, cervical radiculopathy, sciatica, diabetic neuropathy, chemotherapy-induced peripheral neuropathy, surgery, and HIV/AIDS. We searched studies published before January 2021. Then, the grades of recommendations were based on the strength of evidence and a consensus discussion of the results of the Delphi rounds. In addition, we used PEDro and AMSTAR to assess the quality of the included RCTs and systematic reviews. Finally, all studies that met the inclusion criteria and were deemed to have levels of evidence of I and II were included in this expert consensus.

Some limitations have to be considered in this study. First, the recommendations were made through qualitative analysis in this consensus whereas more specific and rigorous clinical recommendations that include the types, intensity, and frequency of exercise should be decided by quantitative analysis. Second, different from most guidelines that used Grading of Recommendations, Assessment, Development and Evaluations to make clinical practice recommendations (63, 64), we assessed the levels of evidence through Oxford CEBM and evaluated the grades of recommendation according to the methods established by the American Physical Therapy Association. Moreover, most of the RCTs (47.62%) and systematic reviews (75%) have high quality based on PEDro and AMSTAR scores, respectively. Nevertheless, some outcomes of the meta-analyses had considerable heterogeneity, thereby providing relatively inferior evidences. Furthermore, because studies on the various exercise for NP are limited, we did not summarize the recommendations according to different types of exercise, such as aerobic exercise or progressive resistance training, or provide detailed information about intensity, time, or frequency of exercise prescription. Finally, we did not adequately describe the effect of exercise on other aspects among patients with difference diseases since the NP intensity was the focus in the study.

CONCLUSION

Exercise can be considered as a feasible, and effective alternative treatment or complementary therapy for most patients with NP caused by different diseases. An updated consensus statement will be required if adequate new studies will be available in the future. This consensus statement will require regular updates after 5–10 years to guarantee that treatments and recommendations continue to be supported by the latest evidence. More high-quality randomized controlled trails are required to provide

REFERENCES

- Colloca L, Ludman T, Bouhassira D, Baron R, Dickenson A, Yarnitsky D, et al. Neuropathic pain. *Nat Rev Dis Primers*. (2017) 3:17002. doi: 10.1038/ nrdp.2017.2
- Finnerup N, Kuner R, Jensen T. Neuropathic pain: from mechanisms to treatment. *Physiol Rev.* (2021) 101:259–301. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00045.2019
- Burke D, Fullen B, Stokes D, Lennon O. Neuropathic pain prevalence following spinal cord injury: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Eur J Pain*. (2017) 21:29–44. doi: 10.1002/ejp.905
- Bouhassira D, Lantéri-Minet M, Attal N, Laurent B, Touboul C. Prevalence of chronic pain with neuropathic characteristics in the general population. *Pain.* (2008) 136:380–7. doi: 10.1016/j.pain.2007.08.013
- Finnerup N, Attal N, Haroutounian S, McNicol E, Baron R, Dworkin R, et al. Pharmacotherapy for neuropathic pain in adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet Neurol.* (2015) 14:162–73. doi: 10.1016/ S1474-4422(14)70251-0
- Gilron I, Baron R, Jensen T. Neuropathic pain: principles of diagnosis and treatment. *Mayo Clin Proc.* (2015) 90:532–45. doi: 10.1016/ j.mayocp.2015.01.018

more superior evidence in the future. Exercise with various types, intensities, and frequencies; patient preference; and facility conditions should be considered as well in further studies.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

G-EF and X-QW: conceptualization and supervision. Y-HZ, Y-CX, GP, LH, Y-ZK, Y-LW, J-BG, SB, T-SL, L-JA, C-HW, Y-LB, LF, CM, L-RL, HL, YZ, Z-JZ, C-LL, G-EF, and X-QW: methodology and visualization. Y-CX, CP, LH, Y-ZK, Y-LW, J-BG, SB, T-SL, L-JA, C-HW, Y-LB, LF, CM, L-RL, HL, YZ, Z-JZ, C-LL, G-EF, and X-QW: validation. Y-HZ and H-YH: writing—original draft preparation. Y-HZ and X-QW: writing—review and editing. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the Science and Technology Commission of Shanghai Municipality (21S31902400) and the Shanghai Key Lab of Human Performance (Shanghai University of Sport) (11DZ2261100).

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fmed. 2021.756940/full#supplementary-material

Supplementary Material 1 | The details of the search strategy for the PubMed database.

- McGee SL, Hargreaves M. Exercise adaptations: molecular mechanisms and potential targets for therapeutic benefit. *Nat Rev Endocrinol.* (2020) 16:495– 505. doi: 10.1038/s41574-020-0377-1
- Owen PJ, Miller CT, Mundell NL, Verswijveren S, Tagliaferri SD, Brisby H, et al. Which specific modes of exercise training are most effective for treating low back pain? Network meta-analysis. *Br J Sports Med.* (2020) 54:1279–87. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2019-100886
- Wu B, Zhou L, Chen C, Wang J, Hu L, Wang X. Effects of exerciseinduced hypoalgesia and its neural mechanisms. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* (2021). doi: 10.1249/MSS.00000000002781. [Epub ahead of print].
- Zheng K, Chen C, Yang S, Wang X. Aerobic exercise attenuates pain sensitivity: an event-related potential study. *Front Neurosci.* (2021) 15:735470. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2021.735470
- Dobson JL, McMillan J, Li L. Benefits of exercise intervention in reducing neuropathic pain. *Front Cell Neurosci.* (2014) 8:102. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2014.00102
- Chou R, Huffman LH. Nonpharmacologic therapies for acute and chronic low back pain: a review of the evidence for an American Pain Society/American College of Physicians clinical practice guideline. *Ann Intern Med.* (2007) 147:492–504. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-147-7-200710020-00007

- Yadav V, Bever CJr, Bowen J, Bowling A, Weinstock-Guttman B, Cameron M, et al. Summary of evidence-based guideline: complementary and alternative medicine in multiple sclerosis: report of the guideline development subcommittee of the American Academy of Neurology. *Neurology*. (2014) 82:1083–92. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000000250
- Lewis RA, Williams NH, Sutton AJ, Burton K, Din NU, Matar HE, et al. Comparative clinical effectiveness of management strategies for sciatica: systematic review and network meta-analyses. *Spine J.* (2015) 15:1461–77. doi: 10.1016/j.spinee.2013.08.049
- Harvey LA, Glinsky JV, Bowden JL. The effectiveness of 22 commonly administered physiotherapy interventions for people with spinal cord injury: a systematic review. *Spinal Cord.* (2016) 54:914–23. doi: 10.1038/sc.2016.95
- Rousing R, Jensen RK, Fruensgaard S, Strøm J, Brøgger HA, Degn JDM, et al. Danish national clinical guidelines for surgical and nonsurgical treatment of patients with lumbar spinal stenosis. *Eur Spine J.* (2019) 28:1386–96. doi: 10.1007/s00586-019-05987-2
- Hao J, Zhu X, Bensoussan A. Effects of nonpharmacological interventions in chemotherapy-induced peripheral neuropathy: an overview of systematic reviews and meta-analyses. *Integr Cancer Ther.* (2020) 19:1534735420945027. doi: 10.1177/1534735420945027
- Martin R, Chimenti R, Cuddeford T, Houck J, Matheson J, McDonough C, et al. Achilles pain, stiffness, and muscle power deficits: midportion achilles tendinopathy revision 2018. *J Orthop Sports Phys Ther.* (2018) 48:A1–38. doi: 10.2519/jospt.2018.0302
- Delitto A, George S, Van Dillen L, Whitman J, Sowa G, Shekelle P, et al. Low back pain. J Orthop Sports Phys Ther. (2012) 42:A1–57. doi: 10.2519/jospt.2012.42.4.A1
- Blanpied P, Gross A, Elliott J, Devaney L, Clewley D, Walton D, et al. Neck pain: revision 2017. J Orthop Sports Phys Ther. (2017) 47:A1–A83. doi: 10.2519/jospt.2017.0302
- Collins N, Barton C, van Middelkoop M, Callaghan M, Rathleff M, Vicenzino B, et al. 2018 Consensus statement on exercise therapy and physical interventions (orthoses, taping and manual therapy) to treat patellofemoral pain: recommendations from the 5th International Patellofemoral Pain Research Retreat, Gold Coast, Australia, 2017. Br J Sports Med. (2018) 52:1170–8. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2018-099397
- Shea B, Grimshaw J, Wells G, Boers M, Andersson N, Hamel C, et al. Development of AMSTAR: a measurement tool to assess the methodological quality of systematic reviews. *BMC Med Res Methodol.* (2007) 7:10. doi: 10.1186/1471-2288-7-10
- 23. Crossley K, van Middelkoop M, Callaghan M, Collins N, Rathleff M, Barton C. 2016 Patellofemoral pain consensus statement from the 4th International Patellofemoral Pain Research Retreat, Manchester. Part 2: recommended physical interventions (exercise, taping, bracing, foot orthoses and combined interventions). *Br J Sports Med.* (2016) 50:844–52. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2016-096268
- Bossard D, Remus A, Doherty C, Gribble P, Delahunt E. Developing consensus on clinical assessment of acute lateral ankle sprain injuries: protocol for an international and multidisciplinary modified Delphi process. *Br J Sports Med.* (2018) 52:1539. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2017-099007
- Sanz-Paris A, Álvarez Hernández J, Ballesteros-Pomar M, Botella-Romero F, León-Sanz M, Martín-Palmero Á, et al. Evidence-based recommendations and expert consensus on enteral nutrition in the adult patient with diabetes mellitus or hyperglycemia. *Nutrition*. (2017) 41:58–67. doi: 10.1016/j.nut.2017.02.014
- Andresen S, Biering-Sørensen F, Hagen E, Nielsen J, Bach F, Finnerup N. Pain, spasticity and quality of life in individuals with traumatic spinal cord injury in Denmark. *Spinal Cord.* (2016) 54:973–9. doi: 10.1038/sc.2016.46
- Boldt I, Eriks-Hoogland I, Brinkhof MW, de Bie R, Joggi D, von Elm E. Non-pharmacological interventions for chronic pain in people with spinal cord injury. *Cochr Database Syst Rev.* (2014) 11:Cd009177. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD009177.pub2
- Gómara-Toldrà N, Sliwinski M, Dijkers MP. Physical therapy after spinal cord injury: a systematic review of treatments focused on participation. *J Spinal Cord Med.* (2014) 37:371–9. doi: 10.1179/2045772314Y.00000 00194
- 29. Labruyère R, van Hedel HJ. Strength training versus robot-assisted gait training after incomplete spinal cord injury: a randomized pilot study in

patients depending on walking assistance. J Neuroeng Rehabil. (2014) 11:4. doi: 10.1186/1743-0003-11-4

- 30. Harrison R, Field T. Post stroke pain: identification, assessment, and therapy. *Cerebrovasc Dis.* (2015) 39:190–201. doi: 10.1159/000375397
- Costantino C, Galuppo L, Romiti D. Short-term effect of local muscle vibration treatment versus sham therapy on upper limb in chronic poststroke patients: a randomized controlled trial. *Eur J Phys Rehabil Med.* (2017) 53:32–40. doi: 10.23736/S1973-9087.16.04211-8
- 32. Jeon HJ, An S, Yoo J, Park NH, Lee KH. The effect of Monkey Chair and Band exercise system on shoulder range of motion and pain in post-stroke patients with hemiplegia. *J Phys Ther Sci.* (2016) 28:2232–7. doi: 10.1589/jpts.28.2232
- Wei YH, Du DC, Jiang K. Therapeutic efficacy of acupuncture combined with neuromuscular joint facilitation in treatment of hemiplegic shoulder pain. *World J Clin Cases.* (2019) 7:3964–70. doi: 10.12998/wjcc.v7.i23.3964
- Horsley S, Lannin NA, Hayward KS, Herbert RD. Additional early active repetitive motor training did not prevent contracture in adults receiving taskspecific upper limb training after stroke: a randomised trial. *J Physiother*. (2019) 65:88–94. doi: 10.1016/j.jphys.2019.02.005
- Solaro C, Trabucco E, Messmer Uccelli M. Pain and multiple sclerosis: pathophysiology and treatment. *Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep.* (2013) 13:320. doi: 10.1007/s11910-012-0320-5
- 36. Demaneuf T, Aitken Z, Karahalios A, Leong TI, De Livera AM, Jelinek GA, et al. Effectiveness of exercise interventions for pain reduction in people with multiple sclerosis: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* (2019) 100:128–39. doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2018.08.178
- Edwards T, Motl R, Sebastião E, Pilutti L. Pilot randomized controlled trial of functional electrical stimulation cycling exercise in people with multiple sclerosis with mobility disability. *Mult Scler Relat Disord*. (2018) 26:103–11. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2018.08.020
- Pilutti LA, Edwards T, Motl RW, Sebastião E. Functional electrical stimulation cycling exercise in people with multiple sclerosis: secondary effects on cognition, symptoms, and quality of life. *Int J MS Care.* (2019) 21:258–64. doi: 10.7224/1537-2073.2018-048
- 39. Grubić Kezele T, Babić M, Štimac D. Exploring the feasibility of a mild and short 4-week combined upper limb and breathing exercise program as a possible home base program to decrease fatigue and improve quality of life in ambulatory and non-ambulatory multiple sclerosis individuals. *Neurol Sci.* (2019) 40:733–43. doi: 10.1007/s10072-019-3707-0
- Hasanpour-Dehkordi A, Jivad N, Solati K. Effects of yoga on physiological indices, anxiety and social functioning in multiple sclerosis patients: a randomized trial. *J Clin Diagn Res.* (2016) 10:Vc01–5. doi: 10.7860/JCDR/2016/18204.7916
- Young HJ, Mehta TS, Herman C, Wang F, Rimmer JH. The effects of M2M and adapted yoga on physical and psychosocial outcomes in people with multiple sclerosis. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* (2019) 100:391–400. doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2018.06.032
- Antonini A, Tinazzi M, Abbruzzese G, Berardelli A, Chaudhuri K, Defazio G, et al. Pain in Parkinson's disease: facts and uncertainties. *Eur J Neurol.* (2018) 25:917–e969. doi: 10.1111/ene.13624
- 43. Pérez de la Cruz S. Effectiveness of aquatic therapy for the control of pain and increased functionality in people with Parkinson's disease: a randomized clinical trial. *Eur J Phys Rehabil Med.* (2017) 53:825–32. doi: 10.23736/S1973-9087.17.04647-0
- Diab AA, Moustafa IM. The efficacy of forward head correction on nerve root function and pain in cervical spondylotic radiculopathy: a randomized trial. *Clin Rehabil.* (2012) 26:351–61. doi: 10.1177/0269215511419536
- Halvorsen M, Falla D, Gizzi L, Harms-Ringdahl K, Peolsson A, Dedering Å. Short- and long-term effects of exercise on neck muscle function in cervical radiculopathy: a randomized clinical trial. *J Rehabil Med.* (2016) 48:696–704. doi: 10.2340/16501977-2120
- 46. Fritz JM, Thackeray A, Brennan GP, Childs JD. Exercise only, exercise with mechanical traction, or exercise with over-door traction for patients with cervical radiculopathy, with or without consideration of status on a previously described subgrouping rule: a randomized clinical trial. J Orthop Sports Phys Ther. (2014) 44:45–57. doi: 10.2519/jospt.2014.5065
- 47. Fernandez M, Hartvigsen J, Ferreira ML, Refshauge KM, Machado AF, Lemes Í, et al. Advice to stay active or structured exercise in the management

of sciatica: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Spine*. (2015) 40:1457–66. doi: 10.1097/BRS.00000000001036

- Albert HB, Manniche C. The efficacy of systematic active conservative treatment for patients with severe sciatica: a single-blind, randomized, clinical, controlled trial. *Spine*. (2012) 37:531–42. doi: 10.1097/BRS.0b013e31821ace7f
- Deli G, Bosnyak E, Pusch G, Komoly S, Feher G. Diabetic neuropathies: diagnosis and management. *Neuroendocrinology*. (2013) 98:267–80. doi: 10.1159/000358728
- 50. Cox ER, Gajanand T, Burton NW, Coombes JS, Coombes BK. Effect of different exercise training intensities on musculoskeletal and neuropathic pain in inactive individuals with type 2 diabetes - preliminary randomised controlled trial. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract.* (2020) 164:108168. doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2020.108168
- Win M, Fukai K, Nyunt HH, Linn KZ. Hand and foot exercises for diabetic peripheral neuropathy: a randomized controlled trial. *Nurs Health Sci.* (2020) 22:416–26. doi: 10.1111/nhs.12676
- Andersen Hammond E, Pitz M, Shay B. Neuropathic pain in taxane-induced peripheral neuropathy: evidence for exercise in treatment. *Neurorehabil Neural Repair*. (2019) 33:792–9. doi: 10.1177/1545968319860486
- 53. Tough D, Robinson J, Gowling S, Raby P, Dixon J, Harrison SL. The feasibility, acceptability and outcomes of exergaming among individuals with cancer: a systematic review. *BMC Cancer.* (2018) 18:1151. doi: 10.1186/s12885-018-5068-0
- 54. Hwang JH, Chang HJ, Shim YH, Park WH, Park W, Huh SJ, et al. Effects of supervised exercise therapy in patients receiving radiotherapy for breast cancer. *Yonsei Med J.* (2008) 49:443–50. doi: 10.3349/ymj.2008.49.3.443
- 55. Dhawan S, Andrews R, Kumar L, Wadhwa S, Shukla G. A randomized controlled trial to assess the effectiveness of muscle strengthening and balancing exercises on chemotherapy-induced peripheral neuropathic pain and quality of life among cancer patients. *Cancer Nurs.* (2020) 43:269–80. doi: 10.1097/NCC.00000000000693
- Parker R, Stein D, Jelsma J. Pain in people living with HIV/AIDS: a systematic review. J Int AIDS Soc. (2014) 17:18719. doi: 10.7448/IAS.17.1. 18719
- Maharaj SS, Yakasai AM. Does a rehabilitation program of aerobic and progressive resisted exercises influence HIV-induced distal neuropathic pain? *Am J Phys Med Rehabil.* (2018) 97:364–9. doi: 10.1097/ PHM.000000000000866
- Tumusiime DK, Stewart A, Venter FWD, Musenge E. The effects of a physiotherapist-led exercise intervention on peripheral neuropathy among people living with HIV on antiretroviral therapy in Kigali, Rwanda. S Afr J Physiother. (2019) 75:1328. doi: 10.4102/sajp.v75i1.1328

- Wylde V, Dennis J, Beswick A, Bruce J, Eccleston C, Howells N, et al. Systematic review of management of chronic pain after surgery. *Br J Surg.* (2017) 104:1293–306. doi: 10.1002/bjs.10601
- McNeely ML, Campbell K, Ospina M, Rowe BH, Dabbs K, Klassen TP, et al. Exercise interventions for upper-limb dysfunction due to breast cancer treatment. *Cochr Database Syst Rev.* (2010) 6:CD005211. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD005211.pub2
- De Groef A, Van Kampen M, Dieltjens E, Christiaens MR, Neven P, Geraerts I, et al. Effectiveness of postoperative physical therapy for upper-limb impairments after breast cancer treatment: a systematic review. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* (2015) 96:1140–53. doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2015.01.006
- 62. Ammitzbøll G, Andersen KG, Bidstrup PE, Johansen C, Lanng C, Kroman N, et al. Effect of progressive resistance training on persistent pain after axillary dissection in breast cancer: a randomized controlled trial. *Breast Cancer Res Treat*. (2020) 179:173–83. doi: 10.1007/s10549-019-05461-z
- Guyatt G, Oxman A, Vist G, Kunz R, Falck-Ytter Y, Alonso-Coello P, et al. GRADE: an emerging consensus on rating quality of evidence and strength of recommendations. *BMJ.* (2008) 336:924–6. doi: 10.1136/bmj.39489.470347.AD
- Guyatt G, Oxman A, Akl E, Kunz R, Vist G, Brozek J, et al. GRADE guidelines:
 Introduction-GRADE evidence profiles and summary of findings tables. J Clin Epidemiol. (2011) 64:383–94. doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2010.04.026

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Zhang, Hu, Xiong, Peng, Hu, Kong, Wang, Guo, Bi, Li, Ao, Wang, Bai, Fang, Ma, Liao, Liu, Zhu, Zhang, Liu, Fang and Wang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Physical Activity and the Risk of Hemorrhagic Stroke: A Population-Based Longitudinal Follow-Up Study in Taiwan

Shih-Hao Feng¹, Li-Sheng Chen², Kuo-Cheng Yeh^{3,4} and Shin-Liang Pan^{3,4*}

¹ Department of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, National Taiwan University BioMedical Park Hospital, Hsinchu, Taiwan, ² School of Oral Hygiene, College of Oral Medicine, Taipei Medical University, Taipei, Taiwan, ³ Departments of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, National Taiwan University Hospital, National Taiwan University, Taipei, Taiwan, ⁴ College of Medicine, National Taiwan University, Taipei, Taiwan

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Hend Mansoor, Hamad Bin Khalifa University, Qatar

Reviewed by:

Barbara Ruaro, University of Trieste, Italy Malcolm Koo, Tzu Chi University of Science and Technology, Taiwan

*Correspondence:

Shin-Liang Pan panslcb@gmail.com orcid.org/0000-0001-6451-4666

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Family Medicine and Primary Care, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 09 October 2021 Accepted: 07 December 2021 Published: 23 December 2021

Citation:

Feng S-H, Chen L-S, Yeh K-C and Pan S-L (2021) Physical Activity and the Risk of Hemorrhagic Stroke: A Population-Based Longitudinal Follow-Up Study in Taiwan. Front. Med. 8:791772. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2021.791772 **Background:** Data on the relationship between physical activity (PA) and hemorrhagic stroke (HS) are limited in Asian populations. This population-based longitudinal follow-up study therefore investigates whether PA is associated with a reduced risk of HS in Taiwan.

Methods: A total of 58,857 subjects who had participated in the Keelung Community-based Integrated Screening Program between 2005 and 2012 were enrolled. Information about their PA, obtained using questionnaires, was used to categorize them into three groups according to their average weekly time engaged in it: (1) no PA, (2) low PA (<90 min weekly), and (3) high PA (90 min per week or more). Cox proportional hazard regression was used to evaluate the effect of PA on HS. Stratified analysis by sex and comorbidities (diabetes mellitus, hypertension, and hyperlipidemia) were conducted to evaluate their impact on the relationship between PA and HS.

Results: Compared to the no-PA group, the adjusted hazard ratio of HS for the low-PA group was 0.74 (95% Cl, 0.57–0.96, p = 0.0219), and for the high-PA group, 0.72 (95% Cl, 0.58–0.90, p = 0.004). The stratified analyses showed that, for the non-comorbidity strata, the beneficial effect of PA on reducing HS risk became stronger as PA increased. However, in the diabetes and hypertension strata, high PA did not appear to have any greater protective effect than low PA.

Conclusions: Our findings suggested that even <90 min of PA per week might be beneficial to reduce HS risk. Such a low level of PA is likely to be more achievable and easier to maintain for the general population. Additionally, personalized recommendations based on pre-existing comorbidities may help optimize the beneficial effects of PA on HS prevention.

Keywords: physical activity, hemorrhagic stroke, risk factor, cohort study, comorbidities

INTRODUCTION

Stroke is a leading cause of death and disability worldwide. Up to 80% of strokes can be prevented through the management of risk factors such as hypertension, diabetes mellitus (DM) (1), smoking, and physical inactivity (2). Physical activity (PA) is considered one of the most important modifiable risk factors for strokes (3), and in recent years, there has been an increased interest in the effects of PA on stroke prevention. PA may improve vascular function and reduce the risk of stroke by preventing the development of risk factors such as DM and hypertension (4, 5). However, while previous studies have demonstrated that PA may prevent strokes, their evidence base mostly comprises ischemic strokes (6), and data linking PA and hemorrhagic stroke (HS) are relatively limited (7). Moreover, most of the prior studies regarding the relationship between PA and HS were conducted in Western countries, and parallel evidence drawn from Asian populations is even more sparse (4). As well as their different genetic backgrounds, such populations have different lifestyles from their Western counterparts, and their incidence of HS is higher (1). One study from Japan showed that moderate levels of PA were associated with a reduction of approximately 30% in the risk of HS (4). However, a Korean study reported that PA had no significant protective effect against HS (8). Given the limited and inconsistent findings on the relationship between PA and HS in Asian populations, we conducted the present populationbased, longitudinal follow-up study to investigate whether PA is associated with a reduced risk of HS and the optimal level of PA for HS prevention in Taiwan. The primary outcome of this study was a new diagnosis of HS retrieved from Taiwan's healthcare database.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Data Source

This study used data from the Keelung Community-based Integrated Screening program (KCIS), which was conducted by health-service centers in Keelung City, Taiwan (9). The implementation of KCIS started in 1999, and it was originally designed for national neoplastic disease screening. Subjects were invited to participate in it by public-health nurses, and data on their demographic characteristics and lifestyle habits (smoking, drinking, PA, diet, etc.) were collected using structured questionnaires.

The present study used KCIS data from 2005–2012, and linked them to Taiwan's national health insurance research database (NHIRD) and mortality registry for the same 8-year period plus the three following years, i.e., 2013–2015. The NHIRD and mortality-registry data were from the Health and Welfare Data Science Center database at National Taiwan University's Health Data Research Center. Taiwan's national health insurance program is single-payer, compulsory social insurance, and NHIRD is a large-scale healthcare database covering more than 98% of Taiwan's population. Therefore, by linking these databases, a large-scale representative sample of screening data and healthcare records can be collected for analysis. The data that support the findings of this study are available from the corresponding author upon reasonable request.

Ethics Statement

The present study was approved by the National Taiwan University Hospital Research Ethics Committee. Before analyzing the data, all personal ID numbers in the database were encrypted as alphanumeric codes to protect personal information. The health data used in this study could only be accessed in a privacy-protected room within the Health Data Research Center. Because the data were in de-identified form and analyzed anonymously in a privacy-protected environment, the requirement for informed consent was waived.

Study Subjects and Covariates

We carried out a longitudinal follow-up study to investigate the impact of PA on HS risk. The questionnaire asked each subject *Are you currently in the habit of engaging in PA*? (Answer options: 0. Never 1. Yes); and those who answered yes were also asked *How many times do you engage in PA in a week*? and *How many minutes is your PA each time*? Based on the answers to these two follow-up questions, each subject's weekly PA time was obtained by multiplying his/her self-reported number of weekly PA sessions by the minutes each one lasted.

Based on the weekly PA time we calculated, the subjects were categorized into three groups: (1) a no-PA (NPA) group, comprising subjects who answered "Never" to our initial PA question; (2) a low PA (LPA) group, consisting of subjects whose weekly PA times were <90 min; and (3) a high PA (HPA) group, which included subjects whose weekly PA times were 90 min or more. We chose 90 min as the cut-off point between LPA and HPA because a prior population-based study in Taiwan showed that 90 min a week of PA reduced mortality from all causes (10). The recruitment process for the three groups is shown in **Figure 1**.

We defined the date of initial screening, i.e., questionnaire completion, as the index date. Subjects aged 20 or above at their index dates, provided that those index dates fell within 2005–12, were included (N = 61,466). We excluded subjects who had ever been diagnosed with a stroke [International Classification of Diseases, Ninth Revision, Clinical Modification (ICD-9-CM), code 430-438] prior to their respective index dates. After excluding 1,811 subjects who had a history of stroke, 59,655 subjects were left.

As the risk of HS may be affected by demographic factors, lifestyle, and comorbidities (8, 11, 12), these covariates were included in our analysis. The baseline demographic and lifestyle factors collected upon initial screening included sex, age, body mass index, smoking, drinking, and education level. Healthcare records in the NHIRD dating from prior to each patient's the index visit were used to gather information on his/her comorbidities, including DM (ICD-9-CM code 250), hypertension (ICD-9-CM codes 401-405), hyperlipidemia (ICD-9-CM code 272), coronary heart disease (ICD-9-CM codes 410-414, 429.2), atrial fibrillation (ICD-9-CM code 427.31), cancer (ICD-9-CM code 140-208), chronic obstructive pulmonary


disease (ICD-9-CM codes 491, 492, 496), osteoarthritis (ICD-9-CM code 715), and chronic kidney disease (ICD-9-CM code 585). To maximize the case ascertainment of such diagnoses, we defined a comorbidity as present if there was at least one discharge record or two outpatient visits with the relevant diagnosis code(s). This case definition has been adopted in previous studies that relied on administrative data (13). Due to missing lifestyle data, a further 778 subjects were excluded, leaving a final sample of 58,857 subjects, who were then divided into the NPA, LPA, and HPA groups as described above.

Outcome

The primary outcome of this study was a new diagnosis of HS. All outpatient and inpatient healthcare records for each subject were retrieved from the NHIRD. The subjects were tracked from their respective index dates to the earliest of (1) their first occurrence of HS, (2) their death, or (3) the end of 2015. A diagnosis of HS was determined by at least one inpatient discharge or two outpatient visits with a principal diagnostic code of HS (ICD-9-CM codes 430-432). Death dates and causes of death were obtained from the mortality registry.

Statistical Analysis

We examined the differences in demographic, lifestyle, and comorbidity variables across the three PA groups using chisquare tests and analysis of variance. The incidence rate was calculated as the number of HS events in the group divided by the total follow-up time of the group (per 1,000 person-years). We used the Cox proportional hazard regression analysis to estimate the effects of different PA levels on HS. Since the association between PA and HS may vary with sex and comorbidities, we conducted stratified analysis by sex and comorbidities to evaluate their impact on the association between PA and HS risks (14). An alpha level of 0.05 was considered statistically significant. All analyses were performed using SAS 9.4 software (SAS Institute, Cary, NC).

RESULTS

Table 1 lists the distribution of baseline demographic factors, lifestyle factors, and comorbidities in the NPA, LPA, and HPA groups. In the LPA group, the median PA time was 45 min per week [interquartile range (IQR) = 30], and in the HPA group it was 210 minutes per week (IQR = 270). There were significant differences in the distribution of baseline characteristics across these three groups (p < 0.0001).

Variable	NPA (N = 22,621)	LPA (N = 18,259)	HPA (N = 17,977)	p-value*
Sex (women)	14,791 (65.4)	10,790 (59.1)	9,413 (52.4)	<0.0001
Age (years)	44.0 ± 14.4	42.3 ± 13.4	52.8 ± 15.6	< 0.0001
Body mass index (kg/m²)	24.0 ± 4.2	23.9 ± 3.9	24.5 ± 3.7	<0.0001
Smoking status				< 0.0001
Non-smoker	15,754 (69.6)	13,368 (73.2)	13,377 (74.4)	
Ex smoker	1,150 (5.1)	1,284 (7.0)	1,446 (8.1)	
Current smoker	5,717 (25.3)	3,607 (19.8)	3,154 (17.5)	
Drinking				0.0001
Non-drinker	17,480 (77.3)	13,751 (75.3)	13,775 (76.6)	
Ex drinker	746 (3.3)	682 (3.7)	622 (3.5)	
Current drinker	4,395 (19.4)	3,826 (21.0)	3,580 (19.9)	
Education				< 0.0001
Less than high school	5,442 (24.1)	2,369 (13.0)	5,676 (31.6)	
High school	10,730 (47.4)	8,185 (44.8)	7,298 (40.6)	
College diploma	6,449 (28.5)	7,705 (42.2)	5,003 (27.8)	
Diabetes mellitus	1,176 (5.2)	766 (4.2)	1,626 (9.0)	< 0.0001
Hypertension	2,842 (12.6)	1,914 (10.5)	3,992 (22.2)	< 0.0001
Hyperlipidemia	1,627 (7.2)	1,251 (6.9)	2,274 (12.7)	< 0.0001
Coronary heart disease	874 (3.9)	514 (2.8)	1,336 (7.4)	<0.0001
Atrial fibrillation	55 (0.2)	42 (0.2)	81 (0.5)	< 0.0001
Cancer	262 (1.2)	196 (1.1)	410 (2.3)	< 0.0001
COPD	482 (2.1)	292 (1.6)	696 (3.9)	< 0.0001
Osteoarthritis	1,282 (5.7)	820 (4.5)	1,819 (10.1)	<0.0001
Chronic Kidney Disease	80 (0.4)	46 (0.3)	95 (0.5)	<0.0001

TABLE 1 | Baseline characteristics of the no physical activity (NPA), low physical activity group (LPA), and high physical activity (HPA) groups.

Data are presented as N (%) or mean \pm standard deviation.

COPD, Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease.

*Chi-square tests and analysis of variance.

The average age of the HPA group (52.8 years) was higher than the NPA (44.0 years) and LPA (42.3 years) groups. Moreover, the prevalence of pre-existing comorbidities, such as diabetes mellitus, hypertension, hyperlipidemia, coronary heart disease, cancer, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, and osteoarthritis, were higher in the HPA group than in the NPA and LPA groups.

The three groups' respective numbers of HS events and adjusted hazard ratios (HR) are shown in **Table 2**. The NPA group collectively experienced 171 HS events (0.98 per 1,000 person-years), the LPA group, 85 (0.60 per 1,000 person-years), and the HPA group, 168 (1.19 per 1,000 person-years). As compared with its NPA counterpart, the LPA group's adjusted HR for the risk of HS was 0.74 (95% CI, 0.57–0.96, p = 0.0219), and the HPA group's, 0.72 (95% CI, 0.58–0.90, p = 0.004).

Figure 2 presents our analysis stratified by sex and comorbidities. With regard to the former, in the women stratum, LPA and HPA had a protective effect against HS (LPA: adjusted HR = 0.62, 95% CI, 0.43-0.89; HPA: adjusted HR = 0.73, 95% CI, 0.55-0.96). In the men stratum, only HPA had a

TABLE 2 | Number of hemorrhagic stroke events and adjusted hazard ratios for the no physical activity (NPA), low physical activity (LPA), and high physical activity group (HPA) groups.

Variable	NPA (<i>N</i> = 22,621)	LPA (N = 18,259)	HPA (N = 17,977)
Hemorrhagic stroke	events, N		
Yes	171	85	168
No	22,450	18,174	17,809
Risk per 1,000 person-year (95% Cl)	0.98 (0.84–1.14)	0.60 (0.48–0.75)	1.19 (1.02–1.39)
Adjusted [†] Hazard ratio (95% Cl)	1.00	0.74 (0.57–0.96)*	0.72 (0.58–0.90)*

Cl, confidence interval.

*Cox proportional hazard regression analysis, significant at P < 0.05.

[†]Adjusted for sex, age, body mass index, smoking status, drinking, education, diabetes mellitus, hypertension, hyperlipidemia, coronary heart disease, atrial fibrillation, cancer, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, and chronic kidney disease.

(slight) protective effect on HS (LPA: adjusted HR = 0.88, 95% CI, 0.63-1.23; HPA: adjusted HR = 0.75, 95% CI, 0.57-1.00).

In our analysis stratified by DM (**Figure 2**), both LPA and HPA had protective effects against HS for the non-DM stratum (LPA: adjusted HR = 0.75, 95% CI, 0.57-0.98; HPA: adjusted HR = 0.67, 95% CI, 0.53-0.84). In the DM stratum, LPA seemed to be associated with a lower risk of HS although lacking statistical significance (adjusted HR = 0.58, 95% CI, 0.25-1.31). The effect of HPA on HS risk was close to null (adjusted HR = 1.07, 95% CI, 0.73-1.57).

In our analysis stratified by hypertension (**Figure 2**), for the non-hypertension stratum, LPA had a slight protective effect against HS (adjusted HR = 0.75, 95% CI, 0.56–1.00), whereas HPA had a significant protective effect (adjusted HR = 0.58, 95% CI, 0.44–0.75). However, for the hypertension stratum, only the LPA group tended to have a lower risk of HS (adjusted HR = 0.68, 95% CI, 0.41–1.11), and HPA was not associated with a reduced risk of HS (adjusted HR = 1.03, 95% CI, 0.78–1.37).

For the non-hyperlipidemia stratum in our analysis stratified by hyperlipidemia, the LPA group had a slightly lower risk of HS but lacking statistical significance (adjusted HR = 0.82, 95% CI, 0.63–1.07), and being a member of the HPA group was associated with a lower risk of HS (adjusted HR = 0.73, 95% CI, 0.58–0.93). In the hyperlipidemia stratum, on the other hand, both the LPA and HPA groups had a significantly reduced risk of HS (LPA: adjusted HR = 0.27, 95% CI, 0.11–0.67; HPA: adjusted HR = 0.62, 95% CI, 0.41–0.94).

In sum, for the non-DM, non-hypertension, and nonhyperlipidemia strata, the protective effect of PA against HS became stronger as PA time increased. However, in the DM and hypertension strata, HPA was not associated with a lower risk of HS than LPA was.

DISCUSSION

Although PA has been associated with a reduced risk of stroke (6, 15), the published evidence regarding the association between PA and HS in Asian populations has been limited and inconsistent



(4, 8). Moreover, little is known about whether there is a doseresponse relationship between PA and HS risk. The present study has shown that LPA and HPA were both associated a reduced risk of HS, as compared with NPA; and, as can be seen in **Table 2**, this risk reduction appeared to be of a similar magnitude for both LPA and HPA (adjusted HRs, 0.74 and 0.72, respectively). This latter finding that an increase in PA volume does not necessarily lead to a proportional reduction in HS risk seems to be compatible with previous researchers' suggestion that there is a non-linear dose-response relationship between PA and HS risk (4).

For primary prevention of cardiovascular diseases, the World Health Organization recommends \geq 150 min per week of moderate intensity or 75 min per week of vigorous-intensity of aerobic PA, or an equivalent mixture of the two (16). The American Heart Association/American Stroke Association guidelines for primary prevention of stroke recommend that healthy adults perform at least moderate-to-vigorous intensity of aerobic PA at least 40 min a day, three to 4 days a week, i.e., 120–160 min per week (17). Our findings, however, imply that <90 min of PA a week might be sufficient to prevent HS, an amount considerably lower than the above-mentioned recommendations, and probably a more achievable goal for most adults. People should therefore be encouraged to take up any level of PA, however low, as a means of gaining the health benefits discussed above.

To our knowledge, only a handful of studies have been published on the relationship between PA and HS risk in Asian populations. One study from Japan reported that moderate levels of PA seemed to be optimal for HS prevention, reducing the risk by \sim 30% (4). Similarly, in the present study, we found that <90 min a week of PA reduced HS risk by roughly 25% (**Table 2**). Although detailed information regarding types and intensities of PA was not included in the KCIS data, previous surveys have shown that about half of Taiwan's residents engage in strolling and brisk walking (18, 19). Lower PA times may be perceived as easier goals both to set and to achieve, given that lack of time has been found to be an important barrier to individuals engaging in PA (20).

Likewise, few previous studies have assessed the impact of sex and pre-existing cardiovascular risk factors on the relationship between PA and HS risk. Our stratified analysis by sex (**Figure 2**) suggests that PA is associated with a lower risk of HS in Taiwanese women, and that the protective effect of PA is stronger for these women than for their male counterparts.

In our analyses that were stratified by DM and by hypertension, PA seemed to have a greater protective effect against HS in the non-DM, non-hypertension strata. In addition, the HPA group experienced greater protective effects than the LPA group in those two strata. However, HPA was no better than LPA when it came to reducing HS risk in the DM and hypertension strata; i.e., there might be no advantage of HPA over LPA in individuals with these two conditions. But the cause of this apparent lack of benefit of more PA is unclear. It has previously been suggested that microangiopathy caused by DM or hypertension can lead to cerebral microbleeds (21), which may increase vulnerability to HS. Moreover, some adverse cardiovascular effects after excessive PA have been sporadically reported (22). Therefore, we hypothesize that DM- or hypertension-related microangiopathy might counteract the potential benefit of HPA in reducing HS risk.

Our analysis stratified by hyperlipidemia, in contrast, showed that both LPA and HPA were associated with more HS risk reduction in the hyperlipidemia stratum than in the nonhyperlipidemia one (**Figure 2**). Previously, low cholesterol levels have been found to be associated with increased risk of HS (23). Therefore, the protective effect of PA on HS may be counteracted by the potential detrimental impact of low lipid levels on HS risk, and this could explain why the protective effect of PA on HS in the non-hyperlipidemia stratum in our study was less than that in the hyperlipidemia stratum.

According to our analyses stratified by comorbidities (DM, hypertension, hyperlipidemia), the HPA group had a higher magnitude of HS risk reduction than the LPA group in the non-comorbidity strata. Such findings imply that more PA per week should probably be recommended for relatively healthy persons without pre-existing cardiovascular risk factors as a means of HS prevention. In the comorbidity strata, however, the LPA group tended to experience a higher magnitude of HS risk reduction than the HPA group. Therefore, <90 min of PA per week might be a more appropriate approach to HS prevention for persons with pre-existing comorbidities such as hyperlipidemia. Accordingly, personalized recommendations based on the presence or absence of DM, hypertension, and hyperlipidemia may be helpful in optimizing the beneficial impact of PA on HS risk.

Most previous studies conducted in the western countries have reported that participation in PA decreases with age (24, 25). On the contrary, our study showed that the average age of the HPA group was higher than the NPA and LPA groups. Such finding is compatible with other studies conducted in Asia (26– 28), and may be explained by increased exercise participation after retirement (29). In addition, because young or middleaged people typically need to work long hours and take care of family, they may not have much time to engage in regular PA. Another interesting finding is the higher prevalence of preexisting comorbidities in the HPA group. This finding may also be explained by the higher age in the HPA group, as the prevalence of comorbidities usually increases with age. Moreover, health-seeking behaviors after a disease diagnosis may also increase motivation to engage in PA (26).

The key strength of the present study is its use of a representative, population-based sample with longitudinal follow-up. This enabled us to examine the long-term relationship between PA and the subsequent risk of HS. In addition, we included a variety of comorbid medical conditions in the adjustment for regression analysis. Nonetheless, several limitations should be acknowledged. First, this study used selfreported PA, and detailed information on exercise types and intensities was not available in the original KCIS questionnaires. Therefore, misclassification errors may be present. Second, diagnoses of HS and comorbidities in this study were determined using ICD codes from the NHIRD. This may raise concerns about diagnostic accuracy. However, as well as seeking maximize case ascertainment as described above, we should point out that the Bureau of NHI has formed various audit committees that randomly sample claim data and review the sampled patients' healthcare records so as to optimize diagnostic accuracy and quality of care (30). Third, residents in Taiwan are of Chinese ethnicity, so it is uncertain whether our findings can be generalized to other ethnic groups.

CONCLUSIONS

Asian populations suffer HS more frequently than other populations. The present study has shown that even <90 min a week of PA might help to reduce HS risk in one such population. For most people, this level of PA is likely to be more achievable than the longer times recommended by the WHO and other organizations. Additionally, individualized recommendations regarding PA based on pre-existing comorbidities may help optimize the beneficial effects of PA on HS prevention. A modest amount of PA may be more favorable to lowering HS risk in patients with cardiovascular comorbidities (e.g., hyperlipidemia) than a greater amount. Conversely, more intense and/or lengthy PA may be more conducive to reducing HS risk in people without such comorbidities. However, future studies are needed to confirm our findings.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The data analyzed in this study is subject to the following licenses/restrictions: The datasets are managed by the Health and Welfare Data Science Center at National Taiwan University's Health Data Research Center. Requests to access these datasets should be directed to ntuhdrc@ntu.edu.tw.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by National Taiwan University Hospital Research Ethics Committee. Written informed consent for participation was not required for this study in accordance with the national legislation and the institutional requirements.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

S-HF, L-SC, K-CY, and S-LP designed the research, wrote the manuscript, and conducted the research. S-HF, K-CY, and S-LP analyzed data. All authors have read and approved the final manuscript.

FUNDING

This research was supported by a grant from the Ministry of Science and Technology, Executive Yuan, Republic of China (MOST 107-2314-B-002-051-MY2). However, the funder had no role in the study's design, data collection or analysis; the decision to publish it; or the preparation of the manuscript.

REFERENCES

- Broderick J, Connolly S, Feldmann E, Hanley D, Kase C, Krieger D, et al. Guidelines for the management of spontaneous intracerebral hemorrhage in adults: 2007 update: a guideline from the American Heart Association/American Stroke Association Stroke Council, High Blood Pressure Research Council, and the Quality of Care and Outcomes in Research Interdisciplinary Working Group. *Circulation.* (2007) 116:e391– 413. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.107.183689
- O'Donnell MJ, Chin SL, Rangarajan S, Xavier D, Liu L, Zhang H, et al. Global and regional effects of potentially modifiable risk factors associated with acute stroke in 32 countries (INTERSTROKE): a case-control study. *Lancet.* (2016) 388:761–75. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(16)30506-2
- 3. Goldstein LB, Adams R, Alberts MJ, Appel LJ, Brass LM, Bushnell CD, et al. Primary prevention of ischemic stroke: a guideline from the American Heart Association/American Stroke Association Stroke Council: cosponsored by the Atherosclerotic Peripheral Vascular Disease Interdisciplinary Working Group; Cardiovascular Nursing Council; Clinical Cardiology Council; Nutrition, Physical Activity, and Metabolism Council; and the Quality of Care and Outcomes Research Interdisciplinary Working Group: the American Academy of Neurology affirms the value of this guideline. *Stroke*. (2006) 37:1583–633. doi: 10.1161/01.STR.0000223048.70103.F1
- Kubota Y, Iso H, Yamagishi K, Sawada N, Tsugane S, Group JS. Daily total physical activity and incident stroke: the Japan Public Health Center-based prospective study. *Stroke.* (2017) 48:1730–6. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.117.017560
- Mora S, Cook N, Buring JE, Ridker PM, Lee IM. Physical activity and reduced risk of cardiovascular events: potential mediating mechanisms. *Circulation*. (2007) 116:2110–8. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.107.729939
- Lee CD, Folsom AR, Blair SN. Physical activity and stroke risk: a meta-analysis. *Stroke.* (2003) 34:2475– 81. doi: 10.1161/01.STR.0000091843.02517.9D
- Gallanagh S, Quinn TJ, Alexander J, Walters MR. Physical activity in the prevention and treatment of stroke. *ISRN Neurol.* (2011) 2011:953818. doi: 10.5402/2011/953818
- Jeong HG, Kim DY, Kang DW, Kim BJ, Kim CK, Kim Y, et al. Physical activity frequency and the risk of stroke: a Nationwide Cohort Study in Korea. J Am Heart Assoc. (2017) 6:5671. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.117.0 05671
- Chiu YH, Chen LS, Chan CC, Liou DM, Wu SC, Kuo HS, et al. Health information system for community-based multiple screening in Keelung, Taiwan (Keelung Community-based Integrated Screening No. 3. Int J Med Inform. (2006) 75:369–83. doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2005.07.033
- Wen CP, Wai JP, Tsai MK, Yang YC, Cheng TY, Lee MC, et al. Minimum amount of physical activity for reduced mortality and extended life expectancy: a prospective cohort study. *Lancet.* (2011) 378:1244– 53. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(11)60749-6
- Wolf PA, Abbott RD, Kannel WB. Atrial fibrillation as an independent risk factor for stroke: the Framingham Study. *Stroke*. (1991) 22:983– 8. doi: 10.1161/01.STR.22.8.983
- Dardiotis E, Aloizou AM, Markoula S, Siokas V, Tsarouhas K, Tzanakakis G, et al. Cancer-associated stroke: Pathophysiology, detection and management (Review). *Int J Oncol.* (2019) 54:779–96. doi: 10.3892/ijo.2019.4669
- Tonelli M, Wiebe N, Fortin M, Guthrie B, Hemmelgarn BR, James MT, et al. Methods for identifying 30 chronic conditions: application to administrative data. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak. (2015) 15:31. doi: 10.1186/s12911-015-0155-5
- Pearl J. Principal stratification-a goal or a tool? Int J Biostat. (2011) 7:20. doi: 10.2202/1557-4679.1322
- Wendel-Vos GC, Schuit AJ, Feskens EJ, Boshuizen HC, Verschuren WM, Saris WH, et al. Physical activity and stroke. A meta-analysis of observational data. *Int J Epidemiol.* (2004) 33:787–98. doi: 10.1093/ije/dyh168
- World Health Organization. World Health Organization Global Recommendations on Physical Activity for Health. Geneva: World Health Organization (2010).
- 17. Meschia JF, Bushnell C, Boden-Albala B, Braun LT, Bravata DM, Chaturvedi S, et al. Guidelines for the primary prevention of

stroke: a statement for healthcare professionals from the American Heart Association/American Stroke Association. *Stroke.* (2014) 45:3754–832. doi: 10.1161/STR.000000000000046

- Han KT, Wang PC. Validity of research-grade actigraphy unit for measuring exercise intensity. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2017) 14:511. doi: 10.3390/ijerph14050511
- Chen CW, Huang JM. A study of sports consciousness of residents in Taiwan. Sport J. (2005) 8:1–8. https://thesportjournal.org/article/a-study-of-sportsconsciousness-of-residents-in-taiwan/
- Cavallini MF, Callaghan ME, Premo CB, Scott JW, Dyck DJ. Lack of time is the consistent barrier to physical activity and exercise in 18 to 64 year-old males and females from both South Carolina and Southern Ontario. *J Phys Act Res.* (2020) 5:100–6. doi: 10.12691/jpar-5-2-6
- Cordonnier C, Al-Shahi Salman R, Wardlaw J. Spontaneous brain microbleeds: systematic review, subgroup analyses and standards for study design and reporting. *Brain*. (2007) 130:1988–2003. doi: 10.1093/brain/awl387
- 22. Zhu Z, Feng T, Huang Y, Liu X, Lei H, Li G, et al. Excessive physical activity duration may be a risk factor for hypertension in young and middle-aged populations. *Medicine*. (2019) 98:e15378. doi: 10.1097/MD.000000000015378
- Wang X, Dong Y, Qi X, Huang C, Hou L. Cholesterol levels and risk of hemorrhagic stroke: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Stroke.* (2013) 44:1833–9. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.113.001326
- Martinez-Gonzalez MA, Varo JJ, Santos JL, De Irala J, Gibney M, Kearney J, et al. Prevalence of physical activity during leisure time in the European Union. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* (2001) 33:1142–6. doi: 10.1097/00005768-200107000-00011
- Kaplan MS, Newsom JT, McFarland BH, Lu L. Demographic and psychosocial correlates of physical activity in late life. *Am J Prev Med.* (2001) 21:306– 12. doi: 10.1016/S0749-3797(01)00364-6
- 26. Jurj AL, Wen W, Gao YT, Matthews CE, Yang G, Li HL, et al. Patterns and correlates of physical activity: a cross-sectional study in urban Chinese women. *BMC Public Health*. (2007) 7:213. doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-7-213
- 27. Wong CH, Wong SF, Shen L. Correlates of habitual walking and sports/leisure-time physical activity in older persons in Singapore: interaction effects between educational attainment and gender. *Ann Acad Med Singap.* (2003) 32:801–6.
- Chen YJ, Huang YH, Lu FH, Wu JS, Lin LL, Chang CJ, et al. The correlates of leisure time physical activity among an adults population from southern Taiwan. *BMC Public Health*. (2011) 11:427. doi: 10.1186/1471-2 458-11-427
- Evenson KR, Rosamond WD, Cai J, Diez-Roux AV, Brancati FL, Atherosclerosis Risk In Communities Study I. Influence of retirement on leisure-time physical activity: the atherosclerosis risk in communities study. Am J Epidemiol. (2002) 155:692–9. doi: 10.1093/aje/155.8.692
- Lee Y-C, Huang Y-T, Tsai Y-W, Huang S-M, Kuo KN, McKee M, et al. The impact of universal National Health Insurance on population health: the experience of Taiwan. BMC Health Serv Res. (2010) 10:225. doi: 10.1186/1472-6963-10-225

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Feng, Chen, Yeh and Pan. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Patricia C. Heyn, University of Colorado Anschutz Medical Campus, United States

REVIEWED BY

Jennifer Hall, Bradford Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, United Kingdom Antonino Patti, University of Palermo, Italy Salvatore Zaffina, Bambino Gesù Children's Hospital (IRCCS), Italy

*CORRESPONDENCE Hai-Hua Chuang chhaihua@gmail.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Family Medicine and Primary Care, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

RECEIVED 27 April 2022 ACCEPTED 27 June 2022 PUBLISHED 26 July 2022

CITATION

Cheng K-H, Wu N-K, Chen C-T, Hsu C-Y, Lin Y-A, Luo JJ-C, Lee L-A and Chuang H-H (2022) Effectiveness and response differences of a multidisciplinary workplace health promotion program for healthcare workers. *Front. Med.* 9:930165.

doi: 10.3389/fmed.2022.930165

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Cheng, Wu, Chen, Hsu, Lin, Luo, Lee and Chuang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Effectiveness and response differences of a multidisciplinary workplace health promotion program for healthcare workers

Kai-Hung Cheng^{1†}, Ning-Kuang Wu^{2†}, Chao-Tung Chen³, Chih-Yu Hsu^{1,4}, Yen-An Lin¹, John Jiin-Chyuan Luo⁵, Li-Ang Lee^{4,6,7} and Hai-Hua Chuang^{1,4,6,8,9}*

¹Department of Family Medicine, Chang Gung Memorial Hospital, Taoyuan, Taiwan, ²Department of Education, Chang Gung Memorial Hospital, Taoyuan, Taiwan, ³Department of Family Medicine, Chang Gung Memorial Hospital, Kaoshiung, Taiwan, ⁴College of Medicine, Chang Gung University, Taoyuan, Taiwan, ⁵Department of Occupational Medicine, New Taipei Municipal Tucheng Hospital, Chang Gung Memorial Hospital, New Taipei City, Taiwan, ⁶School of Medicine, National Tsing Hua University, Hsinchu, Taiwan, ⁷Department of Otorhinolaryngology-Head and Neck Surgery, Chang Gung Memorial Hospital, Taoyuan, Taiwan, ⁸Health Promotion Center, Chang Gung Memorial Hospital, Taoyuan, Taiwan, ⁹Department of Industrial Engineering and Management, National Taipei University of Technology, Taipei, Taiwan

Background: Workplace health promotion (WHP) in the healthcare industry is an important yet challenging issue to address, given the high workload, heterogeneity of work activities, and long work hours of healthcare workers (HCWs). This study aimed to investigate the effectiveness and response differences of a multidisciplinary WHP program conducted in HCWs.

Methods: This retrospective cohort study included HCWs participating in a multidisciplinary WHP program in five healthcare facilities. The 20-week intervention included multiple easy-to-access 90-min exercise classes, one 15-min nutrition consultation, and behavioral education. Pre- and post-interventional anthropometrics, body composition, and physical fitness (PF) were compared with paired sample *t*-tests. Response differences across sex, age, weight status, and shiftwork status were analyzed with a generalized estimating equation.

Results: A total of 302 HCWs were analyzed. The intervention effectively improved all anthropometric (body mass index, waist circumference, waist-hip ratio, and waist-to-height ratio), body composition (body fat percentage, muscle weight, visceral fat area), and PF (grip strength, high jump, sit-up, sit-and-reach, step test) parameters in all participants (all p < 0.05). Subgroup analyses revealed shift workers had a more significant mean reduction in body mass index than non-shift workers (adjusted p = 0.045). However, there was no significant response difference across sex, age, and weight subgroups.

Conclusion: This study suggested that a multidisciplinary WHP program can improve anthropometric and PF profiles regardless of sex, age, and weight status for HCWs, and shifter workers might benefit more from the intervention.

KEYWORDS

anthropometrics, exercise intervention, hospital employee, multidiscipline, physical fitness, shiftwork, workplace health promotion

Introduction

While focusing on preserving people's health as their work duties, healthcare workers (HCWs) themselves are also in need of health promotion (1, 2). The literature has indicated that unfavorable working conditions, such as night shifts, long work hours, psychosocial job strain, and job insecurity, can lead to negative health outcomes, including obesity (3), metabolic syndrome (4), muscular-skeletal discomforts (5), mental disorders (6, 7), and certain cancers (8–13). It is not uncommon that HCWs have to work under stressful conditions with long hours and irregular shifts, which may have negative impacts on their health (14, 15). HCWs have been reported to have higher levels of sickness absence, work dissatisfaction, distress and burnout than workers in other industries (16).

The importance of workplace health promotion (WHP) is well recognized (17). Previous studies have suggested that WHP can lead to lower disease prevalence, reduced medical costs, and higher productivity (18–22). However, the high workload, heterogeneity of work activities, and long work hours can make hospitals a difficult setting to address WHP (23). Moberg et al. found significant associations between physical activity, physical capacity (defined with maximal oxygen uptake (VO_{2max}) and handgrip strength), and levels of musculoskeletal pain among HCWs (24). The same association was not observed in construction workers, suggesting that HCWs might be a population more likely to benefit from exercise-based WHPs (24).

Moreover, effectiveness of and predictors for the responses to WHP are not yet well understood (25–27). A systematic review conducted in 2012 showed positive effects of WHP on physical activity, diet, and body mass index (BMI) but insufficient evidence on absenteeism and mental health (28). According to a randomized clinical trial conducted by Reif et al., a significantly higher proportion of employees reported having a primary care physician and showed improvements in a set health belief in the treatment group of a 24-month WHP; however, no significant differences were observed in biometrics, medical diagnoses, or medical use (29). After an 18-month WHP in a clustered randomized trial, Song and Baicker found some positive self-reported health behaviors among the employees exposed but no significant improvement in health measures, healthcare spending and utilization, or employment outcomes (29). Another randomized controlled trial conducted by Patti and colleagues demonstrated that, subjects participating in different exercise programs differed in their improvements of physical performance (30). Mixed evidence indicates that WHP interventions can be somewhat effective (31), but it is still inconclusive and needs more research to confirm the benefit.

The global pandemic of COVID-19 has caused an unprecedented impact on healthcare systems worldwide, and research interests in the safety and health of HCWs have been growing ever since (32, 33); however, most focused on the infection of COVID-19 (34), vaccination against COVID-19 (35, 36), or mental health issues (37, 38). The latest review on HCWs health promotion was conducted by Brand et al., which included only 11 studies with system approaches (16). Data on effectiveness and response differences of WHP among HCWs remain insufficient. Validating WHP programs designed for use in hospitals and exploring the factors that influence intervention outcomes would benefit future design and implementation. This study examined the effectiveness of a multidisciplinary 20-week WHP program in northern Taiwan and analyzed response differences by sex, age, weight, and shiftwork statuses.

Materials and methods

Study design

This study was a retrospective case series to assess the effectiveness and response differences of a multi-site and multidisciplinary WHP program regarding anthropometrics, body composition (BC), and physical fitness (PF) of hospital employees. The original study was approved by the Institutional Review Board of the Chang Gung Memorial Foundation (No. 102-4004B). Informed consent was obtained from each subject. This study followed the guidelines of the World Medical Association Declaration of Helsinki (39) and the template for intervention description and replication (TIDieR) (40).

Participants

Participants were recruited to the WHP program *via* posters, emails, and e-bulletin systems between February 23rd to March 22nd, 2015, from three hospitals and two nursing centers of Chang Gung Medical Foundation in northern Taiwan. The participants had to primarily meet the following criteria: (1) employees of the aforementioned five healthcare facilities of Chang Gung Medical Foundation, (2) aged between 18 and 64 years, and (3) voluntary participation in the program. Participants with the following condition were excluded: selfreported history of stroke, coronary artery disease, or other major vascular diseases.

Basic information, anthropometrics, BC, and PF were assessed before and after the single-arm intervention program. Participants who did not complete the intervention or had no available pre- and post-interventional data of BC and PF were not eligible for statistical analysis. Unless the above conditions, all cases that met the inclusion criteria would be included.

Intervention – multidisciplinary program

The program was conducted by a multidisciplinary team, including family physicians, rehabilitation physicians, sport science experts, PF trainers, clinical dietitians, and research assistants. A diagrammatic overview of the intervention is presented in Figure 1.

The intervention was workplace-based, 20 weeks long, and multi-faceted, comprising three parts:

Exercise classes

Up to 24 group exercise classes per week (including 5 in the morning and 19 in the evening) were held during the intervention period. Styles of the classes included aerobic dance, kickboxing, cycling, and Yogalates. Each class had a limit on the number of participants, depending on the characteristic of the exercise style and the size of the venue. The sizes of venues ranged from 73 to 165 square meters. The limit number of classes ranged from 15 to 40 participants. Each participant was requested and allowed to register for one class per week in a first-come, first-served manner. A class would be closed for registration once the limit number of participants was reached.

All sessions were held either in or nearby the study hospitals and instructed by certified trainers. Every exercise class was 80 min, including stretching and warming up for the first 20 min, main exercise for 50 min, and cool down for the last 10 min. The intensities of classes varied. All courses were gender-neutral. Best efforts were made to ensure the accessibility of the exercise program by offering multiple choices of time, location, style, and intensities of the classes so that participants could easily find ones fitted into their schedule and preference. In aerobic dance classes, the PF trainer leads the participants to dance to lively music. In kickboxing classes, participants boxed under a PF trainer's instruction, and the speed of boxing was emphasized to increase instantaneous velocity. Participants in cycling classes rode on spinning bikes under the guidance of the trainer. Yogalates was performed with participants doing yoga with a yogic instructor. The sustaining posture in yoga focused on the participants' muscle endurance and respiration.

Nutrition consultation

A 15-min one-on-one nutrition consultation session by professional clinical dietitians was provided to participants with overweight or obesity, excessive body fat percentage (BF%), or metabolic syndrome. Overweight was defined as BMI > 24 according to the Ministry of Health and Welfare in Taiwan (41). Excessive body fat percentage was defined as BF% > 20% in males and BF% > 30% in females, according to the Sports Administration, Ministry of Education in Taiwan (42, 43). Metabolic syndrome was defined as the presence of three or more of the following five risk factors: (1) Abdominal obesity: (waist circumference: male \geq 90 cm, female \geq 80 cm). (2) Hypertension: systolic blood pressure (SBP) ≥ 130 mmHg/diastolic blood pressure (DBP) ≥ 85 mmHg. (3) Hyperglycemia: fasting blood glucose ≥ 100 mg/dl. (4) High-density lipoprotein cholesterol: male < 40 mg/dl, female < 50 mg/dl. (5) High triglyceride \geq 150 mg/dl. The criteria were determined by the Ministry of Health and Welfare in Taiwan (41).

Nutrition consultation sessions were arranged in the fourth and fifth weeks of the intervention. The anthropometrics and BC of the individuals were provided to dietitians before the consultation by the assistants. During a consultation, the dietitian would ask the participant what he or she typically ate for breakfast, lunch, dinner, and late-night supper. After a dietitian learned about the participant's nutritional status and daily lifestyle routine, the dietitian would make personalized suggestions according to each participant's weight status, BC and personal concerns. For instance, instructions for participants with overweight or obesity would be focused on a healthy diet with a negative caloric balance. Participants with an unbalanced diet would learn about macronutrients. Individuals with low MW or high VFA would be given suggestions on the ratio of macronutrients and types of exercise.

Behavioral education

Multiple campaign activities were done to promote the WHP based on essential principles of the theory of planned behavior, namely behavioral beliefs, normative beliefs, and control beliefs (self-efficacy) (44). To increase *behavioral beliefs*, educational materials on exercise, PF, and weight management were delivered through emails, website bulletin boards, and posters in the workplace (**Supplementary Figures 1–4**). The educational materials were all designed by the multidisciplinary



team. Messages encouraging HCWs to exercise were sent intensively by assistants and PF trainers during the intervention to enhance *normative beliefs*. For example, PF trainers were requested to publicize the benefits of exercise during the classes to increase their exposure to information on healthy behaviors. Moreover, by having a big ceremony to celebrate the success of the program and publicly reward participants with high attendance rates and considerable physical improvements, the intervention was also able to increase the *self-efficacy* of participants in terms of performance attainment (mastery experience), vicarious experience, and verbal persuasion.

Measurements

General characteristics

Participants' general characteristics were assessed by completing registration sheets at participants' entry into the study. The following characteristics were assessed: age, sex, medical history, profession (nurse, medical technician, administration staff, and others), and shift status [day-shift only or night-shift only (i.e., non-shift workers); irregular shift work (shift workers)].

Anthropometrics

Body height, body weight, waist circumference (WC), and hip circumference (HC) were measured and used to calculate

body mass index (BMI), waist-hip ratio (WHR), and waist-to-height ratio (WHtR).

Body composition

BC was measured using bioelectrical impedance analysis, which is based on differences in the conductivity of various components of the human body. We used the IOI-353 BC analyzer (Jawon Medical, Yuseong, South Korea) for the analysis, measuring segmental multi-frequency impedance values at 1, 5, 50, 250, 550, and 1,000 kHz with a tetrapolar 8-point tactile electrode system (45). Variables assessed included body fat percentage (BF%), muscle weight (MW), and visceral fat area (VFA).

Physical fitness

PF was tested as follows. The assessments of PF were implemented in accordance with the protocols developed and published by the Sports Department, Ministry of Education in Taiwan (46). All the assessments were completed by boardcertificated exercise trainers.

Explosive muscle strength of the upper limbs was assessed with handgrip strength. Participants put their hands by the body side in a standing position. Then they were asked to grasp the handgrip by the dominant hand and gripped it instantaneously with their biggest strength. Two measurements were done to get the best record (47).

Explosive muscle strength of the lower limbs was assessed with vertical jumping. Vertical jumping was measured by participants jumping from the floor with both feet and touching the ruler with a hand as tall as they could. Two measurements were required to get the tallest value (48).

Muscular endurance was assessed with 1-min sit-up. Participants did 1-min sit-up with their upper body lying on the ground and knees had a 90-degree angle. Their feet were flat on the floor and PF trainers would lightly press on the feet to help stabilize. As a preparation position, participants had their forearms crossed to touch the contralateral shoulder and elbows upon the chest. Participants were asked to contract abdominal muscles to get up and touch the knees with elbows. After they returned to the preparation position, it was considered a count. PF trainers recorded the number of completions in 1 min (46, 49).

Flexibility was assessed with sit-and-reach technique. Participants sit on the ground with knees straight and toes faced upward. Their two heels were 30 cm apart and aligned with the 25 cm on the measured ruler. Participants leaned forward their upper body and stretched their hands to touch the ruler. After the folded two middle fingers touched the ruler, participants were asked to hold for 2 s to record. The measurement was conducted twice to get the best value (46, 50).

Cardiorespiratory fitness was assessed by 3-min step test, defined as the time that heart rate returns to normal after exercise. Each participant got on and off the bench for 3 min in continuous while maintaining a consistent pace. The height of the wooden bench was 35 cm, and the consistent pace was 96 beats per minute (46, 51).

Statistical analysis

All study parameters were compared before and after the intervention using paired sample *t*-tests when dealing with the whole cohort. Using the Shapiro–Wilk test to assess the normality, descriptive statistics were expressed as mean [standard deviation (SD)] for normally distributed continuous variables, median [interquartile range (IQR)] for skewed variables, and number (proportion) for categorical variables. For within-group comparisons, the paired-samples *t*-test or Wilcoxon signed rank test was used as appropriate. For between-group comparisons, the independent samples *t*-test or Mann–Whitney *U* test was used as appropriate.

Generalized estimating equations (GEEs) were used to compare the differences in the changes of these parameters by cohort subgroups, including sex, age, weight status, and shift-work status. Specifically, each subgroup variable was entered into separate GEEs that included main effects of time (post-intervention vs. pre-intervention) and subgroup variable (e.g., male vs. female), a two-way interaction term of time \times subgroup variable, and the main effects of baseline characteristics. A significant interaction effect signified a difference in change between subgroups.

All *p*-values were two-sided and statistical significance was accepted at p < 0.05. The data analyses were carried out using IBM SPSS Statistics 25 (International Business Machines Corp., Armonk, NY, United States) and Graph Pad Prism 9.0 for Windows (Graph Pad Software Inc., San Diego, CA, United States).

Results

Characteristics of study participants

During the recruitment period, 659 HCWs registered for the WHP program, among whom 528 eligible participants completed pre-tests. Each participant was encouraged to attend one exercise class per week for 20 weeks (20 classes in total). To assure the internal validity of investigations on effectiveness and response differences of the intervention, those with a participation rate lower than 40% (8 classes) were excluded (n = 100). Participants who had no complete data of postinterventional assessments were further excluded (n = 126). A total of 302 subjects were enrolled for statistical analysis (**Figure 2**).

Among the 302 participants, median age was 36 years (IQR: 30-45) (**Table 1**), and most (93.0%) were female. Furthermore, 118 (39.1%) participants were older than 40 years of age. The median BMI was 22.6 kg/m² (IQR: 20.9–24.7) and 107 (35.4%) of them were overweight (according to a BMI of greater than 24 kg/m²). Administrative staff and others (45.4%) and nurses (39%) were predominant among participants' professions, and 47 (15.6%) participants served as medical technicians. Approximately one-third (32.8%) of the participants engaged in shiftwork.

Females had significantly lower median BMI, proportion of overweight, proportion of administrative staff and others, and non-shift working compared with males.

Changes in outcome parameters for the whole cohort

Notably, we observed statistically significant differences in all parameters between before and after the intervention (Table 2). Specifically, among the anthropometrics, the program led to significant decreases in BMI, WC, WHR, and WHtR (all p < 0.05). Likewise, we observed decreased BF% and VFA and increased MW (p < 0.05). Regarding PF, we observed significantly better performance at post-intervention in four



parameters than at pre-intervention (all p < 0.05), except for sit-and-reach (p = 0.359).

Furthermore, females had significant improvements in anthropometrics, body composition, and three items of physical fitness (high jump, sit-up, step test) after intervention (Supplementary Table 1) (p < 0.05).

Changes in outcome parameters stratified by sex and age

Changes from pre-intervention to post-intervention stratified by sex and age were analyzed with the GEEs (Table 3). After adjustment of the other general characteristics, there was no sex difference in the improvements of anthropometrics (BMI demonstrated in Figure 3A), BC, or PF parameters. No significant differences were observed either between age subgroups (BMI demonstrated in Figure 3B).

Among females, there was no age difference in the improvements of variables of interest after adjustment of the other general characteristics (**Supplementary Table 2**).

Changes in outcome parameters stratified by weight and shiftwork status

Changes in outcome parameters stratified by weight status and shiftwork status were analyzed with the GEEs (Table 4). We observed no significant difference in the changes of parameters between the non-overweight and overweight subgroups (BMI demonstrated in **Figure 3**C). Albeit non-significant, we did observe a borderline (p < 0.10) such that participants with overweight showed a slightly greater improvement in step test performance compared to those with non-overweight (3.0 vs. 1.6).

There was a significant difference in the improvement of one parameter—BMI—between participants who worked in shifts and who did not (p < 0.05), after adjustment for gender, age, BMI at pre-intervention, and profession. Specifically, while the BMI for the shift and non-shift groups both decreased from pre-intervention to post-intervention, the improvement was substantially greater in the shift group than in the non-shift group (-0.35 vs. -0.19 kg/m²) (Figure 3D). No significant difference was observed in the changes of other parameters across shift status. Furthermore, these characteristic differences in the improvements of variables of interest between shift

Variable	Overall	Male	Female	<i>p</i> -value ¹
N	302	21	281	
Age, years	36 (30-45)	32 (29–45)	36 (30-45)	0.428
Age group				0.576
< 40 years	184 (60.9)	14 (66.7)	184 (60.9)	
≥ 40 years	118 (39.1)	7 (22.3)	118 (39.1)	
Body mass index, kg/m ²	22.6 (20.9–24.7)	25.5 (23.8-28.1)	22.4 (20.8-24.5)	< 0.001
Weight status				< 0.001
$< 24 \text{ kg/m}^2$	195 (64.6)	5 (23.8)	195 (64.6)	
$\geq 24 \text{ kg/m}^2$	107 (35.4)	16 (76.2)	107 (35.4)	
Profession				< 0.001
Nurse	118 (39.0)	0 (0.0)	118 (42.0)	
Medical technician	47 (15.6)	3 (14.3)	44 (15.7)	
Administrative staff and others ²	137 (45.4)	18 (85.7)	119 (42.3)	
Shift status				0.005
Non-shift worker	203 (67.2)	20 (95.2)	183 (65.1)	
Shift worker	99 (32.8)	1 (4.8)	98 (34.9)	

TABLE 1 Characteristics of the study participants.

Data are summarized as n (%) or median (interquartile range, as appropriate. ¹For between-group comparisons, the independent samples *t*-test or Mann–Whitney U test is used as appropriate. ²The "others" included mainly staff at payment counters and research assistants and a small number of those who were neither nurses nor medical technicians.

TABLE 2 Changes in outcome parameters for whole cohort (n = 302).

Variable	Pre-intervention	Post-intervention	Change ¹	<i>p</i> -value ²
Anthropometrics				
Body mass index (kg/m ²)	22.6 (20.9-24.7)	22.4 (20.6–24.8)	-0.19 (-0.59-0.18)	< 0.001
Waist circumference (cm)	75 (69–81)	74 (68–81)	-1 (-4-3)	0.014
Waist-hip ratio	80.2 (75.9-84.9)	78.9 (74.7–83.8)	-1.0 (-4.0-1.9)	< 0.001
Waist-to-height ratio	47.1 (43.4–51.0)	46.5 (43.0-50.4)	-0.8 (-2.6-1.6)	0.001
Body composition				
Body fat percentage (%)	29.8 (4.7)	29.1 (4.8)	-0.65 (1.19)	< 0.001
Muscle weight (kg)	36.5 (34.0-39.4)	36.7 (31.2–39.9)	0.2 (-0.3-0.6)	< 0.001
Visceral fat area (cm ²)	60.5 (41.8-79.3)	56.0 (38.8-78.0)	-3.0 (-7.0-1.0)	< 0.001
Physical fitness				
Grip strength (kg)	27.0 (23.2-31.0)	27.0 (24.0-31.0)	0.0 (-2.0-2.0)	0.035
High jump (cm)	32.0 (28.0-36.5)	33.0 (29.0–38.0)	2.0 (-1.5-4.0)	< 0.001
Sit-up (count)	26 (20-33)	29 (23–35)	2 (0-4)	< 0.001
Sit-and-reach (cm)	32.1 (26.7–38.5)	32.3 (27.0-38.0)	0.0 (-1.9-2.2)	0.359
Step test	58.4 (53.9-64.3)	60.8 (56.3-66.7)	2.2 (-2.6-6.4)	< 0.001

Data are summarized as mean (standard deviation) or median (interquartile range), as appropriate. ¹Post-intervention minus pre-intervention. ²Paired sample *t*-test for normally distributed continuous variables or Wilcoxon signed rank test.



TABLE 3 Changes in outcome parameters stratified by sex and age.

Variable	Male	Female	<i>p</i> -value ¹	Age < 40 years	Age \geq 40 years	<i>p</i> -value ¹
Anthropometrics						
Body mass index (kg/m ²)	-0.1 (-0.5-0.2)	-0.2 (-0.6-0.2)	0.651	-0.2 (-0.6-0.2)	-0.2 (-0.6-0.1)	0.566
Waist circumference (cm)	1 (-4-4)	-1 (-4-3)	0.733	-1 (-4-2.9)	-2 (-4-3)	0.829
Waist-hip ratio	0.6 (-2.4-1.9)	-1.0 (-4.1-2.0)	0.548	-1.0 (-4.1-1.7)	-0.9 (-3.7-2.9)	0.777
Waist-to-height ratio	0.6 (-2.4-1.9)	-0.9 (-2.6-1.5)	0.675	-0.5 (-2.5-1.4)	-1.2 (-2.7-1.7)	0.739
Body composition						
Body fat percentage (%)	-0.3 (-1.6-0.4)	-0.6 (-1.3-0.1)	0.969	-0.6 (-1.3-0.2)	-0.6 (-1.3-0.1)	0.510
Muscle weight (kg)	0.5 (0.1–1.3)	0.2 (-0.3-0.6)	0.105	0.2 (-0.3-0.6)	0.3 (-0.2-0.7)	0.158
Visceral fat area (came)	-1.0 (-8.0-4.0)	-3.0 (-7.0-0.0)	0.157	-2.0 (-0.2-0.7)	-4.0 (-8.0-1.0)	0.281
Physical fitness						
Grip strength (kg)	1.0 (-1.5-4.0)	-2.0 (-3.0-2.0)	0.642	0.0 (-1.0-2.0)	0.0 (-2.0-2.0)	0.820
High jump (cm)	0.0 (-3.0-8.0)	2.0 (-1.0-4.0)	0.721	2.0 (-1.0-4.0)	1.0 (-2.0-4.0)	0.776
Sit-up (count)	3 (-1-5)	2 (0-4)	0.484	2 (0-4)	2 (0-5)	0.858
Sit-and-reach (cm)	-0.8 (-1.2-5.0)	0.1 (-1.9-2.2)	0.345	0.0 (-1.7-2.1)	0.0 (-2.2-3.0)	0.746
Step test	3.7 (-1.4-7.5)	2.0 (-2.6-6.3)	0.332	2.2 (-2.1-6.2)	2.0 (-3.1-6.6)	0.906

Data are summarized as median change (interquartile range). ¹The difference in change (post-intervention minus pre-intervention) between weight or shiftwork subgroups obtained from generalized estimating equation analyses adjusted for sex, age, profession, and/or shiftwork status. The difference in change (post-intervention minus pre-intervention) between sex or age subgroups obtained from generalized estimating equation analyses adjusted for age, BMI at pre-intervention, profession, and shiftwork status.

Variable	Non-overweight	Overweight	<i>p</i> -value ¹	Non-shift worker	Shift worker	<i>p</i> -value ¹
Anthropometrics						
Body mass index (kg/m ²)	-0.2 (-0.6-0.1)	-0.2 (-0.7-0.3)	0.915	-0.1 (-0.6-0.2)	-0.3 (-0.6-0.1)	0.045
Waist circumference (cm)	-1 (-4-3)	-1 (-4-3)	0.672	-1 (-4-3)	-1 (-3-3)	0.658
Waist-hip ratio	-1.0 (-4.0-2.1)	-0.8 (-4.0 -1.7)	0.855	-1.3 (-4.7-2.1)	-0.8 (-3.2-1.7)	0.340
Waist-to-height ratio	-0.9 (-2.6-1.6)	-0.8 (-2.4-1.4)	0.691	-0.9 (-2.6-1.6)	-0.7 (-2.5-1.5)	0.626
Body composition						
Body fat percentage (%)	-0.7 (-1.4-0.1)	-0.6 (-1.1-0.2)	0.239	-0.7 (-1.3-0.1)	-0.5 (-1.4-0.1)	0.290
Muscle weight (kg)	0.2 (-0.3-0.6)	0.2 (-0.3-0.7)	0.858	0.2 (-0.3-0.7)	0.2 (-0.4-0.5)	0.299
Visceral fat area (came)	-2.0 (-6.0-0.0)	-4.0 (-0.8-2.0)	0.197	-3.0 (-7.0-0.0)	-2.0 (-7.0-1.0)	0.571
Physical fitness						
Grip strength (kg)	0.0 (-1.0-2.0)	1.0 (-2.0-3.0)	0.594	0.0 (-1.3-2.0)	0.0 (-2.0-2.0)	0.902
High jump (cm)	1.0 (-1.0-4.0)	2.0 (-2.0-5.0)	0.608	2.0 (-2.0-5.0)	1.7 (-1.0-4.0)	0.231
Sit-up (count)	2 (0-4)	2 (0-5)	0.471	2 (0-4)	3 (-1-5)	0.367
Sit-and-reach (cm)	0.1 (-2.1-2.0)	0.0 (-1.5-2.8)	0.235	-0.1 (-1.9-2.2)	0.2 (-1.8-2.2)	0.999
Step test	1.6 (-2.8-6.5)	3.0 (-1.7-6.1)	0.067	2.1 (-2.2-6.9)	2.5 (-3.0-5.5)	0.880

TABLE 4 Changes in outcome parameters stratified by weight status and shiftwork status.

Data are summarized as median change (interquartile range). ¹The difference in change (post-intervention minus pre-intervention) between weight or shiftwork subgroups obtained from generalized estimating equation analyses adjusted for sex, age, profession, and/or shiftwork status.

workers and non-shift workers persisted after adjustment of the other general characteristics among females (Supplementary Table 2).

Discussion

The overall outcome suggested that the program was effective for improving various anthropometric, BC, and PF parameters. Specifically, we observed significant reductions in BMI, WC, WHR, WHtR, BF%, and VFA, along with an increase in MW, indicating a more preferable BC and fat distribution. As for PF, we noted significant improvements in the explosive muscle strength of the upper and lower limbs, muscular endurance, flexibility, and cardiorespiratory endurance. All of these results are compatible with those of prior studies on health promotion exercises (52–56).

Among all the parameters, we observed no significant differences in intervention effects by sex or age, suggesting that these characteristics have no impact on the intervention outcome. This finding is congruent with those of other studies (57, 58). However, while it did not reach the level of statistical significance, we did observe an interesting tendency for sex: the female sex appeared to show a greater improvement, especially in weight status and BC. Other studies have shown that women had better responses than did men after an exercise intervention (59, 60). One study in 2015 showed similar results to ours; wherein women showed greater improvements in anthropometrics than did men (61). However, another study in 2007 suggested that men showed greater

improvements than did women in terms of anthropometrics and BC. Considering these previous inconsistent findings and the lack of a meta-analysis, it remains unclear whether health promotion exercise programs directed at medical personnel show sex differences in their effects. Moreover, our study cohort comprised mainly women (93.0%). According to national data, the number of female HCWs has been persistently much higher than that of males. This data truly reflected the fact that the male/female ratio ranged between 6.0% and 25.2% (mean = 14.4%) in our WHP program from 2014 to 2021 as a result of a higher proportion of women working in the healthcare industry and their higher engagement in WHPs. Future studies that focus specifically on sex differences in intervention response may help design sex-specific interventions.

In the present study, we categorized our cohort into "age < 40 years" and "age ≥ 40 years." According to a large prospective cohort study published in 2019, maintaining higher levels of leisure-time physical activity in adults \geq 40 years old was associated with a comparative low risk for allcause mortality as it in adults < 40 years old (62). Saint-Maurice et al. have recommended that the age of 40 years is a considerable important timepoint to start physical activity (62). We've further analyzed the differences in variables of interest in three age groups: "18-29 years," "30-39 years," and "> 40 years" and found no significant differences existed (data not shown). Therefore, our results supported that the multidisciplinary WHP program can provide comparable benefits of anthropometrics, body composition, and physical fitness to participants with ages \geq 40 years and < 40 years.

Weight status also did not appear to influence the intervention effects. Notably, the subjects with a higher BMI improved to a larger degree than did those with a lower BMI in cardiorespiratory endurance, with a difference almost reaching statistical significance. This somewhat coincides with previous studies, which have indicated that subjects with higher BMIs tend to respond better to exercise interventions in terms of anthropometrics, BC, and cardiorespiratory function (63, 64). Although it is unclear why the response differences existed, possible reasons include individuals with higher BMI having enhanced motivation and compliance with the program, or perhaps an altered physiological response to the intervention coexisting with the obesity itself. Further investigation would be of interest in future studies.

There was a significant difference in BMI improvement between the shiftwork status subgroups. Specifically, the group who engaged in shiftwork showed a more profound weight reduction than did the other subgroup. The association between shiftwork and higher BMI has been robustly demonstrated in the past (65-68). Sleep duration/quality, timing of meals, and timing of light exposure are usually disrupted for shift workers, thereby leading to disruption of circadian rhythms; such a disruption, in turn, can lead to an increased risk of impaired cardio-metabolic function and associated diseases including obesity, diabetes, and cardiovascular disease (69). The underlying pathophysiology of this effect has been suggested to be multifactorial, including inappropriate meal timing (e.g., breakfast skipping or late meals, which can lead to the lower thermic effect of feeding), altered food preferences (e.g., more sugar-sweetened food, which can lead to a higher total calorie intake) (70), and decreased energy expenditure (69). The results of our study imply that while shift workers tend to have higher BMIs, they appear to be able to lower that BMI more efficiently through interventions. We found this effect to be logical, given that the intervention targeted a healthier diet and regular exercise, which can correct the altered eating behavior and decreased energy expenditure caused by the circadian disruption of shift workers. This may be an important finding and suggests that a multidisciplinary WHP program targeting nutrition and exercise is particularly effective and should be prioritized for shift workers.

Overall, this workplace-based intervention appeared to be effective—not only for weight-status outcomes but also for the improvements of BC, fat distribution, and PF. We suggested that the program being multi-faceted, *trans*-disciplinary, and easy-to-access might have contributed to its success. The literature has suggested that the phases of WHP include: needs assessment, planning, implementation, and evaluation (71). Lack of participation is one of the biggest challenges of WHP, especially in the healthcare industry (72). The authors included participants only above a certain level of participation since the current study aimed to assess the effectiveness and response differences to the multidisciplinary intervention. Including all participants with all-ranged participation levels would mix the issues of participation and intervention effectiveness thus possess a threat to internal validity of the research. Incentives and barriers to participation or methods to improve them were not the focus of this study; however, they are certainly critical to the overall success of a WHP and warrant further research. Moreover, mental health is also vital to the well-being of HCWs, and the inclusion of psychological health promotion such as mindfulness-based programs may further broaden the scope of WHP (73).

The advantage of this study includes its comprehensive assessment of anthropometrics and PF. However, there are some limitations. First, since participants volunteered to participate, rather than being selected randomly or with a stratified method from the correspondent population, the generalizability of this program may be limited. Second, the program was conducted in northern Taiwan and might not be representative of the rest of Taiwan. Third, the intervention did not include psychological programs, which should also be considered in future WHPs. Fourth, the study was an efficacy-based research, which is limited in delineating the effects of intervention designs on outcomes. Future prospective research can be more evaluation-based, so lived experiences, feasibility and acceptability of the intervention, and mechanisms of impact in context can be examined. A larger sample size with a control group and a balanced sex distribution can also contribute to a better understanding on the effectiveness of and response differences in WHP among HCWs.

In conclusion, the workplace-based health promotion exercise program was an effective intervention model for hospitals regardless of unfavorable workplace settings for health promotion. Workers with higher BMIs, who engage in shiftwork, and who are at greater risk yet appear more responsive to interventions than their peers, can be considered a priority group for WHP in case of limited resources. Future investigation of response differences and their underlying mechanisms across sex, age, weight, and shiftwork statuses would be interesting.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Institutional Review Board of Chang Gung Medical Foundation. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

JJ-CL and H-HC conceived and planned the study. C-TC and JJ-CL enrolled the patients. L-AL and H-HC designed the study, analyzed data, made the statistics, and interpreted results. K-HC, N-KW, C-TC, L-AL, and H-HC participated in manuscript drafting. C-YH, Y-AL, and JJ-CL supervised the study. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Funding

This research was funded by the Ministry of Science and Technology, Taiwan (grant number MOST 110-2314-B-182-062) and Chang Gung Medical Foundation, Taiwan (grant numbers CMRPG1H0061-63, CORPG1L0011, CORPG1I0021).

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank Pei-Chi Yang and Yu-Chan Liao (Department of Family Medicine, Chang Gung Memorial Hospital, Taipei and Linkou Main Branches, Taoyuan, Taiwan, ROC) for their administrative assistance.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fmed.2022.930165/full#supplementary-material

References

1. Blake H, Bermingham F, Johnson G, Tabner A. Mitigating the psychological impact of COVID-19 on healthcare workers: a digital learning package. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2020) 17:2997. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17092997

2. Walton M, Murray E, Christian MD. Mental health care for medical staff and affiliated healthcare workers during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Eur Heart J Acute Cardiovasc Care.* (2020) 9:241–7.

3. Brum MCB, Dantas Filho FF, Schnorr CC, Bertoletti OA, Bottega GB, da Costa Rodrigues T. Night shift work, short sleep and obesity. *Diabetol Metab Syndr.* (2020) 12:13.

4. Wang Y, Yu L, Gao Y, Jiang L, Yuan L, Wang P, et al. Association between shift work or long working hours with metabolic syndrome: a systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis of observational studies. *Chronobiol Int.* (2021) 38:318–33.

5. Lee JG, Kim GH, Jung SW, Kim SW, Lee JH, Lee KJ. The association between long working hours and work-related musculoskeletal symptoms of Korean wage workers: data from the fourth Korean working conditions survey (a crosssectional study). *Ann Occup Environ Med.* (2018) 30:67. doi: 10.1186/s40557-018-0 278-0

6. Cheng WJ, Cheng Y. Night shift and rotating shift in association with sleep problems, burnout and minor mental disorder in male and female employees. *Occup Environ Med.* (2017) 74:483–8. doi: 10.1136/oemed-2016-103898

7. Zhao Y, Richardson A, Poyser C, Butterworth P, Strazdins L, Leach LS. Shift work and mental health: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int Arch Occup Environ Health.* (2019) 92:763–93.

8. Silva-Costa A, Rotenberg L, Coeli CM, Nobre AA, Griep RH. Night work is associated with glycemic levels and anthropometric alterations preceding diabetes: baseline results from ELSA-Brasil. *Chronobiol Int.* (2016) 33:64–72. doi: 10.3109/07420528.2015.1115765

9. Zhao I, Bogossian F, Turner C. A cross-sectional analysis of the association between night-only or rotating shift work and overweight/obesity among female nurses and midwives. *J Occup Environ Med.* (2012) 54:834–40.

10. Ko SB. Night shift work, sleep quality, and obesity. J Lifestyle Med. (2013) 3:110–6.

11. Kivimäki M, Singh-Manoux A, Nyberg S, Jokela M, Virtanen M. Job strain and risk of obesity: systematic review and meta-analysis of cohort studies. *Int J Obes.* (2015) 39:1597–600. doi: 10.1038/ijo.2015.103

12. Norrbäck M, De Munter J, Tynelius P, Ahlström G, Rasmussen F. The association of mobility disability, weight status and job strain: a crosssectional study. *Scand J Public Health.* (2016) 44:311–9. doi: 10.1177/14034948156 18112

13. Muenster E, Rueger H, Ochsmann E, Letzel S, Toschke AM. Association between overweight, obesity and self-perceived job insecurity in German employees. *BMC Public Health.* (2011) 11:162. doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-11-162

14. D'Ettorre G, Pellicani V, Greco M, Mazzotta M, Vullo A. Assessing and managing the shift work disorder in healthcare workers. *Med Lav.* (2018) 109:144–50.

15. Salari N, Khazaie H, Hosseinian-Far A, Khaledi-Paveh B, Kazeminia M, Mohammadi M, et al. The prevalence of stress, anxiety and depression within front-line healthcare workers caring for COVID-19 patients: a systematic review and meta-regression. *Hum Resour Health.* (2020) 18:100. doi: 10.1186/s12960-020-00544-1

16. Brand SL, Thompson Coon J, Fleming LE, Carroll L, Bethel A, Wyatt K. Whole-system approaches to improving the health and wellbeing of healthcare workers: a systematic review. *PLoS One.* (2017) 12:e0188418. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0188418

17. Proper KI, van Oostrom SH. The effectiveness of workplace health promotion interventions on physical and mental health outcomes – a systematic review of reviews. *Scand J Work Environ Health.* (2019) 45:546–59.

18. Chen L, Hannon PA, Laing SS, Kohn MJ, Clark K, Pritchard S, et al. Perceived workplace health support is associated with employee productivity. *Am J Health Promot.* (2015) 29:139–46.

19. Eng JY, Moy FM, Bulgiba A. Impact of a workplace health promotion program on employees' blood pressure in a public university. *PLoS One.* (2016) 11:e0148307. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0148307

20. Fronstin P, Roebuck MC. Financial incentives, workplace wellness program participation, and utilization of health care services and spending. *EBRI Issue Brief.* (2015) 417:1–23.

21. Nelson CC, Allen JD, McLellan D, Pronk N, Davis KL. Integrating health promotion and occupational safety and health in manufacturing worksites: perspectives of leaders in small-to-medium sized businesses. *Work.* (2015) 52:169–76. doi: 10.3233/WOR-152038

22. Pereira MJ, Coombes BK, Comans TA, Johnston V. The impact of onsite workplace health-enhancing physical activity interventions on worker productivity: a systematic review. *Occup Environ Med.* (2015) 72:401–12. doi: 10. 1136/oemed-2014-102678

23. Otto AK, Bischoff LL, Wollesen B. Work-related burdens and requirements for health promotion programs for nursing staff in different care settings: a cross-sectional study. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2019) 16:3586. doi: 10.3390/ ijerph16193586

24. Moberg LL, Lunde LK, Koch M, Tveter AT, Veiersted KB. Association between VO_{2max} , handgrip strength, and musculoskeletal pain among construction and health care workers. *BMC public health*. (2017) 17:272. doi: 10.1186/s12889-017-4173-3

25. Rongen A, Robroek SJW, van Lenthe FJ, Burdorf A. Workplace health promotion: a meta-analysis of effectiveness. Am J Prev Med. (2013) 44:406–15.

26. Malik SH, Blake H, Suggs LS. A systematic review of workplace health promotion interventions for increasing physical activity. *Br J Health Psychol*. (2014) 19:149–80.

27. Pieper C, Schroer S, Eilerts AL. Evidence of workplace interventions-a systematic review of systematic reviews. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2019) 16:3553.

28. Osilla KC, Van Busum K, Schnyer C, Larkin JW, Eibner C, Mattke S. Systematic review of the impact of worksite wellness programs. *Am J Manag Care.* (2012) 18:e68–81.

29. Reif J, Chan D, Jones D, Payne L, Molitor D. Effects of a workplace wellness program on employee health, health beliefs, and medical use: a randomized clinical trial. *JAMA Intern Med.* (2020) 180:952–60.

30. Patti A, Zangla D, Sahin FN, Cataldi S, Lavanco G, Palma A, et al. Physical exercise and prevention of falls. Effects of a pilates training method compared with a general physical activity program: a randomized controlled trial. *Medicine (Baltimore)*. (2021) 100:e25289. doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000000 25289

31. Abdin S, Welch RK, Byron-Daniel J, Meyrick J. The effectiveness of physical activity interventions in improving well-being across office-based workplace settings: a systematic review. *Public Health.* (2018) 160:70–6. doi: 10.1016/j.puhe. 2018.03.029

32. Chew NWS, Lee GKH, Tan BYQ, Jing M, Goh Y, Ngiam NJH, et al. A multinational, multicentre study on the psychological outcomes and associated physical symptoms amongst healthcare workers during COVID-19 outbreak. *Brain Behav Immun.* (2020) 88:559–65. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2020.04.049

33. Pappa S, Ntella V, Giannakas T, Giannakoulis VG, Papoutsi E, Katsaounou P. Prevalence of depression, anxiety, and insomnia among healthcare workers during the COVID-19 pandemic: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Brain Behav Immun.* (2020) 88:901–7.

34. Gholami M, Fawad I, Shadan S, Rowaiee R, Ghanem H, Hassan Khamis A, et al. COVID-19 and healthcare workers: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int J Infect Dis.* (2021) 104:335–46.

35. Biswas N, Mustapha T, Khubchandani J, Price JH. The nature and extent of COVID-19 vaccination hesitancy in healthcare workers. *J Commun Health.* (2021) 46:1244–51. doi: 10.1007/s10900-021-00984-3

36. Lustig Y, Zuckerman N, Nemet I, Atari N, Kliker L, Regev-Yochay G, et al. Neutralising capacity against Delta (B.1.617.2) and other variants of concern following Comirnaty (BNT162b2, BioNTech/Pfizer) vaccination in health care workers, Israel. *Euro Surveill.* (2021) 26:2100557. doi: 10.2807/1560-7917.ES.2021. 26.26.2100557

37. Sahebi A, Nejati-Zarnaqi B, Moayedi S, Yousefi K, Torres M, Golitaleb M. The prevalence of anxiety and depression among healthcare workers during the COVID-19 pandemic: an umbrella review of meta-analyses. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry.* (2021) 107:110247.

38. Saragih ID, Tonapa SI, Saragih IS, Advani S, Batubara SO, Suarilah I, et al. Global prevalence of mental health problems among healthcare workers during the Covid-19 pandemic: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int J Nurs Stud.* (2021) 121:104002.

39. World Medical Association. World medical association declaration of helsinki: ethical principles for medical research involving human subjects. *JAMA*. (2013) 310:2191–4.

40. Hoffmann TC, Glasziou PP, Boutron I, Milne R, Perera R, Moher D, et al. Better reporting of interventions: template for intervention description and replication (TIDieR) checklist and guide. *BMJ*. (2014) 348:g1687.

41. Health Promotion Administration, Ministry of Health and Welfare. *Evidences-based Guideline on Adult Obesity Prevention and Management*. Taipei City: Health Promotion Administration, Ministry of Health and Welfare (2018).

42. Chang C-J, Wu C, Chang C, Yao W, Yang Y, Wu J, et al. Low body mass index but high percent body fat in Taiwanese subjects: implications of obesity cutoffs. *Int J Obes.* (2003) 27:253–9. doi: 10.1038/sj.ijo.802197

43. World Health Organization. *The Asia-Pacific perspective: redefining obesity and its treatment*. Geneva: World Health Organization (2000).

44. Godin G, Kok G. The theory of planned behavior: a review of its applications to health-related behaviors. *Am J Health Promot.* (1996) 11:87–98.

45. Zimny M, Starczewska M, Szkup M, Cybulska A, Grochans E. Body composition and biological functioning in polish perimenopausal women with type 2 diabetes. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2021) 18:11422. doi: 10.3390/ijerph182111422

46. Ministry of Education. *Measures for the Implementation of Physical Fitness Testing in Taiwan*. (2018). Available online at: https://edu.law.moe.gov.tw/ LawContent.aspx?id=GL000769s (accessed April 20, 2022).

47. Chiu LL, Chen TW, Hsieh SS, Hsieh LL. ACE I/D, ACTN3 R577X, PPARD T294C and PPARGC1A Gly482Ser polymorphisms and physical fitness in Taiwanese late adolescent girls. *J Physiol Sci.* (2012) 62:115–21. doi: 10.1007/s12576-011-0189-0

48. Peng HT, Khuat CT, Kernozek TW, Wallace BJ, Lo SL, Song CY. Optimum drop jump height in division III athletes: under 75% of vertical jump height. *Int J Sports Med.* (2017) 38:842–6. doi: 10.1055/s-0043-114011

49. Hsu WH, Chen CL, Kuo LT, Fan CH, Lee MS, Hsu RW. The relationship between health-related fitness and quality of life in postmenopausal women from Southern Taiwan. *Clin Interv Aging.* (2014) 9:1573–9. doi: 10.2147/CIA.S66310

50. Kao FC, Lai PL, Chang CH, Tsai TT, Fu TS, Niu CC, et al. Influence of lumbar curvature and rotation on forward flexibility in idiopathic scoliosis. *Biomed J.* (2014) 37:78–83. doi: 10.4103/2319-4170.113182

51. Ministry of Education. *The 3-Minute Stepping Fitness Test Republic of China (Taiwan)*. (2013). Available online at: https://www.fitness.org.tw/measure06.php (accessed April 20, 2022).

52. Dobbins M, Husson H, DeCorby K, LaRocca RL. School-based physical activity programs for promoting physical activity and fitness in children and adolescents aged 6 to 18. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* (2013) 2013:Cd007651.

53. Orrow G, Kinmonth AL, Sanderson S, Sutton S. Effectiveness of physical activity promotion based in primary care: systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. *BMJ*. (2012) 344:e1389.

54. Richards J, Hillsdon M, Thorogood M, Foster C. Face-to-face interventions for promoting physical activity. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* (2013) 9:Cd010392.

55. Vissers D, Hens W, Taeymans J, Baeyens JP, Poortmans J, Van Gaal L. The effect of exercise on visceral adipose tissue in overweight adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS One.* (2013) 8:e56415. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0056415

56. Zeger K-YLSL. Longitudinal data analysis using generalized linear models. *Biometrika*. (1986) 73:13-22.

57. Disseldorp LM, Mouton LJ, Van der Woude LHV, Van Brussel M, Nieuwenhuis MK. Anthropometry, muscular strength and aerobic capacity up to 5 years after pediatric burns. *Burns*. (2015) 41:1839–46. doi: 10.1016/j.burns.2015.08. 025

58. Herring LY, Wagstaff C, Scott A. The efficacy of 12 weeks supervised exercise in obesity management. *Clin Obes.* (2014) 4:220–7.

59. Whyte E, Burke A, White E, Moran K. A high-intensity, intermittent exercise protocol and dynamic postural control in men and women. *J Athletic Train.* (2015) 50:392–9. doi: 10.4085/1062-6050-49.6.08

60. Lane AD, Yan H, Ranadive SM, Kappus RM, Sun P, Cook MD, et al. Sex differences in ventricular-vascular coupling following endurance training. *Eur J Appl Physiol.* (2014) 114:2597–606. doi: 10.1007/s00421-014-2981-z

61. Schulz AJ, Israel BA, Mentz GB, Bernal C, Caver D, DeMajo R, et al. Effectiveness of a walking group intervention to promote physical activity and cardiovascular health in predominantly non-Hispanic black and Hispanic urban neighborhoods: findings from the walk your heart to health intervention. *Health Educ Behav.* (2015) 42:380–92. doi: 10.1177/1090198114560015

62. Saint-Maurice PF, Coughlan D, Kelly SP, Keadle SK, Cook MB, Carlson SA, et al. Association of leisure-time physical activity across the adult life course

with all-cause and cause-specific mortality. JAMA Netw Open. (2019) 2:e190355. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2019.0355

63. Staiano AE, Marker AM, Beyl RA, Hsia DS, Katzmarzyk PT, Newton RL. A randomized controlled trial of dance exergaming for exercise training in overweight and obese adolescent girls. *Pediatr Obes*. (2017) 12:120–8.

64. Sanal E, Ardic F, Kirac S. Effects of aerobic or combined aerobic resistance exercise on body composition in overweight and obese adults: gender differences. A randomized intervention study. *Eur J Phys Rehabil Med.* (2013) 49:1–11.

65. Buchvold HV, Pallesen S, Øyane NM, Bjorvatn B. Associations between night work and BMI, alcohol, smoking, caffeine and exercise-a cross-sectional study. *BMC Public Health.* (2015) 15:1112. doi: 10.1186/s12889-015-2470-2

66. Proper KI, van de Langenberg D, Rodenburg W, Vermeulen RCH, van der Beek AJ, van Steeg H, et al. The relationship between shift work and metabolic risk factors: a systematic review of longitudinal studies. *Am J Prev Med.* (2016) 50:e147-57.

67. Siqueria K, Griep R, Rotenberg L, Silva-Costa A, Mendes da Fonseca Mde J. Weight gain and body mass index following change from daytime to night shift – a panel study with nursing professionals. *Chronobiol Int.* (2016) 33:776–9. doi: 10.3109/07420528.2016.1167719

68. Zapka JM, Lemon SC, Magner RP, Hale J. Lifestyle behaviours and weight among hospital-based nurses. J Nurs Manag. (2009) 17:853-60.

69. Reutrakul S, Knutson KL. Consequences of circadian disruption on cardiometabolic health. *Sleep Med Clin.* (2015) 10:455–68.

70. Tada Y, Kawano Y, Maeda I, Yoshizaki T, Sunami A, Yokoyama Y, et al. Association of body mass index with lifestyle and rotating shift work in Japanese female nurses. *Obesity (Silver Spring, Md).* (2014) 22:2489–93. doi: 10.1002/oby. 20908

71. Rojatz D, Merchant A, Nitsch M. Factors influencing workplace health promotion intervention: a qualitative systematic review. *Health Promot Int.* (2017) 32:831–9.

72. Ilvig PM, Bredahl TVG, Justesen JB, Jones D, Lundgaard JB, Sogaard K, et al. Attendance barriers experienced by female health care workers voluntarily participating in a multi-component health promotion programme at the workplace. *BMC public health*. (2018) 18:1340. doi: 10.1186/s12889-018-6254-3

73. Galante J, Friedrich C, Dawson AF, Modrego-Alarcon M, Gebbing P, Delgado-Suarez I, et al. Mindfulness-based programmes for mental health promotion in adults in nonclinical settings: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. *PLoS Med.* (2021) 18:e1003481. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1003481

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Tatsunori Ikemoto, Aichi Medical University, Japan

REVIEWED BY

Sang Yeoup Lee, Pusan National University Yangsan Hospital, South Korea Natalia Sharashkina, Pirogov Russian National Research Medical University, Russia

*CORRESPONDENCE

Wenjing Zhao zhaowj@sustech.edu.cn Hai Deng doctordh@hotmail.com Xudong Liu xdliu.cn@hotmail.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Family Medicine and Primary Care, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

RECEIVED 15 April 2022 ACCEPTED 08 August 2022 PUBLISHED 30 August 2022

CITATION

Hu P, Zheng M, Huang J, Fan H-Y, Fan C-J, Ruan H-H, Yuan Y-S, Zhao W, Wang HHX, Deng H and Liu X (2022) Effect of healthy lifestyle index and lifestyle patterns on the risk of mortality: A community-based cohort study. *Front. Med.* 9:920760. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2022.920760

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Hu, Zheng, Huang, Fan, Fan, Ruan, Yuan, Zhao, Wang, Deng and Liu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License

(CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Effect of healthy lifestyle index and lifestyle patterns on the risk of mortality: A community-based cohort study

Peng Hu^{1,2†}, Murui Zheng^{3†}, Jun Huang^{4†}, Huan-Ying Fan⁵, Chun-Jiang Fan⁶, Hui-Hong Ruan⁷, Yue-Shuang Yuan⁵, Wenjing Zhao⁸*, Harry H. X. Wang^{2,9}, Hai Deng¹⁰* and Xudong Liu¹*

¹School of Public Health, Guangdong Pharmaceutical University, Guangzhou, China, ²Department of Epidemiology, School of Public Health, Sun Yat-sen University, Guangzhou, China, ³Guangzhou Center for Disease Control and Prevention, Guangzhou, China, ⁴Department of Geriatrics, Guangdong Provincial People's Hospital, Institute of Geriatrics, Guangdong Academy of Medical Science, Guangzhou, China, ⁵Xinzao Hospital of Guangzhou Panyu District, Guangzhou, China, ⁶Community Health Service Center of Nancun Town, Guangzhou, China, ⁷Community Health Service Center of Hualong Town, Guangzhou, China, ⁸School of Public Health and Emergency Management, Southern University of Science and Technology, Shenzhen, China, ⁹JC School of Public Health and Primary Care, The Chinese University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong, Hong Kong SAR, China, ¹⁰Department of Cardiology, Guangdong Provincial People's Hospital, Guangdong Cardiovascular Institute, Guangdong Academy of Medical Science, Guangzhou, China

Background: Limited evidence was available on the association of the integrated effect of multidimensional lifestyle factors with mortality among Chinese populations. This cohort study was to examine the effect of combined lifestyle factors on the risk of mortality by highlighting the number of healthy lifestyles and their overall effects.

Methods: A total of 11,395 participants from the Guangzhou Heart Study (GZHS) were followed up until 1 January 2020. Individual causes of death were obtained from the platform of the National Death Registry of China. The healthy lifestyle index (HLI) was established from seven dimensions of lifestyle, and lifestyle patterns were extracted from eight dimensions of lifestyle using principal component analysis (PCA). Hazard ratios (HRs) and 95% confidence intervals (95% CIs) were estimated using the Cox proportional hazard regression model.

Results: During 35,837 person-years of follow-up, 184 deaths (1.61%) were observed, including 64 from cardiovascular disease. After adjustment for confounders, HLI was associated with a 50% (HR: 0.50, 95% CI: 0.25–0.99) reduced risk of all-cause mortality when comparing the high (6–7 lifestyle factors) with low (0–2 lifestyle factors) categories. Three lifestyle patterns were defined and labeled as pattern I, II, and III. Lifestyle pattern II with higher factor loadings of non-smoking and low-level alcohol drinking was associated with a decreased risk of all-cause mortality (HR: 0.63, 95% CI: 0.43–0.92, $P_{-\text{trend}} = 0.023$) when comparing the high with low tertiles of pattern score, after adjustment for confounders. Every 1-unit increment of pattern II score

was associated with a decreased risk (HR: 0.97, 95% CI: 0.95–0.99) of all-cause mortality. The other two patterns were not associated with all-cause mortality, and the association of cardiovascular mortality risk was observed with neither HLI nor any lifestyle pattern.

Conclusion: The results suggest that the more dimensions of the healthy lifestyle the lower the risk of death, and adherence to the lifestyle pattern characterized with heavier loading of non-smoking and low-level alcohol drinking reduces the risk of all-cause mortality. The findings highlight the need to consider multi-dimensional lifestyles rather than one when developing health promotion strategies.

KEYWORDS

lifestyle, healthy lifestyle index, lifestyle pattern, mortality, cohort study

Introduction

Non-communicable diseases (NCDs) have encroached on many low- and middle-income countries, and become the leading cause of death worldwide (1). Available evidence suggested that lifestyle factors were associated with multiple NCDs (2), and adherence to a healthy lifestyle was associated with a lower risk of NCDs and mortality (3–8). Meanwhile, multiple lifestyle risk factors may have a synergistic effect on adverse health outcomes (9, 10). Hence, reducing exposure to lifestyle risk factors is of great significance for public health prevention and medical resource allocation (11).

Many studies have constructed healthy lifestyle scores to reflect the combined impact of major lifestyle factors, including smoking, alcohol consumption, body mass index (BMI), unhealthy diet, and physical inactivity, on mortality (12-14). A systematic review and meta-analysis found that adherence to the healthiest lifestyles was associated with a 55 and 58% reduced risk of all-cause mortality and cardiovascular mortality, respectively, compared with the least-healthy lifestyles (15). However, other unmentioned factors may also play a significant role in mortality risk. For instance, sleep is a critical bodily function (16), and poor sleep quality has been identified as a risk factor for many adverse health outcomes, such as allcause mortality, cardiovascular death, etc. (17-19). The mental state is also an important aspect of health, and people with mental disorders have a higher risk of death (20, 21). Pratt and colleagues found that people with anxiety and depression had significantly high mortality than people without such mental disorders (21). In addition, current research mainly reflected the overall impact of lifestyle through the number of lifestyle factors, while ignoring the possible interactions between each factor. Principal component analysis (PCA) is an effective approach to reflect the combined effect of different components by generating different patterns, and using such an approach can avoid ignoring the interaction between some components (22). The human lifestyle is a complex whole with multiple dimensions, and it is important to consider as many of these dimensions as possible when quantifying lifestyle and assessing its impact on health.

Therefore, this prospective cohort study aimed to examine the combined effect of major lifestyle factors, including leisure-time physical activity (LTPA), diet, BMI, smoking, alcohol drinking, sleep quality, and mental status (anxiety, and depression), on the risk of all-cause and cardiovascular mortality, by establishing a healthy lifestyle index (HLI) to reflect the number of healthy lifestyle components and generating the lifestyle patterns to reflect the whole lifestyle profile.

Materials and methods

Study population

Guangzhou Heart Study (GZHS) is an ongoing prospective population-based cohort study in South China. Details of GZHS can be seen in our previous reports (23–25). Briefly, a total of 12,013 permanent residents aged 35 years or more were enrolled using the multistage sampling method; the baseline survey was successfully conducted between July 2015 and August 2017. Participants included met the following criteria: permanent residents in Guangzhou, aged 35 years or older, and had lived in the selected communities for at least 6 months before the survey. Participants with incomplete information of covariates (19 participants) or with a history of cardiovascular diseases including atrial fibrillation, heart failure, myocardial infarction, and valvular heart disease (589 participants) were excluded. Finally, a total of 11,395 participants were available for further analysis. This study was approved by the Guangzhou Medical Ethics Committee of the Chinese Medical Association and by the Ethical Review Committee for Biomedical Research, School of Public Health, Sun Yat-sen University. The study was performed in line with the Declaration of Helsinki and all participants provided informed consent.

Outcome ascertainment

The outcome of interest was all-cause mortality and cardiovascular mortality. Individual causes of death up to 1 January 2020 were collected from China's National Death Registry, Guangzhou Center for Disease Control and Prevention. The follow-up time was defined as the time from participation in the GZHS to the date of the decedent's death or to the censoring date (1 January 2020) for survivors. The causes of death were coded by professional medical workers according to the 10th revision of the International Classification of Disease and were further classified as allcause death and death from cardiovascular diseases (I00-I99).

Assessment of lifestyle factors

Structured questionnaires were used to collect information on social demographics, lifestyle, and disease history by using face-to-face interviews. The social demographics included age (years), sex (male, female), education (<high school, high school, >high school), and marital status (married, others). The medical examination was performed on each participant; height and weight were measured to calculate BMI (kg/m²); a normal BMI was defined as BMI in the range of 18.5–23.9 kg/m² according to the Chinese standard (26), otherwise as unhealthy BMI.

The exposure information on cigarette smoking and alcohol drinking was collected using a structured questionnaire. For cigarette smoking, participants who have never smoked or smoked < 100 cigarettes in their lifetime were classified as non-smokers, and those who have currently smoked or smoked \geq 100 cigarettes in their lifetime were classified as smokers. For alcohol drinking, participants were asked to report their drinking status. Participants who reported "frequent drinking" were considered as high-level alcohol drinking, and those who reported "never drinking or alcohol cessation" or "occasional drinking" were considered as low-level alcohol drinking.

Dietary consumption from each participant was collected using a 22-item food frequency questionnaire (FFQ) (24). Participants were asked to report their intake frequency of each food item (<once per month, 1-3 times per month, 1-3 times per week, 4–6 times per week, and \geq once per day) over the previous 12 months. A total of 12 major food items in FFQ (cereals, legumes, vegetables, fruit, dairy, nuts, fish and shrimps, poultry, red meat, fried foods, high-salt foods, and sugary beverages) were used to create a diet quality score based on the latest Chinese Dietary Guidelines (27). First, a point was assigned to each category of the intake frequency (Supplementary Table 1): for cereals, fruit, dairy, and nuts, 0, 2, 4, 6, and 8 points were assigned to < once a month, 1–3 times a month, 1-3 times a week, 4-6 times a week, and 1-6 times a day, respectively; for legumes, vegetables, fish and shrimps, and poultry, 0, 1, 2, 3, and 4 were assigned to < once a month, 1–3 times a month, 1-3 times a week, 4-6 times a week, and 1-6 times a day respectively; for red meat, fried food, high-salted food, and sugary beverages, 8, 6, 4, 2, and 0 points were assigned to < once a month, 1–3 times a month, 1–3 times a week, 4–6 times a week, and 1-6 times a day, respectively (6, 28). Then, the total score for the diet quality was equal to the sum of points of 12 selected food items. Accordingly, the diet quality score ranged from 0 (lowest) to 80 (highest). If the dietary quality score for a participant was 50 points or more (in the upper two-fifths of all participants), then this participant was considered to have a healthy diet, otherwise have an unhealthy diet.

LTPA was evaluated by a modified Global Physical Activity Questionnaire (29). The total volume of LTPA for each subject was calculated as the sum of volumes of eight categories of most common LTPA including Tai Chi/Qigong, housework, stroll, bicycling, brisk walking/exercises/Yangko, swimming, ball games (basketball, table tennis, badminton, etc.), long-distance running/aerobics dancing. The value of each LTPA was calculated by multiplying the duration of activity by its frequency and then by its intensity (quantified by the value of metabolic equivalent, MET). More details on the assessment of physical activity can be seen in our previous report (25). According to the guidelines on physical activity by World Health Organization (WHO), to attain substantial health benefits, adults should do at least 150-300 min of moderate-intensity aerobic physical activity, or at least 75-150 min of vigorous-intensity aerobic physical activity, or an equivalent combination of moderate- and vigorous-intensity activity throughout the week (30); this means that conducting activity with at least 10 MET-hours/week is suggested to reach the minimum level of the recommended standard (30).

Sleep quality was assessed with two questions (17). The participants were asked to answer the question "Did you feel tired after waking up in the morning?" If the response of a participant was "yes," then the participant was further required to report the frequency of tiredness after waking up in the morning during the past year, with five choices of "every day," "3–4 times per week," "1–2 times per week," "1–2 times per month," and "never." The participants were considered as

having poor sleep quality if their choice were "every day" or "3–4 times per week"; otherwise, the participants were regarded as having good sleep quality.

Mental status including anxiety and depression were evaluated by the Self-Rating Anxiety Scale (SAS) and the Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale (CES-D) (31, 32). The SAS index score ranged from 25 to 100 and a participant with a SAS index score ≥ 45 was considered as having anxiety. The CES-D score ranges from 0 to 60 and a participant with ≥ 16 was considered as having depression. Because the number of participants with depression in our study was small, when establishing the HLI, the participants who had either anxiety neurosis or depression were classified as having an unhealthy mental status, otherwise as having a healthy mental status.

Healthy lifestyle index establishment

The detail of the definition of the HLI was shown in Table 1. The HLI was established by using seven dominant factors including BMI, cigarette smoking, alcohol drinking, dietary quality, LTPA, sleep quality, and mental status. These factors were shown as dichotomous variables, and the definitions of these variables were mentioned above. The score for each lifestyle factor was defined as follows: BMI (1 = normal BMI, 0 = unhealthy BMI), alcohol drinking (1 = low-level alcohol drinking, 0 = high-level alcohol drinking), cigarette smoking (1 = non-smoker, 0 = smoker), diet quality (1 = healthy diet, 1 = healthy diet)0 = unhealthy diet), LTPA (1 = reach the minimum level of the recommended standard by WHO, 0 = not reach the minimum level of the recommended standard by WHO), sleep quality (1 = good sleep quality, 0 = poor sleep quality), and mental status (1 = unhealthy mental status, 0 = healthy mental status). The total score for HLI was calculated as the sum of the scores of seven selected factors. The score for HLI ranged from zero to seven (healthiest) points. The HLI was further transformed to the categorical variable: low (0-2 score), moderate (3-5 score), and high (6-7 score).

Lifestyle pattern extraction

The lifestyle pattern was extracted by using the PCA with the varimax-rotated transformation from eight lifestyle components: BMI, diet quality, LTPA, depression (CES-D score), anxiety (SAS index score), cigarette smoking, alcohol drinking, and sleep quality. To perform the PCA, the categorical variables of cigarette smoking, alcohol drinking, and sleep quality were transformed into the continuous variable. For cigarette smoking, a score of 1 and 0 was assigned to the non-smoker and the smoker, respectively; for alcohol drinking, a score of 1 and 0 was assigned to the low-level alcohol drinking and the high-level alcohol drinking, respectively; for sleep

quality, a simple score was assigned to each category of the frequency of tiredness after waking up in the morning during the past year: 1 = "every day," 2 = "3-4 times per week," 4 = "1-2 times per week," 5 = "never."

PCA used the correlation matrix of different lifestyle factors to identify common patterns of lifestyle factors within the data to account for the largest amount of variation in lifestyle. The varimax rotation is a statistical technique used to evaluate the relationship among individual factors (22). The Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin (KMO) criterion and Bartlett's test of sphericity were used to evaluate the suitability of using the data for PCA (22). A positive loading for a lifestyle component indicated a direct association with the pattern, while a negative loading showed that this lifestyle component inversely contributed to the pattern. The components in each lifestyle pattern with absolute rotated factor loadings of \geq 0.40 were referred to as "dominant components" hereafter.

Three lifestyle patterns were finally extracted and labeled as pattern I, pattern II, and pattern III (**Supplementary Table 2**). The pattern I was characterized with a higher loading of sleep quality, anxiety, and depression, explaining about 37.7% of total variance; Pattern II was characterized with a higher loading of low-level alcohol drinking and non-smoker, explaining about 32.8% of the total variance; Pattern III was characterized with a higher loading of low-level alcohol drinking and non-smoker, explaining about 32.8% of the total variance; Pattern III was characterized with a higher loading of LTPA, BMI, and diet quality, explaining about 29.5% of the total variance. The score of each pattern was calculated with the weighted approach by using rotated loadings as the weight (33): pattern score = $\sum_{1}^{21} variable_i weight_i$; *variable* represents each item; *weight* means the factor loading. Then the score of each pattern was transformed to categorical variables by using the tertile method.

Statistical analysis

The distribution of baseline social-demographics, lifestyle factors, and other covariables was depicted and the difference among different groups was examined by chi-square test for a categorical variable and *t*-test, or Wilcoxon rank-sum test, or Kruskal-Wallis rank-sum test, or one-way analysis of variance for a continuous variable.

Cox proportional hazard regression model was performed to estimate the hazard ratio (HR) and their 95% confidence interval (Cl) before and after adjustment for confounders, to demonstrate the effects of individual lifestyle factors, HLI, and three lifestyle patterns on all-cause mortality and cardiovascular mortality. The proportional hazard assumption was examined using the Schoenfeld residuals method, and no significant violation of the assumption was observed. The linear exposureresponse trend was examined by using Wald statistic.

Two sensitivity analyses were conducted to test the robustness of the results. To eliminate the possible effect of weight loss secondary to preclinical diseases, we excluded the participants with a BMI below 18.5 kg/m². To exclude the possibility of reverse causality, we excluded participants who died within the first year after they finished the baseline survey. A product term between sex and HLI or each lifestyle pattern was added in the model to evaluate the possible multiplicative interaction by using the likelihood ratio test; however, no significant interaction was observed. All analyses were performed with R 4.0.1 (R Development Core Team, Vienna, Austria); the tests were two-tailed, and a *P*-value of less than 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Results

During 35,837 person-years of follow-up, 184 deaths (1.61%) were observed, including 64 deaths from cardiovascular disease. As shown in **Table 2**, of all subjects, the mean (*SD*) of age, BMI, diet quality, CES-D score, and SAS index score was 58.36 (11.70) years, 23.97 (3.53) kg/m², 48.78 (7.55), 11.95 (2.42), and 43.91 (3.16), respectively. The median (IQR) value of LTPA was 34.65 (41.50) MET-h/week. Most participants were females (65.41%), with an education less than high school (63.0%), married (85.27%), non-smokers (79.61%), and never or occasion drinkers (94.01%).

Individuals with higher HLI were more likely to be female and married (**Supplementary Table 3**). The proportion of participants with the higher education level increased with the increase of the HLI. With the increase of the HLI, participants had a higher level of healthy diet quality, LTPA, sleep quality, and mental health, and a higher proportion of normal BMI, nonsmoking, and non-drinking. The means of lifestyle pattern II score and pattern III score were significantly higher in the lived group (P < 0.05), while both lived and death groups had a similar score of lifestyle pattern I (P > 0.05) (**Supplementary Table 4**).

As shown in **Table 3**, participants with good sleep quality were associated with a 38% (HR: 0.62, 95% CI: 0.43–0.91) reduced risk of all-cause mortality after adjustment for confounders. No significant association was observed between sleep quality and cardiovascular mortality risk. Other individual factors were not observed to be associated with the risk of all-cause and cardiovascular mortality.

Table 4 shows the association of HLI with mortality risk. In comparison to the subjects within the low category of the HLI, those within both the moderate category (HR: 0.48, 95% CI: 0.25–0.93) and the high category (HR: 0.50, 95% CI: 0.25–0.99) were associated with a reduced risk of all-cause mortality after adjustment for confounders. However, no significant association was observed between HLI and cardiovascular mortality risk.

When comparing the highest with lowest tertiles of pattern score, lifestyle pattern II was associated with a 37% (HR: 0.63,

TABLE 1 The definition of the healthy lifestyle index.

Variable	Points	Description
Diet quality		
	0	Unhealthy diet: dietary quality score < 50
	1	Healthy diet: dietary quality score ≥ 50
Body mass index (BMI)		
	0	Unhealthy BMI: overweight or obese $(BMI < 18.5 \text{ kg/m}^2 \text{ or } BMI \geq 24 \text{ kg/m}^2)$
	1	Normal BMI: normal weight $(18.5 \le BMI < 24 \text{ kg/m}^2)$
Cigarette smoking		
Shioking	0	Smoker: current smoker or former smoker (\geq 100 cigarettes)
	1	Non-smoker: never smoker or former smoker (<100 cigarettes)
Alcohol drinking		
	0	High-level: often drinking
	1	Low-level: no drinking or occasionally drinking
leisure-time physical activity (LTPA)		
	0	Unhealthy: did not achieve the minimum level of the recommended standard
	1	Healthy: achieved the minimum level of the recommended standard
Sleep quality		
	0	Unhealthy: Felt tired after waking up in the morning more than 1–2 times per week
	1	Healthy: felt tired after waking up in the morning less than 1–2 times per week
Mental status		
	0	Unhealthy mental status: either anxiety or depression
	1	Healthy mental status: neither anxiety nor depression
Lifestyle index		
	0-2	Low: score of lifestyle index ranged from 0 to 2
	3-5	Moderate: score of lifestyle index ranged from 3 to 5
	6-7	High: score of lifestyle index ranged from 6 to 7

95% CI: 0.43–0.92, $P_{-\text{trend}} = 0.023$) reduced risk of all-cause mortality after adjustment for confounders (**Table 5**). Every 1 score increment of the lifestyle pattern II was associated with a 3% (HR: 0.97, 95% CI: 0.95–0.99) reduced risk of all-cause mortality. No significant association was observed between the other two lifestyle patterns and the risk of all-cause mortality, and between three lifestyle patterns and the risk of cardiovascular mortality.

Two sensitivity analyses were conducted by excluding participants with a BMI lower than 18.5 kg/m2 and by excluding participants who died within the first year during the followup. Similar results as the main analyses were obtained for

TABLE 2 The characteristics of participants.

	Total (<i>N</i> = 11,395)	Lived (<i>N</i> = 11,211)	Death (<i>N</i> = 184)	P-value
Age, years, mean (SD)	58.36 (11.70)	58.16 (11.60)	70.84 (10.98)	< 0.001*
BMI, kg/m ² , mean (SD)	23.97 (3.53)	23.98 (3.53)	23.34 (3.81)	0.026*
LTPA, MET-h, median (interquartile)	34.65 (41.50)	34.65 (41.33)	24.50 (34.91)	$< 0.001^{\dagger}$
Diet quality score, mean (SD)	48.78 (7.55)	48.79 (7.53)	48.02 (8.52)	0.223*
CES-D score, mean (SD)	11.95 (2.42)	11.95 (2.41)	12.00 (3.05)	0.839*
SAS index, mean (SD)	43.91 (3.16)	43.91 (3.16)	43.85 (3.33)	0.811*
Sex, N (%)				$< 0.001^{\ddagger}$
Male	3,941 (34.59)	3,843 (34.28)	98 (53.26)	
Female	7,454 (65.41)	7,368 (65.72)	86 (46.74)	
Education, N (%)				0.002^{\ddagger}
< High school	7,179 (63.00)	7,041 (62.80)	138 (75.00)	
High school	2,750 (24.13)	2,723 (24.29)	27 (14.67)	
>High school	1,466 (12.87)	1,447 (12.91)	19 (10.33)	
Material status, N (%)				$< 0.001^{\ddagger}$
Married	9,716 (85.27)	9,587 (85.51)	129 (70.11)	
Others	1,679 (14.73)	1,624 (14.49)	55 (29.89)	
Diet quality, N (%)				0.438^{\ddagger}
Unhealthy	6,212 (54.52)	6,106 (54.46)	106 (57.61)	
Healthy	5,183 (45.48)	5,105 (45.54)	78 (42.39)	
Cigarette smoking, N (%)				$< 0.001^{\ddagger}$
Smoker	2,324 (20.39)	2,265 (20.20)	59 (32.07)	
Non-smoker	9,071 (79.61)	8,946 (79.80)	125 (67.93)	
Alcohol drinking, N (%)				0.068^{\ddagger}
Low-level	10,713 (94.01)	10,540 (94.01)	173 (94.02)	
High-level	682 (5.99)	671 (5.99)	11 (5.98)	
Mental health, N (%)				0.814^{\ddagger}
Unhealthy	4,275 (37.52)	4,208 (37.53)	67 (36.41)	
Healthy	7,120 (62.48)	7,003 (62.47)	117 (63.59)	
BMI, N (%)				0.888^{\ddagger}
Unhealthy	5,882 (51.62)	5,792 (51.66)	90 (48.91)	
Normal	5,513 (48.38)	5,419 (48.34)	94 (51.09)	
Sleep quality, N (%)				0.214^{\ddagger}
Unhealthy	1,762 (15.46)	1,727 (15.40)	35 (19.02)	
Healthy	9,633 (84.54)	9,484 (84.60)	149 (80.98)	
LTPA, N (%)				0.255 [‡]
Unhealthy	1,677 (14.72)	1,644 (14.66)	33 (17.93)	
Healthy	9,718 (85.28)	9,567 (85.34)	151 (82.07)	

BMI, body mass index; LTPA, leisure-time physical activity; MET-h, metabolic equivalent values-hours.

*P-values of continuous variables were from t-test.

 $^\dagger \textit{P-values}$ of leisure-time physical activity was from Wilcoxon rank sum test.

 $^{\ddagger}P\text{-}values$ of categorical variables were from chi-square tests.

HLI (Supplementary Tables 5, 6) and three lifestyle patterns (Supplementary Tables 7, 8).

Discussion

In this large prospective cohort study, we found that both moderate and high levels of HLI were associated with the

reduced risk of all-cause mortality, and lifestyle pattern II characterized with higher loadings of low-level alcohol drinking and non-smoker was negatively associated with the risk of all-cause mortality, after adjustment for confounders.

The HLI established in this study considered many aspects of the lifestyle as comprehensively as possible. The five factors used in this study—LTPA, cigarette smoking, alcohol drinking, diet quality, and BMI—have also been considered in many other

	All-cause mortality			Cardiovascular mortality		
	N (person- years/death)	Crude HR (95% CI)*	Adjusted HR (95% CI) [†]	N (person- years/death)	Crude HR (95% CI)*	Adjusted HR (95% CI) [†]
Diet quality						
Unhealthy	19,353/106	1.00	1.00	19,353/38	1.00	1.00
Healthy	16,484/78	0.86 (0.64, 1.15)	0.86 (0.63, 1.17)	16,484/26	0.79 (0.48, 1.31)	0.82 (0.49, 1.38)
BMI						
Unhealthy	18,424/90	1.00	1.00	18,424/35	1.00	1.00
Normal	17,413/94	1.10 (0.82, 1.47)	1.11 (0.83, 1.48)	17,413/29	0.87 (0.53, 1.43)	0.90 (0.55, 1.47)
Cigarette smoking						
Smoker	7,290/59	1.00	1.00	7,290/18	1.00	1.00
Non-smoker	28,548/125	0.54 (0.40, 0.74)	0.91 (0.62, 1.32)	28,548/46	0.65 (0.38, 1.12)	0.78 (0.40, 1.54)
Alcohol drinking						
Low-level	2,128/11	1.00	1.00	2,128/1	1.00	1.00
High-level	33,709/173	0.99 (0.54, 1.82)	1.50 (0.80, 2.80)	3,309/63	3.97 (0.55, 28.59)	5.23 (0.71, 38.43)
LTPA						
Unhealthy	5,232/33	1.00	1.00	5,232/14	1.00	1.00
Healthy	30,606/151	0.78 (0.54, 1.14)	0.88 (0.60, 1.29)	30,606/50	0.61 (0.34, 1.10)	0.67 (0.37, 1.23)
Sleep quality						
Unhealthy	5,541/35	1.00	1.00	5,541/9	1.00	1.00
Healthy	30,296/149	0.78 (0.54, 1.13)	0.62 (0.43, 0.91)	30,296/55	1.12 (0.55, 2.26)	0.92 (0.45, 1.89)
Mental health						
Unhealthy	13,297/67	1.00	1.00	13,297/22	1.00	1.00
Healthy	22,541/117	1.02 (0.76, 1.38)	1.11 (0.82, 1.51)	22,541/42	1.12 (0.67, 1.87)	1.24 (0.73, 2.09)

TABLE 3 Association of individual lifestyle factors with mortality.

BMI, body mass index; CI, confidence interval; CVD, cardiovascular disease; HR, hazard ratio; LTPA, leisure-time physical activity; MET-h, metabolic equivalent values-hours.

*Adjustment for age, sex, education, and marital status.

[†]Adjustment for age, sex, education, marital status, and other lifestyle factors.

similar studies (7, 14, 34). In addition, this study also considered sleep quality and mental status, as they were important elements affecting the occurrence and death of chronic diseases (20, 35–38). Consistently, other studies on the combined or overall effects of lifestyle factors had also highlighted the contribution of sleep condition (9, 10, 13, 39) and mental status (9, 10). Our study found that both moderate level (3–5 score) and high level (6–7 score) of HLI decreased the risk of all-cause mortality, which was consistent with many other studies (13, 34, 39). However, the trend test was not reaching significance; this might be due to the limited death cases during a relatively short-time follow-up.

The multicollinearity and potential synergy were often observed among different individual lifestyle factors. The cumulative impact of multiple lifestyle components in a lifestyle pattern may be detectable. PCA is a multivariate technique that evaluates intercorrelations between individual habits or behaviors and has been widely applied in health science (22). In our study, three lifestyle patterns were successfully extracted by using PCA from eight components of non-smoking, lowlevel alcohol drinking, BMI, LTPA, diet quality, sleep quality, the SAS index score, and the CES-D score. We found that lifestyle pattern II which was characterized with higher factor loadings of non-smoking and low-level alcohol drinking was inversely associated with the risk of all-cause mortality, no matter the pattern score was regarded as a continuous variable or as a categorical variable. Similarly, Navarro and colleagues used PCA to extract dietary and lifestyle patterns and found that the pattern with the loadings most heavily on alcohol and cigarette use was associated with an increased risk of esophageal cancer (40); Al Thani et al. found that the pattern characterized by smoking, fast foods, sweetened beverages, and sweets was positively related to the risk of elevated blood pressure (41).

Non-smoking and low-level alcohol drinking are two dominant components of lifestyle pattern II. Literature agreed that cigarette smoking was the risk factor of premature mortality and various diseases including respiratory diseases, CVDs, diabetes, and cancer (42–45). Underlying mechanisms were that burning tobacco cigarettes can produce many chemicals that affect many aspects of human health, such as nicotine, nitrosamines, and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons. Nicotine affects cardiac contractility and heart rate, increases blood pressure, reduces sensitivity to insulin, aggravates diabetes, and results in endothelial dysfunction (46). Nitrosamines and

TABLE 4 Associations of healthy lifestyle index with mortality.

	N (person- years/death)*	Crude HR (95% CI) [†]	Adjusted HR (95% CI) [‡]
All-cause mortality			
Low (0-2 score)	928/10	1.00	1.00
Moderate (3–5 score)	21,460/113	0.49 (0.25, 0.93)	0.48 (0.25, 0.93)
High (6–7 score)	13,449/61	0.42 (0.21, 0.81)	0.50 (0.25, 0.99)
Moderate and high (3–7 score)	34,909/174	0.45 (0.24, 0.87)	0.49 (0.25, 0.93)
P for trend		0.013	0.124
Every 1-score increment		0.88 (0.79, 0.99)	0.95 (0.84, 1.07)
Cardiovascular mortality			
Low (0–2 score)	928/3	1.00	1.00
Moderate (3–5 score)	21,460/40	0.57 (0.18, 1.85)	0.48 (0.15, 1.57)
High (6–7 score)	13,449/21	0.47 (0.14, 1.59)	0.47 (0.14, 1.65)
Moderate and high (3–7 score)	34,909/61	0.53 (0.17, 1.70)	0.48 (0.15, 1.55)
P for trend		0.205	0.344
Every 1-score increment		0.90 (0.74, 1.10)	0.94 (0.76, 1.17)

*N represents the sample size.

[†]Crude HR, without any adjustment.

[‡]Adjusted HR, adjustment for age, sex, marital status, educational status.

polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons are proven as carcinogens and CVD enhancers (47). Regarding low-level alcohol drinking, the Global Burden of Disease Study concluded that zero standard drinks per week minimized the overall health risk (48), namely no level of alcohol consumption improves health (49).

Noteworthy, our results found that high sleep quality was associated with a 38% reduced risk of all-cause mortality, which was consistent with previous studies (17-19). The underlying biological mechanism is that poor sleep quality may induce inflammatory cytokines (50), and inflammation has been associated with the incidence of cancer and CVDs (51, 52). No significant associations of diet quality, BMI, cigarette smoking, alcohol drinking, LTPA, and mental status with mortality were observed in this study. However, we found that combined healthy lifestyle factors decreased the risk of all-cause mortality. The possible reason for such discrepancies may be that when multiple lifestyle factors were combined, the synergistic effect of various components might be greater than the effect of each component (9). This further demonstrates the critical importance of considering a variety of healthy lifestyles when maintaining and promoting health.

This study has several strengths. First, participants from community-dwelling residents were recruited by using the multistage sampling method, which can to some degree TABLE 5 The association of lifestyle patterns with mortality.

Patterns*	N (person- years /death)*	Crude HR (95% CI) [†]	Adjusted HR (95% CI) [‡]
All-cause mortality			
Pattern I			
Tertile 1	12,272/66	1.00	1.00
Tertile 2	11,800/62	0.99 (0.70, 1.40)	1.02 (0.72, 1.45)
Tertile 3	11,766/56	0.90 (0.63, 1.28)	0.91 (0.64, 1.30)
P for trend		0.568	0.621
Every 1-score increment		1.01 (0.97, 1.04)	1.01 (0.97, 1.04)
Pattern II			
Tertile 1	11,860/83	1.00	1.00
Tertile 2	11,939/57	0.68 (0.49, 0.95)	0.76 (0.54, 1.07)
Tertile 3	12,039/44	0.52 (0.36, 0.75)	0.63 (0.43, 0.92)
P for trend		< 0.001	0.023
Every 1-score increment		0.96 (0.94, 0.98)	0.97 (0.95, 0.99)
Pattern III			
Tertile 1	11,812/74	1.00	1.00
Tertile 2	11,952/64	0.85 (0.61, 1.19)	0.90 (0.64, 1.27)
Tertile 3	12,073/46	0.60 (0.42, 0.87)	0.70 (0.48, 1.02)
P for trend		0.007	0.065
Every 1-score increment		0.99 (0.98, 0.99)	0.99 (0.98, 1.00)
Cardiovascular mortality			
Pattern I			
Tertile 1	12,272/26	1.00	1.00
Tertile 2	11,800/21	0.86 (0.48, 1.52)	0.89 (0.50, 1.58)
Tertile 3	11,766/17	0.69 (0.38, 1.28)	0.67 (0.36, 1.23)
P for trend		0.818	0.555
Every 1-score increment		1.01 (0.95, 1.07)	1.00 (0.94, 1.06)
Pattern II			
Tertile 1	11,860/30	1.00	1.00
Tertile 2	11,939/20	0.66 (0.38, 1.17)	0.74 (0.42, 1.31)
Tertile 3	12,039/14	0.46 (0.24, 0.86)	0.54 (0.28, 1.04)
P for trend		0.015	0.063
Every 1-score increment		0.97 (0.94, 0.99)	0.97 (0.94, 1.00)
Pattern III			
Tertile 1	11,812/26	1.00	1.00
Tertile 2	11,952/25	0.91 (0.53, 1.57)	0.99 (0.57, 1.71)
Tertile 3	12,074/13	0.43 (0.22, 0.85)	0.49 (0.25, 1.00)
P for trend		0.015	0.050
Every 1-score increment		0.98 (0.97, 0.99)	0.98 (0.97, 1.01)

*N represents the sample size. The pattern I was characterized with a higher loading of sleep quality, anxiety, and depression; Pattern II was characterized with a higher loading of low-level alcohol drinking and non-smoker; Pattern III was characterized with a higher loading of LTPA, BMI, and diet quality.

[†]Crude HR, without any adjustment.

[‡]Adjusted HR, adjustment for age, sex, marital status, educational status.

minimize or reduce selection bias and ensure the population had better representativeness. Moreover, the questionnaire survey was conducted face to face by strictly trained investigators, which can reduce the information bias to a large degree. Second, we considered a relatively comprehensive range of lifestyle factors, including traditional and emerging lifestyle factors, which could reflect to some extent the complexity of modern life. Third, using indicators of the HLI and lifestyle patterns, we for the first time comprehensively examined the impact of lifestyles on the death from both aspects of the number of healthy lifestyles and their overall effects.

Some limitations also existed. First, the follow-up period in our study was relatively short, resulting in a limited number of death cases; thus, some results did not have enough power to detect significant findings. For example, we found that the association of HLI with cardiovascular mortality risk did not a reach significant level, contradicting the previous reports that showed a negative association between healthy lifestyles and cardiovascular mortality. However, the GZHS is an ongoing cohort study, and further follow-up studies will be performed to examine the association of lifestyle with the risk of cause-specific mortality. Second, dietary information over the past 12 months was collected using the FFQ, which might inevitably lead to recall bias. However, physical examination and questionnaire survey were conducted by trained investigators, which can reduce the bias to some degree. Third, although this study adjusted for several possible confounders, we cannot avoid the possibility of residual confounding due to unmeasured factors.

Conclusion

Our results suggested that the more dimensions of the healthy lifestyle the lower the risk of death, and adherence to the lifestyle pattern characterized with heavier loading of nonsmoking and lower alcohol drinking reduces the risk of all-cause mortality. The findings highlight the need to consider multidimensional lifestyles rather than one when developing health promotion strategies.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Guangzhou Medical Ethics Committee of the Chinese Medical Association and the Ethical Review Committee for Biomedical Research, School of Public Health, Sun Yat-sen University. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

XL conceived and designed the study. MZ collected the mortality data. HD, MZ, JH, H-YF, C-JF, H-HR, and Y-SY collected all other data. PH analyzed the data. PH, MZ, and JH drafted the manuscript. HD, XL, WZ, and HW reviewed and edited the manuscript. All authors provided comments and approved the final version.

Funding

This work was supported by the Science and Technology Program of Guangzhou City (No. 202102080404), the Guangdong Basic and Applied Basic Research Foundation (No. 2022A1515010686), the Guangdong Provincial Key R&D Program (No. 2019B020230004), the National Key R&D Program of China (No. 2018YFC1312502), and the Medical Science and Technology Research Fund of Guangdong Province (No. 202011269127579).

Acknowledgments

We thank epidemiologists, nurses, and doctors in Guangdong Provincial People's Hospital, in Guangzhou Center for Disease Control and Prevention, and in Community Healthcare Centers in data collection, and we also thank study subjects for their participation.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fmed.2022.920760/full#supplementary-material

References

1. Allen L, Williams J, Townsend N, Mikkelsen B, Roberts N, Foster C, et al. Socioeconomic status and non-communicable disease behavioural risk factors in low-income and lower-middle-income countries: a systematic review. *Lancet Glob Health*. (2017) 5:e277–89. doi: 10.1016/s2214-109x(17)30058-x

2. Shankar A, McMunn A, Steptoe A. Health-related behaviors in older adults relationships with socioeconomic status. *Am J Prev Med.* (2010) 38:39–46. doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2009.08.026

3. Wilson LF, Antonsson A, Green AC, Jordan SJ, Kendall BJ, Nagle CM, et al. How many cancer cases and deaths are potentially preventable? Estimates for Australia in 2013. *Int J Cancer*. (2018) 142:691–701. doi: 10.1002/ijc.31088

4. Chomistek AK, Chiuve SE, Eliassen AH, Mukamal KJ, Willett WC, Rimm EB. Healthy lifestyle in the primordial prevention of cardiovascular disease among young women. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* (2015) 65:43–51. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2014.10.024

5. Akesson A, Larsson SC, Discacciati A, Wolk A. Low-risk diet and lifestyle habits in the primary prevention of myocardial infarction in men: a populationbased prospective cohort study. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* (2014) 64:1299–306. doi: 10. 1016/j.jacc.2014.06.1190

 Carr PR, Weigl K, Jansen L, Walter V, Erben V, Chang-Claude J, et al. Healthy lifestyle factors associated with lower risk of colorectal cancer irrespective of genetic risk. *Gastroenterology*. (2018) 155:1805–15.e5. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2018.08.044

7. Li Y, Pan A, Wang DD, Liu X, Dhana K, Franco OH, et al. Impact of healthy lifestyle factors on life expectancies in the US population. *Circulation.* (2018) 138:345–55. doi: 10.1161/circulationaha.117.032047

8. Ford ES, Zhao G, Tsai J, Li C. Low-risk lifestyle behaviors and all-cause mortality: findings from the national health and nutrition examination survey III mortality study. *Am J Public Health.* (2011) 101:1922–9. doi: 10.2105/ajph.2011. 300167

9. Deng YY, Zhong QW, Zhong HL, Xiong F, Ke YB, Chen YM. Higher healthy lifestyle score is associated with lower presence of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease in middle-aged and older Chinese adults: a community-based cross-sectional study. *Public Health Nutr.* (2021) 24:5081–9. doi: 10.1017/s1368980021000902

10. Deng YY, Liu YP, Ling CW, Li YH, Wu YY, Ke YB, et al. Higher healthy lifestyle scores are associated with greater bone mineral density in middle-aged and elderly Chinese adults. *Arch Osteoporos.* (2020) 15:129. doi: 10.1007/s11657-020-00758-9

11. Carlos S, de Irala J, Hanley M, Martínez-González M. The use of expensive technologies instead of simple, sound and effective lifestyle interventions: a perpetual delusion. *J Epidemiol Commun Health.* (2014) 68:897–904. doi: 10.1136/ jech-2014-203884

12. van Dam RM, Li T, Spiegelman D, Franco OH, Hu FB. Combined impact of lifestyle factors on mortality: prospective cohort study in US women. *BMJ.* (2008) 337:a1440. doi: 10.1136/bmj.a1440

13. Ding D, Rogers K, van der Ploeg H, Stamatakis E, Bauman AE. Traditional and emerging lifestyle risk behaviors and all-cause mortality in middle-aged and older adults: evidence from a large population-based Australian cohort. *PLoS Med.* (2015) 12:e1001917. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1001917

14. Pan XF, Li Y, Franco OH, Yuan JM, Pan A, Koh WP. Impact of combined lifestyle factors on all-cause and cause-specific mortality and life expectancy in Chinese: the Singapore Chinese health study. *J Gerontol Ser A Biol Sci Med Sci.* (2020) 75:2193–9. doi: 10.1093/gerona/glz271

15. Zhang YB, Pan XF, Chen J, Cao A, Xia L, Zhang Y, et al. Combined lifestyle factors, all-cause mortality and cardiovascular disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. *J Epidemiol Commun Health.* (2021) 75:92–9. doi: 10.1136/jech-2020-214050

16. Abbott SM, Knutson KL, Zee PC. Health implications of sleep and circadian rhythm research in 2017. *Lancet Neurol.* (2018) 17:17–8. doi: 10.1016/s1474-4422(17)30410-6

17. Garfield V, Joshi R, Garcia-Hernandez J, Tillin T, Chaturvedi N. The relationship between sleep quality and all-cause, CVD and cancer mortality: the Southall and Brent revisited study (SABRE). *Sleep Med.* (2019) 60:230–5. doi: 10.1016/j.sleep.2019.03.012

18. Kwok CS, Kontopantelis E, Kuligowski G, Gray M, Muhyaldeen A, Gale CP, et al. Self-reported sleep duration and quality and cardiovascular disease and mortality: a dose-response meta-analysis. *J Am Heart Assoc.* (2018) 7:e008552. doi: 10.1161/jaha.118.008552

19. Seow LSE, Tan XW, Chong SA, Vaingankar JA, Abdin E, Shafie S, et al. Independent and combined associations of sleep duration and sleep quality with common physical and mental disorders: results from a multi-ethnic population-based study. *PLoS One.* (2020) 15:e0235816. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0235816

20. Walker ER, McGee RE, Druss BG. Mortality in mental disorders and global disease burden implications: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA Psychiatry*. (2015) 72:334–41. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2014.2502

21. Pratt LA, Druss BG, Manderscheid RW, Walker ER. Excess mortality due to depression and anxiety in the United States: results from a nationally representative survey. *Gen Hosp Psychiatry*. (2016) 39:39–45. doi: 10.1016/j.genhosppsych.2015. 12.003

22. Jolliffe IT, Cadima J. Principal component analysis: a review and recent developments. *Philos Trans Ser A Math Phys Eng Sci.* (2016) 374:20150202. doi: 10.1098/rsta.2015.0202

23. Deng H, Guo P, Zheng M, Huang J, Xue Y, Zhan X, et al. Epidemiological characteristics of atrial fibrillation in Southern China: results from the Guangzhou heart study. *Sci Rep.* (2018) 8:17829. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-35928-w

24. Du Y, Duan XR, Zheng MR, Zhao WJ, Huang J, Lao LX, et al. Association between eating habits and risk of obstructive sleep Apnea: a population-based study. *Nat Sci Sleep.* (2021) 13:1783–95. doi: 10.2147/Nss.S325494

25. Duan XR, Zheng MR, He SF, Lao LX, Huang J, Zhao WJ, et al. Association between physical activity and risk of obstructive sleep apnea. *Sleep Breath.* (2021) 25:1925–34. doi: 10.1007/s11325-021-02318-y

26. Chen C, Lu FC. Department of disease control ministry of health PRC. The guidelines for prevention and control of overweight and obesity in Chinese adults. *Biomed Environ Sci.* (2004) 17(Suppl.):1–36.

27. Chinese Nutrition Society. *The Chinese Dietary Guidelines*. Beijing: People's Medical Publishing House (2016).

28. Krebs-Smith SM, Pannucci TE, Subar AF, Kirkpatrick SI, Lerman JL, Tooze JA, et al. Update of the healthy eating index: HEI-2015. J Acad Nutr Diet. (2018) 118:1591–602. doi: 10.1016/j.jand.2018.05.021

29. World Health Organization. *Global Physical Activity Questionnaire (GPAQ)*. (2018). Available online at: https://www.who.int/publications/m/item/global-physical-activity-questionnaire (accessed November 20, 2021).

30. Bull FC, Al-Ansari SS, Biddle S, Borodulin K, Buman MP, Cardon G, et al. World Health Organization 2020 guidelines on physical activity and sedentary behaviour. *Br J Sports Med.* (2020) 54:1451–62. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2020-102955

31. Zung WW. A rating instrument for anxiety disorders. *Psychosomatics*. (1971) 12:371–9. doi: 10.1016/s0033-3182(71)71479-0

32. Radloff LS. The CES-D scale:a self-report depression scale for research in the general population. *Appl Psychol Meas.* (1977) 1:385–401. doi: 10.1177/014662167700100306

33. Kabacoff R. R in Action : Data Analysis and Graphics With R (Second Edition). New York, NY: Manning Publications (2015).

34. Zhu NB, Yu CQ, Guo Y, Bian Z, Han YT, Yang L, et al. Adherence to a healthy lifestyle and all-cause and cause-specific mortality in Chinese adults: a 10-year prospective study of 0.5 million people. *Int J Behav Nutr Phy.* (2019) 16:98. doi: 10.1186/s12966-019-0860-z

35. Tao F, Cao Z, Jiang Y, Fan N, Xu F, Yang H, et al. Associations of sleep duration and quality with incident cardiovascular disease, cancer, and mortality: a prospective cohort study of 407,500 UK biobank participants. *Sleep Med.* (2021) 81:401–9. doi: 10.1016/j.sleep.2021.03.015

36. Song C, Zhang R, Wang C, Fu R, Song W, Dou K, et al. Sleep quality and risk of cancer: findings from the English longitudinal study of aging. *Sleep.* (2021) 44:zsaa192. doi: 10.1093/sleep/zsaa192

37. Zhou L, Yu K, Yang L, Wang H, Xiao Y, Qiu G, et al. Sleep duration, midday napping, and sleep quality and incident stroke: the Dongfeng-Tongji cohort. *Neurology.* (2020) 94:e345–56. doi: 10.1212/wnl.00000000008739

38. Wu YT, Kralj C, Acosta D, Guerra M, Huang Y, Jotheeswaran AT, et al. The association between, depression, anxiety, and mortality in older people across eight low- and middle-income countries: results from the 10/66 cohort study. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry*. (2020) 35:29–36. doi: 10.1002/gps.5211

39. Martínez-Gómez D, Guallar-Castillón P, León-Muñoz LM, López-García E, Rodríguez-Artalejo F. Combined impact of traditional and non-traditional health behaviors on mortality: a national prospective cohort study in Spanish older adults. *BMC Med.* (2013) 11:47. doi: 10.1186/1741-7015-11-47

40. Navarro Silvera SA, Mayne ST, Risch HA, Gammon MD, Vaughan T, Chow WH, et al. Principal component analysis of dietary and lifestyle patterns in relation to risk of subtypes of esophageal and gastric cancer. *Ann Epidemiol.* (2011) 21:543–50. doi: 10.1016/j.annepidem.2010.11.019

41. Al Thani M, Al Thani A, Al-Chetachi W, Al Malki B, Khalifa SAH, Bakri AH, et al. Lifestyle patterns are associated with elevated blood pressure among Qatari

women of reproductive age: a cross-sectional national study. Nutrients. (2015) 7:7593-615. doi: 10.3390/nu7095355

42. Yeh HC, Duncan BB, Schmidt MI, Wang NY, Brancati FL. Smoking, smoking cessation, and risk for type 2 diabetes mellitus: a cohort study. *Ann Int Med.* (2010) 152:10–7. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-152-1-201001050-00005

43. Sasco AJ, Secretan MB, Straif K. Tobacco smoking and cancer: a brief review of recent epidemiological evidence. *Lung Cancer.* (2004) 45(Suppl. 2):S3–9. doi: 10.1016/j.lungcan.2004.07.998

44. Messner B, Bernhard D. Smoking and cardiovascular disease: mechanisms of endothelial dysfunction and early atherogenesis. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* (2014) 34:509–15. doi: 10.1161/atvbaha.113.300156

45. Jayes L, Haslam PL, Gratziou CG, Powell P, Britton J, Vardavas C, et al. SmokeHaz: systematic reviews and meta-analyses of the effects of smoking on respiratory health. *Chest.* (2016) 150:164–79. doi: 10.1016/j.chest.2016. 03.060

46. Anon. Republished: nicotine and health. BMJ. (2014) 349:2014.7.0264rep. doi: 10.1136/bmj.2014.7.0264rep

47. Mainali P, Pant S, Rodriguez AP, Deshmukh A, Mehta JL. Tobacco and cardiovascular health. *Cardiovasc Toxicol.* (2015) 15:107–16. doi: 10.1007/s12012-014-9280-0

48. GBD 2016 Alcohol Collaborators. Alcohol use and burden for 195 countries and territories, 1990-2016: a systematic analysis for the global burden of disease study 2016. *Lancet.* (2018) 392:1015–35. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(18)31310-2

49. Burton R, Sheron N. No level of alcohol consumption improves health. Lancet. (2018) 392:987–8. doi: $10.1016/s0140{-}6736(18)31571{-}x$

50. Irwin MR, Olmstead R, Carroll JE. Sleep disturbance, sleep duration, and inflammation: a systematic review and meta-analysis of cohort studies and experimental sleep deprivation. *Biol Psychiatry.* (2016) 80:40–52. doi: 10.1016/j. biopsych.2015.05.014

51. Balkwill F, Mantovani A. Inflammation and cancer: back to Virchow? *Lancet.* (2001) 357:539–45. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(00)04046-0

52. Golia E, Limongelli G, Natale F, Fimiani F, Maddaloni V, Pariggiano I, et al. Inflammation and cardiovascular disease: from pathogenesis to therapeutic target. *Curr Atheroscler Rep.* (2014) 16:435. doi: 10.1007/s11883-014-0435-z

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Patricia C. Heyn, Marymount University, United States

REVIEWED BY

Laurent Misery, Université de Bretagne Occidentale, France Elaine Gilmore, Rochester Skin Lymphoma Medical Group, PLLC, United States Claudia Zeidler, University Hospital Münster, Germany

*CORRESPONDENCE Robert A. Ganz bob@ganzindustries.com

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Family Medicine and Primary Care, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

RECEIVED 07 March 2022 ACCEPTED 08 August 2022 PUBLISHED 14 September 2022

CITATION

Felemovicius I, Ganz RA, Saremi M and Christopfel W (2022) SOOTHER TRIAL: Observational study of an over-the-counter ointment to heal anal itch. *Front. Med.* 9:890883. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2022.890883

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Felemovicius, Ganz, Saremi and Christopfel. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

SOOTHER TRIAL: Observational study of an over-the-counter ointment to heal anal itch

Isaac Felemovicius¹, Robert A. Ganz^{2*}, Mohammad Saremi³ and William Christopfel³

¹Voyage Healthcare, North Memorial Hospital, Robbinsdale, MN, United States, ²MNGI Digestive Health, Plymouth, MN, United States, ³G&S Labs, Inc., Eagan, MN, United States

Introduction: Pruritus ani, or rectal or anal itch, is a common perianal disorder that affects \sim 5% of the population of the developed world. Treatments for this disorder are somewhat limited and include conservative non-medical perianal hygiene care, and topical medical treatments including topical steroids, antibacterial and antifungal agents, and topical anesthetic/analgesics such as lidocaine or capsaicin; astringents and vasoconstrictors such as ephedrine can also be used.

Methods: The study was IRB approved. We assessed the efficacy of a novel, composite, over-the-counter, topical lidocaine ointment that included an epidermal barrier and antimicrobial effect along with the typical lidocaine anesthetizing effect, in a single arm, observational, longitudinal, population of 20 ambulatory pruritus ani patients. Patients applied the ointment twice daily, and were studied for 2 weeks; primary outcomes included time to symptom resolution and clinical exam resolution as measured on a 5-point visual analog scale.

Results: Twenty-nine consecutive patients were screened and 20 patients (12 males; 8 females) were enrolled in the study. Ninety percent of patients achieved 100% symptom resolution by 2 weeks, and most were improved within 72 h of initiating treatment; 95% of patients had a normal visual exam by the 2 week endpoint. There were no significant adverse events attributable to the therapy.

Conclusion: Use of a novel composite topical lidocaine agent, demonstrated rapid and effective relief of pruritus ani in an ambulatory population. Additional studies are underway.

Clinical trial registered: Clinicaltrials.gov, identifier NCT05288907.

KEYWORDS

pruritus ani, anal itch, rectal itch, perianal itch, itch

The medical condition known as pruritus ani (commonly referred to as anal itch) is probably the most common ano-rectal disorder in America, and in the developed world. It has been estimated that \sim 5% of Americans experience some level of anal itch on a daily basis, so this malady can affect as many as 15 million US residents at any given time (1–3).

Pruritus ani can have multiple causes including diarrhea or frequent liquid stools, multiple loose or soft stools, stool that adheres to the anus and is not entirely cleared post-defecation, leakage of stool from rectal incontinence or frequent passage of gas with some stool leakage, parasites that affect the GI tract, excess anal moisture or perspiration, perianal staph or strep infection, or yeast or candida overgrowth that affects the anal region. Certain diseases or conditions can increase the risk of yeast infections, such as diabetes mellitus, HIV infection or antibiotic usage. Antibiotic use causes alteration of the native intestinal microbiome, potentially leading to yeast overgrowth of the perianal region. Dermatalogical diseases like psoriasis and eczema can also affect the anal region and cause irritation, and systemic diseases such as Crohn's disease, with fistula formation from the small intestine or colon to the skin surrounding the anus can occur allowing leakage of intestinal effluent to the perianal area causing itch. Other comorbid conditions that can contribute to pruritus ani include pinworms, hemorrhoids, anal fissures, and psychogenic causes. Another consideration is that for whatever reason the anal itch initially occurs, a vicious cycle known as the "itch-scratch-itch" cycle can secondarily occur, wherein scratching the itch causes the release of inflammatory chemokines, which secondarily worsens the itch by causing redness, increased itching and dry skin, thereby causing a "rebound" effect (4, 5).

Treatments for pruritus ani are currently limited. The main goal of treatment is to restore the skin in the perianal region to clean, dry, intact, and asymptomatic skin. Repetitively cleaning the region with non-soap warm water then drying the area is the first non-medical treatment that can be tried. If this fails, then steroid ointments can be tried, with or without antifungal or antibiotic additives. Typical antibiotic or antifungal agents contain heavy metals such as zinc oxide or bismuth oxide in varying concentrations. Anesthetic agents like lidocaine or capsaicin can also be tried; lidocaine is commonly available in concentrations from 1 to 5% but capsaicin in therapeutic doses is typically not available commercially. Astringents and vasoconstrictors such as ephedrine can also be used (6).

Lidocaine is a common topical anesthetic agent commercially available in concentrations from 1 to 5%. Lidocaine alters signal conduction in neurons by blocking sodium channels in the neuronal cell membrane thus creating an anesthetic effect (7). There is a need for newer medical and non-surgical therapies for the treatment of pruritus ani. The ideal therapy would be highly effective at healing itch, with zero to few side effects. This trial assessed a novel, lidocainebased, composite topical medical therapy for the healing of pruritus ani.

Methods

Study rationale and ointment

The objective and rationale of the trial was to evaluate the efficacy of a novel OTC anal itch ointment on the symptomatic improvement of pruritus ani. This study employed a novel FDA-approved, lidocaine-based, composite topical combination ointment for treating and healing pruritus ani (Rectaid; G&S Labs, Eagan, MN). The composite agent is approved for sale and will be commercially available at retail stores in the United States as an OTC product. As noted above, Lidocaine is a common topical anesthetic agent commercially available in concentrations from 1 to 5%. The composite lidocaine therapy is designed to anesthetize the itch and discomfort associated with pruritus ani, decrease anal sensitivity, improve the epidermal permeability barrier, strengthen keratinocytes and also contains protectant and antibacterial properties. This agent, when used topically will help with pruritus ani primary infection and also the secondary effects of the itch-scratch-itch cycle. The study design was a single arm, uncontrolled, case series. Patients were enrolled consecutively, but not randomly.

Patient population

Any patient male or female, age 18–90, presenting with pruritus ani, in need of treatment, was eligible for the study. Inclusion criteria included presence of pruritus ani (anal itch/discomfort) for at least 2 weeks, and a compatible physical exam. Patients also had to be willing to participate in the study and be capable of understanding the clinical study procedure and be able to give informed consent. Exclusion criteria included inability to understand informed consent, history of inflammatory bowel disease, known venereal disease, or immunodeficiency disease, history of or current anal or perianal abscess, anal or rectal surgery within the past 12 weeks, pregnancy or breastfeeding female, or signs of other rectal diseases such as anorectal fistula, infection, perianal eczema or tumors.

Protocol

This was a single-arm, longitudinal case series of 20 consecutive subjects with pruritus ani. The setting was a private practice colo-rectal surgery clinic, part of a large multi-specialty clinic and located in a suburb of Minneapolis (Voyage Healthcare, Plymouth, MN). The purpose of the study was to investigate the effect of a novel, composite Lidocaine ointment on the healing of pruritus ani. Patients were recruited between October, 2018 to November, 2019; data collection occurred during the same time period.

Any patient presenting with pruritus ani lasting at least 2 weeks was assessed in the standard manner per usual care.

A standard history was taken including current symptoms, past medical history including diarrhea, constipation, fecal incontinence, antibiotic use, inflammatory bowel disease, previous pregnancies and any previous ano-rectal surgery, social history, and medication usage including use of any laxatives. A detailed physical exam was performed including an anorectal exam to assess the pruritus ani. Detailed demographic information was captured from each patient specific to pruritus ani. The patients were consecutive but not randomized.

A visual exam of the ano-rectum before and after therapy was carried out per standard practice including anoscopy, flexible sigmoidoscopy and/or colonoscopy on an as-needed basis.

There is no strict definition of pruritus ani, but in this study the following criteria were used:

- a) Two weeks or longer persistent itch in the anorectal region;
- b) consistent physical exam with the presence of erythema, inflammation and/or breaks in the anoderm.

Once pruritus ani was confirmed informed consent was obtained for the study.

Patients applied the novel pruritus ani ointment, in a prespecified amount (per packaged applicator), twice daily for 1–2 weeks or until complete resolution of symptoms. In addition to the novel treatment, patients were also maintained on standard care for pruritus ani, including, but not limited to, a high-fiber diet, laxatives as needed and appropriate maintenance of the region of the anoderm by keeping the area clean and dry using non-soapy water and appropriate drying. Patients were followed in the clinic on an as needed basis, but were specifically assessed at 1–2 weeks following diagnosis and starting the novel ointment. The study ended for each patient at follow-up visit.

Efficacy endpoints

Primary efficacy endpoint

The primary endpoint was the rate of improvement or resolution of symptoms (itch and discomfort) at 2 weeks. At

least 50% symptom improvement and 50% exam improvement, both, were necessary for a successful endpoint. Symptoms and physical exam were graded on a 5 point visual analog scale. Standardized case report forms were used to collect study data. Patients were asked to grade their pruritus ani symptoms of itch and discomfort, with 0 being no symptoms and 5 representing the worst symptoms; a similar 5 point scale was used for physical exam assessment, with 0 representing a normal perianal exam with no visible erythema, inflammation or breaks in the anoderm, and 5 representing the most severe exam. Since the exam was a subjective assessment, a single investigator did all of the pre and post-ointment exams (I.F.).

Safety

The ingredients used in the study ointment were deemed as safe, or safer, than existing OTC pruritus ani products, since all of the individual ingredients in the novel preparation are currently available and approved for sale in the US. Study products were compounded under the FDA-approved OTC monograph 21 cfr 346 for Anorectal Topical Products and are commercially approved for use anywhere in the United States. There were no anticipated additional risks beyond that of standard topical pruritus ani OTC therapy. As such, safety was not a primary endpoint of the study; nonetheless all adverse effects related to the study were closely monitored and reported. Any adverse effects were summarized by seriousness, severity, relationship to the ointment, and adverse effect type, and were reported to the IRB.

Study compliance

The study protocol, consent form, case report forms, and all aspects of the conduct of the study were approved and monitored by the Western Institutional Review Board (WIRB; Puyallup, WA). The investigators conducted this study in accordance with all aspects of the protocol, IRB requirements, the Declaration of Helsinki, and the Code of Federal Regulations 21 CFR § 50—Protection of Human Subjects, 21 CFR § 56—and Institutional Review Boards.

Statistical analysis

Each patient served as their own control for statistical analysis. All analyses were performed *via* the intention-to-treat principle. A two-tailed, paired Student's *t*-test or the Wilcoxon signed rank test were used to assess the discrete variables. (Based on a 75% success rate for at least 50% symptom

1 64 200 lbs. 2 49 148 lbs. 3 46 200 lbs. 4 66 182 lbs. 5 63 165 lbs. 6 50 191 lbs. 7 65 190 lbs. 8 57 142 lbs. 9 61 200 lbs. 10 23 180 lbs. 12 76 139 lbs. 13 48 180 lbs. 14 51 130 lbs. 15 68 160 lbs. 16 67 170 lbs. 17 57 200 lbs. 18 64 175 lbs. 19 76 135 lbs. 20 60 189 lbs.	Patient #	Age	Weight
346200 lbs.466182 lbs.563165 lbs.650191 lbs.765190 lbs.857142 lbs.961200 lbs.1023180 lbs.1146150 lbs.1276139 lbs.1348180 lbs.1451130 lbs.1568160 lbs.1667170 lbs.1757200 lbs.1864175 lbs.1976135 lbs.	1	64	200 lbs.
4 66 182 bs. 5 63 165 bs. 6 50 191 bs. 7 65 190 bs. 8 57 142 bs. 9 61 200 bs. 10 23 180 bs. 12 76 139 bs. 13 48 180 bs. 14 51 130 bs. 15 68 160 bs. 16 67 170 bs. 17 57 200 bs. 18 64 175 bs. 19 76 135 bs.	2	49	148 lbs.
563165 lbs.650191 lbs.765190 lbs.857142 lbs.961200 lbs.1023180 lbs.1146150 lbs.1276139 lbs.1348180 lbs.1451130 lbs.1568160 lbs.1667170 lbs.1757200 lbs.1864175 lbs.1976135 lbs.	3	46	200 lbs.
650191 lbs.765190 lbs.857142 lbs.961200 lbs.1023180 lbs.1146150 lbs.1276139 lbs.1348180 lbs.1451130 lbs.1568160 lbs.1667170 lbs.1757200 lbs.1864175 lbs.1976135 lbs.	4	66	182 lbs.
765190 lbs.857142 lbs.961200 lbs.1023180 lbs.1146150 lbs.1276139 lbs.1348180 lbs.1451130 lbs.1568160 lbs.1667170 lbs.1757200 lbs.1864175 lbs.1976135 lbs.	5	63	165 lbs.
8 57 142 bs. 9 61 200 lbs. 10 23 180 lbs. 11 46 150 lbs. 12 76 139 lbs. 13 48 180 lbs. 14 51 130 lbs. 15 68 160 lbs. 16 67 170 lbs. 17 57 200 lbs. 18 64 175 lbs. 19 76 135 lbs.	6	50	191 lbs.
961200 lbs.1023180 lbs.1146150 lbs.1276139 lbs.1348180 lbs.1451130 lbs.1568160 lbs.1667170 lbs.1757200 lbs.1864175 lbs.1976135 lbs.	7	65	190 lbs.
1023180 lbs.1146150 lbs.1276139 lbs.1348180 lbs.1451130 lbs.1568160 lbs.1667170 lbs.1757200 lbs.1864175 lbs.1976135 lbs.	8	57	142 lbs.
1146150 lbs.1276139 lbs.1348180 lbs.1451130 lbs.1568160 lbs.1667170 lbs.1757200 lbs.1864175 lbs.1976135 lbs.	9	61	200 lbs.
1276139 lbs.1348180 lbs.1451130 lbs.1568160 lbs.1667170 lbs.1757200 lbs.1864175 lbs.1976135 lbs.	10	23	180 lbs.
1348180 lbs.1451130 lbs.1568160 lbs.1667170 lbs.1757200 lbs.1864175 lbs.1976135 lbs.	11	46	150 lbs.
1451130 lbs.1568160 lbs.1667170 lbs.1757200 lbs.1864175 lbs.1976135 lbs.	12	76	139 lbs.
1568160 lbs.1667170 lbs.1757200 lbs.1864175 lbs.1976135 lbs.	13	48	180 lbs.
1667170 lbs.1757200 lbs.1864175 lbs.1976135 lbs.	14	51	130 lbs.
1757200 lbs.1864175 lbs.1976135 lbs.	15	68	160 lbs.
18 64 175 lbs. 19 76 135 lbs.	16	67	170 lbs.
19 76 135 lbs.	17	57	200 lbs.
	18	64	175 lbs.
20 60 189 lbs.	19	76	135 lbs.
	20	60	189 lbs.

TABLE 1 Patient demographics.

12 males and 8 females.

TABLE 2 Symptom response.

Patient #	Initial symptoms	Follow-up symptoms
1	5	1
2	4	0
3	4	0
4	5	0
5	4	0
6	4	0
7	4	0
8	4	0
9	5	0
10	4	0
11	5	0
12	5	0
13	4	0
14	5	0
15	5	0.
16	5	2
17	5	0
18	4	0
19	3	0
20	4	0

Scale is 0-5 with 5 being the most bothersome.

TABLE 3 Visual exam response.

Patient #	Initial visual exam	Follow-up visual exam
1	3	0
2	2	0
3	5	0
4	4	0
5	4	0
6	3	0
7	4	0
8	4	0
9	3	0
10	4	0
11	5	0
12	4	0
13	3	0
14	4	0
15	3	0
16	4	0
17	2	0
18	3	1
19	4	0
20	2	0

Scale is 0–5 with 0 being normal and 5 being the worst exam.

improvement using the novel ointment, and assuming 30% improvement with standard intervention, 17 patients were required to have a 90% chance of detecting significance at the 5% level, so the study was adequately powered for the outcomes chosen.)

Results

Twenty-nine consecutive pruritis ani patients were screened and 20 patients were enrolled in the study from 2018 to 2019; there were 12 males and 8 females (Table 1). Of the 9 patients not enrolled in the study, 7 chose not to participate and 2 were deemed to not have pruritus ani; of the 20 enrolled patients all completed the study and there were no dropouts. At initial presentation, mean symptoms of itch and discomfort as graded by the patients on a 5 point visual scale, with 0 being no symptoms and 5 being the worst symptoms, were 4.4; the mean symptom score after treatment was 0.15 (p < 0.008). Mean visual exam scores (erythema, inflammation, breaks in the anoderm) pre-treatment were 3.5, dropping to 0.1 2 weeks post-treatment (p < 0.008). Eighteen of the 20 patients (90%) achieved 100% improvement in symptoms within 14 days of





therapy, most within the first 72 h of therapy, and 19 of the 20 patients (95%) had a normal visual exam by 2 weeks (Tables 2, 3). Per intention-to-treat analysis 100% of patients saw at least a 50% improvement both symptomatically and by exam at 2 weeks (Figures 1, 2). There was one adverse

event reported, with one female patient developing hives during the study period although it was deemed unlikely to be related to the pruritus ani product; this patient also had a satisfactory symptomatic and visual response to therapy.

10.3389/fmed.2022.890883

Discussion

This trial demonstrates an excellent treatment response of pruritus ani to a novel topical composite lidocaine ointment. Ninety percent of clinic patients were asymptomatic by the end of the 2 week study, with most patients achieving a complete treatment response within the first 72 h. The product was very well-tolerated with no direct adverse events. Limitations of this study include a relatively small number of patients, the nonrandomized, uncontrolled population, and the potential bias of single physician assessment. Lidocaine is a well-known overthe-counter topical anesthetic agent at commercially available concentrations of 1-5%. Lidocaine is a weak base with a dissociation constant (pKa) of 7.7, and at standard pH (7.4) about half of the molecules are unionized and able to cross into nerve cells, binding to sodium channels inside the cell membrane, preventing nerve depolarization, thus yielding an anesthesia effect (7). Side effects of topical lidocaine are rare but include irritation, erythema or edema of the skin, hives, or tachycardia. The novel ointment used in this study combines the known anesthetic action of standard lidocaine, with keratinocyte and dermal barrier strengthening effect as well as anti-bacterial, anti-fungal properties leading to good results in anal itch.

There have been very few published therapeutic trials in the field of pruritus ani, even though this is a very common disorder affecting up to 1–5% of the general US population (8). Standard treatment consists of good perianal hygiene by keeping the area of the anus clean and dry, treatment of diarrhea, incomplete evacuation and fecal incontinence, use of fiber preparations such as psyllium and oral anti-histamines. Perianal examination to exclude perianal bacterial or fungal infection is necessary and, if indicated, it can be useful to examine the stool for ova and parasites or obtain bacterial cultures. With good compliance, conservative measures can help the majority of anal itch sufferers (4).

Topical agents like 1% hydrocortisone can be tried and in a small, randomized, controlled crossover trial, 68% of patients improved compared to controls. However, use of steroids can result in skin atrophy and fungal overgrowth. Capsaicin, a natural extract of chili peppers, has also been studied in pruritus ani. Capsaicin causes analgesia by activating TRPV1, a permeable calcium ion channel in nerve cells, and depleting substance P a neuropeptide from sensory neurons, which leads to a decreased pain and itch response to local stimuli. A 44 patient randomized, controlled trial of 0.006% capsaicin ointment in a refractory pruritus ani population, resulted in a 31% response rate. Capsaicin does cause a mild perianal burning sensation however. Other agents have also been studied in limited fashion including injection of methylene blue, a neurotoxic agent, and injection of methylene blue in combination with lidocaine and steroid. This type of therapy, however, has been associated with loss of perianal sensation, occasional fecal incontinence and perianal inflammatory reactions (9).

Consequently, there is a need for novel topical agents for the treatment of pruritus ani, in conjunction with conservative measures. In conclusion, use of a novel, topical, composite lidocaine ointment appears to be a promising new agent for the treatment of pruritus ani. Additional studies are pending.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Western IRB. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

IF helped draft the study protocol, recruited patients, and did all exams. RG conceived the project and helped with study design, drafted the study protocol, helped with data analysis, and drafted the manuscript. MS helped with product design, study design, drafting the protocol, and helped with data analysis. WC helped with product design and study design. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This work was supported by G&S, Inc., Eagan, MN.

Conflict of interest

Authors MS and WC work for Bell International Labs. RG serves as a consultant to G&S Labs, Inc., a subsidiary of Bell International Labs.

The remaining author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated

organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Hanno R, Murphy P. Pruritus ani. Classif Manag Dermatol Clin. (1987) 5:811-6. doi: 10.1016/S0733-8635(18)30725-3

2. Sullivan ES, Garnjobst WM. Symposium on colon and anorectal surgery. Pruritus ani: a practical approach. *Surg Clin North Am.* (1978) 58:505–12. doi: 10.1016/S0039-6109(16)41533-1

3. Chaudry V, Bastawrous A. Idiopathic pruritus ani. Semin Colon Rectal Surg. (2003) 14:196–202. doi: 10.1053/j.scrs.2004.03.004

4. Smith LE, Henrichs D, McCullah RD. Prospective studies on the etiology and treatment of pruritus ani. *Dis Colon Rectum.* (1982) 25:358-63. doi: 10.1007/BF02553616

5. Siddiqi S, Vijay V, Ward M, Warren S. Pruritus ani. Ann R Coll Surg. (2008) 90:457–63. doi: 10.1308/003588408X317940

6. Song SG, Kim SH. Pruritus ani. *Coloproctology.* (2011) 27:54–7. doi: 10.3393/jksc.2011.27.2.54

7. Beecham G, Nessel TA, Goyal A. *Lidocaine*. National Institute of Health StatPearls. NIH StatPearls Publishing (2022). Available online at: https://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.govbooks/NBK539881/ (accessed February 22, 2022).

8. Breen E, Bleday R. *Approach to the Patient with Anal Pruritus*. UpToDate (2022). Available online at: https://www.uptodate.com/contents/ approach-to-the-patient-with-anal-pruritus/abstract/16 (accessed February 1 3, 2022).

9. Chung MK, Campbell JN. Use of capsaicin to treat pain: mechanistic and therapeutic considerations. *Pharmaceuticals.* (2016) 4:66–86. doi: 10.3390/ph9040066
Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Patricia C. Heyn, Marymount University, United States

REVIEWED BY Marcus Barbosa.

Marcus Barbosa, University of Franca, Brazil Chen Bo, Tianjin University of TCM, China Man Li, Huazhong University of Science and Technology, China

*CORRESPONDENCE Liyuan Jiang jiangliyuan520j@163.com

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Family Medicine and Primary Care, a section of the journal Frontiers in Public Health

RECEIVED 26 July 2022 ACCEPTED 08 September 2022 PUBLISHED 15 November 2022

CITATION

Liu Y, Zhu Y, Jiang LY, Lu C, Xiao LJ, Wang T, Chen JY, Sun L, Deng LJ, Gu MY, Zheng TT, Feng M and Shi YY (2022) Efficacy of electro-acupuncture in postpartum with diastasis recti abdominis: A randomized controlled clinical trial.

Front. Public Health 10:1003361. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2022.1003361

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Liu, Zhu, Jiang, Lu, Xiao, Wang, Chen, Sun, Deng, Gu, Zheng, Feng and Shi. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License

(CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Efficacy of electro-acupuncture in postpartum with diastasis recti abdominis: A randomized controlled clinical trial

Yan Liu¹, Ying Zhu², Liyuan Jiang³*, Chao Lu³, Lijuan Xiao⁴, Ting Wang², Jiayu Chen², Li Sun³, Lujun Deng³, Meiyu Gu³, Tingting Zheng⁵, Min Feng⁶ and Yingying Shi⁷

¹The Second Clinical Medical College, Zhejiang Chinese Medical University, Hangzhou, China, ²Zhejiang Chinese Medical University, Hangzhou, China, ³Department of Acupuncture and Rehabilitation, Hangzhou Hospital of Traditional Chinese Medicine, Hangzhou, China, ⁴Chun'an County Hospital of Traditional Chinese Medicine, Chun'an, China, ⁵Department of Rehabilitation Medicine, The Sixth Affiliated Hospital of Sun Yat-sen University, Guangzhou, China, ⁶Department of Maternal Health Care, Maternity and Child Health Care Centers of Hechi, Hechi, China, ⁷Dingqiao Hospital of Hangzhou Hospital of Traditional Chinese Medicine, Hangzhou, China

Background: Electro-acupuncture (EA) has promising effects on diastasis rectus abdominis (DRA), defined as a separation of the two muscle bellies of rectus abdominis. To study, there is scant knowledge or scarce high-quality evidence.

Objective: We aimed to evaluate the long-term efficacy and safety of EA in treating DRA during postpartum. It was assumed that the improvement of DRA was more obvious in the EA group than in the control group.

Design: Randomized, controlled, blinded trial (Clinical Trial Registration: ChiCTR2100041891).

Setting: Hangzhou Hospital of Traditional Chinese Medicine in China.

Participants: Females aged 20–45 years without a past medical history of pathological rectus abdominal dissection were recruited from DRA inclusion criteria from 42 days to 1 year postpartum.

Intervention: 110 participants were randomly assigned in a 1:1 ratio to a control group with no EA intervention (n = 55), and EA group (n = 55). The EA group received ten sessions of EA combined with physical exercise or only physical exercise for 2 weeks with a 26-week follow-up.

Measurements: Outcomes were assessed at baseline, week 2, and week 26. The primary outcome was the change of the inter recti distance (IRD) and electromyographic evaluation of the pelvic floor. Secondary outcomes included elasticity of linea alba (LA), paraumbilical subcutaneous adipose tissue (SAT) measurement, body mass index (BMI), percentage body fat (F%), dyspepsia symptoms, menstrual symptoms, quality of life (QoL), pain performance of patients with lower back pain, postnatal depression symptoms (PDS), postpartum self-image, and DRA-related symptom, sexual dysfunction, and chronic pelvic pain.

Results: A total of 110 maternal (55 in each group) were recruited. The mean difference in IRD from baseline to week 2 and week 26 in all states of the two groups were reduced compared with those before treatment, with statistical significance (P < 0.05). The mean of IRD at the horizontal line of the umbilicus in the end-expiratory state was smaller in the EA group than in the control group, but the difference was not statistically significant (P > 0.05) at week 2. The mean of IRD at the horizontal line of the umbilicus in head-up and flexed knee state was smaller in the EA group than in the control group, and the difference was statistically significant (P < 0.05) at week 26. Five (9.1%) and thirteen (23.64%) adverse events were reported in EA and control groups, respectively. No serious adverse events were reported.

Limitation: The frequency intensity of EA parameters was selected between 4 and 6 because of individual tolerance differences.

Conclusion: EA is an effective approach to improve IRD, electromyographic evaluation of the pelvic floor, BMI, the elasticity of LA, paraumbilical SAT, and symptoms of DRA, with durable effects at 26 weeks.

Primary funding source: The Construction Fund of Medical Key Disciplines of Hangzhou (Project Number: OO20200097), Hangzhou Medical and Health Science and Technology Project No. A20200483, and Zhejiang Traditional Chinese Medicine Science and Technology Plan Project (Project Number: 2021ZQ065).

Clinical trial registration: http://www.chictr.org.cn/index.aspx, identifier: ChiCTR2100041891.

KEYWORDS

acupuncture, diastasis recti abdominis, postpartum, intra-abdominal stimulation, randomized controlled trial

Introduction

Diastasis recti abdominis (DRA) is defined as a separation of the rectus abdominal muscles disintegrating to the sides, accompanied by the extension of the linea alba (LA) tissue and bulging of the abdominal wall (1, 2). Diastasis recti abdominis is diagnosed when the inter-rectus distance is >2 cm (3, 4). It affects 30–70% of women during pregnancy (5), and 35–70% of pregnant women do not recover after giving birth without treatment or exercise (6). In addition, 39–45% of women continue to have DRA at 26 weeks postpartum, and the incidence of DRA at 1 year postpartum is 23–32% (1). The negative effects of DRA manifest in physical function, abdominal trunk function, and impairment of quality of life (QoL) in postpartum women. Women with DRA primarily receive the application of support band and abdominal band during pregnancy and postpartum (6), electrical stimulation, surgical repair (7), and physical exercise (8). There is a lack of a unified and effective treatment plan. There are few studies on the efficacy and safety of current treatments (7, 9); careful follow-up for adverse events must be considered with long-term use. As a worldwide alternative therapy, acupuncture has received wide attention in preventing and treating issues related to pregnancy and childbirth.

Acupuncture therapy is rooted in a complex practice ritual, especially the acupuncture needle procedure, particularly when coupled with EA stimulation. Electro-acupuncture applies electrical stimulation to acupuncture needles (10), which generates improved tissue excitability (11) and adjusts the mechanical balance of the postpartum abdominal muscle group. However, the long-term efficacy of EA is still unclear, and

Abbreviations: AE, Adverse Event; BMI, Body Mass Index; DRA, Diastasis Recti Abdominis; OR, Odds Ratio; PASS, Power Analysis and Sample Size; IRD, Inter Recti Distance; PRI, Pain Rating Index; PPI, Present Pain Intensity; WHR, Waist-to-Hip Ratio; LDQ, Leeds Dyspepsia Questionnaire; MDQ, Menstrual Distress Questionnaire; SF-36, The MOS Item Short Form Health Survey; PT, physical therapists; LA, Linea Alba; SF-MPQ-2, Short-Form McGill Pain Questionnaire-2; EPDS-10, 10 Items of Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale; MBIS, The Modified Body Self-Image Scale; ICIQ-SF, International Consultation Incontinence Questionnaire Short-Form; HerQles, Hernia-Related Quality-of-Life Survey; SE, Side Effects.

there is a lack of solid objective evidence. To date, there are no RCT studies on the impact of EA on DRA or evaluating the standardized EA application for DRA. This study comprehensively evaluates the effectiveness and safety of EA in the treatment of postpartum DRA. It provides a reference for the clinical treatment of postpartum DRA.

Methods

Design overview

This was a single-center, randomized, and controlled clinical trial, following the Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials (CONSORT) statement (12), the Standardized Protocol Items: Recommendations for Interventional Trials (SPIRIT) guidelines (13), and the Revised Standards for Reporting Interventions in Clinical Trials of Acupuncture (STRICTA) (14). It involved females aged 20–45 years without a past medical history of pathological rectus abdominal dissection, who were recruited from DRA inclusion criteria in 42 days to 1 year postpartum.

The trial was carried out in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki (15). The Ethics Committee of Hangzhou Hospital of Traditional Chinese Medicine reviewed this study's protocol and gave its approval and consent (approval code 2020KY082, Supplementary material 1), which agreed with the Declaration of Helsinki (Version Fortaleza 2012). Clinical Trial Registration: Chinese Clinical Trial Registry, ChiCTR2100041891. All data generated or analyzed in this study will be fully available without restriction through the Clinical Trial Management Public Platform (www.medresman.org.cn, Supplementary material 2). All study patients provided informed consent.

Sample size

According to previous similar reports (16), the mean value of inter recti distance (IRD) in the control group was 2.09 after treatment. The mean value of IRD in the EA group was expected to be 1.43 after treatment in this study. Two groups were set up in this study. The test level was $\alpha = 0.05$ with a test efficiency of $1 - \beta = 0.90$. A two-sided test was also conducted. PASS (Power Analysis and Sample Size) 15.0 software (17) estimated the sample size and effect size as 0.313269. Considering 2-sided *P*-values to be deemed statistically significant at *P* <0.05 and a power of 90%, 50 patients would be required per group (NQuery Advisor, version 4.0; Statistical Solutions). Estimating that 10% of patients might be lost to follow-up, we planned to enroll 110 patients, with 55 in each group.

Setting and patients

The study was conducted in the outpatient department of Hangzhou Hospital of Traditional Chinese

Medicine. Volunteers were recruited *via* hospitals' WeChat (Version 8.0.27) public platform and hospital posters. Patients were recruited using the following inclusion criteria:

- (1) Female aged 20-45 years;
- (2) 42 days to 1 year postpartum;
- (3) The use of ultrasound to evaluate DRA (18) in (a) the midpoint of the umbilicus and xiphoid process, (b) the horizontal line of the umbilicus, and (c) the midpoint of the umbilical and pubic symphysis line. If at any point of the three measurements, IRD is ≥2 cm (3) at the resting state;
- (4) No cognitive barriers, and able to understand and communicate correctly;
- (5) Those who sign the informed consent, cooperate with the treatment, and commit to completing all therapy as planned.

Note: Patients who met the above five criteria were included in this study.

The study also had the following exclusion criteria:

- Patient is suspected or diagnosed with severe spinal lesions (such as spinal fractures, metastases, inflammatory or infectious diseases, or cauda equina syndrome/widespread neurological disease) and neurological injury.
- (2) Patient has motor contraindications or severe infectious diseases such as fractures, severe heart disease, hypertension, and cancer.

Patients with any of the above were to be excluded.

Randomization and masking

Eligible patients were randomly assigned in a 1:1 ratio to EA or control group via a random-number table (Supplementary material 3) to balance known and unknown confounding factors and thus improve comparability between the two groups. The third-party operator (Lijuan Xiao) put the grouping list into a sequentially numbered, opaque, sealed envelope and delivered it to the operator (Li Sun) to complete the subject intervention assignment. The study leader (Liyuan Jiang) generated allocation numbers, Ying Zhu recruited subjects, and Li Sun assigned interventions. Patient recruiters, outcome assessors, and statisticians did not touch these envelopes until data processing was complete. Participants and the acupuncture provider were not blind to the groups because of the specificity of the EA treatment (19). Outcome assessors, physical therapists (PT), and statisticians were blinded to treatment assignments. Guesstimates of EA group assignment were completed by outcome assessors, PT, and statisticians at the end of the study follow-up. Statistical blinding assessments were performed using the Bang's index and James index (20).

10.3389/fpubh.2022.1003361

Interventions

The intervention protocol was based on the previous literature and clinical experience of DRA (21). The treatment was administered by a certified acupuncturist (Yingying Shi) who had 23 years of clinical experience in EA. The selection of acupoints was based on Chinese literature and clinical experience. The acupuncture locations are described in The National Standards for Acupoint Location (22).

For the EA group (electro-acupuncture + physical exercise), the patient was placed in the supine position, exposing the abdomen and acupoints Zhongwan (RN12), Xiawan (RN10), bilateral Tianshu (ST25), bilateral Dai Mai (GB26), Qi Hai (RN6), and Guanyuan (RN4) were selected (Figure 1A).

The skin at the acupoints was routinely disinfected, and disposable sterile acupuncture needles were used for vertical acupuncture of 25–40 mm. The acupoints were Zhongwan (RN12), Xiawan (RN10), bilateral Tianshu (ST25), bilateral Dai Mai (GB26), Qi Hai (RN6), and Guanyuan (RN4). The needles were manipulated until the patient felt a "de qi" sensation (23), and were connected to EA (the instrument was Great Wall KWD-808I (Figure 1B) continuous wave (CW) tuning knob of pulse rate "2". The intensity was adjusted to 4–6 mA, which was appropriate if the abdominal muscles contract without feeling pain. The treatment was for 30 min once/day, five times a week for 2 weeks. Physical exercise was the same as the control group.

The control group received the following (only physical exercise, Figure 1C): (a) Fascial abdominal breathing (Figure 1D): The patient was kept at the supine position, lower limb hip, and knee flexion, with foam bricks clamped between the legs. The abdomen was humped when inhaling and was forced to the navel when exhaling. Abdominal muscles and pelvic floor muscles was forced to contract at the same time. This was to be repeated ten times per set and a total of three sets for this exercise. (b) Supine head training: The patient was asked to assume a supine position, lower limb hip, and knee flexion, with foam brick between the legs, and directed to do abdominal breathing increasing abdominal muscle contraction force during exhalation. The head was then held up, and the parts below the lower edge of the scapula cannot leave the bed surface. This was to be repeated ten times per set and a total of three sets for this exercise. (c) Left and right-side leg rotation: The patient was asked to adopt a buckling posture, supine, and legs down to the right. The patient was then asked to inhale with the abdominal bulge, exhale with abdomen muscle contraction, and move both legs in a buckled posture to the left (engage the core abdominal muscles and not engage excessive leg muscles.). The therapist placed one hand on the right side of the external oblique muscle of the patient during muscle contraction, and with the other hand, the therapist applied counter resistance at the side of the knees according to the strength of the patient's exertion. The patient was to repeat this movement alternating on both sides and do it ten times each. (d) Supine cycling: In the supine position, with foam placed at the lumbosacral axis, and arms on both sides of the body, the patient was asked to lift the legs off the bed surface and perform a cycling action. The patient had to complete the cycling action ten times for one set and repeat the set three times. Each exercise was designed for about 5 min, and a total of 20 min, once/day, five times a week for 2 weeks. Patients in both groups started their treatment on the day of randomization and received ten sessions for two consecutive weeks: 5 sessions every week (ideally five consecutive days) until ten sessions. All patients were followed up for 26 weeks.

The same acupuncturist (Yingying Shi) delivered the treatment with standardized operating procedures (Figures 1A,B). Patients were encouraged to refrain from using other therapies for the management of DRA throughout the trial. If other therapies were used, details were documented on a concomitant therapy form. Any adverse event (AE), or side effects (SE) (e.g., bleeding, post stitch, needle blocking) were to be documented in detail on the form and reported to the project leader (Liyuan Jiang). Serious adverse events were to be immediately reported to the institutional review board at the clinical sites within 26 h. Subjects with adverse events were to be treated in the hospital where the project was being implemented, and the project team was to bear the treatment and examination costs.

Assessments and outcomes

The primary outcome was the amelioration of the inter recti distance (IRD) determined by ultrasound at weeks 2 and 26. The response was assessed immediately after the 2-week treatment (week 2) and 24 weeks after treatment (week 26). The betweengroup difference had to be statistically significant at both time points for us to conclude the efficacy for at least 26 weeks.

IRD is the distance between the rectus abdominal muscles (18). An ultrasound scanner (LOGIQ E9) with a 6–15 MHz high-frequency probe with ML6-15 was used to collect images (MSK Gen mode). Patients were asked to take the supine position and fully expose the upper abdomen. Three measurement sites were selected (the midpoint of the umbilicus and xiphoid process, the horizontal line of the umbilicus, and the midpoint between umbilicus and pubic symphysis at resting state), and wide-field imaging was used when necessary. The mean value of three results from each was taken as the reference value.

IRD and electromyographic evaluation of the pelvic floor by Creative Medical Biofeedback System (AM1000B) were evaluated as the primary endpoint using an ultrasound (18).

The secondary outcomes included: (1) The elasticity of linea alba is assessed by strain elastography (24). The elastic mode is selected at two sites (the horizontal line of the umbilicus, and the midpoint of the umbilicus and xiphoid process). The elastic



FIGURE 1

(A) the location of the acupoint; (B) the EA instrument Great Wall KWD-808I; (C) the graphic representation of physical exercise; (D) the fascial abdominal breathing at rest (from the authors' own archives, reprinted with the patient's permission).

zone of interest includes the LA and surrounding tissues, and the zone of interest is adjusted to more than twice the area of the LA and as far as possible the mass scale color is kept fluctuating smoothly within the range of 1/3 to 2/3. Mass scale yellow or green is preferred. The smoothness lasts at least 5s. (2) Body mass index (BMI); (3) Paraumbilical subcutaneous adipose tissue (SAT) measurement (25); (4) Percentage body fat (F%) (26).

Other outcomes: (1) Dyspepsia symptoms were evaluated using the Leeds dyspepsia questionnaire (LDQ). LDQ has six grades based on the severity and frequency of the symptoms. The higher the score is, the more serious the symptoms are. LDQ has qualified validity, reliability, reactivity, and internal unity. Therefore, this study chose LDQ as the evaluation index of dyspepsia symptoms to evaluate the difference in efficacy of electro-acupuncture and the control group in treating DRA from the improvement of dyspepsia symptoms. (2) Menstrual symptoms were measured by the Menstrual Distress Questionnaire (25). (3) Quality of life (QoL) was assessed by the Short Form 36 (SF-36 $\ensuremath{\mathbb{R}}$) questionnaire (27, 28) where eight dimensions of health-related quality of life are assessed: physical functioning (PF), role-physical (RP), bodily pain (BP), general health (GH), vitality (VT), social functioning (SF), role-emotional (RE) and mental health (MH). In addition, the reported health transition (HT) is included. (4) Overall improvement as measured by the short-form McGill pain questionnaire (SF-MPQ) or symptom scale based on the Clinical Study Guideline for New Developed Chinese Medicine (29-31). The questionnaire can be used to assess the pain performance of patients with lower back pain, including the Pain Rating Index (PRI) calculated from the SF-MPQ scale where the PRI is the sum of sensory item scores and emotional item scores; the Visual Analog Scale (VAS) (27, 32); and the Present pain intensity (PPI). (5) Postnatal depression symptoms (PDS) were assessed with Edinburgh postnatal depression scale (EPDS). (6) Postpartum self-image was assessed using the Modified Body Self-Image Scale (MBIS). (7) DRA-related symptom assessment of urine leakage, frequency, and urgency; constipation; sexual dysfunction; and chronic pelvic pain. (8) The main idea of the Hernia-Related Quality of Life Survey (HerQLes) (33) questionnaire was adapted to ask subjects how they felt about the separation of the rectus abdominis muscle and how it affected their lives.

For the evaluation of compliance and adverse events, the patients were instructed to perform physical exercise every day for 26 weeks. Their compliance (number of physical exercises per day, duration of physical exercise per day, movements per day, reasons for not being able to adhere to them) and other conditions (whether they had received other treatment for rectus abdominal separation in the past 26 weeks, whether they had received related treatment for other diseases in the past 26 weeks, whether they had weight-bearing exercises and the frequency of weight-bearing in the past 26 weeks) were statistically evaluated at the end of the follow-up period (Table 1).

Statistical analysis

Data were analyzed using Python 3.8 software. Categorical variables were presented by frequency (percentage) and analyzed with the chi-squared test or Fisher's exact test. If they met normal distribution, continuous variables were presented as mean \pm standard deviation (M \pm SD). Otherwise, they were presented as medians \pm interquartile range (M \pm IQR). The demographic characteristics were compared between the groups by independent *t*-tests at baseline. To evaluate the safety of acupuncture, we used a Fisher exact test to report the relative risk of an adverse effect. Analysis of the correlation between the elasticity of linea alba and IRD was undertaken using Spearman's correlation analysis. All tests were two-sided, and a *P*-value of <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Results

Patients

The study's flow chart is shown in Figure 2. Between 18 January 2021 and 24 January 2022. A total of 31 patients were not enrolled, of whom 21 (67.7%) met exclusion criteria and 10 (32.3%) were eligible but not enrolled for other reasons (Figure 2). A total of 110 randomized patients enrolled in the study of which 55 were randomized to the EA group and 55 to the control group. Only one patient (1 [who withdrew with low back pain] in the control group) did not receive the study's consecutive treatment. The follow-up to 26 weeks was incomplete for 3 patients (due to COVID-19, there was no way to follow up on time in other places). Thus, data for 106 patients (54 in the EA group and 52 in the control group) were used in the final analysis (Figure 2). Attendance in the study was similar between groups.

Baseline characteristics are presented in Table 2. There were no differences between the two groups regarding patient characteristics, IRD, LDQ, and menstrual symptoms as measured by the Menstrual Distress Questionnaire, QoL, EPDS, and so on.

Briefly, EA and control groups were comparable with respect to demographic characteristics at baseline (Table 2). Minor adverse events (bruising and bleeding from sites of needle insertion) occurred in five (9.1%) patients from the EA group (Supplementary material 2), and minor adverse events (a little lumbar acid) occurred in thirteen (23.64%) control group patients (Supplementary material 2). There were no serious

TABLE 1 The analysis of compliance.

Questions	Grade	EA group	Control group	P-value
Number of exercises per day	0 time	19 (35.20%)	19 (36.50%)	0.479
	<1 time on average	27 (50.00%)	30 (57.70%)	
	1 time	7 (13.99%)	3 (5.80%)	
	2 times	1 (1.90%)	0 (0.00%)	
	3 times	1 (0.50%)	0 (0.00%)	
	>3 times	0 (0.00%)	0 (0.00%)	
Daily exercise movements (multiple choice)	No	20 (37.00%)	19 (36.50%)	0.958
	Fascial abdominal breathing	32 (59.30%)	32 (61.50%)	0.811
	Supine head training	6 (11.10%)	5 (9.6%)	0.802
	Left and right-side leg rotation	4 (7.40%)	2 (3.80%)	0.430
	Supine cycling	3 (5.60%)	2 (3.80%)	0.680
Daily exercise time	0	19 (35.20%)	18 (34.60%)	0.647
	<5 min	14 (25.90%)	17(32.70%)	
	5-10 min	12 (22.20%)	11 (21.20%)	
	10-20 min	6 (11.10%)	5 (9.60%)	
	> 20min	3 (5.60%)	1 (1.90%)	
Reasons for not being able to exercise consistently (multiple choice)	Forget	27 (50.00%)	30 (57.70%)	0.429
	No time	31 (57.40%)	39 (75.00%)	0.057
	Unwillingness	7 (13.00%)	12 (23.10%)	0.177
	Not necessary	1 (1.90%)	0 (0.00%)	0.326
	Not mastering the method	0 (0.00%)	0 (0.00%)	1.000
Any other treatment for separation of the rectus abdominis muscle in the last 24 weeks	No	51 (94.40%)	47 (90.40%)	0.431
	Yes	3 (5.60%)	5 (9.60%)	
Any related treatment for other illnesses in the last 6 months	No	51 (94.40%)	43 (82.70%)	0.057
	Yes	3 (5.60%)	9 (17.30%)	
Any weight-bearing activities (carrying children/heavy objects) in the last six months	No	4 (7.40%)	10 (19.20%)	0.113
	Yes	50 (92.60%)	42 (80.80%)	
Weight frequency, if any	\geq 20 times/week	39 (78.00%)	38 (90.50%)	0.109
	<20 times/week	11 (22.08%)	4 (9.50%)	

adverse events that were attributed to the study intervention in either group.

Blinding assessments

Outcome assessors and physical therapists (PT) responded to the assessment of blinding questions at week 2. Statisticians responded to the assessment of blinding questions at week 26 (Table 3). For the three categories of responders, the majority reported: "don't know". The PT had six (10.91%) accurate guesses for the EA group, and three (5.45%) correct guesses were for the control group. For the Bang index where values between -0.2 and 0.2 indicate successful blinding, values for the EA group and control group were 0 and 0, respectively for outcome assessors. For the PT, the Bang index values were 0.109 (95% CI = 0.031-0.187) for the EA group, and 0.115 (95% CI = -0.004 to 0.114) for the control group. For statisticians, the Bang index values were 0 for the EA group, and 0 for the control group. James' Blinding index (BI) assesses the overall degree of disagreement between treatment allocation and guess, where BI < 0.5 represents unblinding. James' Blinding index (BI) was 1, 0.959 (95% CI = 0.920-0.998), and 1, respectively, for outcome assessors, physical therapists (PT), and statisticians. Blinding index values suggest that blinding was achieved for outcome assessors, physical therapists (PT), and statisticians.

At 2 weeks, the mean of IRD at the horizontal line of the umbilicus, the midpoint of the umbilicus, and the xiphoid process in all states of the two groups were reduced compared with those before the treatment, with statistical significance (P < 0.05). For the difference of IRD at the horizontal line of the umbilicus in end-expiratory state, the EA group was better than the control group, with a statistically significant P < 0.05. The mean of IRD at the horizontal line of the umbilicus in the horizontal line of the



end-expiratory state was smaller in the EA group than in the control group, but the difference was not statistically significant (P > 0.05) (Table 4).

At 26 weeks follow-up, the mean of IRD at all status in the midpoint of umbilicus and xiphoid process, at the horizontal line of umbilicus in the resting state, and the horizontal line of umbilicus in the end-expiratory state in both groups were reduced compared with those at 26 weeks, and the difference was statistically significant (P < 0.05). The mean of IRD at the

horizontal line of the umbilicus in head-up and flexed knee state was smaller in the EA group than in the control group, and the difference was statistically significant (P < 0.05). The IRD difference at the horizontal line of the umbilicus in head-up and flexed knee state was higher in the EA group than in the control group, but the difference was not statistically significant (P >0.05). The between-group differences in the mean change from baseline in the IRD followed similar trends of stabilizing during follow-up (Table 4). TABLE 2 Baseline characteristics of the study population*.

Characteristic	All $(n = 110)$	$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{EA}\\ (n=55)^{\dagger} \end{aligned}$	Control $(n = 55)^{\dagger}$	P-value
Age, y				0.054
N (Nmiss)	110 (0)	55 (0)	55 (0)	
Mean±SD	32.60 ± 3.93	32.56 ± 4.27	32.77 ± 3.58	
Min–Max	24-42	24-42	23.61-40.43	
Median (IQR)	32.0 (5.0)	32.10 (6.78)	33.44 (4.90)	
Height, m				0.443
N (Nmiss)	110 (0)	55 (0)	55 (0)	
Mean±SD	160.35 ± 4.88	160.00 ± 5.33	160.69 ± 4.41	
Min–Max	150-171	150-171	150-170	
Median (IQR)	160 (7.3)	160 (8)	160 (6)	
Mean weight before this pregnancy, kg				0.268
N (Nmiss)	110 (0)	55 (0)	55 (0)	
Mean±SD	53.92 ± 6.97	52.98 ± 7.20	54.85 ± 6.67	
Min–Max	42-75	42-70	42-75	
Median (IQR)	53 (11)	52 (9)	55 (10)	
Weight before this prenatal, kg				0.823
N (Nmiss)	110 (0)	55 (0)	55 (0)	
Mean±SD	68.51 ± 8.07	67.71 ± 7.96	69.31 ± 8.17	
Min–Max	52-98	53-89	52-98	
Median (IQR)	68.0 (8.9)	68 (9.2)	70 (8)	
Weight after childbirth, kg				0.729
N (Nmiss)	110 (0)	55 (0)	55 (0)	
Mean±SD	61.32 ± 7.95	59.99 ± 7.39	62.65 ± 8.32	
Min–Max	44-89	44-80	46-89	
Median (IQR)	60.0 (9.25)	60.0 (10.5)	62.0 (10.0)	
Mean BMI before this pregnancy, kg/m ²				0.598
N (Nmiss)	110 (0)	55 (0)	55 (0)	
Mean±SD	20.99 ± 2.41	20.67 ± 2.42	21.48 ± 2.86	
Min-Max	16.41-27.34	17.01-27.34	16.41-31.22	
Median (IQR)	20.50 (3.06)	20.31 (2.77)	21.64 (4.02)	
BMI before this prenatal, kg/m ²				0.921
N (Nmiss)	110 (0)	55 (0)	55 (0)	
Mean±SD	26.62 ± 2.68	26.42 ± 2.53	27.18 ± 3.86	
Min–Max	20.96-35.56	20.96-33.20	20.31-40.79	
Median (IQR)	26.37 (2.92)	25.89 (2.52)	27.24 (4.86)	
BMI after childbirth, kg/m ²				0.453
N (Nmiss)	110 (0)	55 (0)	55 (0)	
Mean±SD	23.83 ± 2.74	23.40 ± 2.41	24.57 ± 3.83	
Min–Max	17.42-32.30	18.31-28.76	18.07-37.04	
Median (IQR)	23.44 (3.35)	23.03 (2.88)	24.38 (4.44)	
Baby's birth weight, kg	· · ·	. ,	· · ·	0.330
N (Nmiss)	110 (0)	55 (0)	55 (0)	
Mean±SD	3.42 ± 0.51	3.42 ± 0.47	3.42 ± 0.55	
Min-Max	2.07-6.0	2.07-4.56	2.5-6.0	
Median (IQR)	3.4 (0.7)	3.42 (0.71)	3.40 (0.64)	
Delivery mode, n (%)	(/			0.529

Characteristic	All	EA	Control	P-value
	(n = 110)	$(n = 55)^{\dagger}$	$(n = 55)^{\dagger}$	
Spontaneous vaginal delivery	59 (53.6)	28 (50.9)	31 (56.4)	
Cesarean section	51 (46.4)	27 (49.1)	24 (43.6)	
Past medical history, n (%)				0.782
Yes	15 (13.6)	7 (12.7)	8 (14.5)	
No	95 (86.4)	48 (87.3)	47 (85.5)	
Medication history, n (%)				0.697
Yes	7 (6.4)	3 (5.5)	4 (7.3)	
No	103 (93.6)	52 (94.5)	51 (92.7)	
Allergic history, n (%)				0.142
Yes	13 (11.8)	4 (7.3)	9 (16.4)	
No	97 (88.2)	51 (92.7)	46 (83.6)	
Previous abdominal surgery, n (%)				0.708
Yes	55 (50.0)	30 (54.5)	25 (45.5)	
No	55 (50.0)	25 (45.5)	30 (54.5)	
Number of pregnancies				0.868
N (Nmiss)	110 (0)	55 (0)	55 (0)	
Mean±SD	1.91 ± 1.09	1.93 ± 1.21	1.89 ± 0.96	
Min-Max	1–7	1-7	1-5	
Median (IQR)	2 (1)	1 (1)	2 (1)	
Number of deliveries				0.478
N (Nmiss)	110 (0)	55 (0)	55 (0)	
Mean±SD	1.47 ± 0.57	1.45 ± 0.57	1.49 ± 0.57	
Min-Max	1-3	1-3	1-3	
Median (IQR)	1 (1)	1 (1)	1 (1)	
Multiple or twin pregnancies, n (%)				0.978
Yes	2 (1.8)	1 (1.8)	1 (1.8)	
No	108 (98.2)	54 (98.2)	54 (98.2)	
Exercise habits, n (%)				0.912
Yes	28 (25.5)	13 (23.6)	15 (27.3)	
No	82 (74.5)	42 (76.4)	40 (72.7)	
Weight-bearing activity, n (%)				0.619
Yes	105 (95.5)	53 (96.4)	52 (94.5)	
No	5 (4.5)	2 (3.6)	3 (5.5)	
Fetal head circumference, mm				0.159
N (Nmiss)	110 (0)	55 (0)	55 (0)	
Mean±SD	33.15 ± 0.62	33.18 ± 0.50	33.13 ± 0.72	
Min-Max	32.0-38.0	32.0-35.5	32-28	
Median (IQR)	33 (0)	33 (0)	33 (0)	
Supraumbilical IRD, cm [§]				0.920
N (Nmiss)	110 (0)	55 (0)	55 (0)	
Mean±SD	1.41 ± 1.27	1.26 ± 1.13	1.56 ± 1.39	
Min-Max	0-7	0-3	0-7	
Median (IQR)	1.5 (2.0)	1.0 (2.0)	1.5 (3.0)	
IRD at the horizontal line of umbilicus, cm				0.051
N (Nmiss)	110 (0)	55 (0)	55 (0)	
Mean±SD	2.84 ± 0.80	2.74 ± 0.75	2.94 ± 0.85	
Min-Max	1.0-7.0	1.5-5.0	1.0-7.0	

Characteristic	All	EA	Control	P-value
	(n = 110)	$(n = 55)^{\dagger}$	$(n = 55)^{\dagger}$	
Median (IQR)	3.0 (0.5)	3.0 (1.0)	3.0 (0.5)	
IRD at the midpoint of the umbilical and pubic symphysis				0.654
line, cm				
N (Nmiss)	110 (0)	55 (0)	55 (0)	
Mean±SD	0.18 ± 0.59	0.18 ± 0.62	0.18 ± 0.57	
Min–Max	0-3	0-3	0-3	
Median (IQR)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	
Time to pregnancy, weeks				0.524
N (Nmiss)	109 (1)	55 (0)	55 (0)	
Mean±SD	38.87 ± 1.31	38.85 ± 1.38	54.85 ± 6.67	
Min–Max	34-42	34-42	42-75	
Median (IQR)	39 (2)	39 (2)	55 (10)	
Time to postpartum, days				0.875
N (Nmiss)	110 (0)	55 (0)	55 (0)	
Mean±SD	116.98 ± 78.05	118.07 ± 78.83	115.89 ± 77.97	
Min–Max	43-363	43-346	43-363	
Median (IQR)	87.0 (83.8)	87.0 (77.0)	88 (88)	
Educational level, n (%)				0.161
Primary education or less	5 (4.5)	4 (7.3)	1 (1.8)	
Secondary education	9 (8.2)	6 (10.9)	3 (5.5)	
Tertiary education	96 (87.3)	45 (81.8)	51 (92.7)	
Occupation before this pregnancy, n (%)				0.797
Yes (including the women who were on sick leave)	107 (97.3)	54 (98.2)	53 (96.4)	
No (homemaker, job seeker or student)	3 (2.7)	1 (1.8)	2 (3.6)	
Low back pain, n (%)				0.068
Yes	94 (85.5)	46 (83.6)	48 (87.3)	
No	16 (14.5)	9 (16.4)	7 (12.7)	
Pelvic girdle pain, n (%) [†]	109 (1)	55 (0)	54 (1)	0.792
Yes	59 (53.6)	26 (47.3)	33 (60.0)	
No	50 (45.5)	29 (52.7)	21 (38.2)	
Urine leakage, n (%)				0.248
Yes	59 (53.6)	28 (50.9)	31 (56.4)	
No	51 (46.4)	27 (49.1)	24 (43.6)	
Urinary frequency, n (%)				0.061
Yes	49 (44.5)	21 (38.2)	28 (50.9)	
No	61 (55.5)	34 (61.8)	27 (49.1)	
Sexual dysfunction, n (%)				0.487
Yes	34 (30.9)	15 (27.3)	19 (34.5)	
No	76 (69.1)	40 (72.7)	36 (65.5)	
Chronic pelvic pain, n (%)				0.548
Yes	10 (9.1)	5 (9.1)	5 (9.1)	
No	100 (90.9)	50 (90.9)	50 (90.9)	
Constipation, n (%)	. /		. ,	0.847
Yes	54 (49.1)	28 (50.9)	26 (47.3)	
No	56 (50.9)	27 (49.1)	29 (52.7)	
Urinary urgency, <i>n</i> (%)				0.098
Yes	27 (24.5)	16 (29.1)	11 (20.0)	

Characteristic	All $(n = 110)$	$\begin{aligned} \text{EA} \\ (n = 55)^{\dagger} \end{aligned}$	Control $(n = 55)^{\dagger}$	P-valu
No	83 (75.5)	39 (70.9)	44 (80.0)	
Pelvic organ prolapses, n (%)				0.467
	42 (38.2)	21 (38.2)	21 (38.2)	
	65 (59.1)	34 (61.8)	31 (56.4)	
	3 (2.7)	0	3 (5.5)	
upraumbilical AC at supine position, $cm^{\$}$				0.645
J (Nmiss)	110 (0)	55 (0)	55 (0)	
/lean±SD	79.64 ± 6.30	78.27 ± 5.45	81.0 ± 6.82	
/in-Max	64.0-97.5	66.0-95.5	64.0-97.5	
Aedian (IQR)	79.5 (6.0)	79.0 (4.5)	81.0 (8.7)	
C at the horizontal line of umbilicus in supine position,				0.927
m				
J (Nmiss)	110 (0)	55 (0)	55 (0)	
Aean±SD	83.16 ± 6.93	81.56 ± 6.26	84.77 ± 7.24	
/in-Max	66.5-102.8	68.0-96.0	66.5-102.8	
Aedian (IQR)	83.0 (7.8)	82.8 (6.5)	85.5 (9.8)	
AC at the midpoint of the umbilical and pubic symphysis				0.726
ne in supine position, cm				
(Nmiss)	110 (0)	55 (0)	55 (0)	
fean±SD	85.39 ± 6.47	83.80 ± 5.59	86.97 ± 6.93	
/in-Max	70-105	72-101	70-105	
Aedian (IQR)	85.5 (6.9)	84.3 (6.8)	86.0 (9.0)	
IC at supine position, cm				0.876
N (Nmiss)	110 (0)	55 (0)	55 (0)	
/lean±SD	91.42 ± 5.58	90.06 ± 5.10	92.78 ± 5.76	
/lin-Max	78.0-106.5	78.0-104.7	81.0-106.5	
Aedian (IQR)	91.0 (6.63)	90.0 (5.5)	93.5 (6.5)	
upraumbilical AC at standing position, $cm^{\$}$				0.261
N (Nmiss)	85 (25)	44 (11)	41 (14)	
1ean±SD	78.44 ± 6.68	77.28 ± 6.08	79.67 ± 7.14	
/lin-Max	64.0-96.5	64.0-94.8	65.0-96.5	
/Iedian (IQR)	77.5 (7.9)	77.0 (7.9)	79.0 (8.85)	
AC at the horizontal line of umbilicus in standing				0.509
osition, cm				
I (Nmiss)	85 (25)	44 (11)	41 (14)	
/lean±SD	88.38 ± 7.45	87.25 ± 7.14	89.60 ± 7.67	
/lin-Max	70-109	70-103	71-109	
fedian (IQR)	88.0 (9.1)	88.0 (7.8)	89.0 (10.8)	
C at the midpoint of the umbilical and pubic symphysis				0.717
ne in standing position, cm				
J (Nmiss)	85 (25)	44 (11)	41 (14)	
/lean±SD	91.91 ± 6.35	90.43 ± 5.52	93.50 ± 6.84	
/lin-Max	75.0-110.5	79.5-106.0	75.0-110.5	
Median (IQR)	92.0 (7.5)	90.3 (6.7)	93.5 (8.9)	
HC at standing position, cm				0.086

All	EA	Control	P-value
(n = 110)	$(n = 55)^{\dagger}$	$(n = 55)^{\dagger}$	
84 (26)	44 (11)	40 (15)	
93.36 ± 6.06	91.82 ± 5.90	95.07 ± 5.84	
78.0-111.5	78.0-105.5	84.0-111.5	
93.5 (7.8)	92.3 (6.9)	95.3 (7.3)	
			0.902
76 (34)	41 (14)	35 (20)	
8.49 ± 22.16	9.95 ± 26.84	6.77 ± 15.17	
0-150	0-150	0-71	
0 (4.5)	0 (3)	0 (10)	
			0.062
74 (36)	40 (15)	34 (21)	
3.31 ± 7.03	3.00 ± 6.34	3.68 ± 7.84	
0-28	0-22	0-28	
0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (1.75)	
		. /	0.667
110 (0)	55 (0)	55 (0)	
			0.974
110 (0)	55 (0)	55 (0)	
()		()	0.347
81 (29)	42 (13)	39 (16)	
2010 (1210)	1010 (1010)	0710 (710)	0.219
81 (29)	42 (13)	39 (16)	01217
55.0 (11.5)	55.5 (15.5)	51.0 (11.0)	0.445
			0.110
110 (0)	55 (0)	55(0)	
21 (12)	20 (12)	20 (12)	0.544
			0.011
110 (0)	55 (0)	55(0)	
17 (10)	17 (2)	10 (11)	0.288
			0.200
110 (0)	55 (0)	55 (0)	
	(n = 110) 84 (26) 93.36 ± 6.06 78.0-111.5 93.5 (7.8) 76 (34) 8.49 ± 22.16 0-150 0 (4.5) 74 (36) 3.31 ± 7.03 0-28 0 (0) 110 (0) 40.48 ± 14.93 10-90 39.5 (20.0) 110 (0) 41.84 ± 14.79 11-90 41.5 (19.3) 81 (29) 37.67 ± 9.38 15-65 38.0 (13.0) 81 (29) 36.07 ± 10.30 15-62 35.0 (14.5) 110 (0) 22.21 ± 10.83 7-97 21 (12) 110 (0) 18.13 ± 9.67 4-90 17 (10)	$(n = 110)$ $(n = 55)^{\dagger}$ 84 (26)44 (11)93.36 \pm 6.0691.82 \pm 5.9078.0-111.578.0-105.593.5 (7.8)92.3 (6.9)76 (34)41 (14)8.49 \pm 22.169.95 \pm 26.840-1500-1500 (4.5)0 (3)74 (36)40 (15)3.31 \pm 7.033.00 \pm 6.340-280-220 (0)0 (0)110 (0)55 (0)40.48 \pm 14.9339.42 \pm 15.3010-9011-9039.5 (20.0)36 (23)110 (0)55 (0)41.84 \pm 14.7940.02 \pm 15.4511-9011-9041.5 (19.3)37 (17)81 (29)42 (13)35.07 \pm 9.3839.21 \pm 10.5015-6515-6538.0 (13.0)40.0 (16.3)81 (29)42 (13)36.07 \pm 10.3036.93 \pm 10.4415-6220-6235.0 (14.5)35.5 (15.3)110 (0)55 (0)22.21 \pm 10.8320.60 \pm 7.387-9710-3621 (12)20 (12)110 (0)55 (0)18.13 \pm 9.6717.32 \pm 6.884-905-3417 (10)17 (9)	$(n = 110)$ $(n = 55)^{\dagger}$ $(n = 55)^{\dagger}$ 84 (26)44 (11)40 (15)93.36 ± 6.0691.82 ± 5.9095.07 ± 5.847.80-111.57.80-105.584.0-111.593.5 (7.8)92.3 (6.9)95.3 (7.3)76 (34)41 (14)35 (20)8.49 ± 22.169.95 ± 26.846.77 ± 15.170-1500-1500-710 (4.5)0 (3)0 (10)74 (36)40 (15)34 (21)3.31 ± 7.033.00 ± 6.343.68 ± 7.840-280-220-280 (0)0 (0)55 (0)40.48 ± 14.9339.42 ± 15.3041.55 ± 14.6110-9011-9010-743.9.5 (20.0)36 (23)40 (20)110 (0)55 (0)55 (0)41.5 (19.3)37 (17)44 (17)81 (29)42 (13)39 (16)37.67 ± 9.3839.21 ± 10.5036.0 ± 7.7915-6515-523.80 (13.0)40.0 (16.3)37.0 (9.0)55 (0)55 (0)81 (29)42 (13)39 (16)36.07 ± 10.3036.93 ± 10.4435.15 ± 10.2115-6220-6215-6035.0 (14.5)35.0 (15.3)34.0 (14.0)110 (0)55 (0)55 (0)22.21 ± 10.8320.60 ± 7.3823.81 ± 13.317-9710-367-9721 (12)20 (12)23 (12)110 (0)55 (0)15.018.13 ± 9.6717.32 ± 6.8818.95 ± 11.844-905-344-9017 (1

Characteristic	All $(n = 110)$	$EA \\ (n = 55)^{\dagger}$	Control $(n = 55)^{\dagger}$	P-value
Mean±SD	23.88 ± 11.84	21.95 ± 8.00	25.81 ± 14.55	
Min–Max	7-104	10-40	7-104	
Median (IQR)	22 (14)	22 (13)	24 (15)	
IRD at the horizontal line of umbilicus in the resting state,				0.749
cm ^Δ				
N (Nmiss)	110 (0)	55 (0)	55 (0)	
Mean±SD	36.57 ± 13.73	34.88 ± 9.78	38.26 ± 16.70	
Min–Max	21-114	21-69	21-114	
Median (IQR)	34 (14)	34 (12)	34 (16)	
IRD at the horizontal line of umbilicus in head-up and				0.540
flexed knee state, cm $^{\Delta}$				
N (Nmiss)	110 (0)	55 (0)	55 (0)	
Mean±SD	26.94 ± 9.75	26.06 ± 8.67	27.83 ± 10.73	
Min–Max	10-80	14-65	10-80	
Median (IQR)	25.0 (9.3)	25 (9)	25 (9)	
IRD at the horizontal line of umbilicus in end-expiratory				0.708
state, cm ^Δ				
N (Nmiss)	110 (0)	55 (0)	55 (0)	
Mean±SD	$\textbf{38.38} \pm \textbf{14.69}$	36.49 ± 11.04	40.27 ± 17.50	
Min-Max	21-118	21-72	22-118	
Median (IQR)	35 (14)	35 (13)	28 (16)	
IRD at the midpoint of between umbilicus and pubic				-
symphysis, cm $^{\Delta}$				
N (Nmiss)	110 (0)	55 (0)	55 (0)	
Mean±SD	0	0	0	
Min-Max	0	0	0	
Median (IQR)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	
Left abdominal skinfold, mm $^{\Delta}$				0.454
N (Nmiss)	15 (95)	4 (51)	11 (44)	
Mean±SD	20.47 ± 4.44	20.25 ± 1.50	20.55 ± 5.18	
Min-Max	14-30	19–22	14-30	
Median (IQR)	20.0 (6.0)	20.0 (2.8)	20 (8)	
Right abdominal skinfold, mm $^{\Delta}$				0.260
N (Nmiss)	15 (95)	4 (51)	11 (44)	
Mean±SD	19.93 ± 3.58	19.75 ± 0.96	20.0 ± 4.20	
Min-Max	15-26	19–21	15-26	
Median (IQR)	19.0 (7.0)	19.5 (1.8)	19 (8)	
The mean values of pre-baseline at the period of calm				0.043
N (Nmiss)	109 (1)	55 (0)	54 (1)	
Mean±SD	7.10 ± 3.91	7.02 ± 4.43	7.18 ± 3.35	
Min–Max	0.58-23.16	1.14-23.16	0.28-14.91	
Median (IQR)	6.2 (5.1)	5.7 (5.8)	6.81 (4.54)	
The mean values of fast muscle at the period of systolic				0.427
N (Nmiss)	109 (1)	55 (0)	54 (1)	
Mean±SD	27.88 ± 11.42	28.55 ± 10.37	27.20 ± 12.46	
Min-Max	5.09-49.61	9.12-48.83	5.09-49.61	

Characteristic	All $(n = 110)$	$EA \\ (n = 55)^{\dagger}$	Control $(n = 55)^{\dagger}$	P-value
Median (IQR)	28.2 (18.2)	28.5 (17.8)	27.1 (20.66)	
The mean values of comprehensive muscle at the period of				0.005
systolic				
N (Nmiss)	109 (1)	55 (0)	54 (1)	
Mean±SD	20.74 ± 10.74	20.48 ± 10.20	21.01 ± 11.35	
Min–Max	3.16-43.76	3.19-40.84	3.16-43.76	
Median (IQR)	18.6 (17.2)	18.2 (17.1)	18.7 (18.42)	
The mean values of slow muscle at the period of systolic				0.001
N (Nmiss)	109 (1)	55 (0)	54 (1)	
Mean±SD	18.13 ± 9.72	17.40 ± 9.06	18.87 ± 10.39	
Min–Max	2.85-40.50	2.85-40.50	4.12-38.97	
Median (IQR)	16.4 (14.2)	16.1 (13.3)	16.61 (15.77)	
The mean values of post-baseline at the period of calm				0.225
N (Nmiss)	109 (1)	55 (0)	54 (1)	
Mean±SD	6.47 ± 3.78	6.24 ± 3.66	6.70 ± 3.69	
Min–Max	0.58-19.12	1.21-19.12	0.58-16.52	
Median (IQR)	6.5 (5.2)	5.8 (4.3)	6.6 (4.9)	
Leeds dyspepsia questionnaire				0.716
N (Nmiss)	110	55	55	
Mean±SD	6.55 ± 1.22	6.49 ± 1.09	6.60 ± 1.34	
Min–Max	6-13	6-12	6-13	
Median (IQR)	6.0 (0.25)	6.5 (0)	6.0 (1)	
SAT in the paraumbilical region				0.069
N (Nmiss)	110 (0)	55 (0)	55 (0)	
Mean±SD	41.16 ± 14.84	39.38 ± 15.38	43.01 ± 14.09	
Min–Max	10-90	11-90	10-74	
Median (IQR)	40 (20)	36 (20)	43 (18.5)	
SAT in right triceps region				0.124
N (Nmiss)	81 (29)	41 (14)	40 (15)	
Mean±SD	37.67 ± 9.38	39.21 ± 10.50	36 ± 7.79	
Min–Max	15-65	15-65	15-52	
Median (IQR)	38 (13)	40 (16.25)	37 (9)	
SAT in the right subscapular region				0.442
N (Nmiss)	81 (29)	41 (14)	40 (15)	
Mean±SD	36.07 ± 10.31	36.93 ± 10.44	35.15 ± 10.21	
Min–Max	15-62	20-62	15-60	
Median (IQR)	35 (14.5)	35.5 (15.25)	34 (14)	
F%				0.380
N (Nmiss)	110 (0)	55 (0)	55 (0)	
Mean±SD	0.32 ± 0.20	0.34 ± 0.21	0.30 ± 0.19	
Min–Max	0.02-0.73	0.02-0.73	0.02-0.62	
Median (IQR)	0.37 (0.44)	0.39 (0.40)	0.35 (0.41)	

AC, abdominal circumference; EA, electroacupuncture; BMI, body mass index; SD, Standard Deviation; HC, hip circumference; IQR, Inter-Quartile Range; IRD, inter recti distance. *The only one patient (1 [who withdrew with low back pain] in control group) did not receive the study consecutive treatment. The follow-up to 26 weeks was incomplete for 3 patients (Due to the COVID-19, there is no way to follow up on time in other places).

[†] There were no significant differences between two groups.

[‡] The pelvic girdle includes inguinal, pubic symphysis, coccyx, sacrum, and either side of the pelvis.

[§]The midpoint of umbilicus and xiphoid process.

 $^{\Delta}$ At the supine position.

Treatment assignment	Outcome a	assessors ($n = 110$)	Physical th	the nerapists ($n = 110$)	Statistic	ians ($n = 110$)
	EA group	Control group	EA group	Control group	EA group	Control group
Guesstimate ^a						
EA group	0	0	6 (10.91)	3 (5.45)	0	0
Control group	0	0	0	0	0	0
Don't know	55	55	49 (89.09)	52 (94.55)	55	55
Degree of confidence in response	se ^a					
Correct guesstimate						
Extremely confident	0	0	0	0	0	0
Reasonably confident	0	0	0	1	0	0
Slightly confident	0	0	6 (10.91)	2	0	0
Missing	55	55	49 (89.09)	52 (94.55)	55	55
Incorrect guesstimate						
Extremely confident	0	0	0	0	0	0
Reasonably confident	0	0	0	0	0	0
Slightly confident	0	0	0	0	0	0
Missing	0	0	0	0	0	0
Blinding indices						
James' Blinding Index ^b		1	0.95	9 (0.920, 0.998)		1
Bang Blinding Index ^b						
EA group		0	0.10	9 (0.031, 0.187)		0
Control group		0	0.115	(-0.004, 0.114)		0

TABLE 3 Guesstimate vs. treatment assignment.

James' Blinding index (BI) assesses overall degree of disagreement between treatment allocation and guess, where a BI < 0.5 represents unblinding.

Bang Blinding index assesses the degree of disagreement in each treatment group, where a BI>0.2 represents unblinding and a BI<-0.2 represents Opposite Guess or 'Wishful thinking'. ^aParentheses denote percentages.

^bParentheses denote 95% confidence interval.

The results of the electromyographic evaluation of the pelvic floor show the following: After treatment, the mean of pre-baseline during the period of calm in both groups was lower than that before treatment, and the difference was statistically significant (P < 0.05). The mean value of the fast muscle during systole, the comprehensive muscle during systole, and the slow muscle during systole in both groups increased compared with that before treatment, and the difference was statistically significant (P < 0.05). The difference in slow muscle during systole before and after treatment in the EA group was higher than that in the control group, and the difference was statistically significant (P < 0.05). After 26 weeks of followup, the mean of pre-baseline during the period of calm in the EA group was lower than those after treatment, and the difference was statistically significant (P < 0.05). The mean of the fast muscle during systole, the comprehensive muscle during systole, and the slow muscle during systole in the EA group were increased compared with that after treatment, and the difference was statistically significant (P < 0.05). At 26 weeks, the differences in the mean of slow muscle during systole were higher in the EA group than in the control group, and the difference was statistically significant (P < 0.05). At 26 weeks,

the mean of the pre-baseline during the period of calm of the EA group was lower than that of the control group, and the difference was statistically significant (P < 0.05). Compared with the control group, the mean of the fast muscle during systole, the comprehensive muscle during systole, and the slow muscle during systole in the EA group were increased, and the differences were statistically significant (P < 0.05) (Table 4).

In the control group, the elasticity of linea alba was smaller than that of the EA group at two sites (the horizontal line of the umbilicus, and the midpoint of the umbilicus and xiphoid process) at week 2 and week 26 (P < 0.05). In terms of the correlation between the elasticity of linea alba and IRD, the LA elasticity score was negatively correlated with IRD (rs = -0.356, P < 0.05). As recognized by week 2, a greater decrease in BMI in the EA group compared with the control group indicate the presence of variation in response to treatment (P < 0.05) (Table 4).

After treatment, the mean of SAT at the paraumbilical and right triceps of the two groups, and the mean of SAT at the right subscapular of the EA group were reduced compared with those before treatment, with statistical significance (P < 0.05), but the difference was not statistically significant (P > 0.05) between

Outcome		EA group (<i>n</i> = 54)	Control group $(n = 52)$	<i>P</i> -value ^{##}
Primary outcome				
IRD				
IRD at the horizontal line of umbilicus in the resting state,	Before the treatment	3.49 ± 0.98	3.83 ± 1.67	
cm $^{\Delta^{\dagger}}$	After the treatment	2.85 ± 0.86	3.08 ± 1.43	
	<i>P</i> -value #	0.000	0.000	
IRD at the horizontal line of umbilicus in head-up and flexed	Before the treatment	2.61 ± 0.87	2.78 ± 1.07	
knee state, cm Δ^{\dagger}	After the treatment	1.96 ± 0.61	2.17 ± 0.81	
	<i>P</i> -value #	0.000	0.000	
IRD at the horizontal line of umbilicus in end-expiratory	Before the treatment	3.65 ± 1.10	4.03 ± 1.75	
state, cm $^{\Delta^{\dagger}}$	After the treatment	3.21 ± 0.96	3.43 ± 1.57	
	<i>P</i> -value #	0.000	0.000	
IRD at the midpoint of umbilicus and xiphoid process in the	Before the treatment	2.06 ± 0.74	2.38 ± 1.33	
resting state, cm $^{\Delta^{\dagger}}$	After the treatment	1.60 ± 0.72	1.82 ± 1.24	
	<i>P</i> -value #	0.000	0.000	
IRD at the midpoint of umbilicus and xiphoid process in	Before the treatment	1.73 ± 0.69	1.90 ± 1.18	
head-up and flexed knee state, cm ${}^{\Delta^{\dagger}}$	After the treatment	1.33 ± 0.62	1.41 ± 0.80	
	<i>P</i> -value #	0.000	0.000	
IRD at the midpoint of umbilicus and xiphoid process in	Before the treatment	2.20 ± 0.80	2.58 ± 1.46	
end-expiratory state, cm $^{\Delta^{\dagger}}$	After the treatment	1.76 ± 0.78	2.03 ± 1.39	
	<i>P</i> -value #	0.000	0.000	
IRD at the midpoint of between umbilicus and pubic	Before the treatment	0.00 ± 0.00	0.00 ± 0.00	
RD at the midpoint of between umbilicus and pubic mphysis, cm $^{\Delta^{\dagger}}$	After the treatment	0.00 ± 0.00	0.00 ± 0.00	
	<i>P</i> -value #	1.000	1.000	
IRD at the horizontal line of umbilicus in the resting state,	After the treatment	2.85 ± 0.86	3.08 ± 1.43	
$\mathrm{cm}^{\Delta^{\dagger}}$	At 24 weeks follow-up after treatment	2.59 ± 0.84	2.89 ± 1.31	
	<i>P</i> -value #	0.000	0.000	
IRD at the horizontal line of umbilicus in head-up and flexed	After the treatment	1.96 ± 0.6	2.17 ± 0.81	
knee state, cm Δ^{\dagger}	At 24 weeks follow-up after treatment	1.77 ± 0.67	2.08 ± 0.82	
	<i>P</i> -value #	0.167	0.001	
IRD at the horizontal line of umbilicus in end-expiratory	After the treatment	3.21 ± 0.96	3.43 ± 1.57	
state, cm $^{\Delta^{\dagger}}$	At 24 weeks follow-up after treatment	3.00 ± 1.02	3.25 ± 1.30	
	<i>P</i> -value #	0.001	0.000	
IRD at the midpoint of umbilicus and xiphoid process in the	After the treatment	1.60 ± 0.72	1.82 ± 1.24	
resting state, cm Δ^{\dagger}	At 24 weeks follow-up after treatment	1.37 ± 0.72	1.50 ± 1.24	
	<i>P</i> -value #	0.000	0.000	
IRD at the midpoint of umbilicus and xiphoid process in	After the treatment	1.33 ± 0.62	1.41 ± 0.80	
head-up and flexed knee state, cm Δ^{\dagger}	At 24 weeks follow-up after treatment	1.12 ± 0.63	1.17 ± 0.74	
•	<i>P</i> -value #	0.000	0.000	
IRD at the midpoint of umbilicus and xiphoid process in	After the treatment	1.76 ± 0.78	2.03 ± 1.39	
end-expiratory state, cm Δ^{\dagger}	At 24 weeks follow-up after treatment	1.56 ± 0.83	1.68 ± 1.39	
- •	P-value #	0.000	0.000	
IRD at the midpoint of between umbilicus and pubic	After the treatment	0.00 ± 0.00	0.00 ± 0.00	
symphysis, cm Δ^{\dagger}	At 24 weeks follow-up after treatment	0.00 ± 0.00	0.00 ± 0.00	
	P-value #	1.000	1.000	

TABLE 4 (Continued)			
Outcome	EA group (<i>n</i> = 54)	Control group $(n = 52)$	P-value ^{##}
Week 2 ^{##}	-7.56 ± 3.82	-6.37 ± 3.67	0.084
IRD at the horizontal line of umbilicus in the resting state, cm $^{\Delta ^{\ddagger }}$			
IRD at the horizontal line of umbilicus in head-up and flexed	-6.20 ± 5.37	-6.48 ± 5.05	0.884
knee state, cm Δ^{\ddagger}			
IRD at the horizontal line of umbilicus in end-expiratory state, cm ${}^{\Delta^{\ddagger}}$	-6.09 ± 3.91	-4.44 ± 4.62	0.017
IRD at the midpoint of umbilicus and xiphoid process in the resting state, cm Δ^{\ddagger}	-5.58 ± 3.24	-4.64 ± 2.11	0.212
IRD at the midpoint of umbilicus and xiphoid process in	-4.89 ± 5.89	-4.06 ± 3.62	0.472
head-up and flexed knee state, cm Δ^{\ddagger}			
IRD at the midpoint of umbilicus and xiphoid process in end-expiratory state, cm Δ^{\ddagger}	-5.43 ± 3.94	-4.32 ± 2.74	0.128
IRD at the midpoint of between umbilicus and pubic	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	1.000
symphysis, cm Δ^{\ddagger}	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	11000
Week 26 ^{##}			
IRD at the horizontal line of umbilicus in the resting state,	-2.57 ± 3.12	-2.17 ± 3.31	0.361
cm ^{Δ‡}			
IRD at the horizontal line of umbilicus in head-up and flexed	-1.94 ± 4.22	-0.88 ± 4.01	0.146
knee state, cm Δ^{\ddagger}			
IRD at the horizontal line of umbilicus in end-expiratory	-1.98 ± 4.27	-2.08 ± 4.54	0.429
state, cm $^{\Delta^{\ddagger}}$			
IRD at the midpoint of umbilicus and xiphoid process in the resting state, cm ${}^{\Delta^{\ddagger}}$	-2.37 ± 2.08	-3.42 ± 3.31	0.153
IRD at the midpoint of umbilicus and xiphoid process in head-up and flexed knee state, cm Δ^{\ddagger}	-2.09 ± 2.58	-2.48 ± 3.46	0.932
IRD at the midpoint of umbilicus and xiphoid process in	-2.17 ± 2.89	-3.69 ± 3.91	0.056
end-expiratory state, cm Δ^{\ddagger}			
IRD at the midpoint of between umbilicus and pubic	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	1.000
symphysis, cm ${}^{\Delta^{\ddagger}}$			
Week 2##			
IRD at the horizontal line of umbilicus in the resting state,	2.85 ± 0.86	3.08 ± 1.43	0.736
$\operatorname{cm}^{\Delta^{\dagger}}$			
IRD at the horizontal line of umbilicus in head-up and flexed	1.96 ± 0.61	2.17 ± 0.81	0.194
knee state, cm Δ^{\dagger}			
IRD at the horizontal line of umbilicus in end-expiratory state, cm ${}^{\Delta^{\dagger}}$	3.21 ± 0.96	3.43 ± 1.57	0.851
IRD at the midpoint of umbilicus and xiphoid process in the	1.60 ± 0.72	1.82 ± 1.24	0.401
resting state, cm $^{\Delta^{\dagger}}$			
IRD at the midpoint of umbilicus and xiphoid process in	1.33 ± 0.62	1.41 ± 0.80	0.593
head-up and flexed knee state, cm $^{\Delta^\dagger}$			
IRD at the midpoint of umbilicus and xiphoid process in	1.76 ± 0.78	2.03 ± 1.39	0.338
end-expiratory state, cm $^{\Delta^{\dagger}}$			
IRD at the midpoint of between umbilicus and pubic	0.00 ± 0.00	0.00 ± 0.00	1.000
symphysis, cm ${}^{\Delta^{\dagger}}$			
Week 26##			

Outcome		EA group (<i>n</i> = 54)	Control group $(n = 52)$	P-value ^{##}
IRD at the horizontal line of umbilicus in the resting state, cm $^{\Delta^{\dagger}}$		2.59 ± 0.84	2.89 ± 1.31	0.224
IRD at the horizontal line of umbilicus in head-up and flexed knee state, cm ${}^{\Delta^{\dagger}}$		1.77 ± 0.67	2.08 ± 0.82	0.027
IRD at the horizontal line of umbilicus in end-expiratory state, cm $^{\Delta^{\dagger}}$		3.00 ± 1.02	3.25 ± 1.30	0.450
IRD at the midpoint of umbilicus and xiphoid process in the resting state, cm Δ^{\dagger}		1.37 ± 0.72	1.50 ± 1.24	0.704
IRD at the midpoint of umbilicus and xiphoid process in		1.12 ± 0.63	1.17 ± 0.74	0.562
head-up and flexed knee state, cm Δ^{\dagger} IRD at the midpoint of umbilicus and xiphoid process in end-expiratory state, cm Δ^{\dagger}		1.56 ± 0.83	1.68 ± 1.39	0.756
IRD at the midpoint of between umbilicus and pubic symphysis, cm ^{Δ†}		0 ± 0	0 ± 0	1.000
Electromyographic evaluation of pelvic floor				
Week 2#	Before the treatment	7.02 ± 4.43	7.17 ± 3.32	
The mean value of pre-baseline during the period of calm [†]				
	After the treatment	5.55 ± 3.58	6.56 ± 3.64	
	P-value #	0.000	0.050	
ast muscle during systole [†]	Before the treatment	28.55 ± 10.37	27.37 ± 12.40	
	After the treatment	35.41 ± 10.59	32.86 ± 12.48	
	P-value #	0.000	0.000	
The comprehensive muscle during systole [†]	Before the treatment	20.48 ± 10.20	20.48 ± 10.20	
I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I	After the treatment	27.33 ± 10.38	25.86 ± 10.52	
	<i>P</i> -value #	0.000	0.000	
Slow muscle during systole [†]	Before the treatment	17.40 ± 9.06	18.77 ± 10.32	
0.1	After the treatment	24.82 ± 9.70	23.54 ± 0.81	
	<i>P</i> -value #	0.000	0.000	
The mean value of post-baseline during the period of $calm^\dagger$	Before the treatment	6.24 ± 3.88	6.70 ± 3.65	
	After the treatment	6.76 ± 4.18	7.37 ± 3.70	
	<i>P</i> -value #	0.463	0.149	
Week 26#	Before the treatment	5.55 ± 3.58	6.56 ± 3.64	
The mean value of pre-baseline during the period of calm [†]				
	After the treatment	4.44 ± 2.29	6.25 ± 3.87	
	P-value #	0.004	0.348	
Fast muscle during systole [†]	Before the treatment	35.41 ± 10.59	32.86 ± 12.48	
0.1	After the treatment	46.08 ± 14.91	39.64 ± 19.76	
	P-value #	0.000	0.008	
The comprehensive muscle during systole [†]	Before the treatment	27.33 ± 10.38	25.86 ± 10.52	
• 0.1	After the treatment	39.64 ± 19.76	28.67 ± 16.07	
	P-value #	0.002	0.120	
Slow muscle during systole	Before the treatment	24.82 ± 9.70	23.54 ± 0.81	
- · ·	After the treatment	29.10 ± 10.80	23.02 ± 11.22	
	<i>P</i> -value #	0.003	0.579	
The mean value of post-baseline during the period of $\operatorname{calm}^{\dagger}$	Before the treatment	6.76 ± 4.18	7.37 ± 3.70	
	After the treatment	5.95 ± 2.55	7.38 ± 5.31	

Outcome		EA group $(n = 54)$	Control group $(n = 52)$	P-value ^{##}
	<i>P</i> -value #	0.213	0.289	
Week 2##		-1.47 ± 3.43	-0.64 ± 2.90	0.225
The mean value of pre-baseline during the period of $\operatorname{calm}^{\ddagger}$				
The mean value of fast muscle during systole ^{\ddagger}		6.86 ± 7.50	5.59 ± 9.51	0.178
The mean value of the comprehensive muscle during		6.86 ± 7.14	4.87 ± 7.82	0.074
systole [‡]				
The mean value of slow muscle during systole [‡]		7.42 ± 6.39	4.63 ± 8.21	0.019
The mean value of post-baseline during the period of calm [‡]		0.51 ± 3.32	0.62 ± 2.93	0.630
Week 26##		-1.21 ± 2.74	-0.41 ± 3.54	0.355
The mean value of pre-baseline during the period of $\operatorname{calm}^\ddagger$				
The mean value of fast muscle during systole \ddagger		10.36 ± 12.7	7.07 ± 16.02	0.102
The mean value of the comprehensive muscle during		5.54 ± 11.77	3.05 ± 12.66	0.191
systole [‡]				
The mean value of slow muscle during systole [‡]		4.03 ± 9.30	-0.19 ± 9.29	0.013
The mean value of post-baseline during the period of calm [‡]		-0.91 ± 3.44	0.01 ± 4.75	0.970
Week 2##		5.55 ± 3.58	6.56 ± 3.64	0.116
The mean value of pre-baseline during the period of $calm^\dagger$				
The mean value of fast muscle during systole [†]		35.41 ± 10.59	32.86 ± 12.48	0.212
The mean value of the comprehensive muscle during		27.33 ± 10.38	25.86 ± 10.52	0.486
systole [†]				
The mean value of slow muscle during systole †		24.82 ± 9.70	23.54 ± 0.81	0.575
The mean value of the mean value of post-baseline during		6.76 ± 4.18	7.37 ± 3.70	0.211
the period of calm ^{\dagger}				
Week 26##		4.44 ± 2.29	$\boldsymbol{6.25 \pm 3.87}$	0.006
The mean value of pre-baseline during the period of calm †				
The mean value of fast muscle during systole †		46.08 ± 14.91	39.64 ± 19.76	0.006
The mean value of the comprehensive muscle during		33.15 ± 12.66	28.67 ± 16.07	0.016
systole [†]				
The mean value of slow muscle during systole †		29.10 ± 10.80	23.02 ± 11.22	0.002
The mean value of post-baseline during the period of $\operatorname{calm}^{\dagger}$		5.95 ± 2.55	7.38 ± 5.31	0.235
Secondary Outcomes				
The elastic of linea alba				
Week 2**		3.08 ± 0.43	2.24 ± 0.74	0.000
The elastic of linea alba in the horizontal line of umbilicus				
The elastic of linea alba in the midpoint of umbilicus and		2.34 ± 0.65	1.24 ± 0.48	0.000
xiphoid process				
Week 26##		3.94 ± 0.72	3.16 ± 0.93	0.000
The elastic of linea alba in the horizontal line of umbilicus				
The elastic of linea alba in the midpoint of umbilicus and		3.23 ± 0.85	2.72 ± 1.01	0.010
xiphoid process				
BMI at week 2		21.97 ± 0.05	23.25 ± 0.42	0.013
The paraumbilical SAT				
SAT in the paraumbilical region †	Before the treatment	39.38 ± 15.38	43.01 ± 14.09	
	After the treatment	35.02 ± 11.97	37.85 ± 12.05	
	<i>P</i> -value #	0.000	0.000	
SAT in right triceps region [†]	Before the treatment	39.21 ± 10.50	36 ± 7.79	
	After the treatment	34.58 ± 7.03	33.04 ± 6.65	

Outcome		EA group (<i>n</i> = 54)	Control group $(n = 52)$	P-value ^{##}
	P-value [#]	0.001	0.024	
SAT in the right subscapular region †	Before the treatment	36.93 ± 10.44	35.15 ± 10.21	
	After the treatment	31.64 ± 7.51	33.62 ± 8.56	
	P-value [#]	0.000	0.604	
F% [†]	Before the treatment	0.34 ± 0.21	0.30 ± 0.19	
	After the treatment	0.31 ± 0.16	0.34 ± 0.14	
	P-value [#]	0.142	0.067	
SAT in the paraumbilical region †	After the treatment	35.02 ± 11.97	37.85 ± 12.05	
	At 24 weeks follow-up after treatment	31.64 ± 7.51	31.77 ± 8.83	
	P-value [#]	0.000	0.000	
SAT in right triceps region [†]	After the treatment	34.58 ± 7.03	33.04 ± 6.65	
	At 24 weeks follow-up after treatment	28.89 ± 7.26	30.08 ± 5.97	
	<i>P</i> -value [#]	0.002	0.040	
SAT in the right subscapular region †	After the treatment	31.64 ± 7.51	33.62 ± 8.56	
	At 24 weeks follow-up after treatment	32.22 ± 9.05	31.32 ± 8.95	
	<i>P</i> -value [#]	0.218	0.216	
F% [†]	After the treatment	0.31 ± 0.16	0.34 ± 0.14	
	At 24 weeks follow-up after treatment	0.34 ± 0.10	0.33 ± 0.11	
	P-value [#]	0.246	0.723	
Week 2##				
SAT in the paraumbilical region †		35.02 ± 11.97	37.85 ± 12.05	0.084
SAT in right triceps region [†]		34.58 ± 7.03	33.04 ± 6.65	0.285
SAT in the right subscapular region †		31.64 ± 7.51	33.62 ± 8.56	0.244
F% [†]		0.31 ± 0.16	0.34 ± 0.14	0.362
SAT in the paraumbilical region [‡]		-5.60 ± 9.93	-5.16 ± 9.03	0.726
SAT in right triceps region [‡]		-0.81 ± 9.33	1.38 ± 9.43	0.084
SAT in the right subscapular region \ddagger		-1.13 ± 8.44	1.94 ± 9.00	0.010
F% [‡]		-0.01 ± 0.10	0.02 ± 0.09	0.019
Week 26 ^{##}				
SAT in the paraumbilical region †		29.23 ± 8.66	31.77 ± 8.83	0.038
SAT in right triceps region [†]		28.89 ± 7.26	30.08 ± 5.97	0.365
SAT in the right subscapular region †		32.22 ± 9.05	31.32 ± 8.95	0.611
F% [†]		0.34 ± 0.10	0.33 ± 0.11	0.586
SAT in the paraumbilical region [‡]		-11.19 ± 19.44	-13.59 ± 17.12	0.332
SAT in right triceps region [‡]		-0.78 ± 15.38	0.93 ± 13.86	0.390
SAT in the right subscapular region [‡]		1.69 ± 14.74	1.81 ± 13.79	0.951
F% [‡]		0.00 ± 0.16	0.01 ± 0.15	0.599

AC, abdominal circumference; EA, electroacupuncture; BMI, body mass index; SD, Standard Deviation; HC, hip circumference; IQR, Inter-Quartile Range; IRD, inter recti distance; BMI, Body Mass Index; SAT, subcutaneous adipose tissue; F%, percentage body fat.

*Data for 106 patients (54 randomized to the EA group and 52 to the control group) were used in the final analysis.

[#]Comparisons of means within group.

Comparisons were carried out between groups.

 $^\ddagger{\rm The}$ difference.

[§]The midpoint of umbilicus and xiphoid process.

 $^{\Delta}$ At the supine position.

groups. The F% difference and the right subscapular SAT were reduced in the EA group than in the control group on the frontto-back difference between groups, with statistical significance (P < 0.05) (Table 4). The comparison within the group suggested that the total LDQ score of the EA group improved compared with that before treatment and was statistically significant (*P*

[†]The mean value.

SF [‡] RE [†] RE [‡] MH [†] MH [‡]	$\begin{array}{c} 6.34 \pm 0.14 \\ 0.005 \\ 6.11 \pm 0.07 \\ 0.134 \\ 0.017 \\ 0.134 \\ 1 \pm 0 \\ 1.02 \pm 0.02 \\ 1.04 \pm 0.04 \\ 1 \pm 0 \\ 1.02 \pm 0.02 \\ 1.04 \pm 0.03 \\ 10.97 \pm 0.59 \\ 6.34 \pm 0.14 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 6.29 \pm 0.12 \\ 0.300 \\ 6.65 \pm 0.25 \\ 0.147 \\ 0.548 \\ 0.147 \\ 1.06 \pm 0.05 \\ 1.16 \pm 0.07 \\ 1.08 \pm 0.05 \\ 1.04 \pm 0.03 \\ 1.04 \pm 0.03 \\ 1.27 \pm 0.11 \\ 20.15 \pm 0.60 \end{array}$	0.840 0.057 0.147 0.081 0.301 0.147 0.537 0.020
P-value# Week 26 [†] P-value# P-value of difference between post-follow-up and pre-treatment# P-value of difference between post-follow-up and pre-treatment# post-treatment# upper abdominal pain postprandial fullness early satiety upper abdominal cauterization postprandial nausea belching Mestraal symptoms Week 26 Pp ⁺ P	$\begin{array}{c} 0.005 \\ 6.11 \pm 0.07 \\ 0.134 \\ 0.017 \\ 0.134 \\ 1 \pm 0 \\ 1.02 \pm 0.02 \\ 1.04 \pm 0.04 \\ 1 \pm 0 \\ 1.02 \pm 0.02 \\ 1.04 \pm 0.03 \\ 1.04 \pm 0.03 \\ 10.97 \pm 0.59 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.300\\ 6.65\pm 0.25\\ 0.147\\ 0.548\\ \end{array}\\ \begin{array}{c} 0.147\\ 1.06\pm 0.05\\ 1.16\pm 0.07\\ 1.08\pm 0.05\\ 1.04\pm 0.03\\ 1.04\pm 0.03\\ 1.27\pm 0.11\\ \end{array}$	0.057 0.147 0.081 0.301 0.147 0.537
Week 26 [†] P-value of difference between post-follow-up and pre-treatment# P-value of difference between post-follow-up and post-treatment# upper abdominal pain postprandial fullness early satiety upper abdominal cauterization postprandial nausea belching Mesk 26 Pt ¹ Pt ² Rp [†] Rp [†] Rp [†] Rp [†] Rp [†] Rp [†] Sp [‡]	$\begin{array}{c} 6.11 \pm 0.07 \\ 0.134 \\ 0.017 \\ 0.134 \\ 1 \pm 0 \\ 1.02 \pm 0.02 \\ 1.04 \pm 0.04 \\ 1 \pm 0 \\ 1.02 \pm 0.02 \\ 1.04 \pm 0.03 \\ 1.04 \pm 0.03 \\ 10.97 \pm 0.59 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 6.65 \pm 0.25 \\ 0.147 \\ 0.548 \\ \end{array}$ $\begin{array}{c} 0.147 \\ 1.06 \pm 0.05 \\ 1.16 \pm 0.07 \\ 1.08 \pm 0.05 \\ 1.04 \pm 0.03 \\ 1.04 \pm 0.03 \\ 1.27 \pm 0.11 \end{array}$	0.147 0.081 0.301 0.147 0.537
P-value P-value P-value of difference between post-follow-up and pre-treatment# P-value of difference between post-follow-up and post-treatment# upper abdominal pain postprandial fullness early satiety upper abdominal cauterization postprandial nausea belching Week 26 PF ¹ . PF ¹ RP ⁴ <	$\begin{array}{c} 0.134\\ 0.017\\ 0.134\\ 1\pm 0\\ 1.02\pm 0.02\\ 1.04\pm 0.04\\ 1\pm 0\\ 1.02\pm 0.02\\ 1.04\pm 0.03\\ 1.04\pm 0.03\\ 10.97\pm 0.59\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.147\\ 0.548\\ \\ 0.147\\ 1.06\pm 0.05\\ 1.16\pm 0.07\\ 1.08\pm 0.05\\ 1.04\pm 0.03\\ 1.04\pm 0.03\\ 1.27\pm 0.11\\ \end{array}$	0.147 0.081 0.301 0.147 0.537
P-value of difference between post-follow-up and pre-treatment# P-value of difference between post-follow-up and post-treatment# upper abdominal pain postprandial fullness early satiety upper abdominal cauterization postprandial nausea belching Week 26 Ppf ¹ Ppf ⁴ Rp ⁴ Spite Spite <	$\begin{array}{c} 0.017 \\ \\ 0.134 \\ 1 \pm 0 \\ 1.02 \pm 0.02 \\ 1.04 \pm 0.04 \\ 1 \pm 0 \\ 1.02 \pm 0.02 \\ 1.04 \pm 0.03 \\ 1.04 \pm 0.03 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.548\\ \\ 0.147\\ 1.06\pm 0.05\\ 1.16\pm 0.07\\ 1.08\pm 0.05\\ 1.04\pm 0.03\\ 1.04\pm 0.03\\ 1.27\pm 0.11\end{array}$	0.081 0.301 0.147 0.537
pre-treatment# P-value of difference between post-follow-up and post-treatment# upper abdominal pain postprandial fullness early satiety upper abdominal cauterization postprandial nausea belching Menstrual symptoms Week 26 Pof. Pof. Pof. Pof. Pof. Pof. Pof. Pof.	$\begin{array}{c} 0.134 \\ 1 \pm 0 \\ 1.02 \pm 0.02 \\ 1.04 \pm 0.04 \\ 1 \pm 0 \\ 1.02 \pm 0.02 \\ 1.04 \pm 0.03 \\ 10.97 \pm 0.59 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.147\\ 1.06 \pm 0.05\\ 1.16 \pm 0.07\\ 1.08 \pm 0.05\\ 1.04 \pm 0.03\\ 1.04 \pm 0.03\\ 1.27 \pm 0.11 \end{array}$	0.081 0.301 0.147 0.537
P-value of difference between post-follow-up and post-treatment# upper abdominal pain postprandial fullness early satiety upper abdominal cauterization postprandial nausea belching Mestrual symptoms Week 26 Ppf ¹ Ppf ² Rp ⁴ Rp ⁴ Rp ⁴ Spf Sp ⁴ Spf	$\begin{array}{c} 1 \pm 0 \\ 1.02 \pm 0.02 \\ 1.04 \pm 0.04 \\ 1 \pm 0 \\ 1.02 \pm 0.02 \\ 1.04 \pm 0.03 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 1.06 \pm 0.05 \\ 1.16 \pm 0.07 \\ 1.08 \pm 0.05 \\ 1.04 \pm 0.03 \\ 1.04 \pm 0.03 \\ 1.27 \pm 0.11 \end{array}$	0.081 0.301 0.147 0.537
post-treatment#upper abdominal painpostprandial fullnessearly satietyupper abdominal cauterizationpostprandial nauseabelchingWeek 26OolWeek 26Pet^1spet*Rap*BabehoneSig*GH*Sig*	$\begin{array}{c} 1 \pm 0 \\ 1.02 \pm 0.02 \\ 1.04 \pm 0.04 \\ 1 \pm 0 \\ 1.02 \pm 0.02 \\ 1.04 \pm 0.03 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 1.06 \pm 0.05 \\ 1.16 \pm 0.07 \\ 1.08 \pm 0.05 \\ 1.04 \pm 0.03 \\ 1.04 \pm 0.03 \\ 1.27 \pm 0.11 \end{array}$	0.081 0.301 0.147 0.537
upper abdominal pain postprandial fullness early satiety upper abdominal cauterization postprandial nausea belching Mestrual symptoms Week 26 OP1 Week 26 PF [↑] PF [↑] RP [↑] RP [↑] RP [↑] GH [†] GH	$\begin{array}{c} 1.02 \pm 0.02 \\ 1.04 \pm 0.04 \\ 1 \pm 0 \\ 1.02 \pm 0.02 \\ 1.04 \pm 0.03 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 1.16 \pm 0.07 \\ 1.08 \pm 0.05 \\ 1.04 \pm 0.03 \\ 1.04 \pm 0.03 \\ 1.27 \pm 0.11 \end{array}$	0.081 0.301 0.147 0.537
postprandial fullness early satiety upper abdominal cauterization postprandial nausea belching Menstrual symptoms Week 26 QoL Week 26 OP [†] . OP [†] . O	$\begin{array}{c} 1.02 \pm 0.02 \\ 1.04 \pm 0.04 \\ 1 \pm 0 \\ 1.02 \pm 0.02 \\ 1.04 \pm 0.03 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 1.16 \pm 0.07 \\ 1.08 \pm 0.05 \\ 1.04 \pm 0.03 \\ 1.04 \pm 0.03 \\ 1.27 \pm 0.11 \end{array}$	0.081 0.301 0.147 0.537
early saiety upper abdominal cauterization postprandial nausea belching Menstrual symptoms Neek 26 20L Neek 26 2pt [†] . 2pt [†] . 2	$\begin{array}{c} 1.04 \pm 0.04 \\ 1 \pm 0 \\ 1.02 \pm 0.02 \\ 1.04 \pm 0.03 \\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 1.08 \pm 0.05 \\ 1.04 \pm 0.03 \\ 1.04 \pm 0.03 \\ 1.27 \pm 0.11 \end{array}$	0.301 0.147 0.537
uper abdominal cauterization postprandial nausea belching Menstrual symptoms Week 26 OoL Week 26 OPT [†] . Opt [‡] Sp [‡] Sp [‡] Sp [‡] Sp [‡] Sh [†] SH [†] S	1 ± 0 1.02 ± 0.02 1.04 ± 0.03 10.97 ± 0.59	$\begin{array}{c} 1.04 \pm 0.03 \\ 1.04 \pm 0.03 \\ 1.27 \pm 0.11 \end{array}$	0.147 0.537
belching Kenstrual symptoms Neek 26 Del Neek 26 Pt [†] . Pt [†] . Sp [†] .	1.02 ± 0.02 1.04 ± 0.03 10.97 ± 0.59	$\begin{array}{c} 1.04 \pm 0.03 \\ \\ 1.27 \pm 0.11 \end{array}$	0.537
belching Menstrual symptoms Week 26 QoL Neek 26 Pp † Pp Pp Pp	1.04 ± 0.03 10.97 ± 0.59	1.27 ± 0.11	
Westrual symptoms West 26 QoL West 26 PF [†] . Sp [†]	10.97 ± 0.59		0.020
Week 26 QoL Week 26 PF [†] . PF [‡] Rp [†] Rp [†] Sp [†]		20.15 ± 0.60	
QoL Week 26 PF [†] . PF [†] . PF [†] . RP [†] . RP [†] . SP [†]		20.15 ± 0.60	
Week 26 PF [†] . PF [‡] RP [†] RP [‡] BP [†] BF [†] GH [†] GH [†] VT [†] VT [‡] SF [†] SF [†] RE [†] RE [†] RE [‡]	6.34 ± 0.14	20.15 ± 0.00	0.801
pp†. pp‡ Rp† Rp‡ Bpt GH† GH‡ VT† Spf* Spf* Spf* Re* Re* MH*		6.29 ± 0.12	0.840
Papi Rpi Spi			
RP [†] RP [†] SP [†] SP [†] SH [†] SH [†] YT [†] YT [†] F [†] SE [†] KE [†] KE [†] KH [†] MH [‡]	95.19 ± 1.03	92.84 ± 1.19	0.025
RP [‡] 3P [†] 3P [‡] GH [†] GH [‡] YT [‡] SP [†] SP [‡] RE [†] RE [†] MH [†]	12.17 ± 2.08	12.35 ± 1.79	0.946
3P† 3P1 3H1 3H2 3H1 3H1 3H1 3H1 3H1 3H1 3H2 3H3 3H4	96.23 ± 2.22	96.08 ± 1.66	0.492
89 [‡] GH [†] GH [‡] VT [†] VT [‡] SF [†] RE [†] RE [†] RE [‡] MH [†]	41.04 ± 6.43	25 ± 5.22	0.062
GH [†] GH [†] VT [†] VT [‡] SF [†] RE [†] RE [†] RE [‡]	87.13 ± 1.79	88.82 ± 1.65	0.500
5H [‡] VT [†] SF [†] RE [†] RE [†] RE [‡] MH [†]	16.77 ± 2.57	15.86 ± 1.95	0.770
VT [†] VT [†] SF [†] SF [‡] RE [†] RE [‡] MH [†]	76.26 ± 2.60	72.33 ± 3.09	0.410
VT [†] VT [†] SF [†] SF [‡] RE [†] RE [‡] MH [†]	13.43 ± 3	9.53 ± 2.28	0.291
/T [‡] SF [†] RE [†] RE [‡] MH [†]	78.11 ± 2.10	78.24 ± 1.74	0.865
уF [†] 2F [‡] RE [‡] MH [†]	13.21 ± 2.36	8.82 ± 2.62	0.134
SF [‡] RE [†] MH [†] MH [‡]	116.75 ± 2.09	114.71 ± 2.29	0.242
RE [†] RE [‡] MH [†]	12.97 ± 3.16	11.52 ± 2.93	0.529
RE [‡] MH [†] MH [‡]	12.37 ± 3.16 89.31 ± 3.15	93.46 ± 2.15	0.456
MH [†] MH [‡]	28.3 ± 6.19	28.76 ± 5.82	0.936
MH‡	20.5 ± 0.19 76.53 ± 2.18	75.61 ± 1.83	0.722
	7.7 ± 2.53	6.82 ± 2.31	0.722
SF-MPQ	1.1 ± 2.33	0.02 ± 2.01	0.794
Neek 2- Pain rating Index (PRI) [‡]	1.38 ± 0.23	1.22 ± 0.20	0.562
P-value#	0.000	1.22 ± 0.20 0.000	0.502
<i>r-value#</i> Neek 2- sensory item scores [‡]	0.000 0.85 ± 0.15	0.000 0.86 ± 0.15	0.997
veek 2- sensory item scores* <i>P</i> -value#	0.85 ± 0.15 0.000		0.99/
P-value# Neek 2- emotional item scores‡	0.000 0.53 ± 0.12	0.000	0 101
		0.35 ± 0.11	0.181
P-value#	0.000	0.000	0 505
Neek 2-VAS scores [‡]	0.07 1.050	1.00 ± 0.16	0.587
P-value#	0.87 ± 0.58	0.000	
Week 2- present pain intensity (PPI) [‡] <i>P</i> -value#	0.87 ± 0.58 0.000 1.17 ± 0.05	1.33 ± 0.07	0.055

Outcome		EA group (<i>n</i> = 54)	Control group $(n = 52)$	P-value [#]
Week 26				
Week 26- Pain rating Index (PRI) [‡]		1.04 ± 0.17	1.49 ± 0.27	0.322
	P-value#	0.129	0.307	
Throbbing pain		0	0.08 ± 0.04	0.039
Tingling		0	0.02 ± 0.02	0.308
Cutting pains		0	0	1
Sharp pain		0	0	1
Spasmodic pain		0	0	1
Biting pain		0	0	1
Burning pain		0	0	1
Soreness		0.55 ± 0.08	0.69 ± 0.10	0.311
Cramping and swelling pain		0.04 ± 0.03	0.14 ± 0.06	0.125
Tender		0	0.02 ± 0.02	0.308
Cleavage pain		0	0.04 ± 0.04	0.308
Week 26-sensory scores [‡]		0.58 ± 0.10	0.98 ± 0.18	0.185
	P-value#	0.125	0.468	
Week 26- emotional item scores [‡]		0.45 ± 0.13	0.51 ± 0.12	0.642
	P-value#	0.502	0.202	
Week 26- VAS scores‡		0.57 ± 0.09	1.12 ± 0.17	0.051
	P-value#	0.035	0.472	
Week 26- present pain intensity (PPI) ‡		1.06 ± 0.03	1.16 ± 0.06	0.160
	P-value#	0.058	0.039	
EPDS				
Week 2 [†]		6.53 ± 0.58	5.80 ± 0.52	0.455
	P-value#	0.005	0.002	
Week 26 [†]		5.3 ± 0.65	6 ± 0.76	0.475
	P-value#	0.001	0.000	
Week 2 [‡]		-1.23 ± 0.57	0.20 ± 0.77	0.222
	P-value#	0.319	0.101	0.222
Week 26 [‡]	i varace	-2.64 ± 0.66	-1.67 ± 0.76	0.469
Week 20	<i>P</i> -value of difference between post-follow-up and	0.001	0.004	0.407
	pre-treatment#	0.001	0.004	
	<i>P</i> -value of difference between post-follow-up and	0.029	0.773	
	post-treatment#	0.027	0.775	
MBIS	post-treatment#			
Week 2		16.39 ± 5.60	14.94 ± 4.55	0.328
WEEK 2	P-value#	0.002	0.050	0.528
Marile 26	P-value#			0 554
Week 26	D l	14.21 ± 6.03	13.02 ± 5.57	0.554
	P-value#	0.001	0.001	
HerQles		15.04 1.10.25	14.04 - 10.00	0.047
Week 2	D seele e#	15.96 ± 10.25	14.24 ± 10.89	0.267
	P-value#	0.000	0.000	c
Week 26		13.36 ± 4.35	12.96 ± 4.96	0.824
	P-value#	0.001	0.001	
DRA-related symptom				
Urine leakage				

Outcome	EA group $(n = 54)$	Control group $(n = 52)$	P-value ^{##}
Week 2	5 (9.3%)	9 (16.7%)	0.29
Week 26	7 (13.0%)	14 (26.9%)	0.104
Urinary frequency			
Week 2	4 (7.4%)	4 (7.4%)	0.74
Week 26	0	3 (5.8%)	0.072
Urinary urgency			
Week 2	3 (5.6%)	2 (3.7%)	0.33
Week 26	2 (3.7%)	1 (1.9%)	0.594
Constipation			
Week 2	12(0.22%)	7 (13.0%)	0.22
Week 26	5 (9.3%)	7 (13.5%)	0.677
Sexual dysfunction			
Week 2	6 (11.1%)	8 (14.8%)	0.45
Week 26	6 (11.1%)	15 (28.8%)	0.02
Chronic pelvic pain			
Week 2	0	0	1.00
Week 26	0	1 (1.9%)	0.303

AC, abdominal circumference; EA, electroacupuncture; BMI, body mass index; SD, Standard Deviation; HC, hip circumference; IQR, Inter-Quartile Range; IRD= inter recti distance; SAT, subcutaneous adipose tissue; F%, percentage body fat; PF, physical functioning; RP, role-physical; BP, bodily pain; GH, general health; VT, vitality; SF, social functioning; RE, role-emotional; MH, mental health; HT, health transition.

*Data for 106 patients (54 randomized to the EA group and 52 to the control group) were used in the final analysis.

[#]Comparisons of means within group.

##Comparisons were carried out between groups.

[†]The mean value.

[‡]The difference.

The pelvic girdle includes inguinal, pubic symphysis, coccyx, sacrum, and either side of the pelvis.

§The midpoint of umbilicus and xiphoid process.

 $^{\Delta}$ At the supine position.

< 0.05). However, the difference between the control group after and before treatment was not statistically different (P >0.05), and the comparison between the groups suggested that the total LDQ score after treatment was not statistically different between the two groups (P > 0.05). At 26 weeks follow-up, the intra-group comparison suggested that the difference in the total LDQ scores between the EA group after follow-up and before treatment improved and was statistically significant (P < 0.05), and the difference between the EA group after follow-up and after treatment was not statistically significant (P > 0.05). Comparisons between groups suggested no statistical difference (P > 0.05). At 26 weeks, 38 in the control group and 39 in the EA group had menstruated. Comparison between the groups suggested no significant difference in menstrual symptoms between the two groups. At follow-up, a comparison between groups suggested that the EA group had better PF than the control group, which was statistically significant (P <0.05). No statistically significant differences were seen in the remaining dimensions. The intra-group comparisons suggested that the SF-MPQ total score and entry change values for the low back at that time were significantly better in both groups after

treatment than before treatment, and inter-group comparisons suggested that there was no statistically significant difference (P < 0.05) in the SF-MPQ total score and entry change values for the low back after treatment in both groups. The intra-group comparison suggested a statistical difference in the total EPDS score between the two groups (P < 0.05), but the inter-group comparison suggested no statistical difference in the total EPDS score between the two groups (P > 0.05) (Table 5).

At 26 weeks follow-up, the mean of SAT in paraumbilical and right triceps of the two groups in both groups were reduced compared with those before treatment at 26 weeks, and the difference was statistically significant (P < 0.05). The SAT difference in paraumbilical was reduced in the EA group than in the control group on the front-to-back difference between groups, with statistical significance (P < 0.05) (Table 4). The comparison between groups suggested that picking pain was less frequent in the EA group than in the control group and the difference between follow-up and post-treatment in the EA group, and present pain intensity (PPI) for the difference between follow-up and post-treatment in the control group all decreased and were statistically different (P < 0.05). The comparison between the two groups suggested that there was no statistical difference in the total EPDS score between the two groups (P > 0.05). Within-group comparisons suggested a statistically significant difference between the two groups after follow-up and before treatment (P < 0.05), but there was a statistically significant difference between the EA group after follow-up and after treatment (P < 0.05), and no statistically significant difference between the control group after follow-up and after treatment (P < 0.05), and no statistically significant difference between the control group after follow-up and after treatment (P > 0.05) (Table 5).

At the end of treatment and the end of follow-up, withingroup comparisons suggested a statistical difference between the two groups in terms of total MBIS and HerQles scores after treatment (P < 0.05), but between-group comparisons suggested no statistical difference between the two groups (P > 0.05) (Table 5).

In DRA-related symptom assessment, there was no statistical difference in any of the symptoms after treatment (P > 0.05) at week 2. The EA group was better than the control group in the improvement of sexual dysfunction at week 26, and the difference was statistically significant (P < 0.05); constipation, chronic pelvic pain, and urine leakage, frequency, and urgency, were not statistically significant (P > 0.05) at week 26 (Table 5).

In addition, exploratory subgroup and *post hoc* analyses were performed to determine whether cesarean delivery was performed. The study found that the EA group had a statistically significant difference in IRD at the midpoint of umbilicus and xiphoid process in head-up and flexed knee state, cm Δ^{\dagger} compared to the control group (OR = 0.904, 95% CI: 0.820-0.998, *P* = 0.046 < 0.05) (Supplementary material 5).

Discussion

This randomized, controlled clinical trial was carried out at Hangzhou Hospital of Traditional Chinese Medicine, Hangzhou, China.

DRA is a common complication during pregnancy and the postpartum period. Postpartum DRA may cause a decrease in the tension of the elastic LA, resulting in a decrease in the ability to transmit abdominal forces across the midline, which in turn may affect abdominal muscle function. A severe decrease in the tension of the elasticity of LA may cause bulging of the abdominal organs, which may alter the appearance of the abdomen, seriously affecting the aesthetics of the body and reducing the woman's perception of her self-image. Postnatal DRA reduces the strength of the abdominal muscles and significantly reduces the support for the low back, affecting the mechanical balance of the low back muscles (7), resulting in a tilted pelvis, increasing the physiological curvature of the lumbar spine and increasing the incidence of low back pain and accumulation of abdominal fat. Therefore, postpartum DRA presents both psychological and physiological obstacles to the mother. However, there is a lack of ideal treatment options for postpartum DRA, and existing treatments such as physical rehabilitation, electrophysiological stimulation, and surgical treatment are still being developed. EA originating from traditional acupuncture around the 1930s has been verified to significantly improve the therapeutic effects of traditional acupuncture in a variety of diseases (31). This randomized trial showed that, compared with the control group, 10 sessions of EA for 2 weeks provided a higher improvement in IRD, especially at the horizontal line of the umbilicus in the end-expiratory state. Physical exercise has therapeutic effects on activation and induces transverse abdominis contraction and tightening of LA, and the different values of IRD are all changed, but the more obvious effect of the EA group may be related to EA therapy and the selection of acupoints.

The abdominal selection of acupoints treated in this study include bilateral Tianshu (ST25) and bilateral Dai Mai (GB26) at the horizontal line of the umbilicus, but Zhongwan (RN12) and Xiawan (RN10) in linea alba at the midpoint of umbilicus and xiphoid processor. Qi Hai (RN6), and Guanyuan (RN4) in linea alba at the midpoint between the umbilicus and pubic symphysis, may be related to the number of acupoints and curative effect (32). IRD was measured in the end-expiratory state to assess the width of the abdominal linea alba under transverse abdominis contraction.

The difference in IRD was only in the end-expiratory state, which might be related to the activation and enhancement of transverse abdominis tension by physical exercise and the EA group. The rectus sheath wraps the rectus abdominal muscles and is divided into two layers: the anterior is formed by the healing of the aponeurosis of the external oblique muscle and the aponeurosis of the internal oblique muscle, and the posterior rectus sheaths are formed by the healing of the aponeurosis of the internal oblique muscle and the aponeurosis of the transverse abdominis. The posterior rectal sheath is functionally more related to transverse abdominis than rectus abdominal muscles, and activation of transverse abdominis plays an important role in the etiology of the DRA (34, 35). Physical exercises adopted in this study, such as left and right-side leg rotation, are more effective in activating deep transverse abdominis, external oblique muscle, and internal oblique muscle (36, 37), and posterior rectus fascia sheath formed by transverse abdominis tendon sheath has better efficacy in maintaining abdominal wall tension stability. On the other hand, previous studies (38) found that electro-acupuncture had a more significant activation effect on transverse abdominis, which accelerated the adjustment of alba and transverse abdominis fascia tension to the normal level on the basis of rehabilitation exercise. However, it may not be reflected due to insufficient sample size or a short course of EA.

In addition, to further determine whether there are other influencing factors, such as fascia tension imbalance of transverse abdominis, fascia tension imbalance of muscles around the linea alba, or fascia tension imbalance of pelvic floor muscles, we added the normal population as a control group (Supplementary material 4) and found that these factors were present in the end-expiratory state compared with the normal population. These unbalance factors were corrected by EA; IRD and pelvic floor muscle status were improved. Therefore, the EA group was superior to the control group in improving IRD at all sites and states at 26 weeks. Only IRD at the midpoint of the umbilicus and xiphoid process in end-expiratory showed statistically significant changes, which to some extent indicated that EA corrected these imbalance factors and achieved longterm improvement.

Previous studies have shown that women with DRA in the first year postpartum have a significantly lower trunk muscle rotational moment and a significantly lower score on the sit-up test and that rectus abdominis spacing is negatively associated with trunk rotational moment and sit-up test scores (39). It is possible that these changes are related to the widening and thinning of the elasticity of LA during pregnancy, resulting in an imbalance in tension. When DRA occurs, the tension of the wide and thin LA decreases, the stabilization of the abdominal muscle and the conduction of abdominal wall force are reduced, and the abdominal wall is relaxed. Lee et al. (40) proposed the deformation index as a means of assessing the elasticity of LA, suggesting that the greater the deformation index the less elastic it is, whereas in this study the elasticity of LA was assessed by strain-based elastography. This study found that: In the control group, the elasticity of linea alba was smaller than that of the EA group at two sites (the horizontal line of the umbilicus, and the midpoint of the umbilicus and xiphoid process) at week 2 and week 26 (P < 0.05). In terms of the correlation between the elasticity of linea alba and IRD, the elasticity of the LA score was negatively correlated with IRD (rs = -0.356, P < 0.05) (Table 4). Beamish et al. (41) suggested that the elasticity of linea alba was worse when the IRD was greater in patients with DRA, which is consistent with the study. Reducing linea alba deformation and increasing the elasticity of linea alba or making this a goal is important for subsequent DRA rehabilitation.

The tension of the anterior abdominal wall (including the LA) in patients with DRA is influenced by the entire abdominal wall myofascia, and an imbalance in the tension of the anterior abdominal wall myofascia caused by DRA can also cause changes in the tension of the entire abdominal myofascia (42). The specific morphological alterations of the lateral abdominal muscle groups and other muscle and fascia tissues throughout the body in patients with DRA have not been reported in the literature. Some studies have analyzed the correlation between DRA and abdominal muscle dysfunction, and a study by Liaw et al. (43) found that abdominal muscle function showed a negative correlation with the mean IRD, which is consistent with the results of the present study. Narrowing IRD may lead to an increase in trunk flexion and rotation strength and endurance to some extent.

In addition, this study takes into account that postpartum DRA causes changes in overall trunk biomechanics, which is more conducive to understanding the pathophysiological changes of DRA and clarifying the coordination and unity of the abdomen and pelvic floor (40), and that treatment cannot address only a single muscle or symptom. Even the combined thoracoabdominal breathing of the control group is called to emphasize the opening of the thorax and the inward retraction of the abdomen. Combined with the elastography results, comparison between groups suggested an advantage of the elasticity of linea alba in the EA group compared to the control group (P < 0.05) at week 2, this could provide an important basis for the improvement of rectus abdominis spacing, i.e., the improvement of elasticity in the short term and an improvement of distance in the long term. The same is true for the pelvic floor results, both at 2 weeks and 26 weeks, the EA group showed an improvement compared to the control group, except that the results were more significant in slow muscle during systole (P <0.05). The same is true for the electromyographic evaluation of pelvic floor results, where both at 2 and 26 weeks, the EA group showed an improvement compared to the control group, except that the results were more significant in the mean value of slow muscle during systole (P < 0.05). Postpartum women often have pelvic floor dysfunction, and there is no consensus on whether DRA is associated with pelvic floor dysfunctional disorders (44, 45). In the supine position with low intra-abdominal pressure, contraction of the abdominal musculature activates contraction of the pelvic floor musculature (46), as advocated in the control group with combined thoraco-abdominal breathing, emphasizing the opening of the thorax and the internal retraction of the abdomen. The "abdominal tank" theory suggests the coordination and unity of the abdomen and pelvic floor (40) and that treatment should not address only a single muscle or symptom. EA enhances pelvic floor innervation and muscle support (47), thereby improving pelvic floor muscle strength.

In general, obesity is determined by the body mass index (BMI) (48). BMI has been suggested as a possible risk factor for DRA, due to excess fat in the abdominal cavity exerting excessive pressure on the abdominal wall, thus causing further separation of DRA on both sides (49). And on the other hand, it has been suggested that muscle loss may co-exist (50), thus raising the idea that obese people are more likely to have DRA (51). The results of the study showed that the EA group was better than the control group at reducing BMI and when the patients' DRA treatment improved, BMI was also reduced compared to the previous one. The paraumbilical SAT and F% better represent the fat distribution of the body. DRA reduces the strength of the abdominal muscles and significantly reduces the support for the low back, affecting the mechanical balance of the low back muscles, increasing the accumulation of abdominal fat, and increasing the paraumbilical SAT (52). Therefore, postnatal DRA, in turn, increases the degree of abdominal laxity, affecting

the aesthetics of the shape. The interconnection between the separation of the rectus abdominis muscle and abdominal obesity affects each other.

Postpartum abdominal skin laxity is a natural manifestation of skin aging and may be associated with increased skin collagen gaps, weak skin elastic fibers, and weak skin contraction (53). The maternal experience of pregnancy and childbirth causes mechanical strain on the abdominal muscles, especially the rectus abdominis, resulting in increased muscle tension and poor elasticity. EA can reduce the muscle tension of the abdominal muscles in patients with rectus abdominis detachment by using the corresponding points in the abdomen, increasing the proportion of type I collagen and a decrease in the proportion of type III collagen in the tendon fascia, thus causing a change in the expression form of collagen and achieving a repair of the damaged rectus abdominis muscle (54, 55). The EA helps to improve abdominal laxity by inhibiting the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines (TGF-\u00c61), allowing the TGF-β1/CTGF pathway to function properly and promoting the regeneration of myoelastin fibers (56). The probability of persistent abdominal laxity in the postpartum period is 30-40%. Pregnancy and childbirth cause the LA to widen and weaken, and the abdominal skin to loosen and sag and bulge in the midline, making the abdominal core unstable and leading to low back pain (1). During the SF-MPQ analysis, we found that pick pain was less frequent in the EA group than in the control group in terms of long-term effects (at week 26) and the difference was statistically significant (P < 0.05).

When DRA is studied, some scholars examine the interrelationship between diseases, and the abdominal canal theory (40) considers other symptoms of the abdominopelvic muscles when describing pelvic-abdominal coordination, thus linking the mechanisms of disease occurrence in tandem, or forming a hypothesis. Indigestion, low back pain, postpartum depression, quality of life, and menstrual changes are common problems in postpartum women, but the association with DRA is unknown (1, 51, 57), so this study continues to develop reported research on these factors. LDQ scores suggested that digestive symptoms were better in the EA group than in the control group both after treatment and after follow-up, and the improvement was more prominent in the symptoms of belching. Menstrual symptoms scores suggested that 24 weeks after the end of treatment, 38 people in the rehabilitation group and 39 people in the acupuncture group had menstruated. Comparison between groups suggested no significant difference in menstrual symptoms between the two groups. Due to the need to breastfeed during the puerperium, not all postpartum women's menstruation returned, so a pre- and post-group comparison was not possible. It has also been shown Gluppe et al. (58) that after 10 sessions of conventional Tui Na combined with physiotherapy for postpartum DRA, the patient's IRD shrank and QoL improved significantly, and no recurrence or worsening of postpartum DRA was found after more than 12 weeks of follow-up. The SF-36 score was for 1 month, and 1 month after the end of 10 treatments partially overlapped in time with the first filling, so we chose to compare during the follow-up period with the pre-treatment period, reflecting the fact that QoL in women with postpartum DRA was 24 weeks after the end of treatment compared to the pre-treatment period A trend toward improvement, especially PF was significantly improved. The degree of improvement in daily functional limitations treated with EA was better than in the control group, with better results for the long-term effects of EA. The health status of patients at 24 weeks after the end of treatment correlated with the presence of DRA at 24 weeks after the end of treatment.

Some researchers have investigated the correlation between DRA and low back pain, with Sperstad et al. (1) reporting no difference in the incidence of chronic lower back pain and pelvic girdle pain between DRA and non-DRA patients. EA could effectively activate the TrA, RA, and internal and external oblique abdominal muscles, promote the restoration of proprioception, release the fascia, and accelerate the improvement of muscle strength and elasticity repair of the abdominal muscles. The study effectively reflected whether the patients' current low back pain was caused by pain or by psychological effects using the SF-MPQ. The results showed an improvement in both groups compared to pre-treatment, with less pain provocation in the follow-up period after EA treatment than in the control group, indicating an advantage of EA in improving low back pain and a more pronounced long-term effect of EA treatment. The changing role of women in modern society requires them to recover quickly after childbirth and integrate into society, and the physical changes brought about by pregnancy often cause psychological changes. The impact of the physical changes brought about by DRA on maternal self-perception and emotions is of concern. EPDS and MBIS scores were significantly better in both groups after treatment and at follow-up, but the difference between the two was not significant, suggesting an improvement in postnatal depression and self-image valuing issues regardless of the method, although the efficacy outcomes were similar.

Patients with DRA have a wider and thinner LA, a reduced elastic component, and decreased tension, resulting in a reduction in the ability to transmit abdominal muscle forces across the midline (40), affecting abdominal wall morphology and abdominal muscle function. In this study, HerQles scores were found to be significantly better in both groups after treatment and at follow-up, but the difference between the two was not significant, suggesting that abdominal wall valuation problems improved regardless of the method used, although the efficacy results were similar. Postpartum-related symptoms (leakage, constipation, urinary frequency, urgency, sexual dysfunction, changes in chronic pelvic pain) were extracted from previous literature (1) and used to see if there was a correlation between DRA and the following symptoms. However, the results of the study suggested that no significant differences were seen

between the two. This is consistent with the findings of previous scattered literature (1, 57, 58). In contrast, symptoms of sexual dysfunction were less frequent in the EA group after treatment than in rehabilitation during follow-up, suggesting that EA has a unique advantage in this regard.

The study aimed to determine whether EA was effective in DRA, we wanted to find out further during the study whether it would be more effective in patients who had a cesarean delivery, given that the presence or absence of a cesarean delivery might interact with the trial intervention (p for interaction), an exploratory subgroup analysis was conducted based on the presence or absence of cesarean delivery. It was found that there was an interaction between the presence or absence of cesarean delivery compared to the control group on the difference in umbilical level flexion at follow-up and that EA had a more significant improvement in IRD in patients who had a cesarean delivery, which may be more applicable to patients who had a cesarean delivery (P < 0.05).

This study investigated the therapeutic effect of EA combined with physical exercise on postnatal DRA and compared it with only physical exercise to objectively evaluate the clinical efficacy of both on postnatal DRA from multiple perspectives. The study provides an objective evaluation, guidance, and new ideas and methods for the clinical treatment of postpartum DRA, and will have scientific significance and practical value for the study of DRA and the promotion of EA.

Limitation

1. Random errors during the trial: (1) Unavoidable individual differences, e.g., frequency intensity of EA parameters were selected between 4 and 6 because of individual tolerance differences. (2) Errors caused by uncontrollable factors in the research process, e.g., since the treatment was not blind to patients, we could not rule out that the clinical improvement in DRA was due to the expected value or placebo effect. In addition, although the therapist did not know the purpose of the experiment and did not have knowledge of acupuncture and moxibustion, she performed the blind method. However, some marks were left on the abdomen after electro-acupuncture, so the patient received rehabilitation treatment first and then electro-acupuncture. 2. Selection bias: Berkson rate bias due to the single-center study. 3. Recall bias of patients with DRA: as the questions in the questionnaire involved the collection of past information, the research results were biased due to the incomplete memory of the subjects. 4. Confounding bias may exist during subgroup analysis, because subgroup analysis of trials neutralizes the benefits of randomization, which leads to potentially biased results (59). 5. Because of the degree of bladder filling, the patient's position has been shown to affect the results of the measurements. In addition,

it is occasionally difficult to obtain a valid Valsalva maneuver, so there is no clear and uniform reference measurement to date. 6. Examination means. Although ultrasound is a costeffective and confirmatory means of detecting IRD, the results are influenced by the ultrasonographer's experience and the angle of incision of the ultrasound placement, the measurement duration, and despite the availability of intercepted images as evidence, it is not possible to observe the respiratory coordination. The muscle changes during the movement were not observed, and a way of monitoring dynamic changes was lacking.

Conclusion

Compared with the control group (only physical exercise), ten sessions in the EA group for 2 weeks resulted in improvement in IRD, electromyographic evaluation of the pelvic floor, WHR, the elasticity of LA, paraumbilical SAT, symptoms of DRA, abdominal tension, and strengthening of abdominal muscles with durable effects 26 weeks.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Ethics Committee of Hangzhou Hospital of Traditional Chinese Medicine reviewed this study protocol and gave its approval and consent (Approval Code 2020KY082). The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

YL: data analyses, figure preparation, and manuscript preparation. YZ: recruit subjects. LYJ: responsible for the design of randomization, project funding, and study initiation. CL and MYG: ultrasound evaluation. LJX: responsible for the design of randomization. LS: random allocation. JYC and TW: responsible for manual data measurement before treatment. LJD: physical therapists. YYS: acupuncture treatment. TTZ and MF: responsible for guidance and statistics. All authors approved the final version of the manuscript.

Funding

This RCT is funded by the construction fund of medical key disciplines of Hangzhou (Project Number: OO20200097), Hangzhou medical and health science and technology A20200483, project No. and Zhejiang Traditional Chinese Medicine Science and Technology Plan Project (Project Number: 2021ZQ065).

Acknowledgments

We want to thank Tingting Zheng from the Department of Rehabilitation Medicine, the Sixth Affiliated Hospital of Sun Yat-sen University who provided support for a clinical treatment plan. Our thanks are also to Yonggang Huang from the Department of Hernia, and Abdominal Surgery, Hangzhou First People's Hospital, Zhejiang University School of Medicine for providing the HerQles form of the Chinese version.

References

1. Sperstad JB, Tennfjord MK, Hilde G, Ellström-Engh M, Bø K. Diastasis recti abdominis during pregnancy and 12 months after childbirth: prevalence, risk factors and report of lumbopelvic pain. *Br J Sports Med.* (2016) 50:1092–6. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2016-096065

2. Barbosa MV, Dias A, Bauti I, Junior I, Nahas F, Ferreira L, et al. The normal width of the linea alba in cadavers—a parameter to define rectus diastasis. *Anatomy*. (2021) 15:132–6. doi: 10.2399/ana.21.922706

3. Manetti G, Lolli MG, Belloni E, Nigri G. A new minimally invasive technique for the repair of diastasis recti: a pilot study. *Surg Endosc.* (2021) 35:4028–34. doi: 10.1007/s00464-021-08393-2

4. Qu E, Wu J, Zhang M, Wu L, Zhang T, Xu J, et al. The ultrasound diagnostic criteria for diastasis recti and its correlation with pelvic floor dysfunction in early postpartum women. *Quant Imaging Med Surg.* (2021) 11:706–13. doi: 10.21037/qims-20-596

5. Boissonnault JS, Blaschak MJ. Incidence of diastasis recti abdominis during the childbearing year. *Phys Ther.* (1988) 68:1082–6. doi: 10.1093/ptj/68.7.1082

6. Gustavsson C, Eriksson-Crommert M. Physiotherapists' and midwives' views of increased inter recti abdominis distance and its management in women after childbirth. *BMC Women's Health.* (2020) 20:37. doi: 10.1186/s12905-020-00907-9

7. Michalska A, Rokita W, Wolder D, Pogorzelska J, Kaczmarczyk K. Diastasis recti abdominis-a review of treatment methods. *Ginekologia polska*. (2018) 89:97–101. doi: 10.5603/GP.a2018.0016

8. Spitznagle TM, Leong FC, Van Dillen LR. Prevalence of diastasis recti abdominis in a urogynecological patient population. *Int Urogynecol J Pelvic Floor Dysfunct.* (2007) 18:321–8. doi: 10.1007/s00192-006-0143-5

9. Thabet AA, Alshehri MA. Efficacy of deep core stability exercise program in postpartum women with diastasis recti abdominis: a randomised controlled trial. *J Musculoskel Neuronal Interac.* (2019) 19:62–8. doi: 10.31525/ct1-nct04122924

10. Shi XH, Wang YK, Li T, Liu HY, Wang XT, Wang ZH, et al. Genderrelated difference in altered fractional amplitude of low-frequency fluctuations after electroacupuncture on primary insomnia patients: a resting-state fMRI study. *Brain Behav.* (2021) 11:e01927. doi: 10.1002/brb3.1927

11. Langevin HM, Schnyer R, MacPherson H, Davis R, Harris RE, Napadow V, et al. Manual and electrical needle stimulation in acupuncture research: pitfalls and

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpubh. 2022.1003361/full#supplementary-material

challenges of heterogeneity. J Alterna Complemen Med (New York, NY). (2015) 21:113–28. doi: 10.1089/acm.2014.0186

12. Schulz KF, Altman DG, Moher D. CONSORT 2010 statement: updated guidelines for reporting parallel group randomised trials. *BMJ (Clin Res Ed)*. (2010) 340:c332. doi: 10.1136/bmj.c332

13. Chan AW, Tetzlaff JM, Altman DG, Laupacis A, Gøtzsche PC, et al. SPIRIT 2013 statement: defining standard protocol items for clinical trials. *Ann Intern Med.* (2013) 158:200–7. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-158-3-201302050-00583

14. MacPherson H, Altman DG, Hammerschlag R, Youping L, Taixiang W, White A, et al. Revised STandards for Reporting Interventions in Clinical Trials of Acupuncture (STRICTA): extending the CONSORT statement. *PLoS Med.* (2010) 7:e1000261. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1000261

15. Idänpään-Heikkilä JE. Ethical principles for the guidance of physicians in medical research-the Declaration of Helsinki. *Bull World Health Organ.* (2001) 79:279. doi: 10.1001/jama.2013.281053

16. Gluppe S, Ellström Engh M, Kari B. Women with diastasis recti abdominis might have weaker abdominal muscles and more abdominal pain, but no higher prevalence of pelvic floor disorders, low back and pelvic girdle pain than women without diastasis recti abdominis. *Physiotherapy.* (2021) 111:57–65. doi: 10.1016/j.physio.2021.01.008

17. Khan I, Sarker SJ, Hackshaw A. Smaller sample sizes for phase II trials based on exact tests with actual error rates by trading-off their nominal levels of significance and power. *Br J Cancer.* (2012) 107:1801–9. doi: 10.1038/bjc. 2012.444

18. Mota P, Pascoal AG, Sancho F, Carita AI, Bø K. Reliability of the interrectus distance measured by palpation. Comparison of palpation and ultrasound measurements. *Manual Ther.* (2013) 18:294–8. doi: 10.1016/j.math.2012.10.013

19. Yang J, Huang L, Liu S, Wu W, Tian W, Zheng Z, et al. Effect of electroacupuncture on postoperative gastrointestinal recovery in patients undergoing thoracoscopic surgery: a feasibility study. *Med Sci Monit.* (2020) 26:e920648. doi: 10.12659/MSM.920648

20. Houweling AH, Shapiro S, Cohen JM, Kahn SR. Blinding strategies in the conduct and reporting of a randomized placebo-controlled device trial. *Clin Trials* (*London, England*). (2014) 11:547–52. doi: 10.1177/1740774514535999

21. Liu Y, Zhu Y, Jiang L, Lu C, Xiao L, Chen J, et al. Efficacy of acupuncture in post-partum with diastasis recti abdominis: a randomized controlled clinical trial study protocol. *Front Public Health.* (2021) 9:1–10. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2021.722572

22. Zhou K, Fang J, Wang X, Wang Y, Hong Y, Liu J, et al. Characterization of de qi with electroacupuncture at acupoints with different properties. *J Altern Complement Med (New York, NY).* (2011) 17:1007–13. doi: 10.1089/acm.2010.0652

23. Hutchinson AJ, Ball S, Andrews JC, Jones GG. The effectiveness of acupuncture in treating chronic non-specific low back pain: a systematic review of the literature. *J Orthop Surg Res.* (2012) 7:36. doi: 10.1186/1749-799X-7-36

24. Davis LC, Baumer TG, Bey MJ, Holsbeeck MV. Clinical utilization of shear wave elastography in the musculoskeletal system. *Ultrasonography.* (2019) 38:2–12. doi: 10.14366/usg.18039

25. Liu T, Yu JN, Cao BY, Peng YY, Chen YP, Zhang L. Acupuncture for primary dysmenorrhea: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Altern Ther Health Med.* (2017) 23:46–53.

26. Brazier JE, Harper R, Jones NM, O'Cathain A, Thomas KJ, Usherwood T, et al. Validating the SF-36 health survey questionnaire: new outcome measure for primary care. *BMJ (Clin Res Ed)*. (1992) 305:160–4. doi: 10.1136/bmj.305.6846.160

27. Jonassaint CR, Rao N, Sciuto A, Switzer GE, De Castro L, Kato GJ, et al. Abstract animations for the communication and assessment of pain in adults: cross-sectional feasibility study. *J Med Internet Res.* (2018) 20:e10056. doi: 10.2196/10056

28. Wallace M, Evans B, Woods S, Mogg R, Zhang L, Finnefrock AC, et al. Tolerability of two sequential electroporation treatments using MedPulser DNA delivery system (DDS) in healthy adults. *Mol Ther.* (2009) 17:922–8. doi: 10.1038/mt.2009.27

29. Bushnell DM, Blum SI, Liedgens H, Martin ML, Freynhagen R, Wallace M, et al. Mixed-methods development of a new patient-reported outcome instrument for chronic low back pain: part 2-The Patient Assessment for Low Back Pain-Impacts (PAL-I). *Pain.* (2018) 159:2066–75. doi: 10.1097/j.pain.000000000001309

30. Stearns V, Blackford A, Kessler J, Sbaity E, Habibi M, Khouri N, et al. Diagnostic accuracy of sentinel node identification is maintained with the addition of local lidocaine and subareolar radioactive colloid injection. *Breast Cancer Res Treat.* (2015) 150:589–95. doi: 10.1007/s10549-015-3330-6

31. Ye Y, Yang Y, Chen C, Li Z, Jia Y, Su X, et al. Electroacupuncture improved hippocampal neurogenesis following traumatic brain injury in mice through inhibition of TLR4 signaling pathway. *Stem Cells Int.* (2017) 2017:5841814. doi: 10.1155/2017/5841814

32. Zhang SQ, Wang YJ, Zhang JP, Chen JQ, Wu CX, Li ZP, et al. Brain activation and inhibition after acupuncture at Taichong and Taixi: resting-state functional magnetic resonance imaging. *Neural Regen Res.* (2015) 10:292–7. doi: 10.4103/1673-5374.152385

33. Krpata DM, Schmotzer BJ, Flocke S, Jin J, Blatnik JA, Ermlich B, et al. Design and initial implementation of HerQLes: a hernia-related quality-of-life survey to assess abdominal wall function. *J Am Coll Surg.* (2012) 215:635–42. doi: 10.1016/j.jamcollsurg.2012.06.412

34. He K, Zhou X, Zhu Y, Wang B, Fu X, Yao Q, et al. Muscle elasticity is different in individuals with diastasis recti abdominis than healthy volunteers. *Insights Imaging.* (2021) 12:87. doi: 10.1186/s13244-021-01021-6

35. van Wingerden JP, Ronchetti I, Sneiders D, Lange JF, Kleinrensink GJ. Anterior and posterior rectus abdominis sheath stiffness in relation to diastasis recti: Abdominal wall training or not? *J Bodyw Mov Ther.* (2020) 24:147–53. doi: 10.1016/j.jbmt.2019.10.015

36. Kamel DM, Yousif AM. Neuromuscular electrical stimulation and strength recovery of postnatal diastasis recti abdominis muscles. *Ann Rehabil Med.* (2017) 41:465–74. doi: 10.5535/arm.2017.41.3.465

37. Lee DG, Lee LJ, McLaughlin L. Stability, continence and breathing: the role of fascia following pregnancy and delivery. *J Bodyw Mov Ther.* (2008) 12:333–48. doi: 10.1016/j.jbmt.2008.05.003

38. Hsu CH, Hwang KC, Chao CL, Lin JG, Kao ST, Chou P. Effects of electroacupuncture in reducing weight and waist circumference in obese women: a randomized crossover trial. *Int J Obes (Lond).* (2005) 29:1379–84. doi: 10.1038/sj.ijo.0802997

39. Hills NF, Graham RB, McLean L. Comparison of trunk muscle function between women with and without diastasis recti abdominis at 1 year postpartum. *Phys Ther.* (2018) 98:891–901. doi: 10.1093/ptj/pzy083

40. Lee D, Fau-Hodges PW, Hodges PW. Behavior of the linea alba during a curlup task in diastasis rectus abdominis: an observational study. *J Orthop Sports Phys Ther.* (2016) 46:580–9. doi: 10.2519/jospt.2016.6536 41. Beamish N, Fau-Green N, Green N Fau-Nieuwold E, Nieuwold E Fau-McLean L, McLean L. Differences in linea alba stiffness and linea alba distortion between women with and without diastasis recti abdominis: the impact of measurement site and task. *J Orthop Sports Phys Ther.* (2019) 49:656–65. doi: 10.2519/jospt.2019.8543

42. Veríssimo P, Nahas FX, Barbosa MV, de Carvalho Gomes HF, Ferreira LM. Is it possible to repair diastasis recti and shorten the aponeurosis at the same time? *Aesthetic Plast Surg.* (2014) 38:379–86. doi: 10.1007/s00266-014-0272-z

43. Liaw LJ, Hsu MJ, Liao CF, Liu MF, Hsu AT. The relationships between interrecti distance measured by ultrasound imaging and abdominal muscle function in postpartum women: a 6-month follow-up study. *J Orthop Sports Phys Ther.* (2011) 41:435–43. doi: 10.2519/jospt.2011.3507

44. Benjamin DR, Frawley HC, Shields N, van de Water ATM, Taylor NF. Relationship between diastasis of the rectus abdominis muscle (DRAM) and musculoskeletal dysfunctions, pain and quality of life: a systematic review. *Physiotherapy*. (2019) 105:24–34. doi: 10.1016/j.physio.2018.07.002

45. Wang Q, Yu X, Chen G, Sun X, Wang J. Does diastasis recti abdominis weaken pelvic floor function? A cross-sectional study. *Int Urogynecol J.* (2020) 31:277–83. doi: 10.1007/s00192-019-04005-9

46. Navarro-Brazález B, Prieto-Gómez V, Prieto-Merino D, Sánchez-Sánchez B, McLean L, Torres-Lacomba M. Effectiveness of hypopressive exercises in women with pelvic floor dysfunction: a randomised controlled trial. J Clin Med. (2020) 9:1149. doi: 10.3390/jcm9041149

47. Maeda Y, Kim H, Kettner N, Kim J, Cina S, Malatesta C, et al. Rewiring the primary somatosensory cortex in carpal tunnel syndrome with acupuncture. *Brain.* (2017) 140:914–27. doi: 10.1093/brain/awx015

48. Veit R, Kullmann S, Heni M, Machann J, Häring HU, Fritsche A, et al. Reduced cortical thickness associated with visceral fat and BMI. *Neuroimage Clin.* (2014) 6:307–11. doi: 10.1016/j.nicl.2014.09.013

49. Wu L, Gu Y, Gu Y, Wang Y, Lu X, Zhu C, et al. Diastasis recti abdominis in adult women based on abdominal computed tomography imaging: Prevalence, risk factors and its impact on life. *J Clin Nurs.* (2021) 30:518–27. doi: 10.1111/jocn.15568

50. Ormsbee MJ, Prado CM, Ilich JZ, Purcell S, Siervo M, Folsom A, et al. Osteosarcopenic obesity: the role of bone, muscle, and fat on health. *J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle.* (2014) 5:183–92. doi: 10.1007/s13539-014-0146-x

51. Cavalli MAO, Aiolfi A, Bruni PG, Manfredini L, Lombardo F, Bonfanti MT, et al. Prevalence and risk factors for diastasis recti abdominis: a review and proposal of a new anatomical variation. *Hernia.* (2021) 25:883–90. doi:10.1007/s10029-021-02468-8

52. Gilleard W, Crosbie J, Fau-Smith R, Smith R. Effect of pregnancy on trunk range of motion when sitting and standing. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand.* (2002) 81:1011–20. doi: 10.1034/j.1600-0412.2002.811104.x

53. Zhu L, Li S, Liu W, Chen J, Yu Q, Zhang Z, et al. Real time detection of 3-nitrotyrosine using smartphone-based electrochemiluminescence. *Biosens Bioelectron.* (2021) 187:113284. doi: 10.1016/j.bios.2021.113284

54. Chen L, Liu Y, Lin QM, Xue L, Wang W, Xu JAO, et al. Electroacupuncture at Baihui (DU20) acupoint up-regulates mRNA expression of NeuroD molecules in the brains of newborn rats suffering in utero fetal distress. *Neural Regen Res.* (2016) 11:604–9. doi: 10.4103/1673-5374.180745

55. González-Quevedo D, Martínez-Medina I, Campos A, Campos F, Carriel V. Tissue engineering strategies for the treatment of tendon injuries: a systematic review and meta-analysis of animal models. *Bone Joint Res.* (2018) 7:318–24. doi: 10.1302/2046-3758.74.BJR-2017-0326

56. Wetzl V, Schinner E, Kees F, Hofmann F, Faerber L, Schlossmann J, et al. Involvement of cyclic guanosine monophosphate-dependent protein kinase i in renal antifibrotic effects of serelaxin. *Front Pharmacol.* (2016) 7:195. doi: 10.3389/fbhar.2016.00195

57. da Fernandes Mota PG, Pascoal AG, Carita AI, Bø K. Prevalence and risk factors of diastasis recti abdominis from late pregnancy to 6 months postpartum, and relationship with lumbo-pelvic pain. *Man Ther.* (2015) 20:200–5. doi: 10.1016/j.math.2014.09.002

58. Gluppe S, Engh ME, Bø K. What is the evidence for abdominal and pelvic floor muscle training to treat diastasis recti abdominis postpartum? A systematic review with meta-analysis. *Braz J Phys Ther.* (2021) 25:664–75. doi: 10.1016/j.bjpt.2021.06.006

59. Basu S, Sussman JB, Hayward RA. Detecting heterogeneous treatment effects to guide personalized blood pressure treatment: a modeling study of randomized clinical trials. *Ann Intern Med.* (2017) 166:354–60. doi: 10.7326/M1 6-1756

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Patricia C. Heyn, Marymount University, United States

REVIEWED BY Bruno Ramos Chrcanovic, Malmö University, Sweden Jihyun Oh, Kongju National University, Republic of Korea

*CORRESPONDENCE Li Li ⊠ lili0516@163.com Huiyu Liu ⊠ liuhuiyudoctor@sohu.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Family Medicine and Primary Care, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

RECEIVED 14 April 2022 ACCEPTED 27 October 2022 PUBLISHED 10 January 2023

CITATION

Liu Z, Hu H, Wen X, Liu X, Xu X, Wang Z, Li L and Liu H (2023) Baduanjin improves neck pain and functional movement in middle-aged and elderly people: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Front. Med.* 9:920102. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2022.920102

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Liu, Hu, Wen, Liu, Xu, Wang, Li and Liu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License

(CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Baduanjin improves neck pain and functional movement in middle-aged and elderly people: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials

Zicai Liu^{1,2†}, Hao Hu^{2†}, Xin Wen², Xuejin Liu², Xiaqing Xu², Zhenjiang Wang², Li Li³* and Huiyu Liu¹*

¹Department of Rehabilitation Medicine, Yuebei People's Hospital, Shaoguan, China, ²School of Rehabilitation Medicine, Gannan Medical University, Ganzhou, China, ³Yuebei People's Hospital, Shaoguan, China

Background: Neck pain (NP), one of the most common musculoskeletal diseases, exercises a great influence on the daily life of individuals, especially the elderly. Baduanjin is a traditional Qigong therapy from China, but there is no evidence for its use in the treatment of neck pain in middle-aged and elderly people.

Objective: We hope to summarize the efficacy evidence of Baduanjin in the treatment of middle-aged and elderly patients with neck pain (NP) for the first time, conduct a systematic review and meta-analysis, and provide basic evidence-based evidence for clinical practice.

Methods: Two researchers collectively searched PubMed, Web of Science, Embase, Cochrane Library, China Biology Medicine disk (Sino-Med), China National Knowledge Infrastructure (CNKI), Wanfang database, and China Science and Technology Journal Database (VIP). The search time is set from initial to 27 September 2022, to find out RCT articles that may meet the criteria. The risk bias assessment tool Cochrane was applied to assess the methodological quality of involved studies. RevMan 5.3 was used for the meta-analysis with a mean difference (MD) and 95% confidence interval (CI), and the model type was a random effects model. The VAS scores of the intervention and control groups were extracted and the results of the meta-analysis were presented using a forest plot.

Results: In total, 13 randomized controlled trials were meta-analyzed, including 840 patients. The results turned out that the VAS score in the intervention group was below the control group, which was statistically significant [MD = -1.15, 95% CI (-1.39, -0.92) and P < 0.001]. The result of general efficiency suggests that the Baduanjin group was better than the control group [RR = 1.19, 95% CI (1.10, 1.29), P < 0.001].

Conclusion: The existing results seem to show that Baduanjin is safe and has a trend of positive benefits in the treatment of neck pain in middle-aged and elderly people. However, considering the limitations of this study, we need to be cautious in our conclusions, and more studies are needed to verify it in future.

KEYWORDS

Baduanjin, neck pain, cervical pain, cervical spondylosis, meta-analysis

1. Introduction

Neck pain (NP), one of the most common musculoskeletal diseases, exercises a great influence on the daily life of individuals, especially the elderly (1-3). NP usually refers to pain between the neckline and the spinous process of the first thoracic vertebra (4). In the general population, the overall occurrence of NP ranges between 0.4 and 86.8%, and point prevalence can be as high as 41.5% (5). NP can be divided into acute (<6 weeks), subacute (6-12 weeks), and chronic (>12 weeks) according to the classification of symptoms (6, 7). Further differentiated by the International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems, NP also includes cervical vertebra pain, head and neck pain, and radiation pain in skin segments (6, 8). There was evidence that the development of NP is associated with inappropriate lifestyle, female gender, advanced age, faulty posture, and high demands for work (9-14). There is also a study which suggested that psychology may be a major factor in triggering neck pain (10). In general, NP can result in limited cervical spine functional range of motion (15), increase muscle burden, induce adverse posture, and affect proprioception (15, 16). It not only consumes healthcare resources to alleviate these symptoms but can also impose huge social and economic burdens (17, 18).

Relevant practice guidelines indicate that conservative treatments, such as health education, cervical spine mobility technique, muscle stretching, muscle strength training, and manual massage, can be served as the preferred treatment for NP (6, 19). However, although physical therapy and manual therapy are commonly recognized as mainstream treatments and have considerable efficacy, they usually cost an amount of money and time and need therapist care (20–23). Therefore, some accessible and cost-effective therapeutic interventions are urgently needed.

As a traditional Chinese Qigong therapy, Baduanjin is characterized by symmetrical body posture and actions, breathing control, meditative state, and concentration (24). Compared to traditional treatment methods, Baduanjin typically emphasizes a physical and mental integration of exercise to regulate the breath and coordinate psychology to balance Yin and Yang for general wellbeing (25–27). Additionally, the Baduanjin exercise routine includes eight independent movements, which are comparatively convenient to learn with little requirement for space. Patients can build up independently at home or out of doors (27). Many studies have found that Baduanjin can safely and effectively relieve pain intensity in various parts of NP patients (28, 29). Yang et al. randomly divided 55 patients with neck pain into the control group and the observation group. Based on the same treatment, the observation group received Baduanjin training and found that the VAS score of the observation group was significantly lower than that of the control group after 2 weeks of treatment (28).

So far, there has not been a systematic review of this topic using meta-analysis. Thus, we summarized data from randomized controlled trials (RCT) in recent years to analyze the therapeutic effects of Baduanjin on pain degree and total efficacy.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Data sources and retrieval strategy

Two review authors, XJL and XW, conducted a comprehensive article search on 27 September 2022. The search database includes China National Knowledge Infrastructure (CNKI), China Biology Medicine disk (Sino-Med), Wanfang database, China Science and Technology Journal Database (VIP), PubMed, Embase, Web of Science, and Cochrane library. The time limit is from the time of their inception to 27 September 2022. For a comprehensive search of studies that might meet the criteria, the literature search focused on "Baduanjin" and "Neck Pain." The basic search terms are: (Baduanjin OR Eight-section Brocade OR Ba duan jin) AND (Neck Pains OR Neck Ache OR Neck Aches OR Cervical Pain OR Posterior Cervical Pain OR Posterior Neck Pains OR anterior neck pain OR anterior cervical pain). Detailed search strategies for all databases are shown in **Supplementary Data Sheet 1**.

2.2. Inclusion criteria and study selection

2.2.1. Types of studies

The current meta-analysis researched the RCTs of Baduanjin that were intended to study the efficacy of Baduanjin in alleviating pain degree in middle-aged and elder patients with NP.

2.2.2. Types of participants

According to the age classification standards of the World Health Organization (30), the patients included in this study were middle-aged and elderly with an average age of 45–90 years. To prevent insufficient effect sizes due to small

number of studies, we set the age as at least one group with an average age of 40 years or more.

2.2.3. Types of intervention

In addition to single Baduanjin treatment, the observation group also combined with Chinese medicine, traction, electroacupuncture, massage manipulation, or other treatment methods, respectively. The control group received intervention measures corresponding to the observation group except for Baduanjin. In summary, Baduanjin must be used as the only exposure factor (variable), and any of the other interventions were the same in both groups.

2.2.4. Types of measured outcomes

The outcome indicators mainly used pain intensity and total efficiency. The Visual Analog Scale (VAS) (31) was mainly adopted to evaluate pain intensity. Neck Disability Index (NDI) (32) and Neck Pain Questionnaire (NPQ) (33) were used to



assess the cervical spine range of motion. Besides, according to the Diagnostic and Therapeutic Criteria of TCM Diseases and Syndromes (34), Integrative Efficacy was used as an outcome indicator. The specific criteria are as follows: (1) Healing: clinical symptoms disappear, neck and limb function return to normal, can participate in normal labor and work, and no recurrence for 3 months; (2) obvious effect: original pain, shoulder, and other symptoms; and (3) improvement: original symptoms and signs are not improved.

2.2.5. Exclusion criteria

The following types of literature will be excluded: (1) the full text is not available; (2) duplicate publication; (3) significant number of evidence missing or seriously erroneous literature; (4) review articles, purely descriptive studies, conference abstracts, and other non-randomized controlled trials; and (5) contains multiple intervention variables.

2.3. Data synthesis and extraction

According to the study purpose and inclusion and exclusion criteria, two researchers HH and ZCL screened the literature independently. If any disagreement exists, there will be a third researcher HYL to participate in the discussion to decide whether to include the literature. The researchers extracted the literature data according to a unified data extraction table, including first author and year of publication, age, gender, sample size, intervention method, and outcome indicators. Duplicate articles were excluded using the EndnoteX9 software.

2.4. Literature quality assessment

Two researchers, HH and ZCL, collectively evaluated the quality of the included literature based on the methodological quality evaluation standard of Cochrane manual 5.1.0 (35) and similarly sought a third researcher HYL to judge if there is any point of disagreement to obtain final results. The contents include random sequence generation, allocation concealment, blindness, completeness of outcome data, selective reporting, and other biases. "Low" represents a low risk of bias, "Unclear" indicates a lack of relevant information or uncertainty of bias, and "High" suggests a high risk of bias.

2.5. Statistical analysis

Review manager 5.3 (Cochrane) is applied to analyzing all statistical data. Forest plots are used to show the results of individual Baduanjin studies and meta-analyses. I^2 statistical tests were used to determine data heterogeneity. The I^2 value indicates the heterogeneity of the study; when I^2 is equal to

0, there is no heterogeneity, the value of I² less than 25% is considered as low heterogeneity, between 25 and 50% is recognized as moderate heterogeneity, and over 50% indicates high heterogeneity (36). During the meta-analysis, the between-group mean differences were converted to mean differences (MD) with 95% confidence intervals (CIs). To better cope with clinical heterogeneity, a random effects model was used. Meta-analyses that included more than nine trials were tested for publication bias using funnel plots. Statistical significance was determined by p < 0.05. Our research is informed by PRISMA Statement (37).



FIGURE 2

Risk of bias summary: review authors' judgments about each risk of bias item for each included study.

105

3. Results

3.1. Study search results

Initially, we obtained 288 possibly related articles from the following databases (CNKI, Wanfang, VIP, Sino-Med, PubMed, Embase, Web of Science, and Cochrane Library). In that, 140 duplicate articles were excluded by using EndNote software to check up. Through reading titles or/and abstracts, 102 nonconfirming articles were excluded and 46 studies were obtained after initial screening. After reading the full text, 13 studies (28, 38-49) were finally included, including 840 patients. The specific inclusion process is shown in Figure 1.

3.2. Quality assessment of the included literature

The literature quality results are shown in Figures 2, 3. Eight studies used the random number table method (28, 38-40, 43-45, 47), one study used computer Excel randomization (48), and four studies were just verbal randomization (41, 42, 46, 49), so nine studies were rated as low risk and four studies as unclear in terms of randomization. Blinding and allocation concealment were not reported in any of the studies, and it is unclear whether third-party personnel evaluated, so all risks of three sections were rated unclear. All studies had low risk in completeness of outcome data and Selective outcome reporting, all of them explained the reason and confirmed that it did not affect the results. Out of caution, we did not see detailed reports of Other Biases in the original text, so all studies were rated as unclear about Other Biases. We found that most Chinese studies do not seem to report the habit of blinding, which seems to be widespread in Chinese academia. However, this may lead to a certain bias.

3.3. Basic features of included studies

The basic features of the 13 studies that were finally included are summarized in Tables 1, 2. All 13 RCTs compared the baseline data of age, frequency, and the difference between the intervention group and control group. The average age of trial participants was more than 40 years, with more women than men. In most studies, intervention groups tended to be treated with Baduanjin combined with other treatments (including traditional therapies, stretching, acupuncture, and medicine therapy) to intervene. They were compared with the corresponding traditional treatment methods implemented in the control group. The frequency of the treatment in the intervention group ranged from three times a week to two times per day. The total duration of the treatment ranged from 2 weeks to 6 months. Most studies used clinical general effectiveness based on Diagnostic and Therapeutic Criteria of TCM Diseases and Syndromes (34) to assess disease synthesis efficacy. Other outcome measures included VAS to evaluate pain, NDI or SF-MPQ or NPQ to evaluate cervical motion function, CROM to measure cervical motion range, and SF-12 to evaluate the quality of life.

3.4. Effectiveness

3.4.1. Effects of Baduanjin on neck pain degree

Ten studies (28, 29, 38-40, 42-45, 47-49) used VAS to assess NP intensity. Although Xiao et al. (49) also used the VAS score,



Risk of bias graph: review authors' judgments about each risk of bias item presented as percentages across all included studies.

References	Characteristics of participants		
	Т	Age, mean	Sex
Xiao et al. (49)	44	I = 52.0, C = 50.0	Unclear
He (48)	60	$I = 43.23 \pm 8.01,$ $C = 41.50 \pm 7.45$	F = 26, M = 34
Cai et al. (47)	60	$I = 50.8 \pm 8.0,$ $C = 49.9 \pm 8.0$	F = 27, M = 33
Feng (45)	100	$I = 45.55 \pm 7.33,$ $C = 50.22 \pm 4.68$	F = 49, M = 51
Chen and Yang (46)	60	$I = 51.1 \pm 8.3,$ $C = 50.4 \pm 9.4$	F = 47, M = 13
Wu and Chen (44)	68	$I = 57.8 \pm 5.6,$ $C = 56.3 \pm 5.3$	F = 37, M = 31
Yuan et al. (43)	60	$I = 67.5 \pm 5.6,$ $C = 67.0 \pm 7.2$	F = 44, M = 16
Xie et al. (50)	84	$I = 56.3 \pm 6.5,$ $C = 60.0 \pm 6.7$	F = 32, M = 52
Chen (39)	60	$I = 39.27 \pm 9.40,$ $C = 40.00 \pm 7.89$	F = 36, M = 24
Xiong (41)	60	$I = 52.1 \pm 10.8,$ $C = 51.7 \pm 10.$	F = 33, M = 27
Xu and Wang (40)	60	$I = 54.93 \pm 11.21,$ $C = 55.27 \pm 9.84$	F = 37, M = 23
Yang et al. (28)	55	$I = 49.6 \pm 7.8,$ $C = 46.5 \pm 9.9$	F = 28, M = 27
		1	1

TABLE 1 Baseline features of the included studies (1).

T, total population; I, intervention group; C, control group; F, female; M, man.

69

 $I = 41.5 \pm 8.26$

 $C = 41.8 \pm 7.3$

F = 41, M = 28

Liu and Zhu (38)

we did not include it in the meta-analysis because the scale versions were inconsistent. Meta-analysis using the randomeffect model showed that the VAS score in the treatment group was below the control group, which was statistically significant [MD = -1.17, 95% CI (-1.55, -0.80) and P < 0.001] (see Figure 4), but the result showed high significant heterogeneity among studies ($I^2 = 74\%$, P = 0.0002). We plotted VAS correlation funnel plots and found that two studies were outside the funnel line (Figure 5). Through sensitivity analysis, the two studies were identified as those of Liu et al. (38) and Feng et al. (45), respectively. After removing the two studies, all the studies were in the funnel (Figure 6), and the VAS forest plot showed that the results were still stable [MD = -1.15, 95% CI (-1.39, -0.92) and P < 0.001 with low heterogeneity ($I^2 = 0\%$, P = 0.54) (see Figure 7). In addition, through visual inspection of the funnel plot (Figure 6), it can be found that it is roughly symmetric, and all points are in the funnel and at the top, indicating that publication bias is small.

3.4.2. General efficiency

According to the Diagnostic and Efficacy Standard of TCM Disease (34), a total of 10 studies (39, 41, 42, 44–50) reported

the percentage of total efficacy. The results showed that the treatment group was better than the control group [RR = 1.17, 95% CI (1.10, 1.25), P < 0.001] in the Heterogeneity test (P = 0.50, $I^2 = 0\%$, see Figure 8).

3.4.3. Other outcome indicators

There were other measures of NP and cervical motor function in the included studies, such as NDI, NPQ, and SF-MPQ. Owing to the small number of studies containing these indicators and the lack of sufficient data, these indicators were not included in the analysis.

3.4.4. Safety

None of the 13 studies-suggested participants experienced any significant adverse reaction or uncomfortable symptoms.

4. Discussion

This study mainly summarized the evidence of Baduanjin in the treatment of middle-aged and elderly NP from a large number of RCT trials. Preliminary meta-analysis seems to indicate that Baduanjin has some efficacy in the treatment of NP, while our results need to be interpreted with caution because when there are fewer studies, the power of the tests is too low to distinguish chance from real effect. However, these results can provide some basic trends and give clinicians a trend judgment. In addition, none of the 13 studies found any adverse effects of Baduanjin on middle-aged and elderly patients with neck pain. This initially shows that the Baduanjin treatment is relatively safe and reliable. General efficiency also shows that Baduanjin can indeed be used as a treatment strategy to relieve NP.

Neck pain is a common condition that reduces the individual quality of life and causes economic loss and mental burden, gaining increasing concerns (6, 51). Baduanjin is an ancient traditional Chinese medicine method that regulates and improves the respiratory, metabolic, digestive, circulatory, and motor systems (52–54). As an adjunctive treatment, in recent years, Baduanjin has gradually been used to treat NP in the middle-aged and elderly group (7, 55). Zou et al. (24) showed that Baduanjin exercise can effectively relieve musculoskeletal pain and improve overall sleep quality in patients with chronic diseases. The study by Kong et al. (29) showed positive evidence that Baduanjin can be used as a complementary therapy for neck pain in middle-aged and elderly patients.

According to the available literature, Baduanjin relieving NP may currently be the following mechanism. As a kind of self-exercise treatment method, Baduanjin includes stretching actions such as flexion and extension and left and right twisting (56). While fully exercising the neck and back muscles, Baduanjin can pull the cervical spine by the deep static stretching of the muscles in various action directions, thereby alleviating muscle spasms, reducing pain, and restoring and
TABLE 2	Baseline	features	of the	included	studies (2).
---------	----------	----------	--------	----------	------------	----

References	Invention meth	Frequence, follow-up time	Outcome	
		С		
Xiao et al. (49)	Baduanin + routine comprehensive treatment	Routine compre-hensive treatment	2 times/d, 40 min/sessions, 1 m	12
He (48)	Baduanin + tuina Tuina		Baduanin: 50–60 min/session, 84 sessions, 12 w	12
Cai et al. (47)	Baduanjin + medication and traction therapy Medication and traction therapy		2 times/day, 30 min/sessions, 6 m	12
Feng (45)	Baduanjin + massage	Massage	20 min/session, 48 sessions, 4 w	12
Chen and Yang (46)	Baduanjin + acupuncture and fire cans	Acupuncture and fire cans	3 sessions/w, repeat the sets 3 times each session, 3 w	16
Wu and Chen (44)	Baduanjin + routine comprehensive treatment	Routine compre-hensive treatment	5 sessions/w, 40 min/sessions, 8 w	1234
Yuan et al. (43)	Baduanjin + routine comprehensive treatment	Routine compre-hensive treatment	5 sessions/w, 40 min/sessions, 12 w	2
Xie et al. (50)	Baduanjin + acupuncture and medicine	Acupuncture and medicine	7 sessions/w, 30 min/sessions, 3 m	15
Chen (39)	Baduanjin + electroacupuncture	electroacupuncture	12 sessions, 4 w	1234
Xiong (41)	Baduanjin + routine comprehensive treatment	Routine compre-hensive treatment	5 sessions/w, 40 min/sessions, 8 w	156
Xu and Wang (40)	Baduanjin + acupuncture	Acupuncture	56 sessions, 4 w	2
Yang et al. (28)	Baduanjin + routine comprehensive treatment	Routine compre-hensive treatment	3 times/d, 5 min, 2 w	2
Liu and Zhu (38)	Baduanin + thunder fire moxibustion	Thunder fire moxibustion	1 times/d 40 min/d, 5 d/w, 4 w	12

I, intervention group; C, control group; routine comprehensive treatment-including health education, cervical spine mobility technique, muscle stretching, muscle strength training, and manual massage; ①-general efficiency. ②-VAS score. ③-Cervical Range of Motion (CROM). ④-Neck Disability Index (NDI). ⑤-Neck Pain Questionnaire (NPQ). ⑥-SF-MPQ. d, day; m, month; w, week.



improving cervical spine motor function (57, 58). Compared with other effective treatment options (traction, acupuncture, medicine, and so on), there are amount of advantages to using Baduanjin exercise as an adjunct therapy to treat patients with NP, such as easy access, low cost, no side effects, and unlimited venues (23, 59). It is especially important for groups that cannot tolerate the side effects or afford the high cost of conventional medical treatment.

Although the relevant Baduanjin research data are relatively abundant, there is a lack of international consensus on the therapeutic schedule of Baduanjin for NP currently. Previous research has focused more on the efficacy of Baduanjin for pain throughout the body or the comprehensive effects of Baduanjin on sleep, pain, respiratory function, or other aspects (24, 27, 59). At present, systematic evaluation and meta-analysis on the efficacy of Baduanjin for middle-aged and elderly patients with NP are still lacking. Hence, our study is the first to highlight the efficacy of Baduanjin against NP, which owns a certain degree of innovation and creation. Compared to previous systematic reviews and analyses (50), Our study focused on Baduanjin as an intervention mode, and the population was biased toward the middle-aged and elderly, which was more





specific. Moreover, our study also has stricter inclusion and exclusion criteria and expands the sample size, making it more convincing.

Future research not only needs to improve the research quality in terms of research methods but also needs to explore the differences in efficacy for people in different regions and find out the most appropriate intervention frequency and optimal intervention time. Which specific action of Baduanjin is the most effective? How long the long-term effect lasts also needs to be explored.

The research also has some limitations. One of the primary disadvantages is that most existing articles lack blinding,





which may result in the emergence of subjective biases, yet this seems to be a common phenomenon in most Chinese documents; due to the local characteristics of Baduanjin in China, there are still few relevant randomized controlled trials in other countries. Most of the participants in the study were from the Chinese region, thus leading to geographical limitations. Second, many variables affect the outcome, leading to the high heterogeneity of included studies, such as the intervention time, frequency, and specific actions of Baduanjin; although sensitivity analysis was performed to identify the source of heterogeneity, more research is needed to determine the optimal Baduanjin intervention. Third, there may be publication bias and reporting bias in the included studies. Since gray literature was not included, statistically significant outcomes are probability to be fully reported, thus making the therapeutic benefits of Baduanjin exaggerated. Finally, the sample size included in this study is still comparatively small and statistical power may be insufficient, thereby reducing the persuasiveness of evidence.

In conclusion, our systematic review and meta-analysis preliminarily provided positive evidence that Baduanjin alleviated NP in middle-aged and elderly people, and it also confirms the safety of Baduanjin in treating the middle and the old with NP. However, given the limitations of this study, more large, high-quality RCTs still be needed to demonstrate it in future.

Data availability statement

All data from this study are based on online RCT studies.

Author contributions

HH and ZL: conceptualization, methodology, software, writing – original draft, and writing – review and editing. XL and XW: data management. ZW and XX: investigation. XL and ZW: resources. XW, HL, and LL: supervision. HL: funding

sources. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank the Department of Rehabilitation Medicine of the Yuebei People's Hospital for its assistance and financial support.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

References

1. Cohen SP. Epidemiology, diagnosis, and treatment of neck pain. Mayo Clin Proc. (2015) 90:284–99. doi: 10.1016/j.mayocp.2014.09.008

2. Hoy D, March L, Woolf A, Blyth F, Brooks P, Smith E, et al. The global burden of neck pain: estimates from the global burden of disease 2010 study. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (2014) 73:1309–15. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2013-204431

3. Machino M, Ando K, Kobayashi K, Nakashima H, Morozumi M, Kanbara S, et al. Impact of neck and shoulder pain on health-related quality of life in a middle-aged community-living population. *Biomed Res Int.* (2021) 2021:6674264. doi: 10.1155/2021/6674264

4. Fandim JV, Nitzsche R, Michaleff ZA, Pena Costa LO, Saragiotto B. The contemporary management of neck pain in adults. *Pain Manag.* (2021) 11:75–87. doi: 10.2217/pmt-2020-0046

5. Hoy DG, Protani M, De R, Buchbinder R. The epidemiology of neck pain. *Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol.* (2010) 24:783-92. doi: 10.1016/j.berh.2011. 01.019

6. Blanpied PR, Gross AR, Elliott JM, Devaney LL, Clewley D, Walton DM, et al. Neck pain: revision 2017. *J Orthopae Sports Phys Ther.* (2017) 47:A1. doi: 10.2519/jospt.2017.0302

7. Cohen SP, Hooten WM. Advances in the diagnosis and management of neck pain. *BMJ.* (2017) 358;j3221. doi: 10.1136/bmj.j3221

 Childs JD, Cleland JA, Elliott JM, Teyhen DS, Wainner RS, Whitman JM, et al. Neck pain: clinical practice guidelines linked to the international classification of functioning, disability, and health from the orthopedic section of the American physical therapy association. J Orthop Sports Phys Ther. (2008) 38:A1–34. doi: 10.2519/jospt.2008.0303

9. Jun D, Zoe M, Johnston V, O'Leary S. Physical risk factors for developing non-specific neck pain in office workers: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int Arch Occup Environ Health.* (2017) 90:373–410. doi: 10.1007/s00420-017-1205-3

10. Kim R, Wiest C, Clark K, Cook C, Horn M. Identifying risk factors for firstepisode neck pain: A systematic review. *Musculoskelet Sci Pract.* (2018) 33:77–83. doi: 10.1016/j.msksp.2017.11.007

11. Mahmoud NF, Hassan KA, Abdelmajeed SF, Moustafa IM, Silva AG. The relationship between forward head posture and neck pain: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Curr Rev Musculoskelet Med.* (2019) 12:562–77. doi: 10.1007/s12178-019-09594-y

12. McLean SM, May S, Klaber-Moffett J, Sharp DM, Gardiner E. Risk factors for the onset of non-specific neck pain: a systematic review. *J Epidemiol Community Health*. (2010) 64:565–72. doi: 10.1136/jech.2009.090720

13. Paksaichol A, Janwantanakul P, Purepong N, Pensri P, van der Beek AJ. Office workers' risk factors for the development of non-specific neck pain: a systematic review of prospective cohort studies. *Occup Environ Med.* (2012) 69:610–8. doi: 10.1136/oemed-2011-100459

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fmed.2022.920102/full#supplementary-material

14. Shahidi B, Curran-Everett D, Maluf KS. Psychosocial, physical, and neurophysiological risk factors for chronic neck pain: a prospective inception cohort study. *J Pain.* (2015) 16:1288–99. doi: 10.1016/j.jpain.2015.09.002

15. Stenneberg MS, Rood M, de Bie R, Schmitt MA, Cattrysse E, Scholten-Peeters GG. To what degree does active cervical range of motion differ between patients with neck pain, patients with whiplash, and those without neck pain? a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* (2017) 98:1407–34. doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2016.10.003

16. Hesby BB, Hartvigsen J, Rasmussen H, Kjaer P. Electronic measures of movement impairment, repositioning, and posture in people with and without neck pain-a systematic review. *Syst Rev.* (2019) 8:220. doi: 10.1186/s13643-019-1125-2

17. Murray CJ, Atkinson C, Bhalla K, Birbeck G, Burstein R, Chou D, et al. The state of US health, 1990-2010: burden of diseases, injuries, and risk factors. *JAMA*. (2013) 310:591–608. doi: 10.1001/jama.2013.13805

18. Safiri S, Kolahi AA, Hoy D, Buchbinder R, Mansournia MA, Bettampadi D, et al. Global, regional, and national burden of neck pain in the general population, 1990-2017: systematic analysis of the global burden of disease study 2017. *BMJ*. (2020) 368:m791. doi: 10.1136/bmj.m791

19. Bier JD, Scholten-Peeters WGM, Staal JB, Pool J, van Tulder MW, Beekman E, et al. Clinical practice guideline for physical therapy assessment and treatment in patients with nonspecific neck pain. *Phys Ther.* (2018) 98:162–71. doi: 10.1093/ptj/pzx118

20. Carlson H, Carlson N. An overview of the management of persistent musculoskeletal pain. *Ther Adv Musculoskelet Dis.* (2011) 3:91–9. doi: 10.1177/1759720X11398742

21. Feine JS, Lund JP. An assessment of the efficacy of physical therapy and physical modalities for the control of chronic musculoskeletal pain. *Pain.* (1997) 71:5–23. doi: 10.1016/S0304-3959(96)03287-3

22. Hoving JL, Koes BW, de Vet HC, van der Windt DA, Assendelft WJ, van Mameren H, et al. Manual therapy, physical therapy, or continued care by a general practitioner for patients with neck pain. A randomized, controlled trial. *Ann Intern Med.* (2002) 136:713–22. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-136-10-200205210-00006

23. Korthals-de Bos IB, Hoving JL, van Tulder MW, Rutten-van Molken MP, Ader HJ, de Vet HC, et al. Cost effectiveness of physiotherapy, manual therapy, and general practitioner care for neck pain: economic evaluation alongside a randomised controlled trial. *BMJ*. (2003) 326:911. doi: 10.1136/bmj.326.7395.911

24. Zou L, SasaKi JE, Wang H, Xiao Z, Fang Q, Zhang MA. Systematic review and meta-analysis baduanjin qigong for health benefits: randomized controlled trials. *Evid Comp Alter Med.* (2017) 2017:4548706. doi: 10.1155/2017/4548706

25. Cheng FK. Effects of Baduanjin on mental health: a comprehensive review. J Bodyw Mov Ther. (2015) 19:138–49. doi: 10.1016/j.jbmt.2014.11.001

26. Li M, Fang Q, Li J, Zheng X, Tao J, Yan X, et al. The effect of Chinese traditional exercise-baduanjin on physical and psychological well-being of college

students: a randomized controlled trial. PLoS One. (2015) 10:e0130544. doi: 10. 1371/journal.pone.0130544

27. Zou, LZ. Traditional Chinese baduanjin qigong for older adults: a minireview. Open Access J Gerontol Geriatr Med. (2017) 1. doi: 10.19080/OAJGGM. 2017.01.555561

28. Yang Kunpeng LJ, Yue F, Yin Q. Analysis of curative effect of traditional Baduanjin exercise on patients with cervical spondylotic radiculopathy. *Chin Manip Rehabil Med.* (2021) 12:14–9.

29. Kong L, Ren J, Fang S, He T, Zhou X, Fang M. Traditional Chinese exercises on pain and disability in middle-aged and elderly patients with neck pain: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Front Aging Neurosci.* (2022) 14:912–45. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2022.912945

30. Journal Editorial Board. The standard for dividing the age of middle-aged and old people. *Chin J Nat Med.* (2001) 3:211.

31. Langley GB, Sheppeard H. The visual analogue scale: its use in pain measurement. *Rheumatol Int.* (1985) 5:145–8. doi: 10.1007/BF00541514

32. Vernon, H. The neck disability index. J Musculoskeletal Pain. (2010) 4:95-104. doi: 10.1300/J094v04n04_09

33. Crestani F, Muftah Shaladi A, Saltari R, Gozza C, Michielan F. Treatment of neck pain with type A botulinum toxin evaluated by Neck Pain Questionnaire (NPQ). *La Clinica Terap.* (2013) 164:e279–82. doi: 10.7417/CT.2013. 1588

34. National Administration of Traditional Chinese Medicine. *Diagnostic and Therapeutic Criteria of TCM Diseases and Syndromes: National Administration of Traditional Chinese Medicine*. Beijing: Journal of Chinese Medicine Management (1994).

35. Higgins J, Thompson SG, Deeks JJ, Altman DG. Cochrane handbook for systematic reviews of interventions version 5.1.0. the cochrane collaboration. *Naunyn-Schmiedebergs Archiv für Exp Pathol Pharmakol.* (2008) 5:S38.

36. Higgins JP, Thompson SG, Deeks JJ, Altman DG. Measuring inconsistency in meta-analyses. *BMJ*. (2003) 327:557–60. doi: 10.1136/bmj.327.7414.557

37. Liberati A, Altman DG, Tetzlaff J, Mulrow C, Gotzsche PC, Ioannidis JP, et al. The PRISMA statement for reporting systematic reviews and meta-analyses of studies that evaluate healthcare interventions: explanation and elaboration. *BMJ*. (2009) 339:b2700. doi: 10.1136/bmj.b2700

38. Yanfang Liu CM, Zhu J. The curative effect of thunder-fire moxibustion and Baduanjin method in the treatment of root cervical spondylosis. *J Cervicod Lumbod.* (2022) 43.

39. Chen X. Clinical Observation of Elector-Acupuncture Combined with Two Actions of Baduanjin Exercise in the Treatment of Cervical Spondylosi. Ph.D thesis. Guangzhou: Guangzhou University of Chinese Medicine (2021).

40. Xu Yanlin ZY, Wang Y. Clinical study of Baduanjin combined with acupuncture in the treatment of cervical spondylotic radiculopathy. *Shanghai Med.* (2021) 42.

41. Xiong Li ZS. Analysis of Baduanjin in patients with cervical spondylosis. *Friends Health.* (2021) 158.

42. Fu X. Effect of Baduanjin exercise on the curative effect of cervical spondylosis and neck pain. *J Cervicod Lumbod.* (2020) 41:119–20.

43. Yuan Julian LL, Zhao Y, Tang D, Wang B, Zhang X. Application of BADUANJIN(八段锦) exercises combined with conventional rehabilitation

therapy to the rehabilitation of cervical spondylotic radiculopathy in aged patients. *J Trad Chin Orthop Trauma*. (2019) 31:25–34.

44. Wu Liming CH, Chen Y. Observation of Baduanjin exercise prescription on the rehabilitation of cervical spondylosis. *General Care.* (2019) 17:2355–58.

45. Feng Liang QM. Observation of clinical rehabilitation of patients with cervical radiculopathy. *Chin Manip Rehabil Med.* (2017) 8:20-2.

46. Chen Li YS, Yang Z. Clinical observation on the treatment of cervical spondylotic radiculopathy with bodybuilding Qigong Baduanjin combined with acupuncture. *Forefront Med.* (2017) 7:294–96.

47. Cai Jiadi XH, Shi X, Liu T. Rehabilitation observation of 30 cases of cervical spondylosis combined with conventional therapy. *Guiding J Tradition Chin Med Pharm.* (2015) 21:98–9. doi: 10.1016/s0254-6272(10)60025-8

48. Xinwei H. The research of rehabilitation effect on neck type cervical spondylosis disease patients by baduanjin. *Nanjing Univ Tradition Chin Med.* (2014).

49. Xiao Bin YS, Fang L, Chen Z. Effect of practice on root pain in patients with cervical spondylosis. *Chin Manip Qigong Ther.* (2003) 19.

50. Xie YH, Liao MX, Wang MY, Fernando W, Gu YM, Wang XQ, et al. Traditional Chinese mind and body exercises for neck pain: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Pain Res Manage*. (2021) 2021:5426595. doi: 10.1155/ 2021/5426595

51. Gaskin DJ, Richard P. The economic costs of pain in the United States. J Pain. (2012) 13:715–24. doi: 10.1016/j.jpain.2012.03.009

52. Cheng Z, Guang Y. The application of baduanjin in the field of the rehabilitation of old-age diseases. *J Jilin Sport Univ.* (2017) 33:95–9.

53. Ma Q, Li H, Gao Y, Zou Y. Effects of Baduanjin on glucose and lipid metabolism in diabetic patients: A protocol for systematic review and meta-analysis. *Medicine (Baltimore)*. (2021) 100:e23532. doi: 10.1097/MD. 000000000023532

54. Yang Y, Chen K, Tang W, Xie X, Xiao W, Xiao J, et al. Influence of Baduanjin on lung function, exercise capacity, and quality of life in patients with mild chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Medicine (Baltimore)*. (2020) 99:e22134. doi: 10. 1097/MD.00000000022134

55. Kay TM, Gross A, Goldsmith CH, Rutherford S, Voth S, Hoving JL, et al. Exercises for mechanical neck disorders. *Coch Datab Syst Rev.* (2012) 2012:CD004250. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD004250.pub4

56. Ke XJ, Cui YS. Effect of Baduanjin on cervical spine function in undergraduate patients with neck and shoulder syndrome. *Chin J Sch Health.* (2018) 39.

57. Chen HB, Huang MH, Jh D. Efficacy observation of lifting chiropractic combined with two movements of Baduanjin exercise on the young patients suffered from neck type cervical spondylosis. *Tianjin J Tradition Chin Med.* (2019) 36:967–70.

58. Yuehui S, Shang Y, Cai Y, Ji J, Wang J, Wang Y, et al. Effect of Baduanjin exercise on rehabilitation of patients with cervical spondylosi. *Chin Nurs Res.* (2017) 31:4017–9. doi: 10.1007/s00520-022-07548-8

59. Zou L, Pan Z, Yeung A, Talwar S, Wang C, Liu Y, et al. A review study on the beneficial effects of Baduanjin. *J Altern Complement Med.* (2018) 24:324–35. doi: 10.1089/acm.2017.0241

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Patricia C. Heyn, Marymount University, United States

REVIEWED BY Mojtaba Vaismoradi, Nord University, Norway Pernilla Garmy, Kristianstad University, Sweden

*CORRESPONDENCE Ying Xiong 270428@njucm.edu.cn

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Family Medicine and Primary Care, a section of the journal Frontiers in Public Health

RECEIVED 12 October 2022 ACCEPTED 01 December 2022 PUBLISHED 11 January 2023

CITATION

Lin L, Yu L, Zhang S, Liu J and Xiong Y (2023) The positive effect of mother-performed infant massage on infantile eczema and maternal mental state: A randomized controlled trial. *Front. Public Health* 10:1068043. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2022.1068043

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Lin, Yu, Zhang, Liu and Xiong. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC DV) The use distribution License

(CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

The positive effect of mother-performed infant massage on infantile eczema and maternal mental state: A randomized controlled trial

Lin Lin¹, Lin Yu¹, Shuying Zhang¹, Jing Liu² and Ying Xiong^{1*}

¹Acupuncture and Massage College, Nanjing University of Chinese Medicine, Nanjing, Jiangsu, China, ²Pediatric Massage Department, Jiangsu Provincial Hospital of Chinese and Western Medicine, Nanjing, Jiangsu, China

Objective: To observe the influence of MPIM on infantile eczema, quality of life, growth and maternal mental state.

Methods: This trial was a randomized controlled study. Sixty-six full-term infants with eczema were randomly divided into eczema control group (EC group, n = 33) and eczema with MPIM group (EM group, n = 33), along with healthy full-term infants in the healthy control group (HC group, n = 31). The mothers in the EC group received the instruction of routine care, while the mothers in the EM group applied massage on the infants plus receiving the same instruction of the routine care. HC group received none of any specific intervention. Data were collected in the three groups at the baseline and at the end of 2- and 5-month intervention. Before and at the end of 2-month intervention, the following indexes were investigated in infants including the growth indexes, eczema area severity index (EASI), infantile dermatitis quality of life index (IDQOL). And the scores of self-rating anxiety scale (SAS) and self-rating depression scale (SDS) were investigated in mothers at the same timepoints. At the end of 5-month intervention, the infants' growth and relapse condition of eczema were observed.

Results: Overall, 31 cases in HC group, 31 in EC group and 32 in EM group were included for data analysis. There were no significant differences in the indexes of infantile growth among the three groups (all P > 0.05). The scores of EASI and IDQOL significantly lowered (both P < 0.001) in EC group following the instruction of routine care, along with reduced maternal scores of SAS and SDS (both P < 0.05). Compared with the EC group, the EM group showed significantly lower scores of EASI and IDQOL (both P < 0.001) and lower relapse rate (P < 0.01) in infants with eczema, along with significantly lower scores of SAS and SDS in mothers (both P < 0.01). Moreover, none of obvious adverse reaction was reported following MPIM, to which most of the mothers could adhere.

Conclusion: MPIM could effectively promote the remission of infantile eczema and reduce its relapse, along with relieving maternal anxiety and depression mood.

Clinical trial registration: Identifier: ChiCTR2200066246.

KEYWORDS

family massage, infant eczema, postpartum, anxiety, depression

Introduction

Eczema, also known as atopic eczema or atopic dermatitis, is a chronic relapsing inflammatory dermatosis characterized by pruritus, xerosis and a close association with immunoglobulin E (IgE)- mediated sensitization to aeroallergens and foods (1). The incidence of eczema in children has reached 15-20% (2), with the highest incidence in infants between the ages of 3 and 6 months old (2). A substantial portion of cases with eczema can go into complete remission by 2 years of age, while there are about 40% of cases with a prolonged duration and the highest risk for the atopic march (3). Moreover, infantile eczema obviously impairs infantile quality of life and potentially influence growth (4, 5). Current treatments for eczema aim to relieve symptoms since there is no cure for it (6, 7). General measures include the application of emollients and topical agents and avoidance of infections and trigger factors (2).

It is noteworthy that eczema in infants also negatively influences maternal mood (4). Postpartum mothers are especially susceptible to depressive and anxious episodes (8). It is reported that 8.5% of postpartum mothers experienced anxiety disorder (9) and 13% or higher experienced depression in their first postpartum year (10–12). Moreover, the mothers of infants with eczema are more susceptible to the psychological distress such as frustration, depression and anxiety, the level of which is often correlated to the eczema severity (4).

Infant massage, as a common traditional practice, is widely used all over the world for both preterm and full-term infants nowadays (13, 14). A series of studies have revealed its benefits to infants, such as enhancing growth and development, improving sleep and increasing interactions with parents (15-17). Previous trials also demonstrated that massage could relieve eczema symptoms in young children (18, 19). In China, infant massage is often applied on certain meridians and acupoints based on the theory of traditional Chinese medicine (TCM), which effectively relieves eczema in infants and toddlers (20-22). As we all know, infant massage can be performed not only by professionals in clinical setting, but also by parents at home (23). Systematic reviews recommend that parents can perform massage on lowrisk infants for promoting mental and physical health due to its cost-effectiveness and no evidence of any risk (13, 14). Moreover, a series of studies indicated that mother-performed infant massage (MPIM) improved maternal depression, stress or negative mood during postpartum period (24-26). However, few trials have simultaneously observed the outcomes of both mothers and infants following MPIM. So far, there is also no trial to investigate whether MPIM can improve infantile eczema and whether MPIM influences the growth of infants with eczema.

Therefore, this trial was designed to observe the potential influence of MPIM on infantile eczema, growth and maternal mental state, which may be a beneficial health-care method for mother-infant dyads.

Methods

Trial design

The study used a prospective block-controlled randomized design shown in Figure 1. Given convenient and practical implement, participants were recruited through publicity in Dingshan street community (Nanjing in Jiangsu province, China). This study was conducted in the health service center of Dingshan street community and at home, respectively based on the intervention protocol between April 2020 and March 2021. The optimal sample size of 87 (29 per group) was calculated by using PASS software (version 15.0, NCSS, USA) based on the following assumptions: $\beta = 0.10$, $\alpha = 0.05$, $\sigma 1 = 1.8$, $\sigma 2$ = 0.4, $\mu 1$ = 1.6, and $\mu 2$ = 0.3, with 90% power, a two-sided alpha of 5%, and an estimated 20% loss to follow-up (27). Thirtyone healthy full-term infants and 66 full-term infants with acute eczema were enrolled in this study. Thirty-one healthy full-term infants were enrolled in the healthy control group (HC group, n = 31) for the comparison of infants' growth and mothers' mental state with eczema groups. By using a random number list produced by Excel software (version 2016, Microsoft, US), 66 infants with eczema were randomly divided into eczema control group (EC group, n = 33) and eczema with MPIM group (EM group, n = 33) in a 1:1 ratio by one investigator, who didn't participate in the following intervention or assessment. Participants were not blinded due to the nature of the intervention. The investigators responsible for the assessment of the infantile growth and eczema severity were blinded. However, the investigators responsible for the instruction of routine care and MPIM as well as regular supervision were not blinded due to the nature of the intervention.

Inclusion criteria

For the infants with eczema:(1) full-term infant at or under 12 months old; (2) diagnosed as infantile eczema based on the clinical criteria for pediatric atopic dermatitis (28); (3) with informed consent and voluntary compliance with the study arrangement from the infant's mother.

For the healthy infants: (1) same as (1) and (3) for the infants with eczema above; (2) infants without any history of obvious visceral and functional diseases; (3) infants without eczema and other atopic diseases.

Exclusion criteria

For the infants with eczema: (1) preterm infants or infant over 1 year old; (2) infant with any visceral disease or dysfunction except for eczema; (3) infant with infection, or the history of topical and systemic application of corticosteroids,



antihistamines, antibiotics agents, traditional Chinese herbs or other specific intervention during the last 2 weeks; (4) infants with severe eczema, i.e., eczema area and severity index (EASI) score > 21 (2); (5) infant with obvious eczema or skin lesion on the back where massage is applied; (6) mother with diagnosed severe mental disorders or the scores of Zung's self-rating anxiety scale (SAS) and self-rating depression scale (SDS) \geq 70; (7) mother unable to follow study protocol.

For the healthy infants: same as (1), (3), (5), (6) and (7) for the infants with eczema above.

Interventions

This study was a 5-month-long intervention study, which included the first 2-month intervention with regular supervision and the latter 3-month intervention without any supervision (shown in Figure 2). This kind of design aimed to have a knowledge of the feasibility and maternal adherence of MPIM,

which is very important for promoting its application as a homebased healthcare method in the community. Data in the three groups were collected at the baseline and at the end of 2and 5-month intervention to evaluate and analyze the outcome difference among groups. One investigator communicated with the mothers in the EC and EM group to enhance the adherence to the respective instruction by wechat communication once a week and by face to face once a month during the first 2month intervention. During the latter 3-month intervention, the mothers in the EC and EM group were advised to record the adherence of respective intervention without any contact from investigators until the last assessment.

Protocol in the HC group

Infants and mothers in the HC group received none of any specific intervention, except for the assessment at the three timepoints.



Protocol in the EC group

The mothers in the EC group only received the instruction of routine care from one investigator for about half an hour in a small group of 3-5 mothers according to their convenience after the baseline observation. The tips of routine care for infantile eczema included the avoidance of skin irritants and allergens, avoidance of allergenic food in maternal and infantile diet, breast-feeding as much as possible and the application of emollient. For avoiding the confounder caused by using different emollients in this study, Pigeon skin lotion (Pigeon, Shanghai, CNH) was recommended in this study since it is popularly used on infants in China. It was advised to apply the skin lotion on the whole body of the infant except for the scalp at least twice daily, once during day time and once either after bathing or before sleep (if no bathing that day) in the evening. The used amount of the skin lotion was not fixed but determined by the body surface area and dry condition of skin in individual infant, which aimed to achieve the lubricant effect. In addition, let the infant lie on his/her stomach safely and comfortably for 10 min after the application of skin lotion before bedtime, for controlling the massaging position and time in EM group. The mothers in the EC group were instructed about infant massage by investigators after this study observation ended based on the voluntary rule.

Protocol in the EM group

The mothers in the EM group were also instructed with the same routine care as the EC group and infant massage. The mothers were instructed with infant massage by the investigator

for about 1 h in a small group of 3-5 mothers according to their convenience after the baseline observation, following the instruction about the same routine care as the EC group. The whole procedure of massage was determined according to the clinical application and textbook (29-32). The whole procedure took about 10 min as follows: Let the infant lie safely and comfortably on his/her stomach; the mother washed her hands and applied some skin lotion (Pigeon, Shanghai, CNH) to lubricate her hands and infant's back; firstly, the mother stroked the infant's back longitudinally along the middle line with finger bellies from shoulder level down to the sacrum level for 10 times; secondly, horizontally rubbed the back swiftly and gently with a palm for 20 times respectively at upper, middle, lower back levels; thirdly, applied traditional back-pinching manipulation (BP) for 6 repeats with the finger bellies; lastly, kneaded topdown on both sides of the back slowly and gently with a palm for 5 repeats. The details of one-repeat BP were as follows: pinched the skin located on the middle sacrum with the finger bellies and lifted to twist and move forward swiftly upward to the should level. The intensity of pinching and twisting would be increased gradually to avoid intolerable discomfort. For infants beyond 6 months, BP was performed for 9 repeats. After the instruction and learning, the mothers performed the whole procedure of infant massage on their infants for about 10 min in the presence of the investigator at the health care center. Afterwards, the mothers performed infant massage once daily at home 6 times per week. It was recommended to massage infants before bedtime in the evening as previous reports due to its beneficial effect on infantile sleep pattern (25). The investigator also communicated with the mothers on massage practice during wechat communication once a week and by face to face once a month. The mothers were also provided with massage video.

Outcome observation

Weight, length, head circumference and BMI in infants

The weight, length and head circumference in infants were measured to assess infant's physical growth at the baseline, at the end of the 2- and 5-month intervention by one investigator, who was blinded from group division. The weight and length were measured by using an intelligent physical examination instrument (WS-RTG-ID, Wuhan Computer Software Development Co. LTD, China). Body mass index (BMI) was also calculated by using the following formula: BMI= weight (kg) /length (m)². Head circumference was measured by a measuring tape (Guoshi measuring tape Co., LTD, China).

Eczema severity

Eczema severity was assessed by using the eczema area and severity index (EASI) at the baseline and the end of the 2-month intervention, which was conducted by one blinded investigator. EASI is a simple, reliable and easily understood system, which can be used by practitioners and investigators as a baseline evaluation and to track changes of eczema condition over time (2, 33, 34). EASI assesses the key signs of eczema including redness, thickness, excoriation, lichenification and the percentage of skin involving four areas (the head and neck, the trunk, the upper and lower extremities) (2, 33, 34). The scores are summed to achieve a total score ranging from 0 to 72. An EASI score ≤ 7 is considered as mild, 8–21 moderate, 22–50 severe, 51–72 very severe (2).

Quality of life in infants with eczema

The quality of life (QOL) in infants with eczema was evaluated by their mothers using the infants' dermatitis quality of life index (IDQOL) at the baseline and the end of the 2-month intervention. IDQOL is an easy and sensitive method with good reproducibility for parents to assess QOL impairment in infants with eczema (35). IDQOL contains 11 questions about current dermatitis severity, symptoms such as itching and scratching, mood, sleep, play, family activities, mealtimes, treatments, dressing and bathing. Ten questions present with the scores ranging from 0 to 3 and 1 question from 0 to 4 (35). In addition, the sleep condition in infants was also evaluated by the total scores of 2 questions involving sleep in IDQOL.

Mental state in mothers

Maternal anxiety and depression levels were evaluated, respectively by using SAS and SDS to investigate their mental state. Mothers in the three groups completed SAS and SDS questionnaires at the baseline and the end of the 2-month intervention. SAS and SDS were designed to quantify the severity of anxiety and depression symptoms, which is widely used as a common and effective self-assessment method (36– 39). SDS is often used for perinatal women in China (40, 41). Both of SAS and SDS are 20-item self-reported assessment scales. The total score multiplied by 1.25 provides a standard score. The severity of symptoms was determined based on the standard scores of SAS and SDS as follows: < 50 (normal), 50–59 (mild), 60–69 (moderate), and \geq 70 (severe). The score below 50 also indicates the levels of depression and anxiety mood (42, 43).

Adverse event

During the study, the mothers and investigators observed whether there were any adverse events in the infants after intervention, including any local impairment of skin, continuous crying, any abnormal change in sleep, eating and bowel movement.

Observation on the relapse of eczema

Since infantile eczema is a chronic relapsing inflammatory dermatosis (1), this study also observed the relapse condition of eczema in infants at the end of the 5-month intervention comparing with eczema condition at the end of the 2-month intervention. Persistent zero score of EASI from the end of 2month to 5-month interventions was considered as complete remission. Eczema recurred after complete remission at the end of 2-month intervention was considered as a relapse. Persistent eczema without complete remission from the end of 2-month to 5-month interventions was considered as noncomplete-remission. The general condition of infantile eczema was evaluated by a blinded investigator.

Statistical analysis

The one-way ANOVA and $\chi 2$ test were performed to compare baseline data among groups. The repeated-measures ANOVA was performed to compare infantile growth data among groups. The student's *t*-test was used to compare the scores of EASI, IDQOL and sleep in infant-mother dyads preand post-intervention among groups. The rank sum test was used to analyze the infantile eczema condition and the level of maternal anxiety and depression among groups. The SAS score and SDS score among groups were analyzed by oneway ANOVA and *t*-test for the comparison of pre- and postintervention. Finally, we used spearman's rank correlation to assess the correlation between EASI score and the scores of

117

IDQOL, sleep, SAS and SDS. All analyses were done by using Statistical Package for Social Sciences version 25.0 (SPSS, IBM, Armonk, NY, USA) and figures by using GraphPad Prism 6 (GraphPad Software Inc., La, Jolla, CA, USA). P < 0.05 were considered as statistical significance.

Results

Demographical data of infant-mother dyads

Thirty-one dyads and 63 dyads completed the study. The demographical profile of these infant-mother dyads is shown in Table 1. The age and the gender ratio in infants were not significantly different among the three groups (F = 0.464, P = 0.630; $\chi^2 = 0.663$, P = 0.718). There were no significant differences in the age, education background, primiparity and breast-feeding condition among the mothers in the three groups (F = 2.637, P = 0.077; $\chi^2 = 1.274$, 0.141 and 1.005, P = 0.693, 0.932 and 1.000).

Weight, length, head circumference and BMI in infants

As shown in Figures 3A–D, there were no significant differences in the baseline values of infantile weight, length, BMI and head circumference in the three groups (F = 0.222, 0.768, 0.246 and 0.612; P = 0.802, 0.467, 0.782, and 0.544). The increasing in the infantile weight, length and head circumference was not significantly different among the three groups during this study (F = 1.752, 1.010 and 1.030; P = 0.172, 0.381 and 0.370). Moreover, the change in the infantile BMI value was not significantly different among the three groups (F = 0.490, P = 0.699).

Improvement on infantile eczema

The severity of infantile eczema was evaluated by EASI and IDQOL scores as shown in Table 2. At the baseline, the scores of EASI and IDQOL in infants were not significantly differenct between the EC and EM groups (t = 1.389, P = 0.172; t= 0.349, P = 0.728). There were significantly lower scores of EASI (t = 8.749 and 15.460; both P < 0.001) and IDQOL (t = 5.981 and 8.132; both P < 0.001) after the 2-month intervention in both groups. Moreover, the EM group had significantly lower scores of EASI and IDQOL than the EC group (t = 3.953 and 3.797; both P < 0.001). Meanwhile, as shown in Table 3, the EM group had significantly lower scores involving sleep state following MPIM than the EC group (t = 3.969, P < 0.001). In addition, there was a significantly positive correlation of EASI scores with IDQOL

scores before ($\gamma = 0.348$, P = 0.005, Figure 4A) and after 2month intervention ($\gamma = 0.709$, P < 0.001, Figure 4E). There was also a significant correlation of EASI scores with sleep scores after 2-month intervention ($\gamma = 0.559$, P < 0.001, Figure 4F), but not at the baseline ($\gamma = 0.171$, P = 0.180, Figure 4B). At the end of 5-month intervention, the EM group had significantly more cases of complete remission and fewer relapse cases than the EC group (Z = 3.124, P = 0.002, Table 4).

Improvement on mental state in mothers

The mental state in mothers was evaluated by SAS and SDS scores as shown in Table 5. Compared with the HC group, the mothers in the EC and EM groups showed significantly higher scores of SDS (P = 0.032, P = 0.010) and non-significantly higher scores of SAS (P = 0.158, P = 0.236). At the end of 2month intervention, there were significantly lower scores of SAS and SDS in the EC group (t = 2.087, P = 0.046; t = 2.695, P= 0.011) and EM group (t = 6.066 and 7.972, both *P* < 0.001). The EM group had significantly lower scores of SAS and SDS than the EC group (P = 0.003, P = 0.002). Intriguingly, the scores of SAS and SDS in EM group were significantly lower at the end of 2-month intervention than those in the HC group (P = 0.031, P = 0.039). The scores of SAS and SDS in the HC group didn't show significant change (t = 0.220, P = 0.827; t = 0.000 P = 1.000). Moreover, compared with the EC group, the ratio of cases with mild-to-moderate depression to normal cases lowered significantly (Z = 2.349, P = 0.019), but the ratio of cases with mild-to-moderate anxiety to normal cases didn't change significantly (Z = 1.016, P = 0.310, Table 6). Meanwhile, the correlation of maternal scores of SAS and SDS with infantile EASI scores showed significantly positive before ($\gamma = 0.294$, $P < 0.019; \gamma = 0.267, P < 0.035;$ Figures 4C,D) and after 2month intervention ($\gamma = 0.495, P < 0.001; \gamma = 0.524, P < 0.001$, Figures 4G,H). In addition, as shown in Table 3, maternal sleep state got improved remarkably in the EC and EM groups after 2-month intervention (t = 2.160, P = 0.039; t = 4.923, P <0.001,). MPIM further improved maternal sleep state (t = 2.468, P = 0.018).

Safety observation of MPIM

During the study, none of any obviously adverse events was observed and reported following MPIM or routine care except for temporal crying during BP only on the first several days in 4 cases in the EM group.

118

TABLE 1 Demographical data of infant-mother dyads.

	HC group(<i>n</i> = 31)	EC group(<i>n</i> = 31)	EM group(<i>n</i> = 32)	<i>P</i> -value
Infant				
Age (month)	4.3 ± 3.1	3.7 ± 2.9	3.6 ± 2.7	0.630
Male/female	14/17	17/14	17/15	0.718
Mother				
Age (year)	28.8 ± 2.6	27.8 ± 2.8	29.6 ± 3.6	0.077
Education background (high school and above/below)	30/1	28/3	29/3	0.693
Primiparity/multiparity	22/9	21/10	23/9	0.932
Breast-/mixed-/artificial feeding	27/2/2	27/3/1	28/2/2	1.000

Data are presented as the mean \pm standard deviation or n/n.

HC, healthy control; EC, eczema control; EM, eczema with mother-performed infant massage.



Adherence in routine care or MPIM

This study was also designed to observe maternal adherence condition during the latter 3-month intervention without any supervision from investigators. The investigator asked about (1) whether the mothers persisted in following instructed routine care in the EC and EM groups; (2) how often MPIM was conducted in the EM group. It was found that routine care was followed by all mothers in both groups. Nineteen mothers performed MPIM at least 6 days a week, 12 mothers 1 or 2 days a week, and only 1 mother discontinued for no special reason.

Discussion

This study aimed to observe the potentially positive effect of MPIM on infantile eczema, growth and the mental state in mothers. This study indicated that infantile eczema impaired infantile quality of life and negatively influenced maternal mental state. Infantile eczema improved over time after mothers followed the instructions about the routine care for infantile eczema, along with improved depressive and anxious mood in mothers. More importantly, this study demonstrated that MPIM further enhanced eczema remission and decreased its relapse

TABLE 2 Comparison of infantile eczema condition.

	EC group (<i>n</i> = 31)	EM group (n = 32)	<i>P</i> -value
EASI score			
Baseline	7.0 ± 4.2	5.9 ± 1.9	0.172
2 Month	2.2 ± 2.7	0.3 ± 0.7	<0.001***
P-value	<0.001***	<0.001***	1
IDQOL score			
Baseline	4.8 ± 3.4	5.1 ± 3.1	0.728
2 Month	3.0 ± 2.4	1.1 ± 1.4	<0.001***
P-value	<0.001***	<0.001***	1

Data are presented as the mean \pm standard deviation.

EASI, eczema area severity index; IDQOL, infantile dermatitis quality of life index.

*** P<0.001.

TABLE 3 Comparison of sleep scores in infant-mother dyads.

	EC group (<i>n</i> = 31)	EM group (n = 32)	<i>P</i> -value
Infant			
Baseline	1.42 ± 1.12	1.75 ± 1.02	0.224
2 Month	1.16 ± 0.90	0.38 ± 0.66	<0.001***
P-value	0.030*	<0.001***	/
Mother			
Baseline	5.61 ± 2.28	5.56 ± 1.98	0.919
2 Month	4.90 ± 1.76	4.03 ± 0.90	0.018*
<i>P</i> -value	0.039*	<0.001***	/

Data are presented as the mean \pm standard deviation.

*P < 0.05, *** P < 0.001.

rate, together with further improved mental state in mothers. However, the growth in infants with eczema was not affected by MPIM.

Eczema is typically the first allergic manifestation to appear (44). Precipitating or aggravating factors of eczema include food allergens, environmental allergens or irritants, climatic condition, stress and genetic predisposition, although the exact cause of eczema is not clear (45). Infantile emollient is inexpensive, widely available, and used extensively for relieving eczema (46), which can improve the function of skin barrier and reduce itch and irritation (45). About 35% to 40% of children with moderate to severe eczema have food allergy, and eczema can be improved significantly by eliminating the causative food from their diet (46). Previous studies demonstrated that breastfeeding was associated with lower incidences of allergic diseases, eczema included (47, 48). Breast-feeding is proved to prevent allergy due to the immune mediators and oligosaccharides in maternal milk, which facilitates balanced gut microbiota to induce tolerance (44). In this study, infantile eczema improved after the mothers followed these instructions about the routine care for infantile eczema. Itching, the cardinal symptom of eczema, obviously impairs infantile QOL, therefore, IDQOL is widely used in conjunction with EASI for assessing clinical severity of eczema (4, 5). This study also demonstrated that QOL of infants with eczema was impaired by eczema and improved along with relieved eczema after the mothers followed the instruction of routine care.

As we all know, postpartum mothers are susceptible to depression and anxiety episodes (9-12), whose mood is negatively influenced by infant eczema (4). This study showed that the respective prevalence of anxiety and depression among these postpartum mothers was 1/31 and 3/31 in HC group, 3/31 and 5/31 in EC group, 2/32 and 7/32 in EM group at baseline, which are consistent with previous reports (10-12). The mothers in the EC and EM groups had significantly higher levels of depression and anxiety mood than those in the HC group at baseline. Moreover, the mothers in the EC and EM groups had higher rates of depression symptoms than those in the HC group



TABLE 4 Comparison of infantile eczema condition at the end of 5-month intervention.

Group	Complete remission	Relapse	Non-complete- remission	<i>P</i> -value
EC group $(n = 31)$	6 (19.35)	10 (32.26)	15 (48.39)	0.002**
EM group $(n = 32)$	15 (46.88)	13 (40.63)	4 (12.5)	

Data are presented as n (%).

 $^{**}P < 0.01.$

at baseline, but not higher rates for anxiety symptom. This result indicated that infantile eczema might increase the susceptibility of mothers to depression, which is consistent with previous study (4).

Two previous trials demonstrated that mother-performed massage could relieve eczema symptoms in young children (18, 19). One trial showed that the children with eczema were massaged with skin oil on the whole body (except for head and face) by the therapist once a week and by mothers every day for 8 weeks, which decreased night-time disturbance score (18). The other one demonstrated that mother-performed massage on the whole body (except for head) for 1 month after the first instruction by therapist could relieve eczema symptoms in children and reduce the anxiety of mothers and children. In China, infant massage is applied based on the theory of TCM, which is performed on the specific areas to relieve eczema in infants and toddlers (20–22). So far, there is no trial to investigate whether mother-performed massage can relieve infantile eczema. It is well-known that the development of

eczema is associated with Th2-skewed inflammation, which is closely related with intestinal dysbiosis (49, 50). Our previous experiments demonstrated that BP, the major manipulation in MPIM, attenuated Th2-skewed inflammation and regulate the intestinal dysbiosis in immature rats with allergic airway inflammation (51, 52). In TCM, the back is the location where Du vessel and Bladder meridian run, which can be stimulated to regulate visceral function and relieve allergic symptoms (29, 32). Based on our previous trials and animal experiments, this study was designed to massage the back (29-31). This study demonstrated that MPIM further enhanced eczema remission and decreased its relapse rate, along with improved infantile QOL. It is worth mentioning that MPIM remarkedly improved the sleep state of infants with eczema and their mothers, which is consistent with previous studies (53-56). Our previously trial showed mother-performed massage improved the depression and anxiety state of the mothers of asthmatic children (31). This study indicated that MPIM also significantly reduced the levels of maternal depression and anxiety mood, including obvious

	HC group (<i>n</i> = 31)	EC group (n = 31)	EM group (<i>n</i> = 32)	<i>P</i> -value	<i>P</i> -value ^a	<i>P</i> -value ^b	<i>P</i> -value ^c
SAS score							
Baseline	34.1 ± 8.3	$\textbf{37.3} \pm \textbf{9.6}$	36.7 ± 8.6	0.316	0.158	0.236	0.809
2 Month	33.7 ± 8.2	35.4 ± 9.3	29.5 ± 4.9	0.009**	0.390	0.031*	0.003**
P-value	0.827	0.046*	<0.001***	/	1	/	/
SDS score							
Baseline	37.7 ± 10.7	43.6 ± 2.1	44.8 ± 9.7	0.023	0.032	0.010	0.663
2 Month	37.7 ± 10.8	40.3 ± 10.2	32.9 ± 6.2	0.007**	0.275	0.039*	0.002***
P-value	1.000	0.011*	< 0.001***	/	/	/	/

TABLE 5 Comparison of SAS and SDS scores.

Data are presented as the mean \pm standard deviation.

SAS, self-rating anxiety scale; SDS, self-rating depression scale.

a,b and c represent P-values for comparisons between HC and EC group, HC and EM group, EC and EM group, respectively.

 $^{*}P < 0.05, ^{**}P < 0.01, ^{***}P < 0.001.$

TABLE 6	Comparison o	f maternal	depression	and anxiety	condition
INDEL V	companson o	i matcinat	acpression	and analog	contantion.

	group	Severity						
		Normal	Mild-to- moderate	<i>P</i> -value	Normal	Mild-to- moderate	<i>P</i> -value	
		Pre-inte	Pre-intervention			Post-intervention		
Anxiety	EC group $(n = 31)$	28 (90.32)	3 (9.68)	0.618	30 (96.77)	1 (3.23)	0.310	
	EM group ($n = 32$)	30 (93.75)	2 (6.25)		32 (100)	0 (0)		
Depression	EC group $(n = 31)$	26 (83.87)	5 (16.13)	0.565	26 (83.87)	5 (16.13)	0.019*	
	EM group (n=32)	25 (78.13)	7 (21.88)		32 (100)	0 (0)		

Data are presented as n (%).

**P* < 0.05.

depression symptom, which consist with previous trials (24–26, 57, 58).

Further investigation in this study revealed the positive correlation between the levels of depression and anxiety and the severity of infant eczema. Therefore, on one side, the sleep state of infants got better with eczema improvement, which might beneficially influence the mothers sleep and mood. On the other hand, skin-to-skin contact during MPIM might trigger oxytocin (OT) production and release, which contributed to anti-stress effect and improving sleep state in mothers as previous reports (59-61). OT is synthesized and released from the magnocellular neurons of the paraventricular (PVN) and supraoptic nuclei (SON) of the hypothalamus (62). OT has positive central effects on psychological adjustment and maternal behaviors during postpartum period (63-67). It is also believed that tactile contact between mother and child during massage could reduce the levels of stress-related hormones (cortisol and norepinephrine) in children and mothers and led to relieved eczema and maternal anxiety (19, 68). The placebo effect could also play a role due to a beneficial expectation (18).

Few trials investigated the outcomes of both infants and mothers following MPIM. To our knowledge, only one trial did investigate the physical status of preterm infants and the psychological state in the mothers following MPIM, which led to greater weight, motor development, and larger bicep and thigh circumference in infants as well as increased maternal attachment and decreased anxiety compared to the control group (69). However, our study showed that the growth of the infants with eczema was not affected by eczema during 5-month observation in this study. MPIM didn't significantly enhance the infantile growth although it improved infantile eczema. Previous reports also demonstrated inconsistent results about the effect of MPIM on enhancing infantile growth in preterm infants and healthy infants. Gonzalez (70) and Zhang (71) reported that MPIM could enhance the growth of preterm infants while Abedi (72) reported that MPIM didn't enhance the growth of healthy neonates. In this study, most of infants had mild eczema and thus their growth might not be affected by eczema, which might explain the result.

In addition, the correlations of EASI score with infantile scores of IDQOL and sleep and maternal scores of SAS and

SDS were more significant after 2-month intervention compared with those at baseline. This result suggests that infantile quality of life and sleep and maternal mood might be affected easily by surrounding complicated factors during early postpartum stage, which may change overtime.

Previous study showed that parents preferred to learn and practice infant massage on their own babies either in a class, in a hospital or at home under the investigators' supervision and instruction (24–26, 30, 31, 73). However, for the feasibility and practicality, the adherence of MPIM at home without any specific supervision of investigators should be investigated, which is the minor aim of this study. This study demonstrated good adherence of MPIM without persistent supervision from investigators, which indicated that MPIM is feasible and convenient to implement at home after the relative training in the community background.

Limitations

There are some limitations in this study. Firstly, for the convenient implementation in this pilot study, it was designed to enroll participants from one community, which might influence the real intervention effects. Secondly, this study was designed not to supervise the implementation of MPIM during the latter 3 months, aiming to observe the feasibility and adherence of MPIM. Therefore, the outcomes of infant-mother dyads at the end of 5-month intervention might be affected by the various performing frequency of MPIM. Thirdly, due to the small sample size, this study didn't analyze the potentially different effects caused by various frequency of MPIM at the end of 5-month intervention. Fourthly, this pilot study only enrolled infants and their mothers to observe the potential effect on maternal mental state. It can also extend to fathers of eczema infants who also experience worse mental state during postpartum. Fifthly, due to the study feature, mothers could not be blinded and they also assessed their own mental state and infantile quality of life, which might bring certain placebo effect. In the future, multi-centered randomized controlled trials with larger size are warranted to further investigate the potential benefits of parent-performed infant massage on the outcomes of infant-parent dyads for a prolonged time.

Conclusion

In conclusion, this study demonstrated for the first time that MPIM enhanced the remission of infantile eczema, reduced the relapse rate and improved maternal depression and anxiety mood. Given its safety, cost-effectiveness and feasibility, MPIM may be recommended as a routine home healthcare method for infants with eczema in the community background.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ethics Committee of Jiangsu Provincial Hospital of Intergrated Chinese and Western Medicine. Number of ethics approval: 2020LWKY010. Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardian/next of kin.

Author contributions

YX contributed to the conception and design of the study. LY and JL participated in the design of the manuscript and collected data. LL and YX drafted the manuscript. LL and SZ analyzed data. All authors contributed to manuscript revision, read, and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This study was supported by National Natural Science Foundation of China (Nos. 81973970 and 81774446).

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank the staffs in the Health Service Center of the Dingshan street community for the help and space provision in this study.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Peters N, Peters AT. Atopic dermatitis. Allergy Asthma Proc. (2019) 40:433– 6. doi: 10.2500/aap.2019.40.4265

2. Ständer S. Atopic dermatitis. N Engl J Med. (2021) 384:1136–43. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra2023911

3. Bieber T, D'Erme AM, Akdis CA, Traidl-Hoffmann C, Lauener R, Schäppi G, et al. Clinical phenotypes and endophenotypes of atopic dermatitis: where are we, and where should we go? *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* (2017) 139:S58-64. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2017.01.008

4. Lewis-Jones S. Quality of life and childhood atopic dermatitis: the misery of living with childhood eczema. *Int J Clin Pract.* (2006) 60:984–92. doi: 10.1111/j.1742-1241.2006.01047.x

5. Maksimović N, Janković S, Marinković J, Sekulović LK, Zivković Z, Spirić VT. Health-related quality of life in patients with atopic dermatitis. *J Dermatol.* (2012) 39:42–7. doi: 10.1111/j.1346-8138.2011.01295.x

6. Sawangjit R, Dilokthornsakul P, Lloyd-Lavery A, Lai NM, Dellavalle R, Chaiyakunapruk N. Systemic treatments for eczema: a network meta-analysis. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* (2020) 9:Cd013206. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD013206.pub2

7. Wu SH, Chen XQ, Liu B, Wu HJ, Dong L. Efficacy and safety of 15(R/S)methyl-lipoxin A(4) in topical treatment of infantile eczema. *Br J Dermatol.* (2013) 168:172–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2133.2012.11177.x

8. Johansson M, Benderix Y, Svensson I. Mothers' and fathers' lived experiences of postpartum depression and parental stress after childbirth: a qualitative study. *Int J Qual Stud Health Well-being.* (2020) 15:1722564. doi: 10.1080/17482631.2020.1722564

9. Goodman JH, Watson GR, Stubbs B. Anxiety disorders in postpartum women: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Affect Disord. (2016) 203:292-331. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2016.05.033

10. Fisher JR, Morrow MM, Ngoc NT, Anh LT. Prevalence, nature, severity and correlates of postpartum depressive symptoms in Vietnam. *Bjog.* (2004) 111:1353-60. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-0528.2004.00394.x

11. Wilkinson A, Anderson S, Wheeler SB. Screening for and treating postpartum depression and psychosis: a cost-effectiveness analysis. *Matern Child Health J.* (2017) 21:903–14. doi: 10.1007/s10995-016-2192-9

12. Woody CA, Ferrari AJ, Siskind DJ, Whiteford HA, Harris MG. A systematic review and meta-regression of the prevalence and incidence of perinatal depression. *J Affect Disord*. (2017) 219:86–92. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2017.05.003

13. Underdown A, Barlow J, Chung V, Stewart-Brown S. Massage intervention for promoting mental and physical health in infants aged under six months. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* (2006) 18:Cd005038. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD005038.pub2

14. Vickers A, Ohlsson A, Lacy JB, Horsley A. Massage for promoting growth and development of preterm and/or low birth-weight infants. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* (2004) 2004:Cd000390. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD000390.pub2

15. Abdallah B, Badr LK, Hawwari M. The efficacy of massage on short and long term outcomes in preterm infants. *Infant Behav Dev.* (2013) 36:662–9. doi: 10.1016/j.infbeh.2013.06.009

16. Field T. Massage therapy research review. Complement Ther Clin Pract. (2014) 20:224-9. doi: 10.1016/j.ctcp.2014.07.002

17. Juneau AL, Aita M, Héon M. Review and critical analysis of massage studies for term and preterm infants. *Neonatal Netw.* (2015) 34:165–77. doi: 10.1891/0730-0832.34.3.165

18. Anderson C, Lis-Balchin M, Kirk-Smith M. Evaluation of massage with essential oils on childhood atopic eczema. *Phytother Res.* (2000) 14:452–6. doi: 10. 1002/1099-1573(200009)14:6<452::aid-ptr952>3.0.co;2-4

19. Field T. Massage therapy for skin conditions in young children. *Dermatol Clin.* (2005) 23:717–21. doi: 10.1016/j.det.2005.05.009

20. Du CY, Ma R, Jin L, Liu X, Lv L. Clinical observation on backpinching manipulation for 60 cases of infantile eczema (subacute stage) based on constitution differentiation according to four seasons. *Liaoning J Trad Chin Med.* (2017) 44:1656–8. doi: 10.13192/j.issn.1000-1719.2017.08.033

21. He YH, Kang J. Efficacy of Tuina on 120 cases of infantile eczema. Chin Acupunct Moxi. (2012) 32:1103-4.

22. He YH, Kang J, Liu GZ. Observation on short- and long-term effects of Tuina on eczema among infants and young children. *Zhongguo Zhen Jiu*. (2009) 29:655–7.

23. Kliegman RM. Nelson Textbook of Pediatrics. 21th ed. Elsevier (2020). p. 554

24. Lotfalipour B, Tirgari B, Pouraboli B, Mirzaee M. Effect of preterm infant massage by the mother on the mood of mothers having preterm infants. *J Chiropr Med.* (2019) 18:67–76. doi: 10.1016/j.jcm.2018.11.001

25. Oswalt K, Biasini F. Effects of infant massage on HIVinfected mothers and their infants. *J Spec Pediatr Nurs.* (2011) 16:169–78. doi: 10.1111/j.1744-6155.2011.00291.x

26. Porter LS, Porter BO, McCoy V, Bango-Sanchez V, Kissel B, Williams M, et al. Blended infant massage-parenting enhancement program on recovering substance-abusing mothers' parenting stress, self-esteem, depression, maternal attachment, and mother-infant interaction. *Asian Nurs Res.* (2015) 9:318–27. doi: 10.1016/j.anr.2015.09.002

27. Wang S, Wang L, Li P, Shu H, Shen C, Wu Y, et al. The improvement of infantile atopic dermatitis during the maintenance period: a multicenter, randomized, parallel controlled clinical study of emollients in Prinsepia utilis Royle. *Dermatol Ther.* (2020) 33:e13153. doi: 10.1111/dth.13153

28. Eichenfield LF, Hanifin JM, Luger TA, Stevens SR, Pride HB. Consensus conference on pediatric atopic dermatitis. J Am Acad Dermatol. (2003) 49:1088–95. doi: 10.1016/S0190-9622(03)02539-8

29. Xiong Y, Noraas AU, Yang X Y. Effect of chiropractic therapy on allergic constitution and intestinal flora in children. *Lishizhen Med Materia Medica*. (2017) 28:2440-2. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1008-0805.2017.10.045

30. Wei JF. Clinical Study on the Effect of Family Intervention with Spine-pinching Manipulation on Spleen Deficiency Syndrome and Allergic Constitution in Children with Asthma in Remission Stage. Nanjing University of Chinese Medicine (2020). doi: 10.27253/d.cnki.gnjzu.2020.000567

31. Lu JL. Clinical Study of Pediatric Massage Based on Family Intervention on the Psychological Behavior of Asthmatic Children and Parents. Nanjing University of Chinese Medicine (2020). doi: 10.27253/d.cnki.gnjzu.2020.000582

32. Liu MJ, Tai XT. *Pediatric Massage*. 3rd ed. China Press of Traditional Chinese Medicine (2021). p. 52–3.

33. Barbier N, Paul C, Luger T, Allen R, De Prost Y, Papp K, et al. Validation of the Eczema Area and Severity Index for atopic dermatitis in a cohort of 1550 patients from the pimecrolimus cream 1% randomized controlled clinical trials programme. *Br J Dermatol.* (2004) 150:96–102. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2133.2004.05696.x

34. Hanifin JM, Thurston M, Omoto M, Cherill R, Tofte SJ, Graeber M. The eczema area and severity index (EASI): assessment of reliability in atopic dermatitis. *EASI Evaluator Group Exp Dermatol.* (2001) 10:11–8. doi: 10.1034/j.1600-0625.2001.100102.x

35. Lewis-Jones MS, Finlay AY, Dykes PJ. The infants' dermatitis quality of life index. Br J Dermatol. (2001) 144:104–10. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2133.2001.03960.x

36. Zung WW. A rating instrument for anxiety disorders. *Psychosomatics*. (1971) 12:371–9. doi: 10.1016/S0033-3182(71)71479-0

37. Dunstan DA, Scott N. Norms for Zung's self-rating anxiety scale. BMC Psychiatry. (2020) 20:90. doi: 10.1186/s12888-019-2427-6

38. Kitamura T, Shima S, Sugawara M, Toda MA. Temporal variation of validity of self-rating questionnaires: repeated use of the General Health Questionnaire and Zung's Self-rating Depression Scale among women during antenatal and postnatal periods. *Acta Psychiatr Scand.* (1994) 90:446–50. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0447.1994.tb01622.x

39. Zung WW. A self-rating depression scale. Arch Gen Psychiatry. (1965) 12:63–70. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.1965.01720310065008

40. Chen X, Hu W, Hu Y, Xia X, Li X. Discrimination and structural validity evaluation of Zung self-rating depression scale for pregnant women in China. J Psychosom Obstet Gynaecol. (2022) 43:26–34. doi: 10.1080/0167482X.2020.1770221

41. Hu J, Zhou B, Li Y, Deng Y, He Q, Ye J, et al. The interaction between estradiol change and the serotonin transporter gene (5-HTTLPR) polymorphism is associated with postpartum depressive symptoms. *Psychiatr Genet*. (2019) 29:97–102. doi: 10.1097/YPG.0000000000222

42. Liu X, Chen M, Wang Y, Sun L, Zhang J, Shi Y, et al. Prenatal anxiety and obstetric decisions among pregnant women in Wuhan and Chongqing during the COVID-19 outbreak: a cross-sectional study. *Bjog.* (2020) 127:1229–40. doi: 10.1111/1471-0528.16381

43. Qin W, Li L, Zhu D, Ju C, Bi P, Li S. Prevalence and risk factors of depression symptoms among Chinese seafarers during the COVID-19 pandemic: a cross-sectional study. *BMJ Open.* (2021) 11:e048660. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2021-04 8660

44. Wopereis H, Sim K, Shaw A, Warner JO, Knol J, Kroll JS. Intestinal microbiota in infants at high risk for allergy: effects of prebiotics and role in eczema development. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* (2018) 141:1334–42.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2017.05.054

45. Katelaris CH, Peake JE. 5 Allergy and the skin: eczema and chronic urticarial. *Med J Aust.* (2006) 185:517–22. doi: 10.5694/j.1326-5377.2006.tb00670.x

46. Chalmers JR, Haines RH, Bradshaw LE, Montgomery AA, Thomas KS, Brown SJ, et al. Daily emollient during infancy for prevention of eczema: the BEEP randomised controlled trial. *Lancet.* (2020) 395:962–72. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(19)32984-8

47. Lodge CJ, Tan DJ, Lau MX, Dai X, Tham R, Lowe AJ, et al. Breastfeeding and asthma and allergies: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Acta Paediatr.* (2015) 104:38–53. doi: 10.1111/apa.13132

48. Minniti F, Comberiati P, Munblit D, Piacentini GL, Antoniazzi E, Zanoni L, et al. Breast-milk characteristics protecting against allergy. *Endocr Metab Immune Disord Drug Targets*. (2014) 14:9–15. doi: 10.2174/1871530314666140121145045

49. Macia L, Thorburn AN, Binge LC, Marino E, Rogers KE, Maslowski KM, et al. Microbial influences on epithelial integrity and immune function as a basis for inflammatory diseases. *Immunol Rev.* (2012) 245:164–76. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-065X.2011.01080.x

50. Zimmermann P, Messina N, Mohn WW, Finlay BB, Curtis N. Association between the intestinal microbiota and allergic sensitization, eczema, and asthma: a systematic review. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* (2019) 143:467–85. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2018.09.025

51. Xiong Y, Shen CC, Fan P, Zhou RP, Chen X, Xi RJ. Effect of chiropractic method on intestinal flora and pulmonary inflammation in asthmatic rats with spleen deficiency. *J Tradit Chin Med.* (2018) 59:61–5. doi: 10.13288/j.11-2166/r.2018.01.015

52. Zhu Y, Xiong Y, Gu Y, Li Q, Liu Y. Chiropractic therapy modulated gut microbiota and attenuated allergic airway inflammation in an immature rat model. *Med Sci Monit.* (2020) 26:e926039. doi: 10.12659/MSM.926039

53. Ferber SG, Laudon M, Kuint J, Weller A, Zisapel N. Massage therapy by mothers enhances the adjustment of circadian rhythms to the nocturnal period in full-term infants. *J Dev Behav Pediatr.* (2002) 23:410-5. doi: 10.1097/00004703-200212000-00003

54. Field T, Gonzalez G, Diego M, Mindell J. Mothers massaging their newborns with lotion versus no lotion enhances mothers' and newborns' sleep. *Infant Behav Dev.* (2016) 45:31–7. doi: 10.1016/j.infbeh.2016.08.004

55. Field T. Pediatric massage therapy research: a narrative review. *Children*. (2019) 6:78. doi: 10.3390/children6060078

56. Mindell JA, Lee CI, Leichman ES, Rotella KN. Massage-based bedtime routine: impact on sleep and mood in infants and mothers. *Sleep Med.* (2018) 41:51–7. doi: 10.1016/j.sleep.2017.09.010

57. Onozawa K, Glover V, Adams D, Modi N, Kumar RC. Infant massage improves mother-infant interaction for mothers with postnatal depression. *J Affect Disord*. (2001) 63:201–7. doi: 10.1016/S0165-0327(00)00198-1

58. Feijó L, Hernandez-Reif M, Field T, Burns W, Valley-Gray S, Simco E. Mothers' depressed mood and anxiety levels are reduced after massaging their preterm infants. *Infant Behav Dev.* (2006) 29:476–80. doi: 10.1016/j.infbeh.2006.02.003

59. Feldman R, Gordon I, Schneiderman I, Weisman O, Zagoory-Sharon O. Natural variations in maternal and paternal care are associated with systematic

changes in oxytocin following parent-infant contact. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*. (2010) 35:1133–41. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2010.01.013

60. Matthiesen AS, Ransjö-Arvidson AB, Nissen E, Uvnäs-Moberg K. Postpartum maternal oxytocin release by newborns: effects of infant hand massage and sucking. *Birth.* (2001) 28:13–9. doi: 10.1046/j.1523-536x.2001. 00013.x

61. Uvnäs-Moberg K. Oxytocin and behaviour. Ann Med. (1994) 26:315-7. doi: 10.3109/07853899409148343

62. Stoop R. Neuromodulation by oxytocin and vasopressin in the central nervous system as a basis for their rapid behavioral effects. *Curr Opin Neurobiol.* (2014) 29:187–93. doi: 10.1016/j.conb.2014.09.012

63. Mah BL, Van Ijzendoorn MH, Out D, Smith R, Bakermans-Kranenburg MJ. The effects of intranasal oxytocin administration on sensitive caregiving in mothers with postnatal depression. *Child Psychiatry Hum Dev.* (2017) 48:308–15. doi: 10.1007/s10578-016-0642-7

64. Mah BL, Van Ijzendoorn MH, Smith R, Bakermans-Kranenburg MJ. Oxytocin in postnatally depressed mothers: its influence on mood and expressed emotion. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry*. (2013) 40:267– 72. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2012.10.005

65. Mantella RC, Vollmer RR, Li X, Amico JA. Female oxytocin-deficient mice display enhanced anxiety-related behavior. *Endocrinology.* (2003) 144:2291–6. doi: 10.1210/en.2002-0197

66. Moura D, Canavarro MC, Figueiredo-Braga M. Oxytocin and depression in the perinatal period-a systematic review. *Arch Womens Ment Health.* (2016) 19:561–70. doi: 10.1007/s00737-016-0643-3

67. Yoshida M, Takayanagi Y, Inoue K, Kimura T, Young LJ, Onaka T, et al. Evidence that oxytocin exerts anxiolytic effects via oxytocin receptor expressed in serotonergic neurons in mice. *J Neurosci.* (2009) 29:2259–71. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5593-08.2009

68. Field T, Morrow C, Valdeon C, Larson S, Kuhn C, Schanberg S. Massage reduces anxiety in child and adolescent psychiatric patients. *J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry*. (1992) 31:125–31. doi: 10.1097/00004583-199201000-00019

69. Mokaberian M, Noripour S, Sheikh M, Mills PJ. Examining the effectiveness of body massage on physical status of premature neonates and their mothers' psychological status. *Early Child Dev Care.* (2022) 192:2311–25. doi: 10.1080/03004430.2021.2006194

70. Gonzalez AP, Vasquez-Mendoza G, García-Vela A, Guzmán-Ramirez A, Salazar-Torres M, Romero-Gutierrez G. Weight gain in preterm infants following parent-administered Vimala massage: a randomized controlled trial. *Am J Perinatol.* (2009) 26:247–52. doi: 10. 1055/s-0028-1103151

71. Zhang X, Wang J. Massage intervention for preterm infants by their mothers: a randomized controlled trial. *J Spec Pediatr Nurs.* (2019) 24:e12238. doi: 10. 1111/jspn.12238

72. Abedi F, Mirbagher Ajorpaz N, Esalatmanesh S, Rahemi Z, Gilasi HR, Kafaei Atrian M, et al. The effect of tactile-kinesthetic stimulation on growth indices of healthy neonates. *J Bodyw Mov Ther.* (2018) 22:308–12. doi: 10. 1016/j.jbmt.2017.08.005

73. Cheng CD, Volk AA, Marini ZA. Supporting fathering through infant massage. *J Perinat Educ.* (2011) 20:200–9. doi: 10.1891/1058-1243.20. 4.200

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Redhwan Ahmed Al-Naggar, National University of Malaysia, Malaysia

REVIEWED BY Mousumi Chaudhury, Arkansas Children's Nutrition Center, Agricultural Research Service (USDA), United States Eugene Rameckers, University of Hasselt, Belgium

*CORRESPONDENCE Patricia C. Heyn Image: Patricia.Heyn@Marymount.edu Image: Patricia.Heyn@cuanschutz.edu

RECEIVED 25 October 2022 ACCEPTED 03 April 2023 PUBLISHED 26 April 2023

CITATION

Heyn PC, Tagawa A, Pan Z, Reistetter T, Ng TKS, Lewis M and Carollo JJ (2023) The association between isometric strength and cognitive function in adults with cerebral palsy. *Front. Med.* 10:1080022. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2023.1080022

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Heyn, Tagawa, Pan, Reistetter, Ng, Lewis and Carollo. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

The association between isometric strength and cognitive function in adults with cerebral palsy

Patricia C. Heyn^{1,2}*, Alex Tagawa^{3,4}, Zhaoxing Pan^{3,4}, Timothy Reistetter⁵, Ted Kheng Siang Ng⁶, Meredith Lewis^{3,4} and James J. Carollo^{2,3,4}

¹Center for Optimal Aging (COA), Marymount University, Arlington, VA, United States, ²Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation Department, University of Colorado Anschutz Medical Campus, Aurora, CO, United States, ³Center for Gait and Movement Analysis (CGMA), Children's Hospital Colorado, Aurora, CO, United States, ⁴Musculoskeletal Research Center (MRC), Orthopedics Institute, Children's Hospital Colorado, Aurora, CO, United States, ⁵University of Texas Health Science Center San Antonio, San Antonio, TX, United States, ⁶Edson College of Nursing and Health Innovation, Arizona State University, Phoenix, AZ, United States

Background: The literature supports quantifying the maximum force/tension generated by one's forearm muscles such as the hand grip strength (HGS) to screen for physical and cognitive frailty in older adults. Thus, we postulate that individuals with cerebral palsy (CP), who are at higher risk for premature aging, could benefit from tools that objectively measure muscle strength as a functional biomarker to detect frailty and cognitive decline. This study assesses the clinical relevancy of the former and quantifies isometric muscle strength to determine its association with cognitive function in adults with CP.

Methods: Ambulatory adults with CP were identified from a patient registry and were enrolled into this study. Peak rate of force development (RFD) and maximum voluntary isometric contraction of the quadriceps were measured using a commercial isokinetic machine, while HGS was collected with a clinical dynamometer. Dominant and non-dominant side were identified. Standardized cognitive assessments, including the Wechsler Memory and Adult Intelligence Scales IV, Short Test of Mental Status, and the Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System (PROMIS®) were used to evaluate cognitive function.

Results: A total of 57 participants (32 females; mean age 24.3 [SD 5.3]; GMFCS levels I–IV) were included in the analysis. Although dominant and non-dominant RFD and HGS measures were associated with cognitive function, non-dominant peak RFD showed the strongest associations with cognitive function.

Conclusion: RFD capacity may reflect age-related neural and physical health and could be a better health indicator than HGS in the CP population.

KEYWORDS

cerebral palsy - diagnosis, cognitive function, isometric strength measurement, rate of force development (RFD), hand grip dynamometer, aging, frailty, gross motor function classification scale (GMFCS)

1. Introduction

Cerebral Palsy (CP) is characterized by damage or injury to the developing brain sustained before, during, or shortly after birth, and affects roughly 3.5 individuals per 1,000 live births (1). This makes CP the most common physical disability in children (1). Although CP is considered a childhood condition, adults with CP experience chronic, lifetime disability and often develop a variety of secondary health conditions that could be a sign of premature aging (2). Premature aging is characterized by the development of common geriatric health conditions such as cardiovascular disease, hypertension, cognitive decline, and frailty syndrome at an earlier age (2–5).

Frailty syndrome is a common geriatric condition associated with disease severity and mortality in the older adult population (6, 7). In the absence of a standardized clinical definition, frailty syndrome has been operationalized as cumulative deficits in key musculoskeletal systems such as weak grip strength, low energy, slow walking speed, challenges in performing physical activities, and/or unintentional weight loss (6, 7). Individuals with CP often have difficulty performing physical activities including routine daily tasks due to musculoskeletal impairments, sarcopenia, and pain (1, 3, 5). This may contribute to experiencing signs of frailty much earlier compared to adults without any pathology as is often reported (5–7). Therefore, there is a need for research evaluating innovative screening, diagnostics, biomarkers, and interventions to delay disease development, decrease frailty, and the subsequent risk for early co-morbidities and mortality in adults with CP (2–5).

Hand grip strength (HGS) is recognized as an important health indicator and is commonly used to measure upper body neuromusculoskeletal function (8-10). Substantial evidence supports that HGS is a strong predictor of disability and frailty in the older adult population (11). HGS is also strongly correlated with cognitive function in the older population (12). Additionally, HGS has been associated with function and activities of daily living in children and adults with CP (13). While HGS is a good measurement tool to evaluate neuromuscular function in the upper extremities, it might not be the most sensitive measure to capture physical frailty and functional health decline in adults with CP. HGS is a simple and unidimensional measure of maximum strength and does not assess the speed of muscle contraction (14-16). This limits the assessment of neurofunctional abilities for individuals with CP (13), as many individuals with CP have hypertonicity, including spasticity and dystonia (1). The physical metric known as Rate of Force Development (RFD) has the potential to be a more multidimensional measure of neuromuscular health for populations with musculoskeletal impairments because it includes a measure of both the speed and magnitude of a muscle group's force output (14–16). RFD measures the rate at which force, or torque, is produced during a specific amount of time and is dependent on muscle strength, type of muscle fibers, muscle size, and motor neuron function (17). Moreau and colleagues (14, 15) reported the importance of RFD when assessing fatigue and functional ability in individuals with CP and concluded that RFD may be of greater importance than maximal strength for specific tasks. They also stated that interventions focused on improving RFD would also improve the functional ability of individuals with CP (14, 15). Similarly, other studies have reported that high RFD values are needed to counteract the effects of sudden changes in balance (17), which pertains to adults with CP as they have reduced overall balance and are at an elevated risk for falling (18, 19).

While RFD is a promising neuromuscular health assessment tool for adults with CP, there is limited literature reporting the associations between RFD and important neurologic and functional outcomes associated with frailty in adults with CP. Specifically, whether RFD could be a good correlate of physical and cognitive outcomes in adults with CP is unknown; as such, this study aimed to evaluate the associations between RFD, HGS, and cognitive function in adults with CP to shed light on the potential integration of these instruments as a potential health screening tool to capture early physical and cognitive frailty in adults with CP before they develop severe frailty syndrome and disability (20).

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Setting and study design

This report analyzed data collected from the parent study; "The Cerebral Palsy Adult Transition Study" (CPAT) which has been previously described (2, 3, 21, 22). The CPAT study was performed at a clinical motion analysis laboratory in a regional children's hospital that has been serving the health needs of individuals with CP for over 20 years (2, 3, 21, 22). The facility is accredited by the Commission for Motion Laboratory Accreditation (CMLA¹) and is composed of a multidisciplinary team of clinicians and researchers. The study was approved by the university's Institutional Review Board and all participants signed informed consent prior to participation.

2.2. Participants

Participants with a confirmed diagnosis of CP over the age of 18 years were identified from an internal patient registry and were invited to participate in a short telephone screening survey to determine if they were (1) interested and able to participate in the study, and (2) able to walk across a 35-foot (10.6 m) walkway, with or without assistive devices, at least three times. A total of 72 ambulatory participants passed the study inclusion criteria and participated in the parent CPAT study (2, 3, 21, 22). For this study evaluating the associations between peak RFD of the quadriceps, HGS, and cognitive function in ambulatory adults with CP, data from 57 participants did not complete the cognitive and physical performance assessments and were not included in the analysis (Table 1).

Abbreviations: CP, Cerebral Palsy; HGS, Hand grip strength; RFD, Rate of Force Development; MVIC, Maximum Voluntary Isometric Contraction; CPAT Study, Cerebral Palsy Adult Transition Study; WMS-IV, Wechsler Memory Scale IV; WAIS-IV, Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale IV; PROMIS[®], Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System; STMS, Short Test of Mental Status.

¹ www.CMLAinc.org

TABLE 1	Demographics.
---------	---------------

Age	
Mean Age (SD) [range]	24.3 (5.3) [18-48]
Gender (<i>n</i>)	
Male	25
Female	32
Ethnicity (n)	
African-American	3
Asian/Pacific Islander	1
Hispanic/Latino	7
White	39
Mixed/Multiethnic	6
Other	1
CP Diagnosis (n)	
Right hemiplegia	9
Left hemiplegia	13
Diplegia	30
Triplegia	3
Quadriplegia	2
Education Level	
Mean Years (SD)	13.8 (2.4)
GMFCS (n)	
Ι	25
II	18
III	13
IV	1

2.3. Assessment tools and outcomes

2.3.1. Isometric knee extension strength assessment

Calculation of isometric strength outcome variables was performed in compliance with guidelines published by Moreau and colleagues (14). Testing was performed during an isometric knee extension activity using the HUMAC NORM isokinetic dynamometer (CSMi, Stoughton, MA). Participants were seated and stabilized at an 85° back angle with a fixed 60° knee flexion angle. Each subject was instructed to push as hard as they could for 5s followed by 60s of rest between exercise trials. Three exercise trials were collected. The maximum voluntary isometric contraction (MVIC) of each trial was identified from the knee extension torque vs. time curve, and the slope of the rising edge (rate of force development, RFD) was calculated at 0-30, 0-50, 0-100, and 0-200 ms, where *t0* was defined as the time when muscle torque either met or first exceeded 2.5% of the maximum torque value. The peak RFD corresponds to the single highest slope value between 0-30, 0-50, 0-100, and 0-200 ms intervals. Additionally, RFD50 was calculated as the slope at 50% of MVIC. Successful trials were initially identified as having a starting torque of 0. If an offset was present, in which the trial had a non-zero resting torque, the measured offset was subtracted from the MVIC to adjust for this residual force, and the procedure described above was performed. Trials were excluded from analysis if they did not follow the Moreau et al. protocol (14) or if the trial did not have a definite offset. If multiple trials for a given leg were successful, the trial with the largest Peak RFD was used in the analysis. These tests were performed on both limbs, in which the right and the left side were analyzed separately (14–16).

2.3.2. Cognitive function assessments

Cognitive function was measured using the Wechsler Memory Scale-IV (WMS-IV) (23, 24), the Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale-IV (WAIS-IV) (23, 24), the Short Test of Mental Status (STMS) (25), and the Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System (PROMIS®) Applied Cognition-Executive Function (26, 27). PROMIS® is a large measurement information system initiative funded by the National Institutes of Health that has been extensively evaluated, validated, and used in reported outcomes research (26). The following WMS-IV subtests were used to evaluate a participant's memory (23): the Visual Reproduction I, Logical Memory I, Verbal Paired Association I, Category Fluency Test, Visual Reproduction II Delayed Recall, Visual Reproduction II Recognition, Logical Memory II Delayed Recall, Logical memory II, Visual Reproduction II Delayed Recall, Visual Reproduction II, and Visual Reproduction II Word Recall. The WAIS-IV subtests were used to evaluate a person's overall cognitive ability, which consisted of Block Design, Digit Span, Symbol Search, and Picture Completion (24). The STMS was used to evaluate the global cognition and the overall cognitive status of the study participants (25). Qualified and trained research staff administered the neuropsychological protocol.

2.3.3. Hand grip strength

Bilateral hand grip strength (HGS) was obtained by a trained research staff member using a Jamar digital hand dynamometer (model number 5030 J1, Patterson Medical, Warrenville, IL, United States). This model of dynamometer was chosen due to its proven value in CP patient populations (28). After adjusting for hand size, participants were instructed and verbally encouraged to grip the handle of the dynamometer as hard as possible with their dominant and non-dominant hands; participants performed this test while seated, shoulders adducted and neutrally rotated, elbow flexed at 90, with forearms in a neutral position and wrist between 0 and 30 degrees of dorsiflexion. Three trials were collected and averaged for analysis. This procedure for HGS data collection follows the recommendations of the The American Society of Hand Therapists (29).

2.3.4. Dominant side identification

For individuals who were diagnosed with hemiplegia, a form of unilateral CP, the non-dominant side was identified as the affected side. For those who had a diagnosis of diplegia, triplegia, or quadriplegia, forms of bilateral CP, dominant and non-dominant sides were identified by asking participants which hand they wrote with, in which their writing hand was considered their dominant side (20). For those who were not able to write and unable to communicate which side was their dominant side, the values from their left and right side were averaged, in which the average value was used as both their dominant and non-dominant values.

2.4. Statistical analysis

With a power of 80% to detect statistical significance at a 5% alpha level, the study was powered to detect significant correlations (≥ 0.33). Mean plus standard deviation and percentage distribution summarized continuous and categorical outcomes, respectively. Isokinetic values were calculated for both the dominant and non-dominant side using the methods published by Moreau et al. (16). The predictor variables (Peak RFD, MVIC, RFD50, and HGS) were correlated with the WMS-IV raw scores, WAIS-IV raw scores, and STMS total scores to identify associations using Pearson's correlation coefficient. After the bivariate analysis, a comparison between dominant and non-dominant Peak RFD, MVIC, RFD50, and HGS was performed to identify which variable showed the strongest correlations (determined by the largest r2 value) and had the greatest number of correlations with all cognitive outcome variables. Subsequently, a multi-variable linear regression was performed, in which the outcome variables used were the cognitive functional assessment sub-tests that had the strongest correlations with the isometric knee extension strength assessment and the hand grip strength variables. A backward selection method was used to determine which predictor variables significantly impacted the final model, in which non-significant variables were taken out of the model, one predictor at a time, until only the statistically significant variables were left in the model. The predictor variables included in the full model were dominant and non-dominant MVIC, Peak RFD, RFD50, and HGS. In step 1 of the analyses, due to the exploratory nature of the bivariate analyses, no statistical adjustments were performed. In step 2 of the analyses, for the multi-linear regression, significance was adjusted using the Bonferroni correction, in which a value of p under 0.00625 (0.05/8) was considered statistically significant. SAS 9.4 (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, United States) was used as the program for all analyses.

3. Results

A total of 57 participants were included in this study. The demographics of this cohort comprised 25 males and 32 females, who had a mean age of 24.3 [SD 5.3] with a GMFCS level between I–IV. Full demographic information is provided in Table 1.

3.1. Association between isometric assessment and cognitive function

Results on the correlations between the dominant and non-dominant MVIC, Peak RFD, and RFD50 with tests of cognitive function are summarized in Table 2 and Figures 1, 2. Additionally, Supplementary Tables S1 and S2 report the overall results of the analysis. The analysis revealed that all isometric knee extension strength assessment variables had at least one statistically significant correlation with one of the cognitive tests (p < 0.05). Upon analyzing the dominant side, it was found that Peak RFD on the dominant side had the greatest number of correlations with the cognitive tests compared MVIC and RFD50 on the dominant side (Table 2). Additionally, Peak RFD had the strongest correlation compared to MVIC and RFD50 on the dominant side, which was indicated by the largest Pearson's R value. This correlation was between Peak RFD and the Symbol Search sub-test (Pearson's R value=0.49) within the WAIS-IV (Table 2, Figure 1, and Supplementary Table S1). Furthermore, it was found that Peak RFD on the dominant side showed strong correlations (p < 0.001 and Pearson's R > 0.40) with all the cognitive sub-tests within the WAIS-IV (Figure 1 and Supplementary Table S1).

Upon analyzing the non-dominant side, it was found that Peak RFD on the non-dominant side had the greatest number of correlations with the cognitive tests compared to MVIC and RFD50 on the non-dominant side (Table 2). Additionally, the analysis revealed that the strongest correlations, which were indicated by the largest Pearson's R value, were observed from Peak RFD and RFD50 variables. These correlations were with the Symbol Search sub-test (Pearson's R value with Peak RFD=0.55; Pearson's R value with RFD50=0.56) within the WAIS-IV (Table 2, Figure 2, and Supplementary Table S2). Furthermore, while Peak RFD had the greatest number of correlations with the cognitive test on the non-dominant side, the strong correlations on the non-dominant side (p < 0.001 and Pearson's R>0.40) were not associated with a single cognitive test (Figure 2 and Supplementary Table S2).

3.2. Association between HGS and cognitive function

Results analyzing HGS on the dominant and non-dominant side are summarized and presented in Table 2, Figure 3, and Supplementary Table S3. It was observed that dominant and non-dominant HGS had the same number of correlations (total of 9 correlations) with cognitive function (Table 2 and Supplementary Table S3). It was also found that the strongest correlations observed were between non-dominant grip strength and the Digit Span sub-test (Pearson's R value = 0.46; value of p < 0.05) (Figure 3 and Supplementary Table S3). Furthermore, the strong correlations for the HGS on the dominant and non-dominant side (p < 0.001 and Pearson's R > 0.40) were not associated with a single cognitive assessment test (Figure 3 and Supplementary Table S3).

3.3. Comparison and multi-variable linear regression analysis

Comparison between dominant and non-dominant MVIC, Peak RFD, RFD50, and HGS with the cognitive assessment variables can be summarized in Table 2. This comparison revealed that Peak RFD on the non-dominant side had the second strongest correlations and the highest number of correlations with all the cognitive function tests (WMS/ STM, WAIS-IV and PROMIS[®]) compared to HGS, MVIC, and RFD50 on either the dominant or non-dominant hand.

Since the Digit Span subtest in the WAIS-IV showed the strongest correlation with the HGS assessment variables (Pearson's R value = 0.46; value of p<0.05), and since the Symbol Search sub-test within the WAIS-IV showed the strongest correlations with the isometric strength assessment variables, these cognitive sub-tests were used as our outcome variables for the multi-variable linear regression analysis. For the model with Digit Span as the outcome variable, the backward selection method excluded every predictor variable except

TABLE 2 Overall summary of all correlation based on sidedness.

		Number of statistically	Range of	Cognitive tes		
Sidedness	RFD/HGS	significant correlations Pearson (out of 17)	statistically significant correlations Pearson	Smallest Pearson's <i>R</i>	Largest Pearson's <i>R</i>	Cognitive function Domain
Dominant	MVIC	6	0.27-0.34	Visual Paired Associates I - Immediate Recall Raw Score	Picture Completion Raw Score	Visual Perception/ Perceptual Organization
	Peak RFD	10	0.32-0.49	Visual Reproduction II-Recognition Raw Score	Symbol Search Raw Score	Processing Speed
	RFD at 50% MVIC	8	0.27-0.39	Visual Reproduction I - Immediate Recall Raw Score	Picture Completion Raw Score	Visual Perception/ Perceptual Organization
	HGS	9	0.30-0.45	Total Logical Memory I - Immediate Recall Raw Score	STMS Total Score	Global Cognition
	MVIC	7	0.23-0.34	Visual Reproduction I - Immediate Recall Raw Score	Digit Span Raw Score	Working Memory
Non-Dominant	Peak RFD	16	0.26-0.55	Visual Reproduction II - Recognition Raw Score	Symbol Search Raw Score	Processing Speed
	RFD at 50% MVIC	13	0.27-0.56	Verbal Paired Associates II - Recognition Raw Score	Symbol Search Raw Score	Processing Speed
	HGS	9	0.25-0.46	Symbol Search Raw Score	Digit Span Raw Score	Working Memory

RFD, Peak Rate of force development; MVIC, Maximum Voluntary Isometric Contraction; HGS, Hand Grip Strength.

This summarizes the dominant and non-dominant MVIC, Peak RFD, RFD at 50% MVIC, and HGS univariate correlations with cognitive function, in which specific cognitive tests with the smallest and largest Pearson's R value are displayed.

the non-dominant Peak RFD. This resulted in the following final model: Digit Span Score = 19.10052 + 0.03252 x [Non-dominant Peak RFD] (model value of p = 0.0006; r^2 = 0.204). Similarly, for the model with Symbol Search as the outcome variable, the backward selection method excluded every predictor variable except the non-dominant Peak RFD. This resulted in the following final model: Symbol Search Score = 13.81751 + 0.06363 x [Non-dominant Peak RFD] (model value of p < 0.0001; r^2 = 0.3055).

4. Discussion

The main findings of this study reveal that higher isometric strength, defined by MVIC, Peak RFD, RFD50, and HGS, was associated with higher cognitive function scores, especially in the executive function domain. Executive function is a set of mental skills that include working memory, attention, speed, flexible thinking, and self-control, which are skills essential for learning, working, and managing daily life. More specifically, Peak RFD and RFD50 showed the strongest association with the Symbol Search Test, which could indicate that higher isometric strength is associated with better processing speed ability such as mental speed defined by the time it takes a person to do a mental task. In other words, processing speed is the time between receiving and responding to a stimulus. These findings support current literature, as multiple studies have found that measures of strength or tasks that are associated with strength and speed have been correlated with cognitive function in other populations (30-32). However, there is limited literature on cognitive function and HGS for individuals with CP. In this population, there have been multiple references showing that HGS and strength are associated with participation and quality of life (33, 34). Additionally, HGS and hand impairments are not directly related to functional ability but do indirectly affect functional skills, as it is one of many contributing factors that impact daily activities and functional ability (13, 34, 35). Current literature has also analyzed the impact of increasing upper and lower body strength in children and adults with CP, in which it is recommended that both children and adults with CP include physical activity in their lives, as it has immense health



FIGURE 1

Correlation of Dominant RFD with Cognitive Measures: wech_vpal_tot - Total Visual Paired Associates I - Immediate Recall Raw Score; wech_vpa2_ dr_tot - Total Verbal Paired Associates II-Delayed Recall Raw Score; wech_vpa2_r_tot - Total Verbal Paired Associates II- Recognition Raw Score; wech_vrl_irtot — Total Visual Reproduction I - Immediate Recall Raw Score; wech_vr2_dr_tot — Total Visual Reproduction II — Delayed Recall Raw Score; wech_vr2_r_tot - Total Visual Reproduction II - Recognition Raw Score; wech_Im1_tot - Total Logical Memory I- Immediate Recall Raw Score; wech_lm2_dr_tot — Total Logical Memory II-Delayed Recall Raw Score; wech_Im2_r_tot — Total Logical Memory II-Recognition Raw Score; wais_digit_tot — Total Digit Span Raw Score (forward+backward+sequencing); wais_symb_tot — Total Symbol Search Raw Score, wais_pic_tot -Total Picture Completion Raw Score; fluency_b_tot — Category Test Raw Score; wais_block — Total Block Design Raw Score; mayo_total_score — STMS Total Score; pcog_gen_tot_score - PROMIS Applied Cognition - General Concerns Short Form 8a; pcog_exec_tot_score - Neuro-QOL Applied Cognition-Executive Function.



FIGURE 2

Correlation of Non-dominant RFD with Cognitive Measures; wech_vpal_tot - Total Visual Paired Associates I - Immediate Recall Raw Score; wech_ vpa2_dr_tot — Total Verbal Paired Associates II — Delayed Recall Raw Score; wech_vpa2_r_tot — Total Verbal Paired Associates II- Recognition Raw Score; wech_vrl_irtot — Total Visual Reproduction I - Immediate Recall Raw Score; wech_vr2_dr_tot — Total Visual Reproduction II - Delayed Recall Raw Score; wech_vr2_r_tot — Total Visual Reproduction II — Recognition Raw Score: wech_Im1_tot — Total Logical Memory I — Immediate Recall Raw Score; wech_lm2_dr_tot — Total Logical Memory II — Delayed Recall Raw Score, wech_lm2_r_tot — Total Logical Memory II- Recognition Raw Score; wais_digit_tot — Total Digit Span Raw Score (forward+backward+sequencing), wais_symb_tot — Total Symbol Search Raw Score; wais_pic_tot Total Picture Completion Raw Score; fluency_b tot Category Test Raw Score; wais_block_Total Block Design Raw Score; mayo_total_score -- STMS Total Score; pcoq_gen_tot_score — PROMIS Applied Cognition - General Concerns Short Form 8a; pcoq_exec_tot_score — Neuro-QOL Applied Cognition - Executive Function.

benefits (36-38). While strength measures are important and have been extensively reported in the CP population, there is no evidence supporting the association between cognitive function and HGS in adults with CP. Many studies focus on whether strength and cognition impact certain areas, such as quality of life and mortality, but very few studies focus on relating HGS and cognition (39, 40). As such, this



FIGURE 3

Correlation of Grip strength with Cognitive Measures; wech_vpal_tot — Total Visual Paired Associates I — Immediate Recall Raw Score; wech_vpa2_ dr_tot — Total Verbal Paired Associates II-Delayed Recall Raw Score; wech_vpa2_r_tot — Total Verbal Paired Associates II- Recognition Raw Score; wech_vrl_irtot — Total Visual Reproduction I — Immediate Recall Raw Score; wech_vr2_dr_tot — Total Visual Reproduction II - Delayed Recall Raw Score; wech_vr2_r_tot — Total Visual Reproduction II — Recognition Raw Score; wech_In1_tot — Total Logical Memory I - Immediate Recall Raw Score; wech_ur2_r_tot — Total Logical Memory II — Delayed Recall Raw Score; wech_In1_tot — Total Logical Memory II — Recognition Raw Score; wais_digit_tot — Total Logical Memory II — Delayed Recall Raw Score; wech_In2_r_tot — Total Logical Memory II — Recognition Raw Score; wais_digit_tot — Total Logical Memory II — Delayed Recall Raw Score; wais_symb_tot — Total Symbol Search Raw Score, wais_pic_ tot - Total Picture Completion Raw Score; fluency_b_tot — Category Test Raw Score; wais_block — Total Block Design Raw Score; mayo_total_score — STMS Total Score: pcog_gen_tot_score — PROMIS Applied Cognition - General Concerns Short Form 8a; pcog exec_tot_score — Neuro-QOL Applied Cognition-Executive Function.

study is original and innovative in extending the knowledge of current literature by focusing on grip strength, RFD, and cognitive function outcomes in ambulatory adults with CP (see Table 3)

Another major finding from this study is related to the non-dominant Peak RFD. This study revealed that compared to dominant Peak RFD, MVIC, RFD50, and HGS, non-dominant Peak RFD had the second strongest correlations and the highest number of correlations with all the cognitive function tests (WMS/STM, WAIS-IV, and PROMIS®). Furthermore, upon performing the multivariable linear regression using the backward selection method, dominant Peak RFD, non-dominant HGS, MVIC, and RFD50 were taken out of the model, revealing that Peak RFD on the non-dominant side was the only statistically significant predictor variable that correlated with the cognitive assessment variables. These results suggest that Peak RFD on the non-dominant side is a better predictor of cognitive function compared to all other strength assessment variables, as it is the strongest predictor variable correlated with cognitive function, and Peak RFD is correlated with a broad spectrum of cognitive domains. Similar findings have been reported in the literature, as Moreau et al. (14) also found that Peak RFD on the non-dominant side correlated with functional ability in individuals with CP. An explanation as to why these results were observed could be due to a hierarchical relationship among performance measures used to characterize physical and cognitive function. From the General Systems Performance Theory model of human performance developed by Kondraske (41, 42), higher-level physical and cognitive tasks, such as walking and information processing speed, respectively, require sufficient amounts of more basic elements of human performance, such as strength or speed, to achieve a specified level of performance in the higher-level task. The theory further suggests that higher-level task performance may be limited by any one of the more basic performance "resources" such as strength, balance, and coordination, suggesting that it is the weaker or less dominant side that more greatly influences the overall task performance (41, 42). When applying these theories to the study findings, we believe Peak RFD shows a stronger correlation with cognitive function outcomes compared to the HGS because it reflects the subject's ability to accomplish two fundamental human tasks, force production and rate (speed) of force production simultaneously, whereas HGS only reflects force production ability without regard to how quickly the force can be applied or removed. For individuals with CP, who have greater challenges with fine motor control and characteristically may have greater difficulty with complex and high-level tasks, overall cognitive performance may be better characterized by RFD than HGS, and subsequently may be a more robust screening tool than the unidimensional assessment provided by HGS test.

Regardless, our results reveal that compared to HGS, non-dominant Peak RFD has a stronger correlation with cognitive function, especially with cognitive tests that required mental speed and attention. This may indicate that non-dominant RFD has the potential as a biomarker or index for cognitive decline. In the literature, adults with CP are showing signs of accelerated aging (2, 43) such as developing secondary health conditions earlier in life (2–5). We also previously showed that several neurocognitive functions were at comparable levels between the two groups (2). To identify these changes earlier, we would need precise and accurate

TABLE 3 Overall summary of Mean (SD) data for subgroups.

Variable name	N	Mean <u>+</u> SD	Mean(SD), Females (N=32)	Mean(SD), MALES (N=25)	Mean(SD), BILATERAL CP (N=35)	Mean(SD), Unilateral CP (N=22)
Age	57	24.3 ± 5.3	24.31 ± 6.67	24.20 ± 2.96	24.11 ± 4.82	24.50 ± 6.17
Years of education (highest year of school completed)	57	13.8 ± 2.4	13.66 ± 2.22	13.88 ± 2.57	13.63 ± 2.07	13.95 ± 2.80
Weight (kg)	57	64.2 ± 15.7	60.59 ± 11.93	68.81 ± 18.75	64.44 ± 16.14	63.80 ± 15.33
Height (in)	57	162.8 ± 11.5	156.36 ± 8.49	171.09 ± 9.55	161.75 ± 12.33	164.53 ± 10.23
Body Mass Index (BMI)	57	24.2 ± 4.9	24.87 ± 5.13	23.23 ± 4.42	24.66 ± 5.29	23.34 ± 4.08
RFD 0–30 ms slope Non-Dominant Leg	57	101.8 ± 78.5	92.87 ± 73.94	113.22 ± 84.13	96.36 ± 71.45	110.43 ± 89.68
RFD 0–50 ms slope Non-Dominant Leg	57	107.3 ± 82.4	96.29 ± 75.47	121.29 ± 90.13	105.44 ± 79.12	110.16 ± 89.21
RFD 0–100 ms Slope Non-Dominant Leg	57	108.0 ± 83.7	97.63 ± 80.12	121.30 ± 87.81	108.31 ± 82.97	107.54 ± 86.69
RFD 0–200 slope Non-Dominant Leg	57	107.4 ± 81.8	94.11 ± 73.17	124.47 ± 90.26	107.49 ± 76.59	107.32 ± 91.29
RFD 0–100 ms slope Dominant Leg	53	152.0 ± 119.3	137.04 ± 112.26	171.45 ± 127.79	121.34 ± 104.61	198.65 ± 127.50
RFD 0–200 slope Dominant Leg	53	137.3 ± 93.6	120.01 ± 86.88	159.78 ± 99.01	117.80 ± 90.62	166.94 ± 92.20
RFD 0–30 ms slope Dominant Leg	53	149.6 ± 135.3	132.89 ± 121.00	171.34 ± 151.97	110.85 ± 101.85	208.60 ± 159.57
RFD 0–50 ms slope Dominant Leg	53	156.8 ± 133.0	138.60 ± 118.30	180.56 ± 149.43	120.48 ± 108.60	212.18 ± 149.64
Total Visual Paired Associates I – Immediate Recall Raw Score	57	29.9 ± 15.5	30.88 ± 14.00	28.56 ± 17.48	31.23 ± 15.35	27.68 ± 15.89
Total Verbal Paired Associates II – Delayed Recall Raw Score	55	9.1 ± 4.2	9.16 ± 3.84	9.13 ± 4.77	9.52 ± 4.39	8.59 ± 4.01
Total Verbal Paired Associates II – Recognition Raw Score	55	36.4 ± 6.2	37.35 ± 4.54	35.17 ± 7.73	36.97 ± 4.95	35.55 ± 7.71
Total Visual Reproduction I – Immediate Recall Raw Score	57	29.5 ± 10.2	33.00 ± 7.61	25.08 ± 11.46	29.23 ± 9.99	30.00 ± 10.75
Total Visual Reproduction II – Delayed Recall Raw Score	57	22.5 ± 11.7	26.56 ± 10.03	17.28 ± 11.80	21.34 ± 11.27	24.32 ± 12.40
Total Visual Reproduction II – Recognition Raw Score	57	5.2 ± 1.8	5.69 ± 1.45	4.48 ± 2.00	5.14 ± 1.85	5.18 ± 1.76
Total Logical Memory I – Immediate Recall Raw Score	57	26.2 ± 9.7	27.41 ± 8.12	24.56 ± 11.45	27.63 ± 9.38	23.82 ± 10.03
Total Logical Memory II – Delayed Recall Raw Score	57	22.8 ± 10.2	24.03 ± 8.15	21.12 ± 12.25	23.86 ± 9.64	21.00 ± 10.93
Total Logical Memory II – Recognition Raw Score	56	22.7 ± 3.8	23.44 ± 3.37	21.79 ± 4.15	23.06 ± 3.01	22.23 ± 4.76
Total Digit Span Raw Score (forward+backward+sequencing)	56	23.1 ± 7.2	23.13 ± 5.15	23.08 ± 9.36	23.91 ± 6.46	21.86 ± 8.17
Total Number Correct	55	24.0 ± 10.3	26.03 ± 10.28	21.26 ± 9.88	22.59 ± 10.41	26.38 ± 9.91
Total Symbol Search Raw Score	55	22.6 ± 10.8	24.97 ± 10.40	19.35 ± 10.68	20.94 ± 11.03	25.33 ± 10.06
Total Picture Completion Raw Score	57	9.9 ± 4.0	10.44 ± 3.77	9.32 ± 4.31	9.60 ± 4.05	10.50 ± 3.99
Overall Total words F + S + A	55	32.0 ± 16.0	31.78 ± 14.07	32.26 ± 18.62	32.06 ± 12.88	31.86 ± 20.36
Total Block Design Raw Score	56	27.8 ± 15.5	31.06 ± 13.98	23.33 ± 16.60	23.94 ± 14.89	34.10 ± 14.71
STMS total score	57	30.8 ± 5.0	31.80 ± 3.66	29.44 ± 6.21	31.11 ± 4.77	30.20 ± 5.50
Total Score of PROMIS Applied Cognition	57	16.8 ± 7.4	15.31 ± 6.82	18.64 ± 7.78	16.54 ± 5.73	17.14 ± 9.58
Total score of executive function of Neuro-QOL Applied Cognition	57	48.8 ± 11.5	50.72 ± 10.92	46.28 ± 12.05	48.17 ± 11.52	49.73 ± 11.78

indicators to help monitor or measure changes in performance as individuals with CP age. While HGS is unidimensional as a screening tool (8, 9, 11, 12), peak RFD's ability to describe both the magnitude and speed of force development may be a more robust and comprehensive tool, and better suited for screening for cognitive decline and secondary health conditions; especially so in individuals with CP, which uniquely affects physical and muscular health, necessitating more complex assessments/instruments (20). RFD is unique in that it is a quantitative measure that also directly describes an individual's functional ability and task performance (18, 20).

Previous studies support the cognitive and motor function relationship in individuals with cerebral palsy (44, 45). Rooijen et al. (44) showed that the cognitive and motor predictors were positively correlated with each other in a sample of children with CP. Their study showed that word decoding task and fine motor skills were the strongest predictors of arithmetic performance among children with CP. This pioneering work by Rooijen's group combined with the results of our study will help future research to evaluate the relationships between measures of physical strength and cognitive function in other populations. Specifically, an idea for future research into RFD and cognitive function amongst the pediatric and pre-teenager CP populations could give valuable insight into the growth and development of individuals with CP as they transition to adult healthcare. Thus, the authors would be interested in furthering this research with other tests of cognitive function, physical performance, and quality of life (44, 45).

An earlier study by our research team (43) supported the association between mobility performance and participation and executive function in adults with CP. Therefore, integrating screening and measures that capture early changes in functional performance, may assist practitioners in the identification of key functional deficits associated with diseases as well as premature cognitive decline in adults with CP. Thus, healthcare practitioners should adopt screenings that can identify early markers associated with physical and cognitive frailty to intervene and prescribe personalized interventions that will increase and include individuals with CP in physical activities. Their participation in these interventions could improve their cognitive and motor function and could assist and increase the quality of life of individuals with CP.

By screening for changes in performance that may be linked to deficits in function and premature cognitive aging in adults with CP, clinicians can develop targeted interventions to increase participation in physical activities, which may simultaneously improve cognitive outcomes and more fully engage individuals with CP in their communities. This group would be interested in exploring further investigations into relationships between measures of physical strength and cognition in other populations. Specifically, an idea for future research into RFD and cognition amongst the pediatric and teen CP populations could give valuable insight into the growth and development of individuals with CP. Previous studies have shown the relationship between word development, fine motor skill development, and arithmetic performance in children with CP; the authors would be interested in furthering this research with other tests of cognitive function and physical performance (44).

5. Limitations

A limitation of the current investigation is that while the parent CPAT study is relatively large for a longitudinal functional outcome study of adults with CP, the cross-sectional adult cohort represents a sample that is relatively small and diverse for determining prevalence across the CP population. Due to the cross-sectional study nature, we could not conclude the directions of causality for the associations detected. Larger sample size with multiple time points would address this limitation and could possibly reveal differences in key markers associated with premature disease and aging. Another limitation of this study is the generalizability of the study. Since the parent study focused on gait performance and secondary disease development in individuals who are ambulatory, individuals at GMFCS levels IV and V were underrepresented. As such, further validation of these findings would require similar investigation in individuals with CP who rely primarily on wheeled mobility. Another limitation would be how the dominant side is defined. Since dominance was determined by asking participants with bilateral CP, there could be errors in which dominance was identified. To address this issue, a more rigorous definition of defining the dominant side should be used in future studies. Lastly, owing to the pilot and exploratory nature of this study, we did not control for multiple testing. These considerations suggest that while noteworthy, this work is a starting point for additional research evaluating RFD in a broader sample of adults with CP.

6. Conclusion

This study found an association between RFD, HGS, and cognitive function in ambulatory adults with CP. Upon comparison between RFD and HGS, Peak RFD was correlated with a higher number of cognitive function measures and had a stronger correlation with common cognitive tests than the HGS. Because RFD is a higher-level functional task than HGS and provides information about both magnitude and rate of force production, it could be used as a promising screening tool for measuring both functional and cognitive decline in this vulnerable population.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Colorado Multiple Institutional Review Board. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

PH, TR, ZP, and JC: conceptualization methodology. ZP: software and formal Analysis. PH, AT, ZP, TR, and JC: validation, investigation, writing – Review & Editing, and visualization. PH and AT: data Curation and writing – original draft preparation. PH and JC: supervision, project administration, and funding acquisition. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This research was supported by grants from the National Institute on Disability, Independent Living, and Rehabilitation Research (NIDILRR #H133G130200, NIDILRR #90IF0055-01), in the Administration for Community Living (ACL) of the Department of Health and Human Services (HHS). Additional support was provided from the J. T. Tai & Company Foundation.

Acknowledgments

The authors wish to acknowledge the important contributions of the CPAT co-investigator team (Heather Baer, Amy Bodkin, Tim Boyd, Christina Coughlan, Meghan Colip, Tatiana Oliveira, David

References

1. Stavsky M, Mor O, Mastrolia SA, Greenbaum S, Than NG, Erez O. Cerebral palsytrends in epidemiology and recent development in prenatal mechanisms of disease, treatment, and prevention. *Front Pediatr.* (2017) 5:21. doi: 10.3389/fped.2017.00021

2. Ng TKS, Tagawa A, Ho RC-M, Larbi A, Kua EH, Mahendran R, et al. Commonalities in biomarkers and phenotypes between mild cognitive impairment and cerebral palsy: a pilot exploratory study. *Aging*. (2021) 13:1773–816. doi: 10.18632/aging.202563

3. Heyn PC, Tagawa A, Pan Z, Thomas S, Carollo JJ. Prevalence of metabolic syndrome and cardiovascular disease risk factors in adults with cerebral palsy. *Dev Med Child Neurol.* (2019) 61:477–83. doi: 10.1111/dmcn.14148

4. Peterson MD, Zhang P, Haapala HJ, Wang SC, Hurvitz EA. Greater adipose tissue distribution and diminished spinal musculoskeletal density in adults with cerebral palsy. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* (2015) 96:1828–33. doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2015.06.007

5. Peterson MD, Gordon PM, Hurvitz EA. Chronic disease risk among adults with cerebral palsy: the role of premature sarcopoenia, obesity and sedentary behaviour. *Obes Rev.* (2013) 14:171–82. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-789X.2012.01052.x

 Chen X, Mao G, Leng SX. Frailty syndrome: an overview. *Clin Interv Aging*. (2014) 9:433–41. doi: 10.2147/CIA.S45300

7. Fried LP, Tangen CM, Walston J, Newman AB, Hirsch C, Gottdiener J, et al. Frailty in older adults: evidence for a phenotype. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci.* (2001) 56:M146–57. doi: 10.1093/gerona/56.3.m146

8. Bohannon RW. Hand-grip dynamometry predicts future outcomes in aging adults. J Geriatr Phys Ther. (2008) 31:3–10. doi: 10.1519/00139143-200831010-00002

9. Bohannon RW. Grip strength: an indispensable biomarker for older adults. *Clin Interv Aging.* (2019) 14:1681–91. doi: 10.2147/CIA.S194543

10. Whitney DG, Peterson MD. The association between differing grip strength measures and mortality and cerebrovascular event in older adults: National Health and aging trends study. *Front Physiol.* (1871) 9:9. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.01871

11. Norman K, Stobaus N, Gonzalez MC, Schulzke JD, Pirlich M. Hand grip strength: outcome predictor and marker of nutritional status. *Clin Nutr.* (2011) 30:135–42. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2010.09.010

12. Sternang O, Reynolds CA, Finkel D, Ernsth-Bravell M, Pedersen NL, Dahl Aslan AK. Grip strength and cognitive abilities: associations in old age. *J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci.* (2016) 71:841–8. doi: 10.1093/geronb/gbv017

13. van Meeteren J, van Rijn RM, Selles RW, Roebroeck ME, Stam HJ. Grip strength parameters and functional activities in young adults with unilateral cerebral palsy compared with healthy subjects. *J Rehabil Med.* (2007) 39:598–604. doi: 10.2340/16501977-0095

Robertson, and Pam Wilson), the CP team at Children's Hospital Colorado, lead by Frank Chang, and the faculty/staff of CGMA.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fmed.2023.1080022/ full#supplementary-material

14. Moreau NG, Falvo MJ, Damiano DL. Rapid force generation is impaired in cerebral palsy and is related to decreased muscle size and functional mobility. *Gait Posture*. (2012) 35:154–8. doi: 10.1016/j.gaitpost.2011.08.027

15. Moreau NG, Gannotti ME. Addressing muscle performance impairments in cerebral palsy: implications for upper extremity resistance training. *J Hand Ther*. (2015) 28:91–100, quiz 100. doi: 10.1016/j.jht.2014.08.003

16. Moreau NG, Knight H, Olson MW. A potential mechanism by which torque output is preserved in cerebral palsy during fatiguing contractions of the knee extensors. *Muscle Nerve*. (2016) 53:297–303. doi: 10.1002/mus.24735

17. Maffiuletti NA, Aagaard P, Blazevich AJ, Folland J, Tillin N, Duchateau J. Rate of force development: physiological and methodological considerations. *Eur J Appl Physiol.* (2016) 116:1091–116. doi: 10.1007/s00421-016-3346-6

18. Morgan P, McGinley J. Performance of adults with cerebral palsy related to falls, balance and function: a preliminary report. *Dev Neurorehabil*. (2013) 16:113–20. doi: 10.3109/17518423.2012.725107

19. Morgan P, McGinley J. Gait function and decline in adults with cerebral palsy: a systematic review. *Disabil Rehabil*. (2014) 36:1–9. doi: 10.3109/09638288.2013.775359

20. Tian Q, Osawa Y, Resnick SM, Ferrucci L, Studenski SA. Rate of muscle contraction is associated with cognition in women, not in men. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci.* (2019) 74:714–9. doi: 10.1093/gerona/gly115

21. Baer HR, Thomas SP, Pan Z, Tagawa A, Carollo JJ, Heyn PC. Self-reported physical function is associated with walking speed in adults with cerebral palsy. *J Pediatr Rehabil Med.* (2019) 12:181–8. doi: 10.3233/prm-180585

22. Oliveira T C., J.J, Robertson D, Pan Z, Heyn P. Incidence of epilepsy in adults with cerebral palsy and secondary health outcomes: a review and proposed feasibility study. *J Neurol Disord*. (2014) 2:188. doi: 10.4172/2329-6895.1000188

23. Kent P. The evolution of the Wechsler memory scale: a selective review. Appl Neuropsychol Adult. (2013) 20:277-91. doi: 10.1080/09084282.2012.689267

24. Wechsler D. Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale (4th eds). San Antonio, TX: Pearson Assessment. (2008).

25. Kokmen E, Naessens JM, Offord KP. A short test of mental status: description and preliminary results. *Mayo Clin Proc.* (1987) 62:281–8. doi: 10.1016/s0025-6196(12)61905-3

26. Saffer BY, Lanting SC, Koehle MS, Klonsky ED, Iverson GL. Assessing cognitive impairment using PROMIS(R) applied cognition-abilities scales in a medical outpatient sample. *Psychiatry Res.* (2015) 226:169–72. doi: 10.1016/j. psychres.2014.12.043

27. Gershon RC, Lai JS, Bode R, Choi S, Moy C, Bleck T, et al. Neuro-QOL: quality of life item banks for adults with neurological disorders: item development and calibrations based upon clinical and general population testing. *Qual Life Res.* (2012) 21:475–86. doi: 10.1007/s11136-011-9958-8

28. Dekkers KJ, Rameckers EA, Smeets RJ, Janssen-Potten YJ. Upper extremity strength measurement for children with cerebral palsy: a systematic review of available instruments. *Phys Ther.* (2014) 94:609–22. doi: 10.2522/ptj.20130166

29. Norman K, Nicole SM, Cristina G, Jörg-Dieter S, Matthias P. Hand Grip Strength: Outcome Predictor and Marker of Nutritional Status. *Clinical Nutrition*. (2011) 30:135–42. doi: 10.1016/J.CLNU.2010.09.010

30. Goudriaan M, Nieuwenhuys A, Schless SH, Goemans N, Molenaers G, Desloovere K. A new strength assessment to evaluate the association between muscle weakness and gait pathology in children with cerebral palsy. *PLoS One.* (2018) 13:e0191097. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0191097

31. Nakamoto H, Yoshitake Y, Takai Y, Kanehisa H, Kitamura T, Kawanishi M, et al. Knee extensor strength is associated with mini-mental state examination scores in elderly men. *Eur J Appl Physiol.* (2012) 112:1945–53. doi: 10.1007/s00421-011-2176-9

32. Scherder EJ, Eggermont LH, Geuze RH, Vis J, Verkerke GJ. Quadriceps strength and executive functions in older women. *Am J Phys Med Rehabil.* (2010) 89:458–63. doi: 10.1097/PHM.0b013e3181d3e9f6

33. Van Meeteren J, Roebroeck ME, Celen E, Donkervoort M, Stam HJTransition Research Group South West, N. Functional activities of the upper extremity of young adults with cerebral palsy: a limiting factor for participation? *Disabil Rehabil.* (2008) 30:387–95. doi: 10.1080/09638280701355504

34. Arnould C, Bleyenheuft Y, Thonnard JL. Hand functioning in children with cerebral palsy. Front Neurol. (2014) 5:48. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2014.00048

35. Arnould C, Penta M, Thonnard JL. Hand impairments and their relationship with manual ability in children with cerebral palsy. *J Rehabil Med.* (2007) 39:708–14. doi: 10.2340/16151977-0111

36. Verschuren O, Peterson MD, Balemans AC, Hurvitz EA. Exercise and physical activity recommendations for people with cerebral palsy. *Dev Med Child Neurol.* (2016) 58:798–808. doi: 10.1111/dmcn.13053

37. Gillett JG, Lichtwark GA, Boyd RN, Barber LA. Functional anaerobic and strength training in young adults with cerebral palsy. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* (2018) 50:1549–57. doi: 10.1249/MSS.00000000001614

38. Schranz C, Kruse A, Belohlavek T, Steinwender G, Tilp M, Pieber T, et al. Does home-based progressive resistance or high-intensity circuit training improve strength, function, activity or participation in children with cerebral palsy? *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* (2018) 99:2457–2464 e2454. doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2018.06.010

39. Song CS. Relationships between physical and cognitive functioning and activities of daily living in children with cerebral palsy. *J Phys Ther Sci.* (2013) 25:619–22. doi: 10.1589/jpts.25.619

40. Hutton JL, Pharoah PO. Effects of cognitive, motor, and sensory disabilities on survival in cerebral palsy. Arch Dis Child. (2002) 86:84–9. doi: 10.1136/adc.86.2.84

41. Kondraske GV. Cognitive performance modeling based on general systems performance theory. *Annu. Int. Conf. IEEE Eng. Med. Biol. Soc.* (2010) 2010:5238–41. doi: 10.1109/IEMBS.2010.5626301

42. Kondraske GV, Stewart RM. New methodology for identifying hierarchical relationships among performance measures: concepts and demonstration in Parkinson's disease. *Annu. Int. Conf. IEEE Eng. Med. Biol. Soc.* (2009) 2009:5279–82. doi: 10.1109/ IEMBS.2009.5332761

43. Mudge S, Rosie J, Stott S, Taylor D, Signal N, McPherson K. Ageing with cerebral palsy, what are the health experiences of adults with cerebral palsy? A qualitative study. *BMJ Open*. (2016) 6:e012551. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2016-012551

44. van Rooijen M, Verhoeven L, Smits DW, Ketelaar M, Becher JG, Steenbergen B. Arithmetic performance of children with cerebral palsy: the influence of cognitive and motor factors. *Res Dev Disabil.* (2012) 33:530–7. doi: 10.1016/j.ridd. 2011.10.020

45. Mac Carthy M, Heyn P, Tagawa A, Carollo J. Walking speed and patient-reported outcomes in young adults with cerebral palsy. *Dev Med Child Neurol.* (2022) 64:1281–8. doi: 10.1111/dmcn.15225. Epub 2022 Apr 2

Frontiers in Medicine

Translating medical research and innovation into improved patient care

A multidisciplinary journal which advances our medical knowledge. It supports the translation of scientific advances into new therapies and diagnostic tools that will improve patient care.

Discover the latest **Research Topics**



Frontiers

Avenue du Tribunal-Fédéral 34 1005 Lausanne, Switzerland frontiersin.org

Contact us

+41 (0)21 510 17 00 frontiersin.org/about/contact



